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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Annual Report on ForaKknstitute “forward-looking statementa/ithin the meaning of applicable U.S. ¢
Canadian securities legislation. Additionally, famgd-looking statements may be made orally or ispreleases, conferences, reports, on our
website or otherwise, in the future, by us or onlmhalf. Such statements are generally identiidlyl the terminology used such as “plans,”
“expects,” “estimates, believes,” “projects,” “indicates,” “tgets,” “objective,” “could,” “should,” “may”
or other similar words.

budgets,” “intends,” “acipates,

By their very nature, forward-looking statementguiee us to make assumptions that may not mategiali that may not be accurate.
Forward-looking statements are subject to knownuarkthown risks and uncertainties and other fadttas may cause actual results, levels of
activity and achievements to differ materially fréinose expressed or implied by such statementsidimg the factors discussed under
Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on FdréiK. Such factors include, but are not limitedtte following: fluctuations in and
volatility of the market prices for oil and natugds products; the ability to produce and transpibeind natural gas; the results of exploration
and development drilling and related activitieggll economic conditions, particularly in the coiggt in which we carry on business,
especially economic slowdowns; actions by governaieruthorities including increases in taxes, ledgjige and regulatory initiatives related to
fracture stimulation activities, changes in enviramtal and other regulations, and renegotiatioropfracts; political uncertainty, including
actions by insurgent groups or other conflicts;rirgotiation and closing of material contractsufatcapital requirements and the availability
of financing; estimates and economic assumptiord irsconnection with our acquisitions; risks assead with drilling, operating and
decommissioning wells; actions of third party cormns of interests in properties in which we alsm@n interest; our ability to effectively
integrate companies and properties that we accanme the other factors discussed in other docunteatsve file with or furnish to the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”)@adadian securities regulatory authorities. Theaichpf any one factor on a particular
forward-looking statement is not determinable veigitainty as such factors are interdependent upitar éactors and our course of action
would depend upon our assessment of the futurejaenring all information then available. In thajaed, any statements as to: future oil or
natural gas production levels; capital expendituttes allocation of capital expenditures to explimaand development activities; sources of
funding for our capital expenditure programs; drdlof new wells; demand for oil and natural gasdorcts; expenditures and allowances
relating to environmental matters; dates by whietiain areas will be developed or will come onatneexpected finding and development
costs; future production rates; ultimate recovditgtnf reserves, including the ability to converbbable and possible reserves to proved
reserves; dates by which transactions are expsztedse; future cash flows, uses of cash flowHecthbility of receivables and availability of
trade credit; expected operating costs; changasyrof the foregoing and other statements usingdai-looking terminology are forward-
looking statements, and there can be no assurhattht expectations conveyed by such forward-tugpktatements will, in fact, be realized.

Although we believe that the expectations convdyethe forwardlooking statements are reasonable based on infanmavailable to u
on the date such forward-looking statements wememao assurances can be given as to future relemiéds of activity, achievements or
financial condition.

Readers should not place undue reliance on anyafariooking statement and should recognize thasti@ments are predictions of
future results, which may not occur as anticipafedual results could differ materially from thoasticipated in the forwartboking statemen
and from historical results, due to the risks andeutainties described above, as well as otheragetanticipated. The foregoing statement:
not exclusive and further information concerningiosluding factors that potentially could mategiaffect our financial results, may emerge
from time to time. We do not intend to update forvbboking statements to reflect actual resultstanges in factors or assumptions affecting
such forward-looking statements.
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Glossary of Selected Oil and Natural Gas Terms

The following are abbreviations and definitiong@ins commonly used in the oil and natural gasstrgiiand this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

2D seismic.Geophysical data that depict the subsurface dtrateo dimensions.

3D seismic.Geophysical data that depict the subsurface strataee dimensions. 3D seismic typically providesore detailed and
accurate interpretation of the subsurface strata #D seismic.

Appraisal wells. Wells drilled to convert an area or sub-region frihr@ resource to the reserves category.
Bbl. One stock tank barrel, or 42 U.S. gallons liquitlwee, used in reference to oil or other liquid hyaiarbons.
Bcf. One billion cubic feet of natural gas.

Boe.Barrels of oil equivalent. Boe is not included fire tDeGolyer and MacNaughton reserve report andrigetl by the Company by
converting natural gas to oil in the ratio of sixfdf natural gas to one Bbl of oil. The conversfaator is the current convention used by m
oil and natural gas companies. Boe may be mislgagiarticularly if used in isolation. A Boe conviersratio of six Mcf to one Bbl is based on
an energy equivalency conversion method primaplyliaable at the burner tip and does not represamaiue equivalency at the wellhead.

Boepd.Barrels of oil equivalent per day.

Commercial well; commercially productive well. An oil and natural gas well which produces oil amadlural gas in sufficient quantities
such that proceeds from the sale of such produettored production expenses and taxes.

Completion. The installation of permanent equipment for thedpiction of oil or natural gas or, in the case diahole, the reporting of
abandonment to the appropriate agency.

Developed acreagelThe number of acres which are allocated or asslgrtalproducing wells or wells capable of produetio

Development well A well drilled within the proved area of an oil matural gas reservoir to the depth of a stratigapbrizon known to
be productive.

Directional drilling. The technique of drilling a well while varying thagle of direction of a well and changing the dimtof a well to
hit a specific target.

Dry hole; dry well. A well found to be incapable of producing eithdrarinatural gas in sufficient quantities to jugtifompletion as an
oil or natural gas well.

Exploitation. The continuing development of a known producingrfation in a previously discovered field, includiefforts to maximiz
the ultimate recovery of oil or natural gas frora freld by development wells, secondary recoveniggent or other suitable processes and
technology.

Exploratory well. A well drilled to find a new field or to find a nexeservoir in a field previously found to be protiue of oil or natural
gas in another reservoir. Generally, an explorateell is any well that is not a development well.
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Farm-in or farm-out. An assignment of an interest in a drilling locateord related acreage conditional upon the dritihg well on that
location, the completion of other work commitmergkated to that acreage, or some combination tiiereo

Formation. A succession of sedimentary beds that were deplositder the same general geologic conditions.

Frac; Fracture stimulation. A stimulation treatment involving the fracturing @feservoir and then injecting water, sand andhiteds
into the fractures under pressure to stimulate ¢gahbon production in low-permeability reservoirs.

Gross acres or gross wellsThe total acres or wells, as the case may be, iohndhworking interest is owned.

Horizontal drilling. A drilling technique used in certain formations wde well is drilled vertically to a certain degthd then drilled at
right angle with a specified interval.

Initial production rate. Generally, the maximum 24-hour production volunaafra well.

Mbbl. One thousand stock tank barrels.

Mboe. One thousand barrels of oil equivalent.

Mboepd. One thousand barrels of oil equivalent per day.

Mcf. One thousand cubic feet of natural gas.

Mcf/d. One thousand cubic feet of natural gas per day.

Mmbbl. One million stock tank barrels.

Mmboe. One million barrels of oil equivalent.

Mmcf. One million cubic feet of natural gas.

Mmcf/d. One million cubic feet of natural gas per day.

Net acres or net wellsThe sum of the fractional working interests ownedrioss acres or gross wells.
Net production. The amount of production of oil or natural gas safér deducting royalties and working interestsied by third partie:

Overriding royalty interest. An interest in an oil or natural gas property dintit the owner to a share of oil and natural gaslpction
free of costs of production.

Play. A term applied to a portion of the exploration gmdduction cycle following the identification by glegists and geophysicists of
areas with potential oil and natural gas reserves.

Present value of estimated future net revenues onNR10. The present value of estimated future net reversuas estimate of future net
revenues from a property at the date indicatedhowit giving effect to derivative financial instrunteactivities, after deducting production and
ad valorem taxes, future capital costs, abandonousis and operating expenses, but before dedudtimg federal income taxes. The future
net
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revenues have been discounted at an annual ra@oto determine their “present value.” The presatie is shown to indicate the effect of
time on the value of the net revenue stream andldmmt be construed as being the fair market vafuithe properties. Estimates have been
made using constant oil and natural gas pricepraating and capital costs at the date indicateis acquisition date, or as otherwise
indicated. We believe that the present value dfmedged future net revenues before income taxedewloit a financial measure in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting princitesS. GAAP”), is an important financial measuresdsyy investors and independent oil anc
natural gas producers for evaluating the relatigeiicance of oil and natural gas properties aoguésitions because the tax characteristics of
comparable companies can differ materially.

Productive well. A productive well is a well that is not a dry well.

Proved developed reserve®eveloped oil and natural gas reserves are resef\@gy category that can be expected to be reedver
(i) through existing wells with existing equipmentd operating methods or in which the cost of dwpiired equipment is relatively minor
compared to the cost of a new well and (ii) througgtalled extraction equipment and infrastructyperational at the time of the reserves
estimate.

Proved reservesThose quantities of oil and natural gas, whichabglysis of geoscience and engineering data, castbeated with
reasonable certainty to be economically produciioten a given date forward, from known reservo@nsg under existing economic conditions,
operating methods, and government regulationsy prithe time at which contracts providing the tighoperate expire, unless evidence
indicates that renewal is reasonably certain, digas of whether deterministic or probabilistic hoets are used for the estimation. The projec
to extract the hydrocarbons must have commenc#tearperator must be reasonably certain that ito@ihmence the project within a
reasonable time.

The area of the reservoir considered as proveddesl: (i) the area identified by drilling and liedt by fluid contacts, if any, and
(i) adjacent undrilled portions of the reservdiat can, with reasonable certainty, be judged todminuous with it and to contain economic
producible oil or natural gas on the basis of @@ geoscience and engineering data.

In the absence of data on fluid contacts, provexhtities in a reservoir are limited by the lowesbtwn hydrocarbons as seen in a well
penetration unless geoscience, engineering, ooqeaince data and reliable technology establisheser contact with reasonable certainty.
Where direct observation from well penetrations diefined a highest known oil elevation and the piidt exists for an associated gas cap,
proved oil reserves may be assigned in the straiégurigher portions of the reservoir only if ge@stce, engineering, or performance data anc
reliable technology establish the higher contathwéasonable certainty.

Reserves which can be produced economically thrapglkication of improved recovery techniques (iddahg, but not limited to, fluid
injection) are included in the proved classificatishen: (i) successful testing by a pilot projectin area of the reservoir with properties no
more favorable than in the reservoir as a whoke ojeration of an installed program in the resergoan analogous reservoir, or other
evidence using reliable technology establishesdhsonable certainty of the engineering analysiwluich the project or program was based
and (ii) the project has been approved for devekagrby all necessary parties and entities, inclydiovernmental entities.

Existing economic conditions include prices and€as$ which economic producibility from a reservisito be determined. The price
shall be the average price during the twelve meetiiod prior to the ending date of the period ceddrny the report, determined as an
unweighted arithmetic average of the first-dayta#-tnonth price for each month within such periadess prices are defined by contractual
arrangements, excluding escalations based uporefatunditions.
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Proved undeveloped reservefkeserves of any category that are expected todogeesd from new wells on undrilled acreage or from
existing wells where a relatively major expenditisreequired for recompletion.

Reserves on undrilled acreage shall be limitetidse directly offsetting development spacing atieasare reasonably certain of
production when drilled, unless evidence usingal#é technology exists that establishes reasomrabtainty of economic producibility at
greater distances. Undrilled locations can be ifladsas having undeveloped reserves only if a igreent plan has been adopted indicating
that they are scheduled to be drilled within fiveags, unless the specific circumstances justifngér time.

Under no circumstances shall estimates for undeeeloeserves be attributable to any acreage fahwdm application of fluid injection
or other improved recovery technique is contemplat@less such techniques have been proved effdayiactual projects in the same
reservoir or an analogous reservoir or by othedl@we using reliable technology establishing realsiencertainty.

Recompletion.An operation within an existing well bore to make twell produce oil or natural gas from a differe@parately
producible zone other than the zone from whichvib# had been producing.

Reasonable certaintylf deterministic methods are used, reasonableiogrtmmeans a high degree of confidence that thatifiess will be
recovered. If probabilistic methods are used, tisbild be at least a 90% probability that the tjtias actually recovered will equal or exceec
the estimate. A high degree of confidence exigiséfquantity is much more likely to be achieveahtinot and, as changes due to increased
availability of geoscience (geological, geophysieald geochemical), engineering, and economicafatmade to estimated ultimate recovery
(“EUR”) with time, reasonably certain EUR is mucloma likely to increase or remain constant thandorease.

Reservoir. A porous and permeable underground formation coimgia natural accumulation of producible oil amdiatural gas that is
confined by impermeable rock or water barriers igriddividual and separate from other reservoirs.

Shale.Fine-grained sedimentary rock composed mostly nfotidated clay or mud. Shale is the most freqyesttturring sedimentary
rock.

Standardized measure of discounted future net cadtows or the Standardized MeasurelUnder the Standardized Measure, future
cash flows for the years ended December 31, 20121 and 2010 are estimated by applying the simgeage spot prices for the trailing
twelve month period using the first day of each thdseginning on January 1 and ending on Decembéeach respective year, adjusted for
fixed and determinable escalations, to the estidhfuteire production of year-end proved reservetuteucash inflows are reduced by estimate
future production and development costs based nagsend and future plugging and abandonment dosietermine pre-tax cash inflows.
Future income taxes are computed by applying tietstry tax rate to the excess of pre-tax casbwdlover our tax basis in the associated
properties. Future net cash inflows after incomxesaare discounted using a 10% annual discountoaeive at the Standardized Measure.

Tcf. One trillion cubic feet of natural gas.

Undeveloped acreagel.icense or lease acreage on which wells have rent Halled or completed to a point that would periing
production of commercial quantities of oil and matgas regardless of whether such acreage comeonsd reserves.

Working interest. The operating interest that gives the owner thietitig drill, produce and conduct activities on greperty and a share
of production.
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PART |

Iltem 1. Business

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, referencesvwe,” “us,” “our,” or the “Company” refer to Transkntic Petroleum Ltd. and its
subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Unless stdegwise, all sums of money stated in this AnRegport on Form 10-K are expressed in
U.S. Dollars.

Our Business

We are an international oil and natural gas compangaged in acquisition, exploration, developmeut groduction. We have focused
our operations in countries that have establishetiunderexplored, petroleum systems, have stablergments, are net importers of
petroleum, have an existing petroleum transpomnatifrastructure and provide favorable commoditgipg, royalty rates and tax rates to
exploration and production companies. As of Decam3tie 2012, we held interests in approximatelymillion net onshore acres and 30,000
net offshore acres of developed and undevelopeghdilnatural gas properties in Turkey, Bulgaria Bothania. As of May 1, 2013,
approximately 40% of our outstanding common shas® beneficially owned by N. Malone Mitchell, 3tHe chairman of our board of
directors and our chief executive officer.

Based on the reserve report prepared by DeGolykeMatNaughton, independent petroleum engineersestimated proved reserves at
December 31, 2012 were approximately 11.6 net Mmbbehich 82% was oil. Of these estimated prow=krves, 56% were proved
developed reserves. As of December 31, 2012, th&P&d Standardized Measure of our proved resevees $511.1 million and $435.9
million, respectively. See “Item 2. Properties—\M&abf Proved Reserves” for a reconciliation of PVtd@he Standardized Measure.

Recent Developments

Amendment to Ban on Fracture Stimulation in Bulgadn January 2012, the Bulgarian Parliament ena&gilation that banned fractt
stimulation in the Republic of Bulgaria. The legisbn also had the effect of preventing conventioindling and completion activities. In June
2012, the Bulgarian Parliament amended the legslab clarify that conventional drilling and corefibn activities were not intended to be
affected by the law. In November 2012, we were dedra production concession over the Koynare ceiamesrea, which covers
approximately 163,000 acres. As a result, we expectonventional natural gas exploration, develepnand production activity in Bulgaria
to resume in 2013. As long as the current leg@tatemains in effect, our unconventional natural geploration, development and production
activities in Bulgaria will be significantly consined.

Closing of Sale of Qilfield Services Busing3s.June 13, 2012, we closed the sale of our dlelrvices business, which was
substantially comprised of our wholly owned sulzsidis Viking International Limited (“Viking Intertimnal”) and Viking Geophysical
Services, Ltd. (“Viking Geophysical”), to a joinemture owned by Dalea Partners, LP (“Dalea”), ditisié of Mr. Mitchell, and funds advised
by Abraaj Investment Management Limited for an aggte purchase price of $168.5 million, consistihgpproximately $157.0 million in
cash and a $11.5 million promissory note from Dalde transaction was approved by a special corendf our board of directors after the
receipt of a fairness opinion solely for the benhefithe special committee, which was subject tbate assumptions and limitations as providec
in such opinion. The promissory note is payable frears from the date of issuance or earlier uperotcurrence of certain specified events,
including an initial public offering by the joinienture. Upon the consummation of an initial pubfiering by the joint venture and the prior
approval of Dalea, we can elect to convert thetanting balance of the promissory note, includiograed interest, into the number of shares
offered in the initial public offering equal to suoutstanding balance divided by the per sharehasee price paid by the public in the initial
public offering. The promissory note bears inteetst rate of 3.0% per annum and is guaranteedrbyichell. We used a portion of the net
proceeds from the sale to pay off our $73.0 milkoedit agreement with Dalea, our

1
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$11.0 million credit facility with Dalea, our $0r8illion promissory note with Viking Drilling, LLC*“Viking Drilling”) and our $1.8 million
credit agreement with a Turkish bank. In additiee,used a portion of the net proceeds from thetegbay down approximately $45.2 million
in outstanding indebtedness under our amendedemtated senior secured credit facility, as ame(ithed’Amended and Restated Credit
Facility”), with Standard Bank Plc (“Standard Bahkhd BNP Paribas Suisse SA (“BNP Paribas”).

Entry into Transition Services Agreemeddh June 13, 2012, we also entered into a transsovices agreement with Viking Services
Management, Ltd. (“Viking Management”) in conneatioith the sale of our oilfield services busindagrsuant to the transition services
agreement, we agreed to provide certain adminigtraervices, including, but not limited to, contéd use of certain of our employees and
independent contractors, a guarantee of a leagkafeiin Turkey, Turkish tax or legal advice amihdces, office space in Istanbul, Turkey,
information technology support and certain softweand licenses to Viking Management. In additiorking Management agreed to cause its
subsidiaries to provide us with the continued useeaain office space in Tekirdag, Turkey. In thd quarter of 2012, we entered into an
addendum to the transition services agreement Wwizariking Management agreed to cause its subs@hdn provide us with the continued
of certain equipment yards in the Thrace Basiniarsbuthwestern Turkey. The transition servicegagrent has a two-year term. Viking
Management agreed to use commercially reasondblesefo eliminate its need for such services amsas practicable following the entry into
the agreement.

Entry into Master Services Agreemei@s June 13, 2012, we also entered into separateenszsvices agreements with each of Viking
International, Viking Petrol Sahasi Hizmetleri A(SYOS”) and Viking Geophysical in connection withe sale of our oilfield services
business. Pursuant to the master services agreemichtViking International and VOS, we are entitk® receive certain oilfield services and
materials, including, but not limited to, drillimggs and fracture stimulation, that are neededftoroperations in Bulgaria and Turkey. Pursuan
to the master services agreement with Viking Gesjlay, we are also entitled to receive geophysiealices and materials that are needed fo
our operations in those countries. Each masteicgsragreement is for a five-year term.

Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit FacllitfNovember 2012, we entered into an amendmentitdmended and Restated
Credit Facility. The amendment, among other thingduced the commitment fee rates, extended thiecfimmitment reduction date from
September 30, 2012 to December 31, 2013 and prb¥idea scheduled quarterly reduction of the commaitt amount beginning on
December 31, 2013. On December 31, 2013, the comenitamount, which is currently $78.0 million, vk reduced to $67.5 million and v
decrease at the end of each fiscal quarter umtilhiag zero on March 31, 2016.

Our Strengths
We believe that the following strengths providenith significant competitive advantages:

Significant Exploration Acreagés of May 15, 2013, we held approximately 3.9 roillinet onshore acres and 30,000 net offshore acre
in Turkey and Bulgaria. The majority of this onsh@icreage is exploratory, and we will seek to deval portion of this acreage through joint
ventures or farm-out agreements with major indugkayers.

Strong and Experienced Management Tea@ur management team, led by our chief executivieerffMr. Mitchell, includes executives
and managers with significant industry, operatiaral technical experience. Mr. Mitchell previouslylt Riata Energy, Inc. (now re-named
SandRidge Energy, Inc.) into one of the largestately-held energy companies in the United Stagdsrb selling his controlling stake in
2006. Upon his departure, Riata Energy, Inc. hadflin proved reserves, 300 miles of natural gaserang pipeline, more than 34,000
horsepower of natural gas compression, and ownegenated 43 drilling rigs. On average, our opergimanagement team has more than 2(
years of industry experience and is integral incexiag our growth strateg'

2
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Growing Production and Cash Flowe expect continued production and cash flow graWwtbugh the development of our Selmo,
Molla, Thrace Basin and Arpatepe exploration lie@nand production leases, the development of ettidoration properties in Turkey and
Bulgaria, and general and administrative expendecatens and operational efficiencies.

Operations in Attractive Regiond/e have focused our operations in countries theg leatablished, yet underexplored, petroleum
systems, have stable governments, are net impaft@etroleum, have an existing petroleum transiom infrastructure and provide favora
commodity pricing, royalty rates and tax ratesxpleration and production companies. Our productiofiurkey is subject to a 12.5% royalty
rate, and the corporate income tax rate is 20%s#lleur oil based on Brent crude pricing, and radtgas prices are generally higher in Tul
than in North America. During 2012, we realizedrage prices of $102.55 per Bbl for our oil prodantand $8.68 per Mcf for our natural gas
production. We also expect that our propertiesufgBria will operate under favorable economic terls expect that future production in
Bulgaria will be subject to royalty rates rangimgrh 2.5% to 30%, and corporate income tax ratdéf after a one-year tax holiday.

Our Strategy
The following are key elements of our strategy:

Apply Modern Drilling and Completion TechniquesTurkey.Historically, the oil and natural gas exploratiordgroduction industry in
Turkey has not used recent drilling and completemhniques. We expect to expand our applicatianadern techniques to our properties in
Turkey. Modern 3D seismic acquisition, fracturenstiation and directional and horizontal drillind ptovide opportunities to significantly
increase production and grow reserves. In the fioguarter of 2012, we completed our first two honital wells in Turkey on our Molla and
Gaziantep exploration licenses. Building upon tresmesses, we expect our drilling campaign inte@stern Turkey during 2013 to be aln
exclusively via horizontal drilling. Additionallyye successfully utilized fracture stimulation ofinend existing wellbores on our Molla, Sel
and Thrace Basin licenses during 2012. We expemtnitinue employing fracture stimulation to alldwe tcommercial development of reserves
that would have not been commercial otherwise, @bag more efficiently develop existing provedames, most notably at Selmo.

Grow Production and Reserves in Turk8ince 2009, we have completed a number of impoaeauisitions through which we have
substantially grown our acreage and reserves amddsed our production in Turkey. We also plamtogase our oil and natural gas produc
in Turkey through continuous drilling in Molla, 3®b and the Thrace Basin, the application of moeegih stimulation techniques and the use
of directional and horizontal drilling.

Expand Drilling Inventory. During 2012, we continued to gather 3D seismic dathe Thrace Basin and completed aeromagnetic and
2D seismic surveys in the Sivas Basin. The gatbesfrseismic and aeromagnetic data has continuddftoe and expand the future drilling
inventory on our extensive acreage position. DuBiifj3, we expect to complete more 3D seismic s@reeyering our northern Molla licens
as well as several additional areas of the ThraxsrB

Accelerate Development Through Partnershifye. are currently seeking joint venture partnersofarexploration acreage in Bulgaria
Turkey. Through farm-outs, we expect to acceledateelopment, mitigate exploration risk and redugeshare of capital commitments.
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Our Properties and Operations
Summary of Geographic Areas of Operations
The following table shows net reserves informaatmibutable to our principal geographic areaspdration as of December 31, 2012:

Proved Develope: Proved Probable Reserve Possible Reserve
Undeveloped Total Proved
Reserves (Mboe) Reserves (Mboe Reserves (Mboe (Mboe) (Mboe)
Turkey 6,43¢ 5,094 11,53( 9,95¢ 32,58¢
Bulgaria 48 — 48 14 22
Total 6,484 5,094 11,57¢ 9,972 32,60¢

In 2013, we plan to drill or participate in thelliinig of approximately 40 new wells in the Thracadt of northwestern Turkey, 17 new
wells in southeastern Turkey, one new well in carifurkey, and one new well in Bulgaria.

Turkey

As of May 1, 2013, we held interests in 39 onslaeé offshore exploration licenses and 12 onshardymtion leases covering a total of
4.4 million gross acres (3.3 million net acresYimkey. As of December 31, 2012, we had total mevgd reserves of 9,492 Mbbl of oil and
12,229 Mmcf of natural gas, net probable reser¥§s336 Mbbl of oil and 12,074 Mmcf of natural gasd net possible reserves of 15,229
Mbbl of oil and 104,140 Mmcf of natural gas in Tayk During 2012, we produced an average of appratain 4,505 net Boepd of oil and
natural gas in Turkey. The following summarizes cane producing properties in Turkey:

Southeastern TurkeySubstantially all of our oil production is conterted in southeastern Turkey, primarily in thenSgl Goksu, Bahar
and Arpatepe oil fields. These properties are Egtatithin the Zagros fold belt, which encompasbkesdil fields of Iran and Irag.

We hold a 100% working interest in the Selmo prdimclease. The Selmo oil field is the second latgd field in Turkey in terms of
historical cumulative production and is responsfblethe largest portion of our current crude aidguction. In 2012, we drilled nine
development wells and performed 10 fracture stitmaia of existing wellbores on our Selmo productiesse. For 2012, our net production of
crude oil from the Selmo field was 813,322 Bblsuiataverage rate of approximately 2,222 Bbls per @lagkiye Petrolleri Anonim Ortakligi
(“TPAO”), a Turkish government-owned oil and natugas company, and Turkiye Petrol Rafineriler§ A{'TUPRAS"), a privately-owned oil
refinery in Turkey, purchase all of our crude abguction from the Selmo field. At May 1, 2013, fh&d 48 producing wells in the Selmo fie
and we plan to drill six wells at Selmo during 20fi@e of which we expect to drill horizontally amdhe of which will be a deep vertical well.

We hold a 100% working interest in each of our éhplla exploration licenses, which contain theergty discovered Goksu and Bahar
oil fields. In 2012, we completed the Goksu-2 arak§u-3H wells in the Mardin formation. The Goksu-@#s the first horizontal well that we
completed in Turkey, and the well has produced @pprately 66,000 gross Bbls of oil as of May 1, 20To further evaluate the horizontal
Mardin play concept in 2013, we anticipate drillisig horizontal wells and one vertical well on tella licenses.

During 2012, we also completed the Bahar-1 exglamatell on one of our Molla exploration licens&te Bahar-1 successfully
evaluated the Mardin, Hazro and Bedinan formatiassyell as the Dadas shale. In December 2012ragtufe stimulated the Bedinan
formation in the Bahar-1. In addition to the Bedir@l flow test, the Hazro formation in Bahar-1 waso tested. The Hazro exhibited oil and
gas shows on the mud logs, which was then corraedaiay open hole log analysis, and early resuttated productivity of approximately
150 Bbls of oil per day. In January 2013, full puotion from the well was resumed at a peak satesafa
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653 Bbls of oil per day, and the well has produapproximately 44,000 gross Bbls of oil as of Ma®Q13. In light of the Bahar-1 results, we
plan to drill three horizontal wells targeting thadas shale and Bedinan sandstone during 2018dingl the Bahar-2 exploration well, which
we spud in January 2013. The Bahar-2 is plannedrasizontal well in the Bedinan sandstone, anéwgect to complete the well with a multi-
stage frac in the second half of 2013.

We hold a 50% working interest in each of our Agpet production lease and exploration license. i22@e drilled and completed the
Arpatepe-6 well which started producing in mid-Gmo2012 at an initial gross rate of approximagflQ Bbls of oil per day. The Bati
Arpatepe-1 well (50% working interest), which wadled and funded by Aladdin Middle East, Ltd. (‘éddin”), the operator of the Arpatepe
production lease and exploration license, did mat Eommercial quantities of hydrocarbons and wagged and abandoned. For 2012, our ne
production of crude oil from the Arpatepe field w8436 Bbls at an average rate of approximate®/BUls per day. At March 1, 2013, we |
five producing wells on the Arpatepe productiorsksaand we plan to drill one well on the explonaticense in 2013.

Thrace Basin Substantially all of our natural gas productisconcentrated in the Thrace Basin, which is orieuokey’s most
productive onshore natural gas regions. We havenaglated significant onshore acreage in the ThBa=n, which is located in northwestern
Turkey near Istanbul.

For 2012, our net production of natural gas inTheace Basin was approximately 4,154 Mmcf, or apipnately 11.4 Mmcf/d. For the
fourth quarter of 2012, our net production of natwras in the Thrace Basin was approximately 84&Muor approximately 9.2 Mmcf/d. In
2012, we drilled 24 exploration wells and 12 addfitil development wells on our Thrace Basin propgrths of May 1, 2013, we had 156
producing wells on our Thrace Basin properties,@adlan to drill approximately 36 new wells in 2)Including 17 wells in the Tekirdag
field area development program, eight wells testirgHayrabolu structure area, and 11 wells onrathploration licenses and production
leases.

Central Basins We have substantial exploration acreage in ceftnkey. In February 2012, we entered into an egrent with Shell
Upstream Turkey B.V. (“Shell”), pursuant to whichell co-funded the acquisition of 1,187 kilometef2D seismic data and approximately
8,553 kilometers of airborne gravity, gradiometnglanagnetic data in Turkey’'s Sivas Basin, wheréhald exploration licenses covering
approximately 1.6 million acres. The agreement jgied an option for Shell to farm into a 60% workinterest in the exploration licenses a
it assessed the data. In April 2013, Shell notifisdhat it elected not to exercise the option.

During 2012, we had initial success with horizomtdlling with the Alibey-1 well on our Gaziantepdense 4607. The Alibey-1 well
swabbed at an initial production rate of 150 BHlsibper day from the first stage of perforatidmsfore being temporarily shut-in due to winter
weather conditions. We expect to complete the amdl put it into production in the second quarte2@f3. We plan to drill one horizontal well
on this license in 2013. During 2012, we drilled thonak-1 well on our Gurun license in Central TaykThe Konak-1 did not encounter
economic levels of hydrocarbons and was pluggedabaddoned.

Bulgaria

On November 14, 2012, Bulgaria’s Council of Minrstawarded our subsidiary, Direct Petroleum Bulgg®OD (“Direct Bulgaria”), a
35-year production concession covering the appratéiy 163,000 acre (65,000 hectare) Koynare coimessea (the “Koynare Concession
Area”). The Koynare Concession Area contains theebtei-R1 well, where we discovered a reservothim Jurassiaged Ozirovo formation
a depth of approximately 13,800 feet, which thegAtian government has certified as a geologic antheercial discovery. During 2012, the
well produced a total of 3.1 Mmcf of natural gasaolimited test basis, which was sold to a comm@smtural gas facility adjacent to the
Deventci-R1 well.

In November 2011, we initiated the application gsscfor a production concession covering approXdn&®95,000 acres over the
southern portion of our former A-Lovech exploratigermit (the “Stefenetz Concession
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Area”). The Stefenetz Concession Area is estimataxbntain over 300,000 prospective acres for Eti@phale at a depth of approximately
12,500 feet, which the Bulgarian government hasfimet as a geologic discovery. During 2012, wefpened an environmental impact
assessment which the Bulgarian government musbaggarior to granting the production concessionsiant to our agreement with LNG
Energy, Ltd. (“LNG"),if we obtain a production concession over the $itlaConcession Area, LNG would fund an additididd.5 million ir
exchange for a 50% working interest in the produrctioncession.

In January 2012, the Bulgarian Parliament enaagislation that banned fracture stimulation inRepublic of Bulgaria. The legislation
had the effect of preventing conventional drilleugd completion activities. As a result, we tempityrauspended drilling and completion
operations in Bulgaria in January 2012. In June22@ie Bulgarian Parliament amended the legislatariarify that conventional operations
were not intended to be affected by the law. Acitwyigl, we expect our conventional natural gas epgilon, development and production
activity in Bulgaria to resume in 2013. As longths current legislation remains in effect, our ungmtional natural gas exploration,
development and production activities in Bulgarill ke significantly constrained.

Romania

As of May 1, 2013, we held a 50% non-operated wayknterest in the Sud Craiova onshore explordi@mse in western Romania. In
2012, the Romanian government temporarily suspeadednventional exploration of hydrocarbons, ingligdracture stimulation, pending a
government review of unconventional drilling ananggetion techniques. As a result, on May 10, 208 and Sterling Resources Ltd.
(“Sterling”), the operator of the license, notifidte government that we were relinquishing thenisee

Current Operations

As of May 1, 2013, we were producing an aggregaspproximately 2,785 net Bbls of oil per day, painty from the Selmo production
lease, Arpatepe production lease and the Mollaceapbn licenses, and approximately 7.9 net Mmof/datural gas, primarily from our
various Thrace Basin production leases and exjpdorditenses. As of May 1, 2013, we were engagedterfollowing drilling and exploration
activities:

Turkey. We were drilling one gross and net horizontallwalour Molla exploration licenses, one gross aaetiwell at the Bahar oilfield,
and one gross well (0.4 net wells) in the ThracsiBadn addition, we were completing one gross \{@&H# net wells) in the Thrace Basin and
preparing two gross wells (0.8 net wells) for fraetstimulation in the Thrace Basin.

Bulgaria. We were coordinating our 2013 Koynare Concessiaafand Aglen work programs with the Bulgarian Miyi®f Energy,
Economy and Tourism.

Planned Operations

We continue to actively explore and develop oustinxg oil and natural gas properties in Turkey endluate the opportunities for further
activities in Bulgaria. Our success will depengbart on discovering additional hydrocarbons in caroial quantities and then bringing these
discoveries into production. In 2013, we are foduse accomplishing the following objectives:

» Increase Productiol. We plan to increase our oil and natural gas peton in Turkey through exploration and developmambour
Molla, Thrace Basin, Selmo and Arpatepe licenselspainduction leases, including the applicationratfure stimulation techniqu
and horizontal drilling

» Continue to Expand Fracture Stimulation Prograim 2012, our Thrace Basin fracture simulationgpam tested and defined
deeper intervals and provided important lessonaroigg frac design. We plan to expand our apphbeedf fracture stimulation
techniques through a development program in thérd&g field area and to additional areas in theatarBasin. Additionally, we
expect to expand tt
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application of the process in several of our liemni® southeastern Turkey. We anticipate that epmpgdfracture stimulation
techniques will result in the commercial developtraiproduction and reserves that would have nehtmmmercial otherwis

» Expand the Use of Horizontal Drillin. In 2012, we had initial success with horizontdllidg with our Goksu3H well on our Mollz
licenses and the Alibey-1 well on our Gazianteprges. During 2013, we anticipate our drillingantheastern Turkey will include
extensive use of horizontal drilling techniquesg]uiding nine wells on our Molla licenses, five veedit Selmo, and one well on our
Gaziantep license

» Accelerate Development Through Partnerst. In an effort to increase the pace of explora#iotivity, share exploration risk, and
reduce our share of the capital commitments nepessaarry forward the exploration of our exteresacreage position, we are
currently seekingjoint venture partners for our exploration acresgBulgaria and Turke)

We expect our capital expenditures for 2013 toga@ximately $131.0 million. We expect capital emgitures during 2013 to consist of
approximately $101.0 million of drilling and compiten expense (over 60 gross wells), $19.0 millibseismic expense and $11.0 million of
infrastructure and other expense. Of these expameditwe expect to spend approximately 32% on Hiace Basin in Turkey, devoted to
developing conventional and unconventional natgaal production, building infrastructure and aceugirseismic data. Most of the remaining
68% of these anticipated expenditures is expeotée directed to southeastern Turkey, devotedilimdrdevelopmental and exploratory oil
wells at Selmo, Arpatepe, Gaziantep and Molla. Weeet cash on hand, borrowings from our AmendedRexstated Credit Facility and cash
flow from operations will be sufficient to fund ooapital expenditures. If not, we will either cilrtaur discretionary capital expenditures or
seek other funding sources. If we successfully detam joint venture transaction during 2013, wicgrate increasing our drilling activity.
Our projected 2013 capital expenditure budget ligesu to change.

Exploration, Development and Productidie currently plan to execute the following drilliagd exploration activities during 2013:

Turkey.We plan to drill approximately 60 gross wells, diieh 15 are expected to be drilled horizontally apgroximately 50% of
which will be fracture stimulated. We also plarctmstruct the infrastructure necessary to prodadesall oil and natural gas from the
productive wells we drill.

Bulgaria. As of May 1, 2013, we were coordinating our 28/nare Concession Area and Aglen work programhb thié Bulgarian
Ministry of Energy, Economy and Tourism. Our 20 8porate capital expenditure budget includes ansofamtdrilling and completing the
Deventci-R2 well.

Principal Capital Expenditures and Divestitures
The following table sets forth our principal capegapenditures and divestitures during 2012 (irutands):

Year Ended
December 31

Expenditure Type 2012

Oil and natural gas properti

Proved $ 36,46
Unproved 44,69:
Equipment and other propel 66€
Total capital expenditure $ 81,82
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Year Ended
December 31

Divestiture Type 2012
Net proceeds from sale of oilfield services bussr $ 168,51:
Net book value of oilfield services busint 132,51
Gain on sale of oilfield services busins $ 35,99¢

Principal Markets

In accordance with the Financial Accounting Stadd@oard (“FASB”) Accounting Standards CodificatiASC”) 280, Segment
Reporting(*"ASC 280”), we currently have three reportable graphic segments: Bulgaria, Romania and TurkeyfiRancial information
about our operating segments and geographic aefasto “Note 14—Segment information” to our colidated financial statements.

Customers

Oil . During 2012, 85.7% of our oil production was cemitated in the Selmo field in Turkey. TUPRAS pa®és the majority of our oil
production from the Selmo field. During 2012, wéds$91.8 million of oil to TUPRAS, representing appimately 63.8% of our total
revenues. We sell our oil to TUPRAS pursuant tomeistic crude oil purchase and sale agreement.rilinel@urchase and sale agreement,
TUPRAS purchases oil produced by us and deliveyexdit Boru Hatlari ile Petrol Tasima A.S. (“BOBA Batman tanks and to the BOBA
Dértyol plant. The price of the oil delivered puasii to the purchase and sale agreement is detetmirder the Petroleum Market Law
No. 5015 under the laws of the Republic of TurkBye purchase and sale agreement automatically ssfegvguccessive o-year terms unless
earlier terminated in writing by either party.

Natural Gas. During 2012, no purchasers of our natural gasw@ated for 10% or more of our total net revenues.

Competition

We operate in the highly competitive areas of od aatural gas exploration, development, produdio acquisition with a substantial
number of other companies, including U.S.-basediatednational companies doing business in eat¢heo€ountries in which we operate. We
face intense competition from independent, techmeliriven companies as well as from both major @theér independent oil and natural gas
companies in each of the following areas:

» seeking oil and natural gas exploration licensesmoduction licenses and leas

e acquiring desirable producing properties or newdsdor future exploratiol

» marketing oil and natural gas productir

» integrating new technologies; a

* acquiring the equipment and expertise necessatguelop and operate properti

Many of our competitors have substantially greitemncial, managerial, technological and other veses than we do. To the extent

competitors are able to pay more for propertien tha are paying, we will be at a competitive disattage. Further, many of our competitors
enjoy technological advantages over us and mayleet@ implement new technologies more rapidly thancan. Our ability to explore for and
produce oil and natural gas prospects and to azauiditional properties in the future will depenmbn our ability to successfully conduct

operations, implement advanced technologies, etahrad select suitable properties and consummaatséctions in this highly competitive
environment.
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Fracture Stimulation Program

Oil and natural gas may be recovered from our ptagsethrough the use of fracture stimulation camalli with modern drilling and
completion techniques. Fracture stimulation invelttee injection of water, sand and chemicals updessure into formations to fracture the
surrounding rock and stimulate production. We hewecessfully utilized fracture stimulation in ourrdice Basin, Molla and Selmo licenses
and production leases.

For unconventional reservoirs, including the Meeaedformation in the Thrace Basin, a typical fraetstimulation consists of injecting
between 20,000 and 100,000 gallons of fluid thataio between 10,000 and 150,000 pounds of sanitisivary depending on formation and
treatment objective but, in general, are eithekslater (fresh water with salt and friction redjaara gelled fluid containing organic polymers
with a 4% potassium chloride solution and requbseshkers. Fracture stimulations in Selmo are caeduia a low permeability carbonate
reservoir. These stimulations generally consishjgfcting between 20,000 and 100,000 gallons afl flhat contain between 10,000 and
100,000 pounds of sand. Fluids are generally aurexf slickwater and 15% hydrochloric acid, whislypical in carbonate stimulation. The
size of fracture stimulation treatments are depende net pay thickness and the proximity of thdrbgarbon zones of interest to water bee
zones.

Although the cost of each well will vary, on avesagpproximately 30% of the total cost of drillingdacompleting a well in the
unconventional Mezardere formation in the ThracsiBand approximately 15% of the total cost of neeeing and completing a well at Selmo
is associated with fracture stimulation activitiége account for these costs as typical drilling eochpletion costs and include them in our
capital expenditure budget.

We believe that the stacked nature of the sandstb@evals within the Mezardere unconventional fation, which is up to approximate
5,300 feet thick, and the limited number of deepgbetions to date on these structures providesfigignt opportunities for additional drilling
and multi-stage fracs as the program matures.

We diligently review best practices and industgnsiards in connection with fracture stimulation\ati¢s and strive to comply with all
regulatory requirements in the protection of patabbter sources. Protective practices includeakihot limited to, setting multiple strings of
protection pipe across potable water sources ameceng surface casing from setting depth to serfatd second string from setting depth up
into the surface casing and in some cases to syrfantinuously monitoring the fracture stimulatfmoecess in real time and disposing of all
non-commercially produced fluids in certified dispbwells at depths below the potable water sowces a certified water treatment plant.
There have not been any incidents, citations ds sovolving environmental concerns related to foacture stimulation operations on our
properties.

In the Thrace Basin and Selmo, we have accesstar vasources which we believe will be adequatxerute our fracture stimulation
program in 2013. We also employ procedures forrenmentally friendly disposal of fluids recoveredrh fracture stimulation, including
recycling approximately 50% of these fluids.

For more information on the risks of fracture stiation, please read “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Ouramitl natural gas operations are
subject to extensive and complex laws and goverhmeglation in the jurisdictions in which we operand compliance with existing and
future laws may increase our costs or impair o@ragions” and “ltem 1A. Risk Factors—Legislativedaegulatory initiatives and increased
public scrutiny relating to fracture stimulatiortisities could result in increased costs and adddl operating restrictions or delays.”
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Governmental Regulations

Government RegulationOur current or future operations, including exatmn and development activities on our propertieguire
permits from various governmental authorities, amch operations are and will be governed by lawisragulations concerning exploration,
development, production, exports, taxes, labor lamé standards, occupational health, waste disposad substances, land use, environme
protection and other matters. Compliance with thregeirements may prove to be difficult and expemsbDue to our international operations,
we are subject to the following issues and unaatits that can affect our operations adversely:

» the risk of expropriation, nationalization, waryotution, political instability, border disputegnegotiation or modification of
existing contracts, and import, export and trantggimn regulations and tariff

» laws of foreign governments affecting our abilityftacture stimulate oil or natural gas wells, sasthe legislation enacted in
Bulgaria in January 2012 and the temporary susparediunconventional exploration and drilling adtas imposed in Romania in
2012;

» the risk of not being able to procure residencyandk permits for our expatriate personr
» taxation policies, including royalty and tax incsea and retroactive tax clain

» exchange controls, currency fluctuations and atimeertainties arising out of foreign governmenteseignty over international
operations

» laws and policies of the United States affectingifgn trade, taxation and investme

» the possibility of being subjected to the exclugiwésdiction of foreign courts in connection wittgal disputes and the possible
inability to subject foreign persons to the jurtdin of courts in the United States; ¢

» the possibility of restrictions on repatriationezrnings or capital from foreign countri

Permits and Licensedn order to carry out exploration and developntdil and natural gas interests or to place tlegecommercial
production, we may require certain licenses andhfisrfrom various governmental authorities. Theae be no guarantee that we will be ab
obtain all necessary licenses and permits thatlmagquired. In addition, such licenses and perangssubject to change and there can be no
assurances that any application to renew any egititenses or permits will be approved.

Repatriation of EarningsCurrently, there are no restrictions on the négi@bn of earnings or capital to foreign entitfesm Turkey,
Bulgaria or Romania. However, there can be no asserthat any such restrictions on repatriatiogaohings or capital from the
aforementioned countries or any other country wkvarenay invest will not be imposed in the futuree Yay be liable for the payment of ta
upon repatriation of certain earnings from the efieentioned countries.

Environmental The oil and natural gas industry is subject tteesive and varying environmental regulations icheaf the jurisdictions
in which we operate. Environmental regulationstdih standards respecting health, safety and @mviental matters and place restrictions
and prohibitions on emissions of various substapceduced concurrently with oil and natural gasniost instances, the regulatory
requirements relate to the handling and disposdtibing and production waste products and wastaied by water and air pollution control
procedures. These regulations can have an impabeoselection of drilling locations and facilitigetentially resulting in increased capital
expenditures. In addition, environmental legislatoay require those wells and production facilitede abandoned and sites reclaimed to th
satisfaction of local authorities. Such regulati@s increased the cost of planning, designindirdyiloperating and, in some instances,
abandoning wells. We are committed to complyinghveitvironmental and operation legislation wheravemwoperate.

10



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

There has been a recent surge in interest amongebi&, government regulators and private citizemeerning the possible negative
environmental and geological effects of fractummstation. Some have alleged that fracture stimohatesults in the contamination of aquifers
and may even contribute to seismic activity. Inuag 2012, the government of Bulgaria enacted latiis that banned the fracture stimulai
of oil and natural gas wells in the Republic of §aria and imposed large monetary penalties on comp#hat violate that ban. In 2012, the
Romanian government temporarily suspended uncoiovexttdrilling and exploration of hydrocarbons, liding fracture stimulation, pending
government review of unconventional drilling andangetion techniques. As a result of the suspensiemelinquished our Sud Craiova lice
in Romania. There is a risk that Turkey could ahsgoint impose similar legislation or regulatioBsich legislation or regulations could
severely impact our ability to drill and completells, and could increase the cost of planning,ghésg, drilling, completing and operating
wells. We are committed to complying with legistetiand regulations involving fracture stimulatiohexever we operate.

Such laws and regulations not only expose us hdlitiafor our own negligence, but may also expaseo liability for the conduct of
others or for our actions that were in compliandth &ll applicable laws at the time those actiorsermaken. We may incur significant costs as
a result of environmental accidents, such as disspatural gas leaks, ruptures, or dischargdsagirdous materials into the environment,
including clean-up costs and fines or penaltiedifhahally, we may incur significant costs in ordercomply with environmental laws and
regulations and may be forced to pay fines or piesalf we do not comply.

Insurance

We currently carry general liability insurance atess liability insurance with a combined annumaitlof $20.0 million per occurrence
and $30.0 million in the aggregate. These insurgodieies contain maximum policy limits and are jgab to customary exclusions and
limitations. Our pollution insurance, which is paftour general liability policy, has a per occumee limit of $1.0 million and aggregate annual
limit of $2.0 million. Our general liability insuree covers us and our subsidiaries for third-peleyns and liabilities arising out of lease
operations and related activities. The excesdlitiglimsurance is in addition to, and is triggeiigdhe general liability insurance per occurrence
limit is reached.

We also maintain control of well insurance. Ourtcohof well insurance has a per occurrence andioed single limit of $15.0 million
and is subject to deductibles ranging from $150008600,000 per occurrence.

We require our third-party service providers, imthg Viking International and Viking Geophysicad, 4ign master service agreements
with us pursuant to which they agree to indemngyfar the personal injury and death of the serpicider's employees as well as
subcontractors that are hired by the service payviimilarly, we generally agree to indemnify third-party service providers against similar
claims regarding our employees and our other cotars.

We also require our third-party service providéiat pperform fracture stimulation operations fotasign master service agreements
containing the indemnification provisions noteda@d/Ne do not currently have any insurance politiesffect that are intended to provide
coverage for losses solely related to fractureidtition operations. We believe that our generdilityr, excess liability and pollution insurance
policies would cover third-party claims relateditacture stimulation operations and associated keqgaenses, in accordance with, and subject
to, the terms of such policies. However, thesecpedimay not cover fines, penalties or costs apemrses related to government-mandated
environmental clean-up responsibilities.

Bermuda Tax Exemption

As a Bermuda exempted company and under curremika law, we are not subject to tax on profitspme or dividends, nor is there
any capital gains tax applicable to us in BermiRtafits can be accumulated and it is not obligaforyus to pay dividends.
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Furthermore, we have received an assurance fromithister of Finance of Bermuda under the Exempdedertakings Tax Protection
Act 1966, as amended, that in the event that Beanamécts any legislation imposing tax computedrofitp, income, any capital asset, gain ot
appreciation, we and any of our operations or bares, debentures or other obligations shall bepk&om the imposition of such tax until
March 31, 2035, provided that such exemption giatlprevent the application of any tax payabledcoadance with the provisions of the Le
Tax Act, 1967 or otherwise payable in relationand in Bermuda leased to us.

We are required to pay an annual government fee"&BF"), which is determined on a sliding scalerbference to our authorised share
capital and share premium account, with a minimaendf $1,995 Bermuda Dollars and a maximum fee8&f¥20 Bermuda Dollars. The
Bermuda Dollar is treated at par with the U.S. BiolThe AGF is payable each year on or before tideoé January and is based on the
authorised share capital and share premium acawuAtgust 31st of the preceding year.

In Bermuda, stamp duty is not chargeable in respfettte incorporation, registration, licensing of@éxempted company or, subject to
certain minor exceptions, on their transactions.

Employees

As of May 1, 2013, we employed 291 people. Appratiely 55 of our employees at one of our Turkishsglibries were represented by
collective bargaining agreements with the Petrole@hemical and Rubber Workers Union of Turkey (“REIL-1S”). We consider our
employee relations to be satisfactory.

Formation

We were incorporated under the laws of British @atia, Canada on October 1, 1985 under the named’Résources Ltd. and
continued to the jurisdiction of Alberta, CanadaentheBusiness Corporations A¢Alberta) on June 10, 1997. Effective Decembera®81
we changed our name to TransAtlantic Petroleum (gffpctive October 1, 2009, we continued to thiésfliction of Bermuda under the
BermudaCompanies Act 198dnder the name TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.

Available Information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reportd=orm 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and ainments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of3beurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended @xetfange Act”), are made available free
of charge on our website at www.transatlanticpetrol.com as soon as reasonably practicable aftee tleports and other information are
electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC.

ltem 1A. Risk Factors
Risks Related to Our Business
We have a history of losses and may not achievesiiant profitability in the future.

We have incurred substantial losses in prior ydansing 2012, we generated a net loss from continoiperations of $6.4 million. We
will need to generate and sustain increased reviewests in future periods in order to become cdesidy profitable, and even if we do, we n
not be able to maintain or increase our level ofifability. We may incur losses in the future Bonumber of reasons, including risks describe
herein, unforeseen expenses, difficulties, comptioa and delays and other unknown risks.

Our exploration, development and production acties may not be profitable or achieve our expecteturns.

The future performance of our business will depepan our ability to identify, acquire and develag#ional oil and natural gas reser
that are economically recoverable. Success wileddpipon the ability to acquire working and reveimierests in properties upon which oil
and natural gas reserves are ultimately
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discovered in commercial quantities, and the ahittdevelop prospects that contain additional prnowil and natural gas reserves to the point
of production. Without successful acquisition argleration activities, we will not be able to desgladditional oil and natural gas reserves ol
generate additional revenues. There are no asag#mat additional oil and natural gas reservelshsiidentified or acquired on acceptable
terms, or that oil and natural gas reserves willliseovered in sufficient quantities to enableaisstcover our exploration and development
costs or sustain our business.

The successful acquisition and development ofradl @atural gas properties requires an assessmestaferable reserves, future oil and
natural gas prices and operating costs, potentiat@nmental and other liabilities, and other fast@Guch assessments are inherently uncertai
In addition, no assurance can be given that ouloexjion and development activities will resulttie discovery of additional reserves.
Operations may be curtailed, delayed or canceledrasult of lack of adequate capital and otheiofa¢c such as lack of availability of rigs and
other equipment, title problems, weather, compkanith governmental regulations or price controlechanical difficulties, or unusual or
unexpected formations, pressures and/or work impéions. In addition, the costs of exploration aedelopment may materially exceed our
internal estimates.

Drilling for and producing oil and natural gas ardaigh-risk activities with many uncertainties that couladversely affect our business,
financial condition or results of operations

Our future success depends on the success of plaration, development and production activitiegath of our prospects. These
activities are subject to numerous risks beyondcoutrol, including the risk that we will be unaliéeeconomically produce our reserves or be
able to find commercially productive oil or natugals reservoirs. Our decisions to purchase, expliereslop or otherwise exploit prospects or
properties will depend in part on the evaluationatfa obtained through geophysical and geologitalyaes, production data and engineering
studies, the results of which are often inconclaigiv subject to varying interpretations. The cdstriling, completing and operating wells is
often uncertain before drilling commences. Overransudgeted expenditures are common risks thatae a particular project unprofitable.
Further, many factors may curtail, delay or prewariling operations, including:

e unexpected drilling condition:

» pressure or irregularities in geological formatic

* equipment failures or acciden

» pipeline and processing interruptions or unavalitgbi

» title problems

» adverse weather conditior

» lack of market demand for oil and natural ¢

« delays imposed by, or resulting from, compliancthweinvironmental laws and other regulatory requésts;
» declines in oil and natural gas prices;

» shortages or delays in the availability of drillings, equipment and qualified persont

Our future drilling activities might not be succkgsand drilling success rates overall or withipaaticular area could decline. We could
incur losses by drilling unproductive wells. Shatwells, curtailed production and other produciiaierruptions may materially adversely
affect our business, financial condition and ressaftoperations.
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Shortages of drilling rigs, equipment, oilfield seices and qualified personnel could delay our extion and development activities ar
increase the prices we pay to obtain such drillings, equipment, oilfield services and personnel.

Our industry is cyclical and, from time to timeetk may be a shortage of drilling rigs, equipmeitficld services and qualified person
in the countries in which we operate. Shortagedriting and workover rigs, pipe and other equipmeray occur as demand for drilling rigs
and equipment increases, along with increaseximtimber of wells being drilled. These factors a0 cause significant increases in cost:
equipment, oilfield services and qualified persdnHéher oil and natural gas prices generally state demand and result in increased prices
for drilling and workover rigs, crews and assodagepplies, equipment and services. It is beyomdtontrol and ability to predict whether
these conditions will exist in the future and,adf svhat their timing and duration will be. Thespég of shortages or price increases could
significantly decrease our net income, cash pral/tdeoperating activities and results of operati@mgestrict our ability to conduct the
exploration and development activities we currehtlye planned and budgeted or which we may plénmeifiuture. In addition, the availability
of drilling rigs can vary significantly from regiadio region at any particular time. An undersupgdlyigs in any of the regions where we operate
may result in drilling delays and higher drillingsts for the rigs that are available in that region

We depend on the services of our chairman and clarécutive officer.

We depend on the performance of Mr. Mitchell, duagicnan and chief executive officer. The loss of Mitchell could negatively
impact our ability to execute our strategy. We domaintain a key person life insurance policy on Mitchell.

We have concentrated current production of oil ine Selmo oil field, the majority of which is sold bne customer.

During 2012, we derived 85.7% of our oil productfoom the Selmo oil field in southeastern Turkeg. dresult of this concentration, we
may be disproportionately exposed to the impacegfonal supply and demand factors, delays ornmpgions of production from wells in this
area caused by governmental regulation, processitrgnsportation capacity constraints, markettitons, water shortages, litigation or
interruption of the processing or transportatiomibfnatural gas or natural gas liquids. In additiwe are currently in litigation with a group of
villagers who live around the Selmo oil field anbawclaim ownership of a portion of the surface gt Selmo.

In addition, TPAO, the national oil company of Taeykand TUPRAS, a privately owned oil refinery inrey, purchase all of our oil
production from the Selmo field. TUPRAS purchasesrhajority of our oil production from Selmo, repeating 63.8% of our total revenues in
2012. If either of these companies fails to purehasr oil production, our results of operationslddae materially and adversely affected.

We could lose permits or licenses on certain of quoperties unless the permits or licenses are aged or we commence production and
convert the permits or licenses to production leage concessions.

At December 31, 2012, of our total net undevelope@age, including our Sud Craiova license, 30.6665b.7% will expire during 2013
and 2014, respectively, unless we are able to dxtempermits or licenses covering this acreagmpmmence production on this acreage and
convert the permits or licenses into productiorsésaor concessions. If our permits or licensesrexpie will lose our right to explore and
develop the related properties. Our drilling plésthese areas are subject to change based uponsé#actors, including factors that are
beyond our control. Such factors include drilliegults, oil and natural gas prices, the availabditd cost of capital, drilling and production
costs, availability of drilling services and equigmh, gathering system and pipeline transportattrsitaints, and regulatory approvals.

14



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

Virtually all of our operations are conducted in Tiey and Bulgaria, and we are subject to politicaeigonomic and other risks and
uncertainties in these countries.

Virtually all of our international operations arerformed in the emerging markets of Turkey and Britg which may expose us to gre
risks than those associated with more develope#latarDue to our foreign operations, we are sultetiie following issues and uncertainties
that can adversely affect our operations:

» the risk of, and disruptions due to, expropriatioationalization, war, revolution, election outc@neconomic instability, political
instability, or border dispute

» the uncertainty of local contractual terms, reniggi@in or modification of existing contracts andaeement of contractual terms in
disputes before local cour

» the risk of import, export and transportation regioins and tariffs, including boycotts and embasg
» the risk of not being able to procure residencyandk permits for our expatriate personr

» the requirements or regulations imposed by locaeguments upon local suppliers or subcontractarbeing imposed in an
unexpected and rapid mann

« taxation and revenue policies, including royalty &ax increases, retroactive tax claims and theositipn of unexpected taxes or
other payments on revenu

« exchange controls, currency fluctuations and atimeertainties arising out of foreign governmenteseignty over foreign
operations

» laws and policies of the United States and of themcountries in which we operate affecting foretigade, taxation and investme

» the possibility of being subjected to the exclugiwésdiction of foreign courts in connection wittgal disputes and the possible
inability to subject foreign persons to the juretdin of courts in the United States; ¢

» the possibility of restrictions on repatriationezrnings or capital from foreign countri

To manage these risks, we sometimes form jointurestand/or strategic partnerships with local pe\and/or governmental entities.
Local partners provide us with local market knowjedHowever, there can be no assurance that chamgesditions or regulations in the
future will not affect our profitability or abilityo operate in such markets.

Acts of violence, terrorist attacks or civil unrest southeastern Turkey and nearby countries coadversely affect our busines

During 2012, we derived 85.7% of our oil productfoom the Selmo oil field in southeastern Turkeystbrrically, the southeastern arei
Turkey and nearby countries such as Iran, IragSymi have experienced political, social or ecormopnoblems, terrorist attacks, insurgencies
or civil unrest. Recently, Turkey and Syria haveteanged artillery fire, and in 2012 Syria shot dawhurkish fighter jet, raising the possibil
of conflict between the countries. If any of thesents, conditions or conflicts occurs, we may hahle to access the locations where we
conduct operations. In those locations where we legmployees or operations, we may incur substaguitk to maintain the safety of our
personnel and our operations. Despite these pienauthe safety of our personnel and operatiorisése locations may continue to be at risk,
and we may in the future suffer the loss of empdsyand contractors or our operations could be glisd) any of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business and results of tpesa
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Our Amended and Restated Credit Facility contaireious covenants that limit our management’s distiom in the operation of our
business and can lead to an event of default thatynadversely affect our business, financial conditiand results of operations.

The operating and financial restrictions and congma our Amended and Restated Credit Facility mwdwersely affect our ability to
finance future operations or capital needs or tgage in other business activities. Our AmendedRestated Credit Facility contains various
covenants that restrict our ability to, among othémngs:

* incur additional debt

+ create liens

e enter into any hedge agreement for speculativeqsais

e engage in business other than as an oil and natasatxploration and production compa
* enterinto sale and leaseback transacti

* enter into any merger, consolidation or amalgama

» declare or provide for any dividends or other pagta@®r distributions

» redeem or purchase any shares

» guarantee the obligations of any other per

In addition, the Amended and Restated Credit Rgigiiquires us to maintain specified financialoatand tests. Various risks,
uncertainties and events beyond our control coffigtaour ability to comply with the covenants dmthncial tests and ratios required by the
Amended and Restated Credit Facility and couldlr@san event of default under the Amended andded Credit Facility.

An event of default under the Amended and Rest@tedit Facility includes, among other events, fa&lto pay principal or interest when
due, breach of certain covenants and obligatiamssadefault to other indebtedness, bankruptcpsmivency, failure to meet the required
financial covenant ratios and the occurrence ofigenal adverse effect. In addition, the occurresfca change of control is an event of default
A change of control is defined as the occurrencangfof the following: (i) our failure to own, oécord and beneficially, all of the equity of
TransAtlantic Exploration Mediterranean InternaibRty Ltd (“TEMI”), Talon Exploration, Ltd. (“Talo Exploration”), TransAtlantic Turkey,
Ltd. (“TransAtlantic Turkey”), Amity Oil Internatioal Pty. Ltd. (“Amity”), Petrogas Petrol Gaz ve R&imya Uriinleri Izaat Sanayi ve Ticar
A.S. (“Petrogas”), and DMLP, Ltd. (“DMLP,” and togetheith TEMI, Talon Exploration, TransAtlantic TurkeAmity and Petrogas, the
“Borrowers”) or either of TransAtlantic Petroleutd§A) Corp. and TransAtlantic Worldwide or to exersidirectly or indirectly, day-to-day
management and operational control of any BorrawdmransAtlantic Petroleum (USA) Corp. and TransAtic Worldwide; (i) the failure by
the Borrowers to own or hold, directly or indirggtall of the interests granted to Borrowers punsda certain hydrocarbon licenses designate
in the Amended and Restated Credit Facility; @y (&) Mr. Mitchell ceases for any reason to bedkecutive chairman of our board of
directors at any time, (b) Mr. Mitchell and certaiihhis affiliates cease to own of record and biemnafy at least 35% of our common shares; or
(c) any person or group, excluding Mr. Mitchell aredtain of his affiliates, shall become, or obtaghts to become, the beneficial owner,
directly or indirectly, of more than 35% of our statnding common shares entitled to vote for memdsieosir board of directors on a fully-
diluted basis. Provided that, if Mr. Mitchell ceage be executive chairman of our board of direchyr reason of his death or disability, such
event shall not constitute an event of default sgil@e have not appointed a successor reasonalggtabte to the lenders within 60 days of the
occurrence of such event.

In the event of a default and acceleration of itelébess under the Amended and Restated Credittfagilr business, financial
condition and results of operations may be matgréaid adversely affected.
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We have identified material weaknesses in our imter control over financial reporting. These matetiaveaknesses, if not corrected, could
affect the reliability of our financial statementand have other adverse consequences.

Under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20@2are required to furnish a report by our maneg@ on internal control over
financial reporting. This report must contain, amather matters, an assessment of the effectivariess internal control over financial
reporting, including a statement as to whetheradomrr internal control over financial reportingeective. This assessment must include
disclosure of any material weaknesses in our iaterantrol over financial reporting identified byromanagement. In addition, the report must
contain a statement that our auditors have issnedtastation report on management’s assessmesnthbfinternal control over financial
reporting.

We have identified material weaknesses in our ii@lecontrol over financial reporting as of Decem®gr 2012, as disclosed in “ltem 9A.
Controls and Procedures”. Failure to have effedtiternal controls could lead to a misstatemerdwffinancial statements or prevent us from
filing our financial statements in a timely mannéras a result of deficiencies in our internahtrols, we cannot provide reliable financial
statements, our business decision processes magvkesely affected, our business and operatingtsesauld be harmed, investors could lose
confidence in our reported financial informatiome tprice of our common shares could decrease anabidlity to obtain additional financing,
additional financing on favorable terms, could Heexsely affected. In addition, failure to maintafifective internal control over financial
reporting could result in investigations or sant$idy regulatory authorities.

We intend to take further action to remediate tlademal weaknesses and improve the effectivenesarahternal control over financial
reporting. However, we can give no assuranceslieatneasures we may take will remediate the maieeaknesses identified or that any
additional material weaknesses will not arise mfiliture due to our failure to implement and mamgalequate internal control over financial
reporting. In addition, even if we are successiudtrengthening our controls and procedures, thostrols and procedures may not be adec
to prevent or identify irregularities or ensure fai presentation of our financial statementstideld in our periodic reports filed with the SEC.

We could experience labor disputes that could digtrour business in the future.

As of May 1, 2013, approximately 55 of our emplaya¢one of our Turkish subsidiaries were represeby collective bargaining
agreements with the Petroleum, Chemical and Rulmekers Union of Turkey. Potential work disruptidnsm labor disputes with these
employees could disrupt our business and adveadtdgt our financial condition and results of oienas.

We could be assessed for Canadian federal tax assalt of our 2009 continuance under the Bermuda @panies Act 1981.

For Canadian tax purposes, we were deemed, imnegdizfore the completion of our 2009 continuanceéear the Bermud@ompanies

Act 1981, to have disposed of each property owned by uprfazeeds equal to the fair market value of thaperty, and will be subject to tax
on any resulting net income. In addition, we wemguired to pay a special “branch tax” equal to 28%ny excess of the fair market value of
our property over the “paid-up capital’ (as definedhe Income Tax Act (Canada)) of our outstandiommon shares and our liabilities.
However, management, together with its professiadaisors, has determined that the paid-up capitalr common shares and our liabilities
exceeded the fair market value of our propertylteg) in no “branch tax” being payable. The CanBdavenue Agency (“CRA”) may not
accept our determination of the fair market valtiew property. In the event that CRA’s determioatof fair market value is significantly
higher than our valuation and such determinatidma, we may be subject to material amounts rfr&sulting from the deemed disposition.
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Risks Related to the Oil and Natural Gas Industry
Reserve estimates depend on many assumptions thgttarn out to be inaccurate

Any material inaccuracies in our reserve estimatasderlying assumptions could materially afféxt tjuantities and present values of
our reserves. The process of estimating oil andrabgjas reserves is complex. It requires integpiats of available technical data and various
assumptions, including assumptions relating to egoa factors. Any significant inaccuracies in th@gerpretations or assumptions could
materially affect the estimated quantities and gmésalue of reserves that we may report. In otdl@repare these estimates, we must project
production rates and timing of development expemdg. We must also analyze available geologicalplygsical, production and engineering
data, and the extent, quality and reliability dttiata can vary. The process also requires ecanassumptions relating to matters such as oil
and natural gas prices, drilling and operating esps, capital expenditures, taxes and availatufifunds.

Actual future production, oil and natural gas psicevenues, taxes, development expenditures, toppexpenses and quantities of
recoverable oil and natural gas reserves mostlikél vary from our estimates. Any significant vance could materially affect the estimated
guantities and pre-tax net present value of resahat we may report. In addition, we may adjuitrestes of proved, probable and possible
reserves to reflect production history, resultexjloration and development, prevailing oil ancunaltgas prices and other factors, many of
which are beyond our control. Moreover, there camd assurance that our reserves will ultimatelgroeluced or that our proved undeveloj
probable and possible reserves will be develop#timihe periods anticipated. Any significant vaiga in the assumptions could materially
affect the estimated quantity and value of ourmesse

Investors should not assume that the pre-tax msiept value of our proved, probable and possilsierves is the current market value of
our estimated oil and natural gas reserves. Wethasgre-tax net present value of future net clstsffrom our proved, probable and possible
reserves on prices and costs on the date of tteagst Actual future prices, costs, and the voluhproduced reserves may differ materially
from those used in the pre-tax net present valtimate.

We may not correctly evaluate reserve data or tRpleitation potential of properties as we engagedar acquisition, development, and
exploitation activities.

Our future success will depend on the success mdaguisition, development, and exploitation atidg. Our decisions to purchase,
develop or otherwise exploit properties or prosp&dtl depend in part on the evaluation of dateaoted from production reports and
engineering studies, geophysical and geologicdiaes and seismic and other information, the resaflivhich are often inconclusive and
subject to various interpretations. Our estimaggmrding reserves and production resulting fromattrpuisitions of TEMI, Talon Exploration,
Amity, Petrogas, Direct Bulgaria and Thrace Basaiuxal Gas (Turkiye) Corporation (“TBNG”) and owpéoration and development
activities may prove to be incorrect, which coulghgficantly reduce our income and our ability tengrate cash needed to fund our capital
program and other working capital requirementsialonger term.

We may be unable to acquire or develop additionederves, which would reduce our cash flow and in@m

In general, production from oil and natural gaspemies declines over time as reserves are depletddthe rate of decline depending on
reservoir characteristics. If we are not successfolur exploration and development activitiesroacquiring properties containing reserves,
reserves will generally decline as reserves arduymed. Our oil and natural gas production is higldpendent upon our ability to economically
find, develop or acquire reserves in commerciahtjtias.

To the extent cash flow from operations is reduedttier by a decrease in prevailing prices formail natural gas or an increase in finc
and development costs, and external sources abtaeicome limited or unavailable, our ability take the necessary capital investment to
maintain or expand our asset base of oil and
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natural gas reserves would be impaired. Even witficgent available capital, our future exploratiand development activities may not result
in additional reserves, and we might not be abkritbproductive wells at acceptable costs.

A substantial or extended decline in oil and natdigas prices may adversely affect our ability toehour capital expenditure obligations
and financial commitments.

Our revenues, operating results and future ratgafith are substantially dependent upon the priegagrices of, and demand for, oil a
natural gas. Lower oil and natural gas prices nisyy @educe the amount of oil and natural gas tleatan produce economically. Historically,
oil and natural gas prices and markets have bekatilepand they are likely to continue to be vidéain the future.

A decrease in oil or natural gas prices will noyaeduce revenues and profits, but will also redtihe quantities of reserves that are
commercially recoverable and may result in chatgesarnings for impairment of the value of thesse#s If oil or natural gas prices decline
significantly for extended periods of time in theure, we might not be able to generate suffictaish flow from operations to meet our
obligations and make planned capital expenditu@dsand natural gas prices are subject to widet@lations in response to relatively minor
changes in the supply of, and demand for, oil atdnal gas, market uncertainty and a variety oftethl factors that are beyond our control.
Among the factors that could cause fluctuations are

* market expectations regarding supply and demandifand natural gas

» levels of production and other activities of theg@mization of Petroleum Exporting Countries andeothil and natural gas
producing nations

» market expectations about future pric

» the level of global oil and natural gas exploratiproduction activity and inventorie

» political conditions, including embargoes, in ofeating oil and natural gas production activitiaad
» the price and availability of alternative fue

Lower oil and natural gas prices may not only dasesour revenues on a per unit basis, but alsaredayge the amount of oil and natural
gas that we can produce economically. A substantiaktended decline in oil or natural gas pricey mave a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openst

If oil and natural gas prices decline, we may begréred to write-down the carrying values of our oil and natural ggroperties.

There is a risk that we could be required to waidevn the carrying value of our oil and natural gesperties, which would reduce our
earnings and shareholders’ equity. We follow thecessful efforts method of accounting for our oillanatural gas properties. Under this
method, the costs of productive wells, developmatriaholes and productive leases are capitaliZbé. acquisition costs of unproved acreage
are initially capitalized and are carried at cost, of accumulated impairment provisions, untilrsleases are transferred to proved properti
charged to exploration expense as impairments jpfawed properties. Exploration costs, such as eafdoy geological and geophysical costs,
delay rentals and exploration overhead, are chaxegpense as incurred. Exploratory drilling costsluding the cost of stratigraphic test
wells, are initially capitalized but charged to Bxation expense if and when the well is determiteelde non-productive. The capitalized costs
of our oil and natural gas properties may not estldbeir estimated fair market value. When evalgpatior proved properties, we are require
test for potential write-downs at the lowest lefeglwhich identifiable cash flows are largely in@eplent of the cash flows of other assets,
which is typically on a field-by-field basis. If pgalized costs exceed future cash flows, we wditemn the costs of proved properties to our
estimate of fair market value, which is generafifirmated using a discounted cash flow approach.n/¢waluating our unproved properties,
write down the capitalized costs of the unproveapprties if it is
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determined that the costs are not likely to beverable. Any such charge will not affect our cdstwffrom operating activities, but will redu
our earnings and shareholders’ equity.

The development of proved undeveloped reservesdcgdain. In addition, there are no assurances thatr probable and possible reserves
will be converted to proved reserves.

At December 31, 2012, approximately 44% of ourltessimated net proved reserves were proved undpedlreserves. Undeveloped
reserves, by their nature, are significantly le=sain than developed reserves. At December 312,204 also had a significant amount of
unproved reserves, which consist of probable aisdipte reserves. There is significant uncertaittyched to unproved reserve estimates. Tht
discovery, determination and exploitation of undeped or unproved reserves requires significanitab@xpenditures and successful drilling
and exploration programs. We may not be able sertie additional capital that we need to devdiegd reserves. There is no certainty the
will be able to convert undeveloped reserves telped reserves or unproved reserves into prowsawes or that our undeveloped or
unproved reserves will be economically viable ehtacally feasible to produce.

Part of our strategy involves drilling in new or eenging unconventional formations using fracture stiulation and horizontal drilling and
completion techniques. The results of our plannedllthg program in these formations may be subjeitt more uncertainties than
conventional drilling programs in more establishédrmations and may not meet our expectations foseeves or production.

The results of our drilling in new or emerging uneentional formations, such as the Mezardere fdonaare generally more uncertain
than drilling results in areas that are develop®ditzave established production. Because new orgéngeformations have limited or no
production history, we are less able to use paliindrresults in those areas to help predict autufe drilling results. Further, part of our drily
strategy to maximize recoveries from our propeitieburkey, particularly in the Thrace Basin anditbe@astern Turkey, involves the drilling of
horizontal wells. Our experience with horizontallig in southeastern Turkey, as well as the indus drilling and production history, while
growing, is limited. The ultimate success of thésking and completion strategies and techniquékheg better evaluated over time as more
wells are drilled and production profiles are bedtstablished. Further, the utilization of thesghtéques requires substantially greater capital
expenditures, as compared to the drilling of aiti@ual vertical well. If our drilling results afdess than anticipated or we are unable to execut
our drilling program because of capital constraiated/or natural gas and oil prices decline, ouestiment in these areas may not be as
attractive as we anticipate and we could incur nterrite-downs of unevaluated properties andvkeie of our undeveloped acreage could
decline in the future.

Legislative and regulatory initiatives and increag@ublic scrutiny relating to fracture simulation@tivities could result in increased cos
and additional operating restrictions or delays.

Fracture stimulation is an important and commorsdgdiprocess for the completion of oil and natuaal wells and involves the
pressurized injection of water, sand and chemicédsrock formations to stimulate production. Retgrthere has been increased public
concern regarding the potential environmental imhpéfracture stimulation activities. Most of thesencerns have raised questions regarding
the drilling fluids used in the fracturing procesi®ir effect on drinking water supplies, the uéevater in connection with completion
operations, and the potential for impact to surfaater, groundwater and the environment generally.

The increased attention regarding fracture stimaratould lead to greater opposition, includingghition, to oil and natural gas
production activities using fracture stimulatioshaiques. Increased public scrutiny may also leaatiditional levels of regulation in the
countries in which we operate that could causeasjmeral restrictions or delays, make it more diffido perform fracture stimulation or could
increase our costs of compliance and doing busirekditional legislation or regulation, such asguirement to disclose the chemicals use
fracture stimulation, could make it easier for dhirarties opposing fracture stimulation to
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initiate legal proceedings based on allegationsspacific chemicals used in the fracturing proaeadd adversely affect groundwater. A
substantial portion of our operations rely on fuaetstimulation, and the adoption of legislatioBimgaria and a temporary moratorium on
unconventional drilling activities in Romania hgsaced restrictions on our fracture stimulatiorivaités, causing us to suspend our fracture
stimulation activities in Bulgaria and to relingluisur Sud Craiova license in Romania. The adopifdagislative or regulatory initiatives in
Turkey restricting fracture stimulation could impasperational delays, increased operations cosdtadditional related burdens on our
exploration and production activities which coultsgend or make it more difficult to perform fragwwtimulation, cause a material decrease il
the drilling of new wells and related completionigties and increase our costs of compliance avidgibusiness, which could materially
impact our business and profitability.

We are subject to operating hazards.

The oil and natural gas exploration and produdbiosiness involves a variety of operating risksluding the risk of fire, explosion,
blowout, pipe failure, casing collapse, stuck tpalscontrollable flows of oil or natural gas, abmaily pressured formations and environme
hazards such as oil spills, surface cratering,rabgas leaks, pipeline ruptures, discharges attgases, underground migration, surface spills
mishandling of fracture stimulation fluids, incladi chemical additives, and natural disasters. Toeamence of any of these events could resu
in substantial losses to us due to injury and tddie, loss of or damage to well bores and/ollidg or production equipment, costs of
overcoming downhole problems, severe damage talestiuction of property, natural resources andprgent, pollution and other
environmental damage, clean-up responsibilitieqlegory investigation and penalties and suspensiaperations. Gathering systems and
processing facilities are subject to many of theesdiazards and any significant problems relatebdse facilities could adversely affect our
ability to market our production.

Drilling for oil and natural gas is a speculativeaivity and involves numerous risks and substantéald uncertain costs that could advers¢
affect us.

Our future financial condition and results of opienas will depend on the success of our exploitgtexploration, development and
production activities. Our oil and natural gas exation and production activities are subject tmatous risks beyond our control, including
the risk that drilling will not result in commerdiaviable oil or natural gas production. Our co$drilling, completing and operating wells is
often uncertain before drilling commences. Overnarisudgeted expenditures are common risks thatee a particular project
uneconomical. Further, many factors may curtailayler cancel our scheduled drilling projects, uthg the following:

» shortages of or delays in obtaining drilling rigguipment and qualified personn
» facility or equipment malfunction:

* unexpected operational ever

» pressure or irregularities in geological formatic

» adverse weather conditions, such as flooc

» reductions in oil and natural gas pric

» delays imposed by or resulting from compliance wéthulatory requirement

e proximity to and capacity of transportation fadl;

« title problems; an

« limitations in the market for oil and natural g

Significant or prolonged delays or cancellationsim scheduled drilling projects could materialvarsely affect our results of
operations.

21



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

Our oil and natural gas operations are subject tetensive and complex laws and government regulatinrthe jurisdictions in which we
operate and compliance with existing and future lawnay increase our costs or impair our operations.

Our oil and natural gas operations are subjectitoarous federal, state, local, foreign and proeinews and regulations, including thc
related to the environment, employment, immigratlabor, oil and natural gas exploration and dgwalent, payments to local, foreign and
provincial officials, taxes and the repatriatiorfafeign earnings. If we fail to adhere to any agaille federal, state, local, foreign and
provincial laws or regulations, or if such lawsregulations restrict exploration or productionpegatively affect the sale, of oil and natural
gas, our business, prospects, results of operafioasicial condition or cash flows may be impairéée may be subject to governmental
sanctions, such as fines or penalties, as welbtengal liability for personal injury, property oatural resource damage and might be require
to make significant capital expenditures to compith federal, state or international laws or regjolas. In addition, existing laws or
regulations, as currently interpreted or reintetgateén the future, or future laws or regulationsildoadversely affect our business or operations
or substantially increase our costs and associeitlties.

In addition, exploration for, and exploitation, grztion and sale of, oil and natural gas in eaecmtry in which we operate is subject to
extensive national and local laws and regulatieggiiring various licenses, permits and approvaisifrarious governmental agencies. If these
licenses or permits are not issued or unfavoraddtrictions or conditions are imposed on our exgtion or drilling activities, we might not be
able to conduct our operations as planned. Altarelgt failure to comply with these laws and redidas, including the requirements of any
licenses or permits, might result in the suspensiaiermination of operations and subject us taafigss. Our costs to comply with these
numerous laws, regulations, licenses and permétsignificant.

Specifically, our oil and natural gas operatiors subject to stringent laws and regulations rejgtiinthe release or disposal of materials
into the environment or otherwise relating to eomimental protection. Failure to comply with them&d and regulations may result in the
imposition of administrative, civil and/or criminpénalties, incurring investigatory or remedialigations and the imposition of injunctive
relief.

Changes in environmental laws and regulations otequently, and any changes that result in maieggent or costly waste handling,
storage, transport, disposal or cleanup requiresmamild require us to make significant expendittwesttain and maintain compliance and 1
otherwise have a material adverse effect on owrstng in general and on our own results of openaticompetitive position or financial
condition. Although we intend to comply in all ma#& respects with applicable environmental lawd eggulations, we cannot assure you that
we will be able to comply with existing or new régfions. In addition, the risk of accidental spillsakages or other circumstances could
expose us to extensive liability. We are unablpraaict the effect of additional environmental laavel regulations that may be adopted in the
future, including whether any such laws or regolagiwould materially adversely increase our costanfig business or affect operations in an
area.

Under certain environmental laws that impose stjgént and several liability, we may be requiredémediate our contaminated
properties regardless of whether such contaminagisulted from the conduct of others or from consages of our own actions that were or
were not in compliance with all applicable lawgha time those actions were taken. In additiorimddor damages to persons or property ma
result from environmental and other impacts of @perations. Moreover, new or modified environmerttahlth or safety laws, regulations or
enforcement policies could be more stringent angbise unforeseen liabilities or significantly ingeaompliance costs. Therefore, the costs |
comply with environmental, health or safety lawseagulations or the liabilities incurred in connentwith them could significantly and
adversely affect our business, financial conditomesults of operations.

In addition, many countries have agreed to regatissions of “greenhouse gases.” Methane, a pyis@nponent of natural gas, and
carbon dioxide, a byproduct of burning of oil aratural gas, are greenhouse gases. Regulation eflysase gases could adversely impact
some of our operations and demand for some ofenwices or products in the future.
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We do not plan to insure against all potential op¢ing risks. We might incur substantial losses fromind be subject to substantial liability
claims for, uninsured or underinsured risks related our oil and natural gas operations.

We do not intend to insure against all risks. QUawnd natural gas exploration and production dib¢is are subject to numerous hazards
and risks associated with drilling for, producinglaransporting oil and natural gas, and storiramgporting and using explosive materials, an
any of the following risks can cause substantisbés:

e environmental hazards, such as uncontrollable flofvgatural gas, oil, brine, well fluids, toxic gasother pollution into the
environment, including groundwater contaminatiamjerground migration and surface spills or mishiagddf fracture stimulation
fluids, including chemical additive

e abnormally pressured formatior

» leaks of ail, natural gas and other hydrocarboresses of these hydrocarbons as a result of ausiderring drilling and
completion operations, including fracture stimuatactivities, or from the gathering and transpateof oil, natural gas and other
hydrocarbons, malfunctions of pipelines, processingther facilities in our operations or at detiveoints to third parties

» spillage or mishandling of oil, natural gas, brinell fluids, hydraulic fracturing fluids, toxic gar other pollutants by third-party
service providers

» mechanical difficulties, such as stuck oil fieldldrg and service tools and casing collag
» fires and explosion:

e personal injuries and deal

» regulatory investigations and penalties;

* natural disaster:

As is customary in the oil and natural gas indysiry maintain insurance against some, but nobatur operating risks. Our insurance
may not be adequate to cover potential lossesbilities and insurance coverage may not continugetavailable at commercially acceptable
premium levels or at all. We might not elect toadbtinsurance if we believe that the cost of alddlansurance is excessive relative to the risk
presented. Losses and liabilities arising from saiad or under-insured events could require usakenarge unbudgeted cash expenditures
that could adversely impact our business, finarmaldition or results of operations.

We might not be able to identify liabilities assatéd with properties or obtain protection from smi§ against them, which could cause us to
incur losses.

Our review and evaluation of prospects and futerpisitions might not necessarily reveal all exigtor potential problems. For exam
inspections may not always be performed on evetl med environmental problems, such as groundwagatamination, may not be readily
identified even when an inspection is undertakeenEwhen problems are identified, a seller mayrbgilling or unable to provide effective
contractual protection against all or part of thpegblems, and we may assume environmental and Bsks and liabilities in connection with
acquired properties.

Competition in the oil and natural gas industry istense, and many of our competitors have greateahcial, technological and other
resources than we do, which may adversely affeat ahility to compete.

We operate in the highly competitive areas of od aatural gas exploration, development, produdio acquisition with a substantial
number of other companies, including U.S.-basedfaraign companies doing business in each of theties in which we operate. We face
intense competition from independent, technologyedr companies as well as from both major and dtidegpendent oil and natural gas
companies in each of the following areas:

» seeking oil and natural gas exploration licensesmnduction license:
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e acquiring desirable producing properties or newédsdor future exploratiol

» marketing oil and natural gas producti

» integrating new technologies; a

* acquiring the equipment and expertise necessatg\uelop and operate properti

Many of our competitors have substantially grefiteancial, managerial, technological and other ueses than we do. These companies
are able to pay more for exploratory prospectsmnductive oil and natural gas properties than are o the extent competitors are able to
pay more for properties than we are paying, we lvglat a competitive disadvantage. Further, marmuotompetitors enjoy technological
advantages over us and may be able to implementestwologies more rapidly than we can. Our abibtgxplore for and produce oil and
natural gas prospects and to acquire additiongigsties in the future will depend upon our abitiysuccessfully conduct operations,
implement advanced technologies, evaluate andtsmldable properties and consummate transactiottss highly competitive environment.

We might not be able to obtain necessary permifspravals or agreements from one or more governmagencies, surface owners, or other
third parties, which could hamper our exploratiomnlevelopment or production activities.

There are numerous permits, approvals, and agréemwéh third parties, which will be necessary nder to enable us to proceed with
our exploration, development or production actdgtand otherwise accomplish our objectives. Thegoaent agencies in each country in
which we operate have discretion in interpretingows laws, regulations, and policies governingrapens under the licenses. Further, we
be required to enter into agreements with privatéase owners to obtain access to, and agreemanthé location of surface facilities. In
addition, because many of the laws governing dil matural gas operations in the international coemin which we operate have been ena
relatively recently, there is only a relatively shioistory of the government agencies handling iatetpreting those laws, including the various
regulations and policies relating to those lawssBhort history does not provide extensive preatder the level of certainty that allows us to
predict whether such agencies will act favorablyad us. The governments have broad discretiontémpret requirements for the issuance of
drilling permits. Our inability to meet any suclymgrements could have a material adverse effectunrexploration, development or production
activities.

We may not be able to complete the exploration,edepment or production of any, or a significant ption of, the oil and natural gas
interests covered by our leases or licenses befloey expire.

Each license or lease under which we operate fiasciterm. We may be unable to complete our exgtion, development or production
efforts prior to the expiration of licenses or leasFailure to obtain government approval for edge or lease or an extension of the license ol
lease, be granted a new exploration license oeleasbtain a license or lease covering a sufftgidarge area could prevent us from, or limit
us in, continuing to explore, develop or produsggaificant portion of the oil and natural gas net&ts covered by the license or lease. The
determination of the amount of acreage to be calvbyethe production license or lease is in therdisan of the respective governments.

Political and economic instability or fundamentahanges in the leadership or in the structure of tgevernments in the jurisdictions i
which we operate could have a material negative aopon our company.

Our foreign property interests and foreign operatimay be affected by political and economic rigksese risks include war and civil
disturbances, political instability, currency régions and exchange rate fluctuations, labor ot and high rates of inflation. In addition,
local, regional and world events could cause thiedictions in which we operate to change the petro laws, tax laws, foreign investment
laws, or to revise their policies in a manner tleaitders our current and future projects unprofggablrther, we are subject to risks in the
foreign jurisdictions in which we operate of thdiaaalization of the oil and natural gas industry,
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expropriation of property or other restrictions grahalties on foreign-owned entities, which co@dder our projects unprofitable or could
prevent us from selling our assets or operatingooisiness. The occurrence of any such fundamemalge could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition andiltssof operations.

Risks Related to Our Common Shares

The interests of our controlling shareholder may heoincide with yours and such controlling sharetd®@r may make decisions with which
you may disagree

As of May 1, 2013, Mr. Mitchell beneficially ownegbproximately 40% of our outstanding common shakesa result, Mr. Mitchell
could control substantially all matters requiririgageholder approval, including the election of clioes and approval of significant corporate
transactions. In addition, this concentration ohevship may delay or prevent a change in controbofcompany and make some future
transactions more difficult or impossible witholetsupport of Mr. Mitchell. The interests of Mr. tehiell may not coincide with our interests
or the interests of our other shareholders.

The value of our common shares may be affected tatters not related to our own operating performance

The value of our common shares may be affectedatyens that are not related to our operating perémce and which are outside of our
control. These matters include the following:

e general economic conditions in the United Stateskdy and Bulgaria and globall
e industry conditions, including fluctuations in thece of oil and natural ga

« governmental regulation of the oil and natural igasistry, including environmental regulation andukation of fracture stimulatio
activities;

« fluctuation in foreign exchange or interest ra

« liabilities inherent in oil and natural gas opevas;

e geological, technical, drilling and processing peots;

e unanticipated operating events which can reducdymtoon or cause production to be shut in or dala
» failure to obtain industry partner and other thpaity consents and approvals, when requ

» stock market volatility and market valuatiol

» competition for, among other things, capital, asiligin of reserves, undeveloped land and skilladqeel;
* the need to obtain required approvals from regnyaathorities

» worldwide supplies and prices of, and demand fibgred natural gas

» political conditions and developments in each ef¢buntries in which we opera

« political conditions in oil and natural gas prochgregions

» revenue and operating results failing to meet etghiens in any particular perio

» investor perception of the oil and natural gas sty

e limited trading volume of our common shar

* announcements relating to our business or the bssiof our competitor

» the sale of asset
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e our liquidity; and
e our ability to raise additional fund

In the past, companies that have experienced litylati the trading price of their common sharesédaeen the subject of securities class
action litigation. We might become involved in sgtes class action litigation in the future. Sditlyation often results in substantial costs anc
diversion of management’s attention and resouredscauld have a material adverse effect on oumiessi financial condition and results of
operation.

U.S. shareholders who hold common shares duringeaipd when we are classified as a passive foreigvestment company may be subject
to certain adverse U.S. federal income tax consaues.

Management believes that we are not currently aiyagoreign investment company. However, we mayehzeen a passive foreign
investment company during one or more of our paaable years and could become a passive foreigegsiment company in the future. In
general, classification of our company as a padsrggn investment company during a period whéh& shareholder holds common shares
could result in certain adverse U.S. federal incoamxeconsequences to such shareholder.

Certain U.S. shareholders who hold common sharesidg a period when we are classified as a contrdll®reign corporation may be
subject to certain adverse U.S. federal income ttabes.

Management believes that we currently are a cdattdbreign corporation for U.S. federal income paxposes and that we will continue
to be so treated. Consequently, a U.S. sharehtiideowns 10% or more of the total combined vopoger of all classes of our shares entitlec
to vote on the last day of our taxable year maguigect to certain adverse U.S. federal incomeubes with respect to the shareholder’'s
investment in us.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not applicable.
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Item 2. Properties

Turkey

General. As of May 1, 2013, we held interests in 39 onstaoré offshore exploration licenses and 12 onshardymtion leases covering
a total of approximately 4.4 million gross acresp@ximately 3.3 million net acres) in Turkey. Werjaired our interests in Turkey through
acquisitions, as well as through farm-in agreemeiitts existing third-party license holders and tigh applications submitted to the Turkish
General Directorate for Petroleum Affairs (the “G®IR the agency responsible for the regulation ibfiad natural gas activities under the
Ministry of Energy and Natural Resources in Turkey.

The following map shows our interests in Turkey:
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ReservesAs of December 31, 2012, we had total net provedres of 9,492 Mbbl of oil and 12,229 Mmcf of matwgas, net probable
reserves of 7,946 Mbbl of oil and 12,074 Mmcf ofural gas and net possible reserves of 15,229 dbbil and 104,140 Mmcf of natural gas
in Turkey.

Equipment Yards. As of May 1, 2013, we leased equipment yards inddiyiDiyarbakir and Tekirdag and owned equipmeartg at
Selmo and Edirne.

Commercial Terms.Turkey’s fiscal regime for oil and natural gas licensgsrésently comprised of royalties and income téne floyalty
rate is 12.5% and the corporate income tax ra2896. Our revenue from the Selmo oil field is subjecan additional 10% royalty, which is
offset by the amount of exploration expense thatiT&nd DMLP, the owners of our interest in the Selail field, incur in Turkey. If those
exploration expenses do not equal or exceed theiained this additional 10% royalty, we would owe tthifference. Dividends repatriated fr
Turkey would be subject to a withholding tax ratd 5% unless reduced by a tax treaty.

Licensing RegimeThe licensing process in Turkey for oil and nat@ad concessions occurs in three stages: perceihde and lease.
Under a permit, the government grants the non-skaduright to conduct a geological investigatioroan area. The size of the area and the
term of the permit are subject to the discretiothef GDPA.
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The GDPA awards a license after it approves théiGpy’'s work program, which may include obligatssuch as geological and
geophysical work, seismic reprocessing and intésiioa and contingent shooting of seismic andidgliof wells. A license grants exclusive
rights over an area for the exploration for petnale A license has a term of four years and requirgling activities by the third year, but this
obligation may be deferred into the fourth yeaipbsgting a bond. A license is eligible for two septartwo-year extensions by fulfilling prior
work commitments and subscribing to additional wosknmitments. A final thregear term may be granted as an appraisal periocgfpoil ol
natural gas discovery registered in the previotrageNo single company may own more than an agtgegfal00% of eight licenses within a

district. Rentals are due annually based on theahes under the license.

Once a discovery is made, the license holder appieonvert the area, not to exceed 25,000 hestara lease. Under a lease, the lesse
may produce oil and natural gas. The term of eeléafor 20 years and may be extended for two &urthrms of ten years each. Annual rentals
are due based on the hectares comprising the [Easeroduction lease holder is typically able pplg for a new exploration license covering

the area of the original exploration license, mithesarea of the newly-granted production lease.

Thrace Basin.The following map shows our interests in the Thr@asin in northwestern Turkey:
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Edirne (License 3839) and Habiller (License 403We own a 55% working interest in License 3839 arid)0% working interest in
License 4037, which cover an aggregate of appraeiiy239,000 gross acres. In April 2010, we commeentatural gas sales from the Edirne
natural gas field. As of May 1, 2013, we had ninedpicing wells on the Edirne and Habiller licend&'s. are the operator of Licenses 3839 an

4037, which expire in October 2014 and March 20&8pectively.
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Alpullu (Production Lease 4794) and Temrez (Licet3®1).We own a 100% working interest in Production Le&8®4 and License
4861, which cover approximately 3,158 acres andd¥acres, respectively. Upon the acquisition it in August 2010, we commenced
limited natural gas sales from the Alpullu prodantlease. As of May 1, 2013, we had two produciegision the Alpullu production lease. \
are the operator of Production Lease 4794 and k&d@61, which expire in September 2028 and Dece&tliel, respectively.

Gocerler (Production Lease 4200 and License 4288).own a 50% working interest in Production Lea®@Mand License 4288, which
cover approximately 3,363 gross acres and 119,88 @cres, respectively. Upon the acquisitionmoftiin August 2010, we commenced
limited natural gas sales from the Gocerler pradndease. As of May 1, 2013, we had two producugdls on the Gocerler production lease
and one producing well on License 4288. We areffezator of Production Lease 4200 and License 42B&h expire in March 2024 and
August 2013, respectively. We have applied for e-yar extension on License 4288.

Adatepe (Production Lease 4959 and License 50¥8)own a 50% working interest in Production Lea8&%and License 5016, which
cover approximately 3,086 gross acres and 117,88 @cres, respectively. Upon the acquisitionmoftiin August 2010, we commenced
limited natural gas sales from the Adatepe produdease. As of May 1, 2013, we had seven produsilty on the Adatepe production lease.
We are the operator of Production Lease 4959 acehisie 5016, which expire in September 2031 andadp2017, respectively.

Malkara (Licenses 4094 and 453%Ye own a 100% working interest in Licenses 4094 46®P, which cover an aggregate of
approximately 242,000 acres. The licenses are sutgje 50% farm-in right to Valeura Energy, LttW4leura”) in return for the completion of
certain work commitments. We are the operator oéhses 4094 and 4532, which expire in Septembe& 20d January 2015, respectively.
plan to apply for a three-year extension on Licet3®4 if we establish commercial production primthie expiration of the license.

Banarli (Production Lease 5059Ve own a 50% working interest in Production LeaB8% which covers approximately 4,609 gross
acres. As of May 1, 2013, we had one producing arelthe Banarli production lease. We are the opedtProduction Lease 5059, which
expires in February 2032.

Tekirdag (Production Lease 3860), Gazioglu (Prothrctease 3861) and Nusratli (License 393%Je own a 41.5% working interest,
subject to a 0.415% overriding royalty interestPioduction Leases 3860 and 3861 and License 3@8th cover an aggregate of
approximately 112,000 gross acres. As of May 1320& had 52 producing wells on the Tekirdag andi@gu production leases and 85
producing wells on the Nusratli license. We aredperator of Production Leases 3860 and 3861 arehke 3931, which expire in December
2023, December 2021 and November 2015, respectively

Hayrabolu (Production Lease 2926WWe own a 41.5% working interest, subject to 4 8% overriding royalty interest, in Production
Lease 2926, which covers approximately 12,400 grosss. As of May 1, 2013, we had eight produciegsion the Hayrabolu production
lease. We are the operator of Production Lease,2@26h expires in February 2020.

Gelindere (Production Lease 3659)Ve own a 41.5% working interest, subject to d 8% overriding royalty interest, in Production
Lease 3659, which covers approximately 709 grosssaés of May 1, 2013, our producing wells on @aindere lease were temporarily shut
in. We are the operator of Production Lease 36%8¢hwexpires in June 2017.

Karaevli (License 3934)We own a 41.5% working interest, subject to 4 8% overriding royalty interest, in License 393hjet
covers approximately 56,000 gross acres. As of Ma&013, we had five producing wells on the Karaexploration license. We are the
operator of License 3934, which expires in Novenixs.

Senova (License 3858We own a 41.5% working interest, subject to 48% overriding royalty interest, in License 3858iieh covers
approximately 122,000 gross acres. We are the tgpeshiLicense 3858, which expires in May 2015.
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Atakoy (Production Lease 5122 and License 51%¥¢ own a 41.5% working interest, subject to 48% overriding royalty interest, in
Production Lease 5122, which covers approximatélygross acres of the original 121,000 acres afrise 3734. As of May 1, 2013, we had
11 producing wells on the Atakoy production leddfe. are the operator of Production Lease 5122, winkglires in November 2032. In

November 2012, we applied to renew the remainimgage on the original License 3734, now known asise 5151, and that applicatior
pending with the GDPA.

Bekirler (License 4126)We own a 41.5% working interest, subject to d48% overriding royalty interest, in License 412ieh cover:
approximately 75,000 gross acres. In 2013, we faaerform workovers of existing wells on this ke in order to establish commercial

production, which would allow us to extend the tise an additional three years. We are the opesétdcense 4126, which expires in
December 2013.

Velimese (License 3791) and Cayirdere (License BT98 own a 50% working interest in Licenses 3791 2r@R, which cover an
aggregate of approximately 125,000 gross acresf May 1, 2013, we had seven producing wells onGhgirdere exploration license and no
producing wells on the Velimese exploration licelBRAO is the operator of Licenses 3791 and 37%¢hvexpire in August 2013 and

October 2013, respectively. We plan to apply fadurction leases on each of these licenses andlyfapgxploration licenses covering the
remaining acreage in 2013.

Southeastern Turkey.The following map shows our interests in southeasterkey:
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Selmo (Production Lease 829)Ve own a 100% working interest in Production le=829, which covers 8,886 acres and includes the

Selmo oil field. As of May 1, 2013, there were 48qucing wells on the Selmo production lease. Fdr22 our net production of oil in the
Selmo field was approximately 813,322 Bbls of atl,
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an average rate of approximately 2,222 Bbls per &gy are the operator of Production Lease 829, lwdxpires in June 2015. We plan to
submit an application to extend the expiration aditeroduction Lease 829 to June 2025.

Molla (Licenses 4174 and 4845) and West Molla (hsse5046) We own a 100% working interest in Licenses 44B#5 and 5046,
which cover an aggregate of approximately 112,@®6saadjacent to the northern border of our formegnse 3118 (now Production Lease
3118-5003). In 2012, we drilled the Goksu-3H anti&al wells, which have produced approximately 86,0ross Bbls and 44,000 gross Bbils
of oil, respectively, as of May 1, 2013. We are tiperator of Licenses 4174, 4845 and 5046, whigirexn June 2014, March 2015 and June
2016, respectively.

Arpatepe (Production Lease 5003 and License 5028 own a 50% working interest in Production Lea@83 and License 5025, whi
cover approximately 11,200 and 84,600 gross aoeepgctively. For 2012, our net production of oilnfi the Arpatepe field was approximately
43,436 Bbils of oil, at an average rate of approxétyal19 Bbls per day. As of May 1, 2013, we ham foroducing wells on the Arpatepe
production lease. Aladdin is the operator of PréiducLease 5003 and License 5025, which expireamednber 2028 and February 2016,
respectively.

Bakuk (License 5064 and Production Lease 504@).own a 50% working interest in License 5064 aratiBction Lease 5043. The
exploration license covers approximately 61,00Ggmacres, and the production lease covers apprteding#,000 gross acres. As of May 1,
2013, there was one producing well on the Bakukipction lease. Tiway Turkey, Ltd. (“Tiway”) is tloperator of License 5064 and
Production Lease 5043, which expire in June 2016Jamuary 2032, respectively.

Idil (License 4642) We own a 50% working interest in License 4642iclttovers approximately 123,000 gross acres. \&e td drill
one well on this license in 2013. We are the operat License 4642, which expires in October 2014.
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Central Basins.Our exploration licenses in central Turkey covegddy unexplored tertiary basins. We are curresélgking partners for
these exploration licenses. Through faoats, we expect to reduce our exploration risk acaklerate the exploration and development acit
on the farmed out properties. We intend to remaiogerator of the properties that we farm-out. fitlewing map shows our interests in
central Turkey:

Towat Towa mmm | "'I'L:" GurnasTane e
|
AT arar| 4rae Erdcan w-¢- [
an | arm 1 arw [ L
37 - |
T L
arze | &8 war e [Swes | ;
v e [4729-4741 Aoy
LiE] | | Teancal
| [
|
| - =
Arkarn |Gurun I
| & | MeavgaiaT | ~ |4325 | E-
| |
My _ A — ———— Saely
—— "\ - - | Maiampa II
| | TURKEY |
."IRSH.I:.rr | | Dliparhigtkie
1 1 |
| | Xl
|
| K Marazg
Nigds Aofyaman |
. | 1 u
| | bl Gariantep !
Ay 4—@'”.465‘5'1& |
Fonym . i
| '1-543.4'?-19”' i I
” '
Adang
Sanwta
/ !
Karaman | f
|
2 Yuksekhoy Ayian| G ﬁ Legend g
v : D TransAgantic Lizenses. Jont Veskoms | ]
Lizaress, Applid fer Redngishimant
Dsinc Boundarny
Oy Baningany

Yuksekkoy (Licenses 4350) and Adana (License 48%2)own a 100% working interest in Licenses 43&@ 4842, which cover an
aggregate of approximately 242,000 acres in thenAdaea of central Turkey. We are the operatoricégnses 4350 and 4842, which expire in
March 2014 and June 2015, respectively. Basedwews of the prospectivity within these licenses, iave applied to relinquish both of th
licenses as of February 12, 2013.

Sivas Basin (Licenses 4729, 4730, 4731, 4732, 47384, 4735, 4736, 4737, 4738, 4739, 4740 and 4.8 own a 100% working
interest in Licenses 4729, 4730, 4731, 4732, 43334, 4735, 4736, 4737, 4738, 4739, 4740 and 4¥Hith cover an aggregate of

approximately 1.6 million acres in central Turk&ese licenses are in a large, relatively unexpleeetiary basin. In 2012, pursuant to our
farm-out agreement with Shell, we acquired 2D s&isand airborne gravity data over the licenses.aéethe operator of the licenses, which
expire in December 2014.

Gurun (License 4325)We own a 90% working interest in License 4325iclwttovers approximately 122,000 gross acres itraen
Turkey. In April 2009, we farmed-in for a 90% inget in License 4325 for cash consideration analiigation to carry a 10% interest in the

first well drilled. During 2012, we drilled the Kak-1 exploration well, which did not encounter emmric levels of hydrocarbons. We are the
operator of License 4325, which expires in Febrzaxy4.
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Gaziantep (Licenses 4607, 4648, 4649 and 4696¢ own a 62.5% working interest in Licenses 4@BA8, 4649 and 4656 (subject to a
0.78% overriding royalty interest), which coveraggregate of approximately 488,000 gross acresthedrurkish border with Syria. During
2012, we drilled the Alibey-1 exploration well, vehiwas our first horizontal well to discover oil.evdre the operator of these licenses, which
expire in October 2013, except for License 4607ctviexpires in August 2013.

Bulgaria

General. As of May 1, 2013, we held interests in one onslesq@oration permit and one production concessioRllgaria. We acquired
all of our Bulgarian interests through the purchafsBirect Bulgaria in February 2011. In Januaryt20the Bulgarian Parliament enacted
legislation that banned the fracture stimulatiomibfind natural gas wells in the Republic of BuigaThe legislation also had the effect of
preventing conventional drilling and completionigities. In June 2012, the Bulgarian Parliament adesl the legislation to clarify that
conventional drilling and completion activities warot intended to be affected by the law. As losithis legislation remains in effect, our
unconventional natural gas exploration, developraedtproduction activities in Bulgaria will be sificantly constrained. The following map
shows our interests in Bulgaria and Romania at Béee 31, 2012:
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ReservesAs of December 31, 2012, we had total net provedres of 9 Mbbl of oil and 234 Mmcf of natural gast probable reserves
of 3 Mbbl of oil and 71 Mmcf of natural gas and pessible reserves of 4 Mbbl of oil and 107 Mmchafural gas in Bulgaria.

Commercial Terms.Bulgaria’s petroleum laws provide a framework fovéstment and operation that allows foreign inwesto retain
the proceeds from the sale of petroleum produciitwe. fiscal regime is comprised of royalties antbime tax.
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The royalty ranges from 2.5% to 30%, based on afat®or” which is particular to each production concessigreament, but is typicall
calculated by dividing the total cumulative revesifit®dm a production concession by the total cunugatosts incurred for that production
concession.

The production concession holder pays Bulgariapa@te income tax, which is assessed at a rat@%f All costs incurred in
connection with exploration, development and proidmcoperations are deductible for corporate incoaxepurposes.

Resident companies which remit dividends outsidBuifaria are subject to a dividend withholding between 10% to 15%, depending
on the proportion of the capital owned by the retip No customs duty is payable on the exportatfgleum, nor is customs duty payable on
the import of material necessary to conduct petiol®perations. There is also a 20% value addedXis priced at market while natural gas
is tied to a bundle pricing based in part on thpamprice and in part on the domestic price.

Licensing Regime.The licensing process in Bulgaria for oil and nalgas concessions occurs in two stages: explarpgomit and then
production concession.

Under an exploration permit, the government grartdoration rights for a term of up to five yeassconduct seismic and other
exploratory activities, including drilling. The ripéent of an exploration permit commits to a workgram and posts a bank guarantee in the
amount of the estimated cost for the program. Tha aovered by an onshore exploration permit magstdarge as 5,000 square kilometers.
The exploration permit may be extended for up to additional two-year terms, subject to fulfillmesftminimum work programs, and may be
extended for an additional one-year term in ordeaptpraise potential geologic discoveries. Interaatier an exploration permit are
transferable, subject to government approval. Tdrenfi holder is required to pay an annual areatpel to 30 Bulgarian Lev (approximately
$20 at March 1, 2013) per square kilometer, or dg&ian Lev (approximately $30 at March 1, 2018) gquare kilometer in the event the
permit term is extended.

Upon the registration of a commercial discoveryeaploration permit holder may apply for a prodantconcession. The production
concession size corresponds to the area of the eocrahdiscovery. The duration of a production @swion is 35 years and may be extended
by a further 15 years subject to the terms anditiond of the production concession agreementrdsts under a production concession are
transferable, subject to government approval. Nwbas paid to the government by the company upowearsion to a production concession.

Koynare. We own a 100% working interest, subject to a 3.@®84rriding royalty interest, in the Koynare prodantconcession coverir
approximately 163,000 acres. The Koynare Concedsiea contains the Deventci-R1 well, where we disced a reservoir in the Jurassic-
aged Ozirovo formation at a depth of approximatiedy800 feet, which the Bulgarian government hasfigat as a geologic discovery. In
November 2011, we commenced drilling the DeveR2 appraisal well, on the Koynare Concession Andach we suspended following the
enactment of the Bulgarian government’s January 28dislation. We expect to resume drilling the Betei-R2 well in 2013. As of May 1,
2013, we were coordinating our 2013 Koynare Conorsarea work program with the Bulgarian MinistriBnergy, Economy and Tourism.
We are the operator of the Koynare production cssioa, which expires in 2047.

StefenetzIn November 2011, we initiated the application gahere for a production concession covering appratetg 395,000 acres
over the southern portion of our former A-Loveclplexation permit. The Stefenetz Concession Aressignated to contain over 300,000
prospective acres for Etropole shale formationde@ath of approximately 12,500 feet, which the Bulgn government has certified as a
geologic discovery. During 2012, we initiated anieanmental impact assessment, which the Bulgag@rernment must approve prior to
granting the production concession.
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In September 2011, we entered into an agreementlWG pursuant to which LNG funded the drillingari exploration well on the
Stefenetz Concession Area to core and test th@&edormation. This well, the Peshtene-R11, reddb&al depth in late November 2011,
from which we collected more than 900 feet of cove suspended drilling and completion of the Peshiel1 well following enactment of t
Bulgarian government’s January 2012 legislation.allé LNG are evaluating the core data and devejopiconventional completion program
for the Peshten®11 well. If the well is successful and we obtajoraduction concession over the Stefenetz Conaeggiea, LNG would fun
up to an additional $12.5 million in exchange f&0#6 working interest in the production concession.

Aglen. We own a 100% working interest, subject to a 1%radieg royalty interest, in the Aglen exploratipermit, which covers
approximately 1,700 acres within the boundariethefformer A-Lovech exploration permit and lieshiitthe boundary of the Stefenetz
Concession Area. The Aglen permit contains a pradspgedeep natural gas field that produced appraiafy 9.0 Bcf of natural gas before
being abandoned in the late 1990s. We are the tmperiathe Aglen permit, which was set to expirédipril 2012. Due to the Bulgarian
government’s January 2012 legislation, a force orgj@vent was recognized by the government. Asaf 1 2013, we were coordinating our
Aglen work program with the Bulgarian Ministry oh&rgy, Economy and Tourism.

Romania

General. As of May 1, 2013, we held a 50% working interesSud Craiova Block E IlI-7, which covers approxtaia 1.0 million gross
acres in western Romania. Sterling is the opexfttite Sud Craiova license, which was due to expileecember 2013. In 2012, the
Romanian government temporarily suspended uncoiovexttexploration of hydrocarbons, including fraetstimulation, pending a
government review of unconventional drilling andngetion techniques. As a result, on May 10, 2@i8and Sterling notified the governm
that we were relinquishing the license. As of DelsenB1, 2012, there were no reserves associatecbwitRomanian properties. See “—
Bulgaria—General” for a map showing our former iagt in Romania.

Summary of Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

The following table summarizes our net proved, plde and possible reserves at December 31, 20d&ordance with the rules and
regulations of the SEC.

Reserves

Oil and Condensatt Natural Gas
Total

Reserves Categon (Mbbl) (Mmcf) (Mboe)
Proved Reserve

Proved Develope 5,132 8,11t 6,48¢

Proved Undevelope 4,36¢ 4,34¢ 5,094

Total Provec 9,501 12,46: 11,57¢
Probable Reserve 7,94¢ 12,14¢ 9,97
Possible Reserve 15,23: 104,24 32,60¢

Value of Proved Reserves
The following table shows our estimated futurereeenue, PV-10 and Standardized Measure as of Deredd, 2012:

(in thousands)

Future net revenu $742,15:
Total PV-10 $511,07¢
Total Standardized Measu $435,87
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(1) The PV-10 value of the estimated future neenae is not intended to represent the current rhagtee of the estimated oil and natural
gas reserves we own. Management believes thatésemqtation of PV-10, while not a financial meadaraccordance with U.S. GAAP,
provides useful information to investors because widely used by professional analysts and sdighied investors in evaluating oil and
natural gas companies. Because many factors thafdgue to each individual company impact the arhofifuture income taxes
estimated to be paid, the use of a pre-tax measwauable when comparing companies based onvesdPV-10 is not a measure of
financial or operating performance under U.S. GARN:10 should not be considered as an alternatditieet standardized measure as
defined under U.S. GAAP. The Standardized Measpeesents the PV-10 after giving effect to incomes. The following table
provides a reconciliation of our I-10 to our Standardized Measu

(in thousands)

Total P\-10 $511,07¢
Future income taxe (106,41)
Discount of future income taxes at 10% per ani 31,21(
Standardized Measu $ 435,87

Proved Reserves

Estimates of proved developed and undevelopedweseare inherently imprecise and are continualbjestt to revision based on
production history, results of additional explooatiand development, price changes and other faGess“—OQOil and Natural Gas Reserves
under U.S. Law.”

At December 31, 2012, our estimated proved resevees 11,578 Mboe, a decrease of 13.7% comparg8d, 419 Mboe at December 31,
2011. During 2012, we added estimated proved resesi/2,303 Mboe through extensions and discovdrigen by our 2012 drilling activity
in Turkey. These increases were offset by prodnatmumes of 1,655 Mboe and performance revisiarexisting producing wells of 2,489
Mboe. The estimated undiscounted capital costscaged with our proved reserves is $93.3 million.

Proved Undeveloped Reserves

At December 31, 2012, our estimated proved undeeeloeserves were 5,094 Mboe, a decrease of 19f¥bared to 6,293 Mboe at
December 31, 2011. This decrease in proved undeseéleserves was primarily attributable to revisifor existing undeveloped reserves in
Selmo to reflect the results of recent new wellsriBy 2012, we incurred $19.9 million in capitabexditures to drill and complete 14 proved
undeveloped wells. At December 31, 2012, no mdteneounts of proved undeveloped reserves remainddugloped for five years or more
after they were initially disclosed as proved ureleped reserves. We intend to convert the proveld@weloped reserves disclosed as of
December 31, 2012 to proved developed reserveawitte years of the date they were initially disebd as proved undeveloped reserves.

Probable Reserves

Estimates of probable reserves are inherently ioipee When producing an estimate of the amountl @inal natural gas that is
recoverable from a particular reservoir, an estajuantity of probable reserves is an estimateasfe additional reserves that are less certai
to be recovered than proved reserves but whicletheg with proved reserves, are as likely as nbeteecovered. Estimates of probable
reserves are also continually subject to revistmased on production history, results of additianadloration and development, price changes
and other factors. See “—Oil and Natural Gas Resemnder U.S. Law.”

When deterministic methods are used, it is asylikslnot that actual remaining quantities recovericexceed the sum of estimated
proved plus probable reserves. When probabiliséthads are used, there should be at least a 508alpility that the actual quantities
recovered will equal or exceed the proved plus it
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reserves estimates. Probable reserves may be edsmareas of a reservoir adjacent to provedvesavhere data control or interpretations of
available data are less certain, even if the imégegl reservoir continuity of structure or produityi does not meet the reasonable certainty
criterion. Probable reserves may be assigned tsdhat are structurally higher than the proved drthese areas are in communication with
the proved reservoir. Probable reserves estimédesraclude potential incremental quantities assteci with a greater percentage recovery of
the hydrocarbons in place than assumed for proaserves.

At December 31, 2012, our estimated probable resemere 9,972 Mboe, an increase of 44.3% comparé®12 Mboe at December 31,
2011. This increase in probable reserves was pitinatributable to the Bahar and Goksu discoveoieshe Molla licenses.

Possible Reserves

Estimates of possible reserves are also inherenfiyecise. When producing an estimate of the amotioil and natural gas that is
recoverable from a particular reservoir, an estajuantity of possible reserves is an estimatentight be achieved, but only under more
favorable circumstances than are likely. Estimafgmossible reserves are also continually subfectvisions based on production history,
results of additional exploration and developmerite changes and other factors. See “—Oil and fdhias Reserves under U.S. Law.”

When deterministic methods are used, the total tifienultimately recovered from a project havew brobability of exceeding proved
plus probable plus possible reserves. When prababimethods are used, there should be at leB8¥%aprobability that the total quantities
ultimately recovered will equal or exceed the ppéus probable plus possible reserves estimatssilite reserves may be assigned to area:s
of a reservoir adjacent to probable reserves wileta control and interpretations of available dataprogressively less certain. Frequently,
will be in areas where geoscience and engineete ate unable to define clearly the area andcatitmits of commercial production from
the reservoir by a defined project. Possible resealso include incremental quantities associatddangreater percentage recovery of the
hydrocarbons in place than the recovery quantisssimed for probable reserves.

Possible reserves may be assigned where geoserda@ngineering data identify directly adjacentipos of a reservoir within the same
accumulation that may be separated from provedsdrgdaults with displacement less than formathiokness or other geological
discontinuities and that have not been penetratealveellbore, and the registrant believes that aujacent portions are in communication \
the known (proved) reservoir. Possible reserves loeagssigned to areas that are structurally highlewer than the proved area if these area:
are in communication with the proved reservoir.

At December 31, 2012, our estimated possible resemere 32,608 Mboe, an increase of 11.7% compar2g,194 Mboe at
December 31, 2011. This increase in possible resemas primarily attributable to the Bahar and Gakiscoveries in the Molla licenses.

Internal Controls

Management has established, and is responsibla farmber of internal controls designed to provatesonable assurance that the
estimates of proved, probable and possible resamneesomputed and reported in accordance with aridsegulations provided by the SEC as
well as established industry practices used bypgaddent engineering firms and our peers. Thesealteontrols consist of documented
process workflows and qualified professional engjiimgy and geological personnel with specific resgrexperience. We also retain an outside
independent engineering firm to prepare estimatesiioproved, probable and possible reserves. Wi wlosely with this firm, and
management is responsible for providing accuraggaimg and technical data to it. Our internal addpartment has tested the processes anc
controls regarding our reserves estimates for 28&Rior management reviews and approves our reestiveates, whether prepared internally
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or by third parties. In addition, our audit commétserves as our reserves committee and is compbtwee outside directors, all of whom
have experience in the review of energy compargrves evaluations. The audit committee reviewditted reserves estimate and also meets
with representatives from the outside engineeriimg fo discuss their process and findings.

Oil and Natural Gas Reserves under U.S. Law

In the United States, we are required to disclosequ reserves, and we are permitted to disclasiegple and possible reserves, using
standards contained in Rule 4-10(a) of the SECguRion S-X. The estimates of proved, probable pogkible reserves presented as of
December 31, 2012 have been prepared by DeGolgeaoNaughton, our external engineers. The techpaaon at DeGolyer and
MacNaughton that is primarily responsible for oesisg the preparation of our reserves estimat@®isgistered Professional Engineer in the
State of Texas and has a Bachelor of Science degMechanical Engineering from Kansas State UmittgrHe has over 30 years of
experience in oil and natural gas reservoir studiesevaluations and is a member of the SocieBetfoleum Engineers. We maintain an
internal staff of petroleum engineers and geoseqmofessionals who work closely with DeGolyer atacNaughton to ensure the integrity,
accuracy and timeliness of data furnished to thenthfe preparation of their reserves estimatesrétfn a third-party consultant as the
technical person primarily responsible for oversgeaiur reserve estimation process. She has a Baalfebcience degree in Petroleum
Engineering and Geology from Texas A&M UniversiBhe has over 30 years of experience in the oihamadral gas industry, including
experience in production and reservoir engineeng, is a member of multiple professional orgaizrat

Estimates of oil and natural gas reserves are giojes based on a process involving an indeperttiedtparty engineering firm's
collection of all required geologic, geophysicalgaeering and economic data, and such firm’s cetepxternal preparation of all required
estimates and are forward-looking in nature. Thieperts rely upon various assumptions, includirgyagtions required by the SEC, such as
constant oil and natural gas prices, operating esg®and future capital costs. We also make asgmaptlating to availability of funds and
timing of capital expenditures for development of proved undeveloped, probable and possible resemhese reports should not be
construed as the current market value of our resefhe process of estimating oil and natural gasrves is also dependent on geological,
engineering and economic data for each reserveiraBse of the uncertainties inherent in the inétgtion of this data, we cannot ensure that
the reserves will ultimately be realized. Our akteaults could differ materially. See “Note 21—®lgmental oil and natural gas reserves anc
standardized measure information (unaudited)” tocomsolidated financial statements for additianBdrmation regarding our oil and natural
gas reserves.

The technologies and economic data used in theatitin of our proved, probable and possible reseinaude, but are not limited to,
electrical logs, radioactivity logs, core analyggesplogic maps and available downhole and prodactata, seismic data and well test data.
Reserves attributable to producing wells with sigfit production history were estimated using appabe decline curves or other performa
relationships. Reserves attributable to produciefisawith limited production history were estimatgesing performance from analogous wells
in the surrounding area and geologic data to asBesgservoir continuity. These wells were congiddo be analogous based on production
performance from the same formation and complaigng similar techniques.

The estimates of proved, probable and possibleves@repared by DeGolyer and MacNaughton for #e gnded December 31, 2012
included a detailed review of our Selmo, Arpatepekuk, Molla and Thrace Basin properties in Turkeyg our West Koynare field in Bulgal
DeGolyer and MacNaughton determined that theimestés of reserves conform to the guidelines oB&€, including the criteria of
“reasonable certainty,” as it pertains to expectetiabout whether proved reserves are economatjucible from a given date forward,
under existing economic conditions, operating meshand government regulations, consistent withdéfmition in Rule 4-10(a)(24) of SEC
Regulation S-X.
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Oil and Natural Gas Reserves under Canadian Law

As a reporting issuer under Alberta, British Coliandnd Ontario securities laws, we are requireceu@hnadian law to comply with
National Instrument £-101 “Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Atitg” (“NI 51-101") implemented by the memberstbé Canadian
Securities Administrators in all of our reserveated disclosures. DeGolyer and MacNaughton evatlitite Company’s reserves as of
December 31, 2012, in accordance with the reseatefsitions of NI 51-101 and the Canadian Oil aras@&valuators Handbook (“COGEH").
Our annual oil and natural gas reserves discloquegzared in accordance with NI 51-101 and COGHiHféed in Canada are available at
www.sedar.com.

Oil and Natural Gas Production
The following table sets forth our net productidroitd and natural gas for 2012, 2011 and 2010:

Net Production )

oil @ Natural Gas Total
Year (Bbls) (Mcf) (Boe)
2012
Turkey 947,993 4,204,32! 1,648,72
Bulgaria 641 33,53 6,23(
2011
Turkey 889,574 4,610,53 1,657,99
Bulgaria 1,171 45,69: 8,78¢
2010
Turkey 689,823 1,707,42 974,39

(1) Does not include nominal production from properiiesther countries

(2) “Oil” volumes include condensate (light oil) and mediuuade oil.

(3) During 2012, 2011 and 2010, our net productibail in the Selmo oil field was 813,322 Bbls, 8385 Bbls and 411,964 Bbls,
respectively

Production Prices and Production Costs

The following table sets forth the average salé&seger Bbl of oil and Mcf of natural gas and thverage production cost, not including
ad valorem and severance taxes, per unit of pramufir each of 2012, 2011 and 2010:

2012 2011 2010
Turkey

Average Sales Pric

Oil ($/Bbl) $102.6( $100.2¢ $80.01
Natural Gas ($/Mcf $ 8.7 $ 7.0¢ $ 7.6
Unit Costs

Production ($/Boe $ 10.6¢ $ 10.2¢ $20.4¢
Bulgaria

Average Sales Pric

Oil ($/Bbl) $ 76.4¢ $108.0¢ —
Natural Gas ($/Mcf $ 4.17 $ 4.6C —
Unit Costs

Production ($/Boe $ 70.9¢ $ 71.8¢ —
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Drilling Activity

The following table sets forth the number of netdurctive and dry exploratory wells and net produecind dry development wells we
drilled for 2012, 2011 and 2010:

Development Wells Exploratory Wells

Productive Dry Productive Dry

Turkey

2012 14.4¢ 1.42 4.04 7.92

2011 14.5¢ 5.5C 2.5t 6.6(

2010 13.7¢ 4.2C 2.5C 2.5(C

Romania

2012 — — — —

2011 — — — —

2010 — 2.0C — 1.0C

Bulgaria

2012 — — — —

2011 — — — —

2010

Oil and Natural Gas Properties, Wells, Operations ad Acreage

Productive Wells. The following table sets forth the number of pradteewells (wells that were producing oil or natugas or were
capable of production) in which we held a workinterest as of December 31, 2012:

Qil Natural Gas
Gross™®) Net @ Gross @) Net @
Turkey 5¢ 55.¢ 19¢ 91
Bulgaria 0 0 1 1

(1) “Gross well” means the wells in which we held a working intef(egerating or nc-operating)
(2) “Net well” means the sum of the fractional working interestaexd in gross wells

Developed AcreageThe following table sets forth our total gross aed developed acreage as of December 31, 2012:

Developed (Acres’
Gross®) Net (2)

Turkey 86,56 47,78¢

(1) “Gros means the total number of acres in which we hadrking interest
(2) “Nef” means the sum of the fractional working interestaed in gross acre

Undeveloped AcreageThe following table sets forth our undeveloped laodition as of December 31, 2012:

Undeveloped

(Acres)
Gross®) Net &)
Turkey 4,272,31! 3,283,97.
Bulgaria 567,10t 567,10t
Romania® 988,42: 494,21
Total 5,827,84i 4,345,29:
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(1) “Gros” means the total number of acres in which we hadrking interest
(2) “Nef” means the sum of the fractional working interestaed in gross acre
(3) On May 10, 2013, we notified the Romanian governntieait we were relinquishing our Sud Craiova liee!

Undeveloped Acreage ExpirationsThe following table summarizes by year our undepetbacreage scheduled to expire in the nex
years:

% of Total
Undevelope(

Undevelo(%ed A @

As of December 31 (Acres) ( cresg
Gross® Net ©) Net

2013® 2,086,50! 1,146,61! 30.€
2014 2,213,82. 2,086,29I 55.7
2015 636,88¢ 353,59¢ 9.4
2016 325,25 162,62¢ 4.3

2017 — — —

(1) Excludes the Koynare production concessionweatvere awarded in 2013, which expires in 2048oAdxcludes the Stefenetz
Concession Area for which we have applied for alpotion concessiol

(2) “Gros” means the total number of acres in which we hadrking interest

(3) “Nef” means the sum of the fractional working interestaexd in gross acre

(4) Includes 494,211 net acres in Romania, which weeimquishing.

We anticipate that we will be able to extend tleertise terms for substantially all of our undevetbaereage in Turkey scheduled to
expire in 2013 through the execution of our curreatk commitments.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

TEMI has been involved in a number of lawsuits vétgroup of villagers living around the Selmo @lld who claim ownership of a
portion of the surface at Selmo. These cases amg bigjorously defended by TEMI and Turkish govesmnhauthorities. We do not have
enough information to estimate the potential addai operating costs we could incur in the eveatgrported surface owners’ claims are
ultimately successful. The following is a summafyh@se cases.

In 2003, the villagers applied to the Kozluk Ci€iburt of First Instance in Turkey with seven tilgrvey certificates dating back to
Ottoman times. These villagers were granted tigstration certificates, and in 2005, these vélagapplied to the Kozluk Civil Court of First
Instance to enlarge the areas covered by theicaté$ to approximately 20 square kilometers. Neitte nor, to our knowledge, any ministry
in the Turkish government received notice of tlaart proceeding. Almost all of our production wedlsthe Selmo oil field lie within this
enlarged area. In 2009, the Supreme Court overthke&ozluk Civil Court of First Instance and dited it to re-examine the case (ti&utface
Litigation”).

In 2006, the Turkish Forestry Authority filed aiahain the Kozluk Cadastre Court against the villager attempting to register land that
is registered with the Turkish government as foreE&MI joined the Turkish government as a plainiifthat case. In February 2011, the
Kozluk Cadastre Court decided to suspend the aatfighere is a resolution of the Surface Litigatio

In addition, TEMI is a defendant in two nuisanceesafiled in the Kozluk Cadastre Court and onexclar damages filed in the Kozluk
Civil Court of First Instance. The plaintiffs in@aof these cases are the same villagers in thfacguitigation. The Turkish Treasury
Department and the Turkish Forestry Authority hppeed TEMI as defendants in each of these cades Kbzluk Cadastre Court has decided
to suspend each of these nuisance cases untilithemesolution of the Surface Litigation. On Deber 27, 2012, the Kozluk Civil Court of
First Instance dismissed the damages case. Wetdkpeaglaintiffs to appeal that decision.
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On June 27, 2012, the Kozluk Civil Court of Finssfance dismissed the Surface Litigation. The dsatted its formal decision on
August 8, 2012, and the plaintiffs have filed apegd with the Court of Appeal. We will continuevigorously defend our interests.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities
Canada

Our common shares are traded in Canada on the fboBtock Exchange (the “TSX”) under the trading bpid TNP”. The following
table sets forth the quarterly high and low saléseg per common share in Canadian dollars on 8 for the periods indicated.

High Low

2012:

First Quarte! $1.61 $1.0¢

Second Quarte $1.27 $0.8¢€

Third Quartel $1.14 $0.8¢

Fourth Quarte $1.0z2 $0.7C
2011:

First Quarte! $3.4¢ $2.81

Second Quarte $3.0¢ $1.51

Third Quartel $1.67 $0.7¢

Fourth Quarte $1.7C $0.6¢

United States

Our common shares are traded in the United StatéisscoNYSE MKT exchange under the trading symba@\TT. The following table
sets forth the high and low sales price per comai@mne in U.S. Dollars on the NYSE MKT for the pesandicated.

High Low

2012:

First Quarte! $1.64 $1.1C

Second Quarte $1.2¢ $0.8C

Third Quartel $1.2C $0.84

Fourth Quarte $1.0¢€ $0.71
2011:

First Quartel $3.5¢ $2.81

Second Quarte $3.1¢ $1.62

Third Quartel $1.74 $0.7¢5

Fourth Quarte $1.67 $0.57

Common Shares and Dividends

As of May 1, 2013, we had 368,906,996 common shaseied and outstanding and held by 317 recorcenmlihcluding nominee holde
such as banks and brokerage firms who hold shardseheficial owners.
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We have not declared any dividends to date on @nmaon shares. We have no present intention of gagily cash dividends on our
common shares in the foreseeable future, as wedriteuse cash flow from operations to invest inlmusiness.

Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative tokalreholder return on TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltimmon shares with the
Russell 2000 Index and the S&P/TSX Capped Energyoséndex. The graph assumes an investment of $id@ecember 31, 2007 in our
common shares, the Russell 2000 Index and the S®¥®Japped Energy Sector Index, and assumes theesgtiment of dividends where
applicable. The share price performance shown emthph below is not intended and does not nedlyssalicate future price performance.

82,000
—B=—=TransAtlantic Petroleam [td.
S1,800
== [t ussell 2000 Index
1,600 -
—&—58&PTEX Capped Enerpy Sector Index
51,400
£1,200 = —

51,000 / \
SR / \
S60K0 / \
il / S

5200
5 = — —— —& —& )
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 22
Company/Index 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. $10C $251 $1,24¢ $1,211 $47€ $301
Russell 2000 Inde $10C $66 $ 84 $ 107 $10z %117
S&P/TSX Capped Energy Sector Inc $10C $61 $ 8 $ 97 $82 $78

Foreign Exchange Control Regulations

We have been designated as a non-resident for Bierexchange control purposes by the Bermuda Monatathority. Because of this
designation, there are no restrictions on our tgltiti transfer funds in and out of Bermuda.

The transfer of shares between persons regardesidents outside Bermuda for exchange controlgagp and the sale of our common
shares to or by such persons may take place wigpmdific consent under tliexchange Control Act 1972ssuances and transfers of shares
involving any person regarded as a resident in Beafor exchange control purposes require spemifiwoval under thExchange Control Ac
1972.
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As an “exempted company,” we are exempt from Beurladis which restrict the percentage of share abihiat may be held by non-
Bermuda residents, but as an exempted company,ayeot participate in certain business transactimtuding: (1) the acquisition or
holding of land in Bermuda (except that requireddor business and held by way of lease or tenfordgrms of not more than 50 years)
without the express authorization of the Bermudjslature, (2) the taking of mortgages on land érrBuda to secure an amount in excess of
$50,000 without the consent of the Minister of Fioa, (3) the acquisition of any bonds or debentseesired by any land in Bermuda, other
than certain types of Bermuda government secuuti€d) the carrying on of business of any kindermuda, except in furtherance of our
business carried on outside Bermuda.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table summarizes selected consoldiéiteancial information from continuing operatioius each of the five years in the
period ended December 31, 2012. All periods presenave been adjusted to reflect our oilfield sewibusiness segment and Moroccan
segment as discontinued operations. You shouldtheamhformation set forth below in conjunction liitem 7. Managemerg’'Discussion ar
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Cytiems” and the consolidated financial statementsretes thereto included elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(as adjusted
(amounts in thousands, except per share amount

Total revenue: $143,90¢ $ 128,90! $ 70,85« $ 27,74¢ $ 111
Net loss from continuing operatio (6,379 (77,579 (29,545 (40,06) (16,47Y
Comprehensive income (los 38,47( (173,019 (77,519 (52,54%) (16,475
Basic and diluted net loss per common share fromtirmaing

operations (0.02 (0.2 (0.09 (0.19 (0.25)
Basic weighted average number of shares outstai 367,41! 355,97: 312,48t 212,32( 66,52+
Diluted weighted average number of shares outstay 367,41! 355,97: 312,48t 212,32 66,52¢

As of December 31
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(as adjusted
(amounts in thousands’

Total asset $358,25¢ $ 448,80: $473,96¢ $307,08: $ 81,25¢
Long-term liabilities 72,81¢ 112,90« 62,48¢ 13,34: 14
Shareholde’ equity 213,82 171,27 276,05° 264,60 74,94(
Capital expenditures, including acquisitic 81,82« 152,44( 170,31 92,35¢ 10,26¢
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Rancial Condition and Results of Operations

We are an international oil and natural gas compmangaged in acquisition, exploration, developmeut groduction. We have focused
our operations in countries that have establishetiunderexplored, petroleum systems, have stablergments, are net importers of
petroleum, have an existing petroleum transpomatifrastructure and provide favorable commoditgipg, royalty rates and tax rates to
exploration and production companies. As of Decamie 2012, we held interests in approximatelymillion net onshore and offshore acres
of developed and undeveloped oil and natural gagasties in Turkey, Bulgaria and Romania. As of May013, approximately 40% of our
outstanding common shares were beneficially ownyel.tMalone Mitchell, 3rd, the chairman of our bobaf directors and our chief executive
officer.

2012 Financial and Operational Performance

e During 2012, we derived 72.5% of our oil and ndtges sales revenues from the production of oil2h8% from the production
of natural gas

» Total oil and natural gas sales revenues incre@s$#l34.1 million for 2012 from $124.2 million ré&zadd in 2011, excluding sales
purchased natural gas. The increase was primaelyesult of a $6.56 per Boe increase in the aeepage received and a 58 Mbbl
increase in oil productiot

* Production increased to 949 net Mbbl of oil andrdased to 4,238 net Mmcf of natural gas for 20b&mared to 891 net Mbbl of
oil and 4,657 net Mmcf of natural gas for 20

* In 2012, we incurred $81.8 million in capital expéares, including acquisition costs, comparedapital expenditures of
$152.4 million in 2011. The decrease is primariligdo the acquisitions of TBNG, Direct Bulgariar&it Petroleum Morocco, Inc.
(“Direct Morocc(’) and Anschutz Morocco Corporatic“ Anschut.”) in 2011.

e During 2012, we repaid all of our short-term boriogs, compared to short-term borrowings of $80.MManiin 2011. At
December 31, 2012, our debt outstanding was $32li®mall of which was lon-term.

* Our net loss from continuing operations for 201286&.4 million, resulting primarily from $40.0 nmdh of exploration,
abandonment and impairment of certain proved apdavwed oil and natural gas properti

Recent Developments

We completed the sale of our oilfield services hess during 2012. For additional information on i@aent developments, see “ltem 1.
Business—Recent Developments.”

Current Operations

During 2012, we continued to develop our Selmo,I®and Arpatepe oil fields and our Thrace Basiturs gas properties. For
additional information on our current operatiores $ltem 1. Business—Current Operations.”

Planned Operations

We continue to actively explore and develop oustxg oil and natural gas properties in Turkey endluate opportunities for further
activities in Bulgaria. For more information on qalanned 2013 operations, see “ltem 1. BusinessanRh Operations.”
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Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caaditind results of operations is based upon ousaatated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAB.pFaparation of these consolidated financial statés requires management to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reporteabata of assets, liabilities, revenue and experseabrelated disclosures. Our significant
accounting policies are described in “Note 3—Sigaifit accounting policies” to our consolidated fioial statements included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. We have identified below pieicthat are of particular importance to the pgstaf our financial position and results of
operations and which require the application ofifigant judgment by management. These estimatebased on historical experience,
information received from third parties, and onieas other assumptions that are believed to benedde under the circumstances, the result:
of which form the basis for making judgments abbetcarrying values of assets and liabilities #ratnot readily apparent from other sources
Actual results may differ from these estimates umlifiéerent assumptions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting poésiaffect the significant judgments and estimases in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements.

Oil and Natural Gas Properties.In accordance with the successful efforts methagicobunting for oil and natural gas propertiestos
of productive wells, developmental dry holes anadpictive leases are capitalized into appropriategs of properties based on geographical
and geological similarities. Acquisition costs ebped properties are amortized using the unit-ofdpction method based on total proved
reserves, and exploration well costs and additideaklopment costs are amortized using the ungrofluction method based on proved
developed reserves. Proceeds from the sale of piepare credited to property costs, and a galoss is recognized when a significant por
of an amortization base is sold or abandoned. Eafm costs, such as exploratory geological araphygsical costs, delay rentals and
exploration overhead, are charged to expense ag@tt Exploratory drilling costs, including thestof stratigraphic test wells, are initially
capitalized but charged to exploration expensadfwahen the well is determined to be non-productiree determination of an exploratory
well’s ability to produce must be made within oreayfrom the completion of drilling activities. Thequisition costs of unproved acreage are
initially capitalized and are carried at cost, oeaccumulated impairment provisions, until suckskes are transferred to proved properties or
charged to exploration expense as impairments jpfawed properties.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets.We follow the provisions of Accounting Standardsd@ication (*“ASC”) 360,Property, Plant and
Equipmen(*ASC 360”). ASC 360 requires that our long-livessats be assessed for potential impairment of ¢aeiying values whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate sughifment may have occurred. Oil and natural gapepties are evaluated by field for
potential impairment. Other properties are evalli&be impairment on a specific asset basis or augs of similar assets as applicable. An
impairment on proved properties is recognized wherestimated undiscounted future net cash flovemaisset are less than its carrying ve
If an impairment occurs, the carrying value of ith@aired asset is reduced to its estimated fairejalhich is generally estimated using a
discounted cash flow approach.

Unproved oil and natural gas properties do not imeducing properties and are valued on acquishiipan independent expert. As
reserves are proved through the successful coraplefiexploratory wells, the cost is transferregoved properties. The cost of the remai
unproved basis is periodically evaluated by manageno assess whether the value of a propertyin@sidhed. To do this assessment,
management considers (i) estimated potential reseamd future net revenues from an independentteXipethe Company’s history in
exploring the area, (iii) the Company’s future lihigy plans per its capital drilling program prepit®y the Company’s reservoir engineers and
(iv) operations management and other factors assutivith the area. Impairment is taken on the avgat property cost if it is determined that
the costs are not likely to be recoverable. Theat#n is subjective and requires management tereaimates and assumptions which, with
the passage of time, may prove to be materialfgifit from actual results.
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Business CombinationsWe follow ASC 805Business Combinatiorf$ASC 805"), and ASC 810-10-6%;onsolidation(*ASC 810-10-
65"). ASC 805 requires most identifiable assetdjilities, non-controlling interests, and goodwitiquired in a business combination to be
recorded at “fair value.” The statement appliealtd®usiness combinations, including combinatiom®ag mutual entities and combinations by
contract alone. Under ASC 805, all business contioing will be accounted for by applying the acdigsi method. Accordingly, transactions
costs related to acquisitions are to be recordedraduction of earnings in the period they areiired and costs related to issuing debt or e
securities that are related to the transactionaaititinue to be recognized in accordance with ctippticable rules under U.S. GAAP. ASC 810
10-65 requires non-controlling interests to betidas a separate component of equity, not asiétlizor other item outside of permanent
equity. The statement applies to the accountingiéorcontrolling interests and transactions with-gontrolling interest holders in
consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Currency Translation. We follow ASC 830Foreign Currency Matter§'ASC 830"). ASC 830 requires the assets, lialati
and results of operations of a foreign operatiobganeasured using the functional currency offtir@ign operation. Exchange gains or losses
from re-measuring transactions and monetary aceadnré currency other than the functional currea®yincluded in earnings. For certain of
our controlled entities, translation adjustmenstefrom the process of translating the functiomatrency of subsidiary financial statements
into the U.S. Dollar reporting currency. These station adjustments are reported separately anchadated in the consolidated balance st
as a component of accumulated other comprehersge The accounting basis of the assets and tiabiliffected by the change are adjuste
reflect the difference between the exchange ratnvthe asset or liability arose and the exchangeorathe date of the change.

Other Recent Accounting Pronouncements and ReportmRules

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting StandardsrddqaFASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (W&52011-04,Amendments
to Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and DéscedRequirements in U.S. GAAP and IFR8SU 2011-04"). ASU 2011-04 amends
ASC 820,Fair Value Measurements and Disclosu(&SC 820"), providing a consistent definition ameasurement of fair value, as well as
similar disclosure requirements between U.S. GAA® laternational Financial Reporting Standards. AR11-04 changes certain fair value
measurement principles, clarifies the applicatibaxasting fair value measurement and expands tB€ 820 disclosure requirements,
particularly for Level 3 fair value measurementS§WA2011-04 became effective for interim and anpealods beginning after December 15,
2011. We adopted ASU 2011-04 on January 1, 2012 atloption did not have a material effect on auatricial statements.

In June 2011, FASB issued ASU 2011-Bsesentation of Comprehensive IncoffeSU 2011-05"). ASU 2011-05 requires the
presentation of comprehensive income in eithea(d@ntinuous statement of comprehensive incom2)dmo separate but consecutive
statements. In December 2011, FASB issued ASU 2@]Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Deferral of tffedfive Date for Amendments
to the Presentation of Reclassifications of Iterus @ Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in 2&11-05*"ASU 2011-12"). ASU
2011-12 deferred the specific requirement to preisems that are reclassified from accumulated rotbenprehensive income to net income
separately with their respective components ofmrezime and other comprehensive income. The amendrnename effective for fiscal years,
and interim periods within those years, beginniftgrddecember 15, 2011. We adopted ASU 2011-05%0onaky 1, 2012. The adoption did not
have a material effect on our financial statements.

In September 2011, FASB issued ASU 2011908s5ting Goodwill for ImpairmerftASU 2011-08"). ASU 201168 allows both public ar
nonpublic entities an option to first assess gatlie factors to determine whether it is necesgsaperform the two-step quantitative goodwill
impairment test. An entity would no longer be regdito calculate the fair value of a reporting wmitess the entity determines, based on that
gualitative assessment, that it is more likely thahthat its fair value is less than its carryamgount. ASU 201108 became effective for anni
and interim goodwill impairment tests performed fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011 .ad@pted ASU 2011-08 on January 1,
2012. The adoption did not have a material effecbuor financial statements.
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In December 2011, FASB issued ASU 2011Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabiliff@dsSU 2011-11"). ASU 2011-11
requires entities to disclose both gross infornmagind net information about both instruments aadsactions eligible for offset in the
statement of financial position and instruments @adsactions subject to an agreement similamt@aster netting arrangement. Application of
ASU 2011-11 will be effective for annual reportipgriods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 iat&dim periods within those annual
periods. The adoption of ASU 2011-11 is not expkbbehave a material effect on our financial staets.

In July 2012, FASB issued ASU 2012-02&sting Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for lingeent(“ASU 2012-02"). The update
provides an entity with the option first to assgsalitative factors in determining whether it ismadikely than not that the indefinite-lived
intangible asset is impaired. After assessing tradigtive factors, if an entity determines thasihot more likely than not that the indefinite-
lived intangible asset is impaired, then the ernityot required to take further action. If an gntioncludes otherwise, then it is required to
determine the fair value of the indefinite-livedangible asset and perform the quantitative impanttest. ASU 201822 is effective for annu
and interim impairment tests performed for fiscahss beginning after September 15, 2012. Earlytamiogas permitted. We did not early
adopt the provisions of ASU 2012-02. We do not expiee adoption of ASU 2012-02 to have a mateffigict on our financial statements.

In February 2013, FASB issued ASU 2013-R@w Disclosures for Items Reclassified Out of Aedatad Other Comprehensive Income
(*ASU 2013-09"). ASU 2013-09 requires reclassifioatadjustments for items that are reclassifiedodasiccumulated other comprehensive
income to net income to be presented in the staitsnwvehere the components of net income and the enens of other comprehensive incc
are presented or in the footnotes to the finarsta@tkements. Additionally, the amendment requiressreferencing to other disclosures
currently required for other reclassification itefike amendments are effective for interim and ahraporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2012. The adoption of ASU 2013-0®tsempected to have a material impact on our firstatements.

We have reviewed other recently issued, but noaglepted, accounting standards in order to deterihigir effects, if any, on our results
of operations, financial position and cash flowas&d on that review, we believe that none of theseouncements will have a significant
effect on our current or future earnings or opersti
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Results of Operations—Year Ended December 31, 20Cbmpared to Year Ended December 31, 2011

Production:
Oil (Mbbl)
Natural gas (Mmcf
Total production (Mboe
Average sales prices
Qil (per Bbl)
Natural gas (per Mci
Oil equivalent (per Boe
Revenues:
Oil and natural gas sal
Sale of purchased natural ¢
Other
Total revenue:
Costs and expense:
Production
Exploration, abandonment and impairm
Cost of purchased natural ¢
Seismic and other exploratic
Revaluation of contingent considerati
General and administrati\
Depletion
Depreciation and amortizatic
Interest and other expen
Foreign exchange gain (los
Loss on commodity derivative contracts
Cash settlements on commaodity derivative contt
Non-cash change in fair value on commodity denieti
contracts
Total loss on commodity derivative contra
Oil and gas costs per Boe:
Production
Depletion
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Year Ended December 31 Change
2012 2011 2012-2011

(as adjusted)
(in thousands of U.S. Dollars,
except per unit amounts and production

volumes)
94¢ 891 58
4,23¢ 4,657 (419
1,65¢ 1,667 (12)
$ 102.5¢ $ 100.2% $ 2.2¢
$ 8.6¢ $ 7.0¢ $ 1.6°
$ 81.0¢ $ 74.4¢ $ 6.5¢€
134,11 124,16. 9,951
7,88 2,66¢ 5,21¢
1,91¢ 2,07¢ (162)
143,90¢ 128,90! 15,00¢
17,80¢ 18,47" (671)
39,99: 60,95: (20,95¢)
7,694 2,64 5,04¢
5,04( 11,547 (6,50%)
- 6,00( (6,000
33,94% 36,30¢ (2,359
26,02« 37,00 (20,980
2,191 2,00¢ 187
8,34( 13,66~ (5,325
1,082 (11,979 13,05¢
(3,829 (4,852) (1,028)
(1,719 (3,579 (1,859
(5,54¢) (8,426) (2,879
$ 10.7¢ $ 11.0¢ $ (0.32)
$ 15.7: $ 22.2 $ (6.4
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Oil and Natural Gas SalesExcluding sales of purchased natural gas, totarmil natural gas sales increased to $134.1 miti@012,
from $124.2 million in 2011. Of this increase, $.illion was the result of an increase in the agersales prices received and the sale of 5¢
additional Mbbl of oil in 2012. This increase wastially offset by a decrease of $0.9 million dftriable to a decrease in our production
volumes of 12 Mboe to 1,655 Mboe for 2012, compaoeti 667 Mboe in 2011. Production volumes decréasinarily on our TBNG wells
due to high decline rates and less drilling agtifdlr the year ended December 31, 2012 compar#teteame period in 2011. Our average <
price received for 2012 was $81.04 per Boe, contper&74.48 per Boe for 2011.

Production. Production expenses for 2012 decreased to $17li@mifitom $18.5 million in 2011.

Exploration, Abandonment and Impairment. Exploration, abandonment and impairment costs @sedto $40.0 million in 2012
compared to $61.0 million for 2011. The decreass pramarily due to the impairment of our Bulgari@operties of $25.9 million in 2011
following the ban on fracture stimulation enactedhoe Bulgarian Parliament in January 2012. Impaimhfor 2012 was taken on a portion of
our proved assets in Turkey for $6.7 million andobom exploration licenses in Turkey for $8.4 miflidn 2011, sixteen wells were written of
exploratory dry hole expense for $26.8 million. Admhally, we recorded impairment of approximat&8.8 million on our properties in
Turkey in 2011, primarily driven by downward rewss in natural gas reserves in the Alpullu andri&dfields. In 2012, 16 wells were written
off for $22.6 million, and a partial write-off ofwsell was expensed for $2.1 million.

Seismic and Other Exploration.Seismic and other exploration costs decreased.frfitilion for 2012, compared to $11.5 million for
2011. The decrease was due a reduction in the nuofiseismic data acquisition projects from 28 @12 to eleven in 2012.

Revaluation of Contingent ConsiderationDuring 2011, we determined that there was an iseréathe likelihood that we may not be
able to complete one of our drilling obligationgueed as part of the acquisition of Direct Morocémschutz and Direct Bulgaria. Therefore,
we increased our costs and expenses by $6.0 miliad11 to reflect our potential future costs. fieherere no contingent consideration costs
required during 2012.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expense decreased $ignno $33.9 million for 2012, compared to $36.3
million for 2011, primarily due to reductions in playee-related costs of $1.8 million, legal andoacting expenses of $2.0 million,
acquisition costs of $1.2 million and travel cast$0.3 million. Employee-related costs decreaaggltd reductions in head count. Legal and
accounting expenses were higher in the comparaledin 2011 due to the late filing of our AnniReéport on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2010, and our quarterly Report on FdH@ for the three months ended March 31, 2011. Wenlvaatquisitions during the ye
ended 2012, as compared to two acquisitions dah@game period in 2011. This decrease was pgrtfiiet by increases of $2.0 million fo
contingency related to our Aglen exploration perimiBulgaria and $1.7 million as a result of TBNE&iry included for a full twelve months in
2012. The remaining decrease of $0.8 million wasbatable to our overall cost reduction efforts.

Depletion. Depletion expense decreased to $26.0 millior2€dr2, compared to $37.0 million in 2011. The deseesas due primarily to
a reduction in our depletable basis in the Alpalhd Edirne fields, which was partially offset byddbns in the Molla, Goksu and Tekirdag
fields. The overall decrease was partially offsetlbwnward reserve revisions and lower sales vofymaich increased the depletion rates for
certain fields.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense increas&@ . million for 2012, compared to $2.0 million in
2011.

Interest and Other Expenselnterest and other expense decreased to $8.3 mitin2012, as compared to $13.7 million for 20IAe
decrease was primarily due to the decrease inutstanding debt. At December 31, 2012, our totédtanding debt was approximately $32.8
million, compared to $158.7 million at December 3Q11.
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Foreign Exchange Gain (Loss)We recorded a foreign exchange gain of $1.1 millioR012 compared to a loss of $12.0 million in
2011. The change in foreign exchange is primaiilg th the appreciation of the U.S. Dollar compdcethe New Turkish Lira (“TRY”) in
2012,

Loss on Commodity Derivative ContractsDuring 2012, we recorded a loss on commodity déxigacontracts of $5.5 million, as
compared to a loss of $8.4 million for 2011. Weoréled a $1.7 million unrealized loss and a $3.8onilrealized loss on our commodity
derivative contracts for 2012, compared to a $3l6am unrealized loss and a $4.9 million realideds for 2011. Unrealized gains and losses
are attributable to changes in oil and naturalgya®es and volumes hedged from one period enddthan We are required under our Amen
and Restated Credit Facility to hedge between 308/&% of our anticipated production volumes in$&¢mo and Arpatepe oil fields in
Turkey.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)We record foreign currency translation adjustmémis the process of translating the functional
currency of the financial statements of our foreighsidiaries into the U.S. Dollar reporting cuognForeign currency translation adjustment
for 2012 increased to a $22.2 million gain from52 8 million loss for 2011 due to the appreciatdrthe U.S. Dollar compared to the TRY.

Discontinued Operations.All revenues and expenses associated with our Marooperations and oilfield services business @di22anc
2011 have been included in discontinued operatibns.results of operations for our Moroccan operetiand oilfield services business wer
follows:

Year Ended December 31
2012 2011
(as adjusted
(in thousands)

Revenues:
Oil and natural gas sal $ 68 $ 217
Oilfield services 19,88¢ 28,20:
Total revenues 19,95¢ 28,41¢
Costs and expense:
Production 78¢ 92¢
Exploration, abandonment and impairm — 23,16:
Seismic and other exploratic — 67
Oilfield services cost 12,95¢ 24,15,
General and administrati 10,93¢ 10,04¢
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat — 11,90:
Accretion — 1
Total costs and expenses 24,68: 70,26¢
Operating loss (4,726 (41,840
Other (expense) income
Interest and other expen (15€) (474
Interest and other incon 562 11€
Foreign exchange (loss) g¢ (76%) 3,09(
Total other (expense) income (357) 2,732
Loss before income taxes from discontinued operatis (5,089 (39,119
Gain on disposal of discontinued operati 35,99¢ —
Income tax provisiol 8,29 (4,259
Net income (loss) from discontinued operation $22,61¢ $ (43,369
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Results of Operations—Year Ended December 31, 20Cbmpared to Year Ended December 31, 2010

Year Ended December 31 Change
2011 2010 2011-201C

(as adjusted
(in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except pe
unit amounts and production volumes)

Production:
Oil (Mbbl) 891 69C 201
Natural gas (Mmcf 4,65 1,70¢ 2,94¢
Total production (Mboe 1,667 97t 692
Average sales prices
Oil (per Bbl) $ 100.2° $ 80.01 $ 20.2¢
Natural gas (per Mci $ 7.0t $ 7.6% $ (0.5¢)
Oil equivalent (per Boe $ 74.4¢ $ 71.6: $ 2.8t
Revenues:
Oil and natural gas sal 124,16. 69,83¢ 54,32¢
Sale of purchased natural ¢ 2,66¢ — 2,66¢
Other 2,07t 1,01¢ 1,06(
Total revenue: 128,90! 70,85« 58,05!
Costs and expenses:
Production 18,47" 20,28t (1,81))
Exploration, abandonment and impairm 60,95: 12,69: 48,26
Cost of purchased natural ¢ 2,64¢ — 2,64t
Seismic and other exploratic 11,54: 16,88 (5,34))
Revaluation of contingent considerati 6,00( — 6,00(
General and administrati 36,30¢ 26,04¢ 10,25¢
Depletion 37,00« 12,36¢ 24,63t
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,00¢ 1,62¢ 37t
Interest and other expen 13,66" 7,05t 6,61(
Foreign exchange lo: 11,97 1,872 10,10:
Loss on commodity derivative contracts
Cash settlements on commaodity derivative contt (4,859 (29 (4,825
Non-cash change in fair value on commaodity derixati
contracts (3,579 (1,599 (1,979
Total loss on commodity derivative contra (8,426 (1,629 (6,802
Qil and gas costs per Boe
Production $ 11.0¢ $ 20.81 $ (9.79)
Depletion $ 222 $ 12.6¢ $ 9.51

Oil and Natural Gas Sales Excluding sales of purchased natural gas, tétainal natural gas sales increased to $124.2 milkic2011,
from $69.8 million realized in 2010. Of this incsea $4.8 million was the result of an increasénedverage sales prices received and $49.6
million was the result of an increase in our prdaucvolumes of 692 Mboe to 1,667 Mboe for 201Impared to 975 Mboe in 2010.
Production volumes increased primarily due to tbguésitions of Amity and Petrogas in August 201d aBNG in June 2011, which
accounted for approximately 629 Mboe of the inceed$ie remaining production volume increase wasgmily attributable to increased
production in the Selmo and Arpatepe oil fieldsr @uerage sales price received for 2011 was $7#e480e, compared to $71.63 per Boe for
2010.
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Production. Production expenses for 2011 decreased to $18liemifitom $20.3 million in 2010. The decrease inguction expenses
was primarily attributable to the increase in thiBzaation of our oilfield services business to pige these services.

Exploration, Abandonment and Impairment. Exploration, abandonment and impairment costs aszé to $61.0 million in 2011,
compared to $12.7 million for 2010. The increass wamarily due to the impairment of our Bulgarjaoperties of $25.9 million in 2011
following the ban on fracture stimulation enactedhoe Bulgarian Parliament in January 2012. Adddidy, we recorded impairment of
approximately $18.8 million on our properties inrRey in 2011, primarily driven by downward revisgim natural gas reserves in the Alpullu
and Edirne fields. In 2011, 16 wells were writtéhto exploratory dry hole expense for $26.8 mitlio

Seismic and Other Exploration.Seismic and other exploration expense decreasgtilt® million for 2011, compared to $16.9 million
for 2010. The decrease was due primarily to owsnsiei programs in 2011 occurring on licenses thajoively hold with other working interest
owners who bore their proportionate share of ttesco

General and Administrative. General and administrative expense increased t@$8#lion in 2011, compared to $26.0 million in12)
primarily due to the expansion of our operatingvaits during 2011, an increase in consulting anofessional service fees, primarily related
to the late filings of our Annual Report on FormHKdor the year ended December 31, 2010 and ourt@laReport on Form 10-Q for the
three months ended March 31, 2011 and for the atialuof bond financing.

Depletion. Depletion expense increased to $37.0 million fatkR&ompared to $12.4 million in 2010. The increass due primarily to
increased production, as well as an increase tdepletable base, both of which were primarilyrdsult of acquisitions in 2011. The increase
was also due to downward reserve revisions whictreased the depletion rate for certain fields.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense increas&@ ® million for 2011, compared to $1.6 million in
2010.

Interest and Other Expenselnterest and other expense increased to $13.7omiilir 2011, compared to $7.1 million for 2010. The
increase was primarily due to an increase in otstanding debt. At December 31, 2011, our totastaunding debt was approximately $158.7
million, compared to $136.8 million at December 2210.

Foreign Exchange Loss We recorded a foreign exchange loss of $12.0anilh 2011 compared to a loss of $1.9 million 01Q. The
increase is primarily due to the devaluation of TiRY compared to the U.S. Dollar in 2011.

Loss on Commodity Derivative Contracts. During 2011, we recorded a loss on commodityvagitie contracts of $8.4 million, as
compared to a loss of $1.6 million for 2010. Weoréled a $3.6 million unrealized loss and a $4.%onilrealized loss on our commodity
derivative contracts for 2011, compared to a $lilkom unrealized loss and a $29,000 realized fos2010. Unrealized gains and losses are
attributable to changes in oil and natural gasgsrand volumes hedged from one period end to andfeare required under our Amended
and Restated Credit Facility to hedge a portioawfoil production in the Selmo and Arpatepe alds in Turkey.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)We record foreign currency translation adjustmémis the process of translating the functional
currency of the financial statements of our foreighsidiaries into the U.S. Dollar reporting cumgnForeign currency translation adjustment
for 2011 increased to a $52.1 million loss from7z8%million loss for 2010 due to the devaluatioritef TRY compared to the U.S. Dollar in
2011.
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Discontinued Operations.All revenues and expenses associated with our Marooperations and oilfield services business @drl2anc
2010 have been included in discontinued operatibns.results of operations for our Moroccan operetiand oilfield services business wer
follows:

Year Ended December 31
2011 2010
(as adjusted
(in thousands)

Revenues:
Oil and natural gas sal $ 217 $ —
Oilfield services 28,20: 14,70¢
Total revenues 28,41¢ 14,70¢
Costs and expense:
Production 92¢ —
Exploration, abandonment and impairm 23,16: 19,92«
Seismic and other exploratic 67 19t
Oilfield services cost 24,157 18,89¢
General and administrati\ 10,04¢ 3,681
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 11,90: 12,46:
Accretion 1 —
Total costs and expenses 70,26¢ 55,16:
Operating loss (41,849 (40,459
Other (expense) income
Interest and other expen (474) (1,786
Interest and other incon 11€ 86
Foreign exchange ga 3,09( 2,68:
Total other income 2,73 983
Loss before income taxes from discontinued operatis (39,119 (39,470)
Income tax provisiol (4,259 (737
Net loss from discontinued operation: $ (43,369 $(40,20)

Capital Expenditures

For 2012, we incurred $81.8 million in capital emgiures, including acquisition costs, compareddpital expenditures of
$152.4 million for 2011. The decrease in capitgdenditures was primarily due to the acquisition¥BNG, Direct Bulgaria, Direct Morocco
and Anschutz in 2011. In 2013, we expect our chpipenditures will be approximately $131.0 milliae expect capital expenditures during
2013 to consist of approximately $101.0 milliondoilling and completion expense (over 60 gross $ye$19.0 million of seismic expense and
$11.0 million on infrastructure and other expeggproximately 32% of these anticipated expenditisesxpected to be directed to the Thrace
Basin in Turkey, devoted to developing conventiarad unconventional natural gas production, bujdnfrastructure and acquiring seismic
data. Most of the remaining 68% of these anticipp@ependitures is expected to be directed to sesthen Turkey, devoted to drilling
developmental and exploratory oil wells at SelImmgpatepe, Gaziantep and Molla. We expect cash od, Hiemmrowings from our Amended and
Restated Credit Facility and cash flow from operagito be sufficient to fund our capital expendituif not, we will either curtail our
discretionary capital expenditures or seek othedifug sources. If we successfully complete a jeartture transaction during 2013, we
anticipate increasing our drilling activity. Ourggected 2013 capital expenditure budget is subbgechange.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity for 2012 were @ash and cash equivalents, borrowings under ouméliettand Restated Credit Faci
and proceeds from the sale of our oilfield servimgsiness. At December 31, 2012, we had cash atdezpuivalents of $14.8 million, $32.8
million in long-term debt and working capital of $8nillion (excluding assets and liabilities hetat ale), compared to cash and cash
equivalents of $15.1 million, $80.7 million in sirderm debt, $78.0 million in long-term debt andierking capital deficit of $65.7 million at
December 31, 2011 (excluding assets and liabilitedd for sale). Cash provided by operating aégigsifrom continuing operations during 2012
was $52.0 million, as compared to cash providedg®rating activities from continuing operationsbs..0 million in 2011. The decrease was
primarily due to the timing of collecting our acets receivable and paying our accounts payable.

As of December 31, 2012, the outstanding princgpadunt of our debt was $32.8 million. In additiorcash, cash equivalents and cash
flow from operations, at December 31, 2012, we &dmended and Restated Credit Facility, whichigsubsed below.

Amended and Restated Credit FaciligMLP, TEMI, Talon Exploration, TransAtlantic Tugl, Amity and Petrogas are Borrowers ur
the Amended and Restated Credit Facility. Eaclh@Borrowers is our wholly owned subsidiary. Theekled and Restated Credit Facility is
guaranteed by TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and edidfransAtlantic Petroleum (USA) Corp. and TraraAtic Worldwide.

The amount drawn under the Amended and Restatetit Giacility may not exceed the lesser of (i) $26@iillion, (ii) the borrowing bas
amount at such time, (iii) the aggregate commitmenhill lenders at such time, and (iv) any amdoortowed from an individual lender to the
extent it exceeds the aggregate amount of sucketeniddividual commitment. At December 31, 201 tenders had aggregate commitment:
of $78.0 million, with individual commitments of $3 million each. On the last day of each fiscalrtgr commencing December 31, 2013
at the maturity date, the lenders’ commitmentssaigect to reduction according to the following edtle:

Commitment

End of Period Amount

December 2013 $67,500,00!
March 2014 $60,000,00
June 201+ $52,000,00!
September 201 $45,000,00
December 201 $37,500,00
March 2015 $30,000,00
June 201! $22,500,00!
September 201 $15,000,00
December 201 $ 7,500,001
March 201€ $ 0

The borrowing base was re-determined semi-annoallxpril 1st and October 1st of each year prioBéptember 30, 2012, and is now
re-determined quarterly on January 1st, April Isly 1st and October 1st of each year. Followingseuni-annual borrowing base
redetermination on October 1, 2012, our borrowiagebat December 31, 2012 was $59.7 million. Foligvaur semi-annual borrowing base
redetermination on April 1, 2013, our borrowing &&scurrently $56.9 million. The borrowing basecamt equals, for any calculation date,
lowest of:

» the debt value which results in the field life coage ratio for such calculation date being 1.50.60;
» the debt value which results in the loan life caggr ratio for such calculation date being 1.30.6®;1and
» the debt value which results in a debt service @meratio for any calculation period being 1.23 100.
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The Amended and Restated Credit Facility maturetherearlier of (i) May 18, 2016, or (ii) the lakite of the borrowing base calculat
period that immediately precedes the date thasén@-annual report of Standard Bank and the Borrewtetermines that the aggregate amour
of hydrocarbons to be produced from the borrowiagebassets in Turkey are less than 25% of the ambtigdrocarbons to be produced from
the borrowing base assets shown in the initial tigprepared by Standard Bank and the Borrowers.Arhended and Restated Credit Facility
bears various letter of credit sub-limits, incluglmmong other things, sub-limits of up to (i) $16ion, (ii) the aggregate available unused
and uncancelled portion of the lenders’ commitmentgii) any amount borrowed from an individuahter to the extent it exceeds the
aggregate amount of such lender’s individual commaitt.

Loans under the Amended and Restated Credit Baaditrue interest at a rate of three-month LIBOW (1.50% per annum. The
Borrowers are also required to pay (i) a commitnieatpayable quarterly in arrears at a per anntenegual to (a) 2.20% per annum of the
unused and uncancelled portion of the aggregatemtments that is less than or equal to the maxirauailable amount under the Amended
and Restated Credit Facility, and (b) 1.10% pewamnnof the unused and uncancelled portion of theeggge commitments that exceed the
maximum available amount under the Amended andaRebCredit Facility and is not available to berbaed, (ii) on the date of issuance of
any letter of credit, a fronting fee in an amoumu& to 0.25% of the original maximum amount tadb&wn under such letter of credit and (ii
per annum letter of credit fee for each letterrefdit issued equal to the face amount of suchrlefteredit multiplied by (a) 1.0% for any letter
of credit that is cash collateralized or backedatstandby letter of credit issued by a financiatitation acceptable to Standard Bank or
(b) 5.50% for all other letters of credit.

The Amended and Restated Credit Facility is sechyea pledge of (i) the local collection accoums affshore collection accounts of
each of the Borrowers, (ii) the receivables payableach of the Borrowers, (iii) the shares of eBolrower and (iv) substantially all of the
present and future assets of the Borrowers.

The Borrowers are required to comply with certamaificial and non-financial covenants under the Ateenand Restated Credit Facility,
including maintaining the following financial rai@uring the four most recently completed fiscargers occurring on or after March 31,
2011:

» ratio of combined current assets to combined ctii@nilities of not less than 1.10 to 1.(

« ratio of EBITDAX (less non-discretionary capitalpenditures) to aggregate amounts payable undekrttended and Restated
Credit Facility of not less than 1.50 to 1.

» ratio of EBITDAX (less no-discretionary capital expenditures) to interestemge of not less than 4.00 to 1.00;
» ratio of total debt to EBITDAX of less than 2.501®0.

The Amended and Restated Credit Facility defineSTBBX as net income (excluding extraordinary iterpf)s, to the extent deductec
calculating such net income, (i) interest expeesel(ding interest paid-in-kind, or non cash ins¢expense and interest incurred on certain
subordinated intercompany debt or interest on ggatapitalized into subordinated debt), (ii) inadtax expense, (iii) depreciation, depletion
and amortization expense, (iv) amortization ofmigtiales and organization costs, (v) any extraomginanusual or non-recurring non-cash
expenses or losses, (vi) expenses incurred in ctionevith oil and gas exploration activities ewiginto in the ordinary course of business
(including related drilling, completion, geologiGad geophysical costs), (vii) transaction costpeases and fees incurred in connection with
the negotiation, execution and delivery of the Admthand Restated Credit Facility and the relatad tocuments, and (vii) any other neast
charges (including dry hole expenses and seisniereses, to the extent such expenses would be lcagia minus, to the extent included in
calculating net income, (a) any extraordinary, wal®r non-recurring income or gains (includingingaon the sales of assets outside of the
ordinary course of business) and (b) any othercasth income or gains.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Amended and RestaeditEacility, until amounts under the Amended &astated Credit Facility are
repaid, each of the Borrowers shall not, and stalke each of its subsidiaries not to, in each sisisiect to certain exceptions (i) incur
indebtedness or create any liens, (ii) enter ingpagreements that prohibit the ability of any Bever or its subsidiaries to create any liens,
(iii) enter into any merger, consolidation or anaaigation, liquidate or dissolve, (iv) dispose of angperty or business, (v) pay any dividends,
distributions or similar payments to sharehold@r§,make certain types of investments, (vii) entéo any transactions with an affiliate,

(viii) enter into a sale and leaseback arrangenfegitengage in any business or business actigityn any assets or assume any liabilities or
obligations except as necessary in connection witheasonably related to, its business as amdihatural gas exploration and production
company or operate or carry on business in angdigtion outside of Turkey or its jurisdiction afrfnation, (X) change its organizational
documents, (xi) permit its fiscal year to end ates other than December 31st or change its methddtermining fiscal quarters, or alter the
accounting principles it uses, (xii) modify cert&iydrocarbon licenses and agreements or matematazis, (xiii) enter into any hedge
agreement for speculative purposes or (xiv) opemaintain new deposit, securities or commodity aots.

An event of default under the Amended and Rest@tedit Facility includes, among other events, fa&lto pay principal or interest when
due, breach of certain covenants and obligatiamssadefault to other indebtedness, bankruptcpsmivency, failure to meet the required
financial covenant ratios and the occurrence ofigenal adverse effect. In addition, the occurresfca change of control is an event of default
A change of control is defined as the occurrencangfof the following: (i) our failure to own, oécord and beneficially, all of the equity of the
Borrowers or any Guarantor or to exercise, direstlindirectly, day-to-day management and operaticontrol of any Borrower or Guarantor;
(ii) the failure by the Borrowers to own or holdrettly or indirectly, all of the interests grantedBorrowers pursuant to certain hydrocarbon
licenses designated in the Amended and Restatetit €aility; or (iii) (a) Mr. Mitchell ceases fany reason to be the executive chairman of
our board of directors at any time, (b) Mr. Mitdrehd certain of his affiliates cease to own obrelcand beneficially at least 35% of our
common shares; or (c) any person or group, exajulin Mitchell and certain of his affiliates, shakkcome, or obtain rights to become, the
beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of mofeain 35% of our outstanding common shares entitleste for members of our board of
directors on a fully-diluted basis. Provided thélr. Mitchell ceases to be executive chairmarof board of directors by reason of his death
or disability, such event shall not constitute aarg of default unless we have not appointed aessmr reasonably acceptable to the lenders
within 60 days of the occurrence of such event.

Under the terms of the Amended and Restated Cfaditity, we are required to provide our auditedsaidated financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2012 to the lendekdbgh 31, 2013, and we are required to provideBitweowers’ unaudited financial
statements of for the year ended December 31, @0t lenders by April 30, 2013. We have obtaiwailers from Standard Bank and BNP
Paribas that extend those deadlines to May 15, aaii3June 30, 2013, respectively.

At December 31, 2012, the Borrowers had borrowed8ahillion under the Amended and Restated Creatiilify, had availability of
$26.9 million under the Amended and Restated Crealitlity and were in compliance with all matealvenants under the Amended and
Restated Credit Facility. Pursuant to the AmendetiRestated Credit Facility, TEMI entered into texss derivative contracts and three-way
collar contracts with Standard Bank and BNP Paribééch hedge the price of oil during 2013, 2014 2015. See “Item 7A. Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk—Commodiitice Risk.” If our borrowing base is increasedha future, we would be required
under the Amended and Restated Credit Facilityettgl additional volumes of oil.
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Contractual Obligations
The following table presents a summary of our @mitral obligations at December 31, 2012:

Payments Due By Yeal
(in thousands)

Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter
Debt $32,76¢ $ — $ — $ —  $32,766 $— $ —
Leases and oth: 9,37( 3,31¢ 1,41¢ 1,41¢ 43€ — 2,78¢
Total $42,13¢  $3,31F $1,41F $1,41f $33,20: $— $ 2,78¢

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangena¢mscember 31, 2012.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures abouMarket Risk

We are exposed to market risk from changes inestaates, foreign currency exchange and hedgingyazis. A discussion of the marl
risk exposures follows. Our market risk sensitivgtiuments were entered into for hedging and imvest purposes, not for trading purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2012, our exposure to interestaladages related primarily to floating rate bornogd under our Amended and Rest:
Credit Facility. At December 31, 2012, we had $38iBion in outstanding borrowings under the Amed@ead Restated Credit Facility. The
interest we pay on borrowings under the AmendedRestated Credit Facility is equal to three-montBQ@R plus 5.50% per annum (5.76% at
December 31, 2012). A hypothetical 10% changeéniterest rates we pay on the Amended and Restastit Facility as of December 31,
2012 would result in an increase or decrease ifinberest costs of approximately $0.2 million peny.

Foreign Currency Risk

We are subject to changes in foreign currency exgbaates as a result of our operations in fore@mtries. The assets, liabilities and
results of operations of our foreign operationsraeasured using the functional currency of suchkifor operation. The functional currency for
each of our corporate entities in Turkey, Bulgarma Romania is the local currency. The functionatency for TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd
the U.S. Dollar. As a result, translation adjustteemill result from the process of translating thactional currency of our subsidiary financial
statements into the U.S. Dollar reporting currer@yr currency exposures primarily relate to the TBY our largest subsidiaries measure thei
assets, liabilities and results of operations u#iiegTRY. Such translation adjustments accumulateus consolidated balance sheets as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive lodsige recorded in our consolidated statementsrapeehensive income (loss) as foreign
currency translation adjustments. As of Decembe812 and December 31, 2011, we had losses o® $2ilion and $50.2 million,
respectively, in accumulated other comprehensise &s a result of translation adjustments. Foy¢laes ended December 31, 2012 and 2011
we recorded a gain of $22.2 million and a loss5#.$ million, respectively, of foreign currencynsdation adjustments.

We are also subject to foreign currency exposusesrasult of our operations in the other foreigardries in which we operate and
foreign currency fluctuations as oil prices recdiage referenced in U.S. Dollar-denominated prigés.record foreign exchange (gain) loss or
our consolidated statements of comprehensive indtoas) as a component of other (expense) incomeaims and losses which result from re
measuring transactions and monetary accounts untéuactional currency in earnings. As of Decem®&r2012, we had 20.4 million TRY
(approximately $11.5 million) in cash and cash egl@nts that are remeasured into our
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functional currency using the period-end exchamge, with such re-measurement gains or lossesdeddn foreign exchange (gain) loss. For
2012 and 2011, we recorded a foreign exchangeaj&f.1 million and a foreign exchange loss of $1@illion, respectively. We estimate tl
a 10% change in the exchange rates would impabtcagh balances and our net loss by approximate®/rillion. We have not used foreign
currency forward contracts to manage exchangditatiations.

Commodity Price Risk

Our revenues are derived from the sale of oil aatdnal gas. The prices for oil and natural gasateemely volatile and sometimes
experience large fluctuations as a result of nedifismall changes in supplies, weather conditiensnomic conditions and government
actions.

Pursuant to our Amended and Restated Credit Bgdiliteast one of the Borrowers is required tont@én commaodity derivative
contracts with Standard Bank and BNP Paribas. resalt, TEMI has entered into costless collar dmdd-way collar derivative contracts with
Standard Bank and BNP Paribas to hedge the prio#. #fursuant to our Amended and Restated Crexiiliey, we cannot enter into hedge
agreements that, when aggregated with any othepbsithon hedge agreement then in effect, coveismatvolumes in excess of 75% of the
reasonably projected production volumes attrib@tablour proved developed reserves. The derivatiwéracts economically hedge against the
variability in cash flows associated with the fasted sale of our future oil production. While thse of the hedging arrangements will limit the
downside risk of adverse price movements, it mag Ait future gains from favorable movements.

The costless collars provide us with a lower litfidor” price and an upper limit “ceiling” price othe hedged volumes. The floor price
represents the lowest price we will receive fortibdged volumes while the ceiling price represtmsighest price we will receive for the
hedged volumes. The costless collars are settledhyo These contracts may or may not involve paynoe receipt of cash at inception,
depending on the ceiling and floor pricing.

The three-way collar contracts consist of a puretigmit, a sold call and a purchased call. The @seth put establishes a lower limit
“floor” price, the sold call establishes an uppenit “ceiling” price and the purchased call estabbs a “second floor” price on the hedged
volumes. The three-way collar contracts requirecmumnterparty to pay us if the settlement pricedfioy settlement period is below the floor
price. We are required to pay our counterpartiiéf $ettlement price for any settlement period @vatihe ceiling price but below the second
floor price, and our counterparty is required ty pa if the settlement price for any settlementqebis above the second floor price. Neither
party is required to make a payment to the othay iathe settlement price for any settlement péris equal to or greater than the floor price
and equal to or less than the ceiling price. Tiegiway collar contracts are settled monthly.

We have elected not to designate our derivativaniiml instruments as hedges for accounting pugy@sel accordingly, we record such
contracts at fair value and recognize changesdh fair value in current earnings as they occur. €ummodity derivative contracts are carried
at their fair value in earnings as they occur. \W@gnize unrealized and realized gains and lostated to these contracts on a mark-to-mark
basis in our consolidated statements of comprebemstome (loss) under the caption “Loss on comiyatkrivative contracts.Settlements ¢
derivative contracts are included in operatingwvtidis on our consolidated statements of cash fldsfx®mmodity prices decrease, this
commodity price change could have a positive impaciur earnings. Conversely, if commodity pricesréase, this commodity price change
could have a negative effect on our earnings. Hacivative contract is evaluated separately tordate its own fair value. During the year
ended December 31, 2012, we recorded a net ureddtzs on commodity derivative contracts of $1illian. We recorded a net unrealized
loss on commaodity derivative contracts of $3.6 imrllin 2011.

59



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

The following tables summarize our outstanding cadity derivatives contracts with respect to ounfatoil production as of
December 31, 2012:

Weighted
Weighted Average Estimated Fair
Quantity Average Maximum Price

Minimum Value of

Type Period (Bbl/day) Price (per Bbl (per Bbl) Liability
(in thousands)
Collar January 1, 20—December 31, 20: 77t $ 82.2¢ $ 121.3¢ $ (259)
Collar January 1, 201—December 31, 20: 622 $ 80.8: $ 118.07 (292)
$ (545)

Collars Additional Call
Weighted
Average
Minimum Weighted Weighted Estimated Fair
Quantity Average Average

Price Maximum Maximum Value of

Type Period (Bbl/day) (per Bbl) Price (per Bbl) Price (per Bbl) Liability
(in thousands)
Three-way collar contrac ~ January 1, 20-—December 31, 20: 831 $8500 $ 97.1: $ 162.1! $ (3,659
Three-way collar contrac  January 1, 20+—December 31, 20: 72€  $8500C $ 97.1: $ 162.1t (2,150
Three-way collar contrac ~ January 1, 20+—December 31, 20: 1,01¢ $8500 $ 91.8¢ $ 151.8¢ (2,440
$ (8,249

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
See Index to Financial Statements on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountémon Accounting and Financial Disclosure

The Company’s audit committee engaged KPMG LLPekWare limited liability partnership (‘“KPMG LLP"gs the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm aisthéssed KPMG LLP, a Canadian limited liability pearship (‘KPMG Canada”), as the
Company’s independent registered public accourfiing effective upon the completion of the audittoé Company’s financial statements as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2011, wdichirred on March 23, 2012.

During the years ended December 31, 2009, 201@@hd and for the period January 1, 2012 throughcki@B, 2012, there were no
disagreements (as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(ivRefulation S-K and the related instructions to 1804 of Regulation S-K) between the
Company and KPMG Canada on any matter of accouptimgiples or practices, financial statement aisale or audit scope or procedure,
which disagreements if not resolved to the satisfacf KPMG Canada, would have caused KPMG Canadaake reference to the subject
matter of the disagreements in its reports witlpeesto the Company’s consolidated financial statefor such periods.

During the years ended December 31, 2009, 201@@hd and for the period January 1, 2012 throughchl@s, 2012, there were no
reportable events (as defined in Item 304(a)(19t\Rregulation S-K), except that the Company didmatntain effective internal control over
financial reporting because of the effect of malesieaknesses on the achievement of the objeativibe control criteria as described below.

During the years ended December 31, 2009, 201@@nd and for the period January 1, 2012 throughchag, 2012, neither the
Company nor anyone on its behalf has consulted KRRMG LLP with respect to either (i) the applicatiof accounting principles to a
specified transaction, either completed or proppsethe type of audit opinion that might be remdeon the Company’s consolidated financial
statements, and neither a written report nor
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oral advice was provided to the Company that KPM® Iconcluded was an important factor considerethbyCompany in reaching a decis
as to any accounting, audit or financial reporiggue; or (ii) any matter that was either the stthjé a disagreement (as defined in Item 304(a
(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K and the related instroos to Item 304 of Regulation S-K) or a reportalent (as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of
Regulation S-K).

The reports of KPMG Canada on the Company’s codatad financial statements for the years endedieee31, 2009, 2010 and 2011
did not contain an adverse opinion or a disclaiofem opinion, and were not qualified or modifiedta uncertainty, audit scope or accounting
principles, except that:

« KPMG Canada’s report as of December 31, 2009 itelicthat the Company did not maintain effectiverinal control over
financial reporting because of the effect of thiéofeing material weaknesses on the achievemeri@bbjectives of the control
criteria: (i) the Company did not maintain adequaistrols to facilitate the flow of information wbsén financial reporting
throughout the organization; (ii) the Company did maintain an effective period-end financial staat closing process; (iii) the
Company did not design procedures to ensure détagldews and verifications of inputs related te #malysis of accounts or
transactions and schedules supporting financitémsiant amounts and disclosures; and (iv) the Cogng@hnot maintain effective
monitoring controls over foreign operations in fdial, Turkey;

» KPMG Canada’s report as of December 31, 2010 coedan explanatory paragraph stating that the Coynpad suffered
recurring losses from operations, had a workingtabgeficiency and significant commitments, whiglised substantial doubt ab
the Company’s ability to continue as a going con@erd indicated that the Company did not maintfecéve internal control over
financial reporting because of the effect of thiofeing material weaknesses on the achievemerti@bbjectives of the control
criteria: (i) the Company did not maintain an effee control environment; (ii) the Company did me&intain a sufficient
complement of personnel with an appropriate le¥@ozounting knowledge, experience, and trainintheapplication of U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles and ierirdl control over financial reporting commensusaith its financial reporting
requirements and business environment; (iii) then@any did not maintain an effective anti-fraud peog designed to detect and
prevent fraud relating to an ongoing program to aganidentified fraud risks; (iv) the Company did design and maintain
effective controls for the review, supervision andnitoring of its accounting operations throughth organization and for
monitoring and evaluating the adequacy of its maecontrol over financial reporting; (v) the Compalid not maintain effective
controls over the preparation, review and approfall financial statement account reconciliatiofys) the Company did not
maintain effective controls over the recording amshitoring of intercompany accounts; (vii) the Canp did not maintain
effective controls over the re-measurement angstaéion of its foreign entity account balancesii\¥he Company did not maintain
effective controls over the review, approval, doemtation and recording of its journal entries; (@@ Company did not maintain
adequate controls to integrate the accounting fomstof its foreign entities; (x) the Company diat maintain effective controls
over its information technology general controlsg §xi) the Company did not maintain an effectiegipd-end financial statement
closing process; ar

» KPMG Canada’s report as of December 31, 2011 coedsan explanatory paragraph stating that the Coynpad suffered
recurring losses from operations and had a workaqgjtal deficiency, which raised substantial daallut the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern and indicated thaCtmapany did not maintain effective internal contyeér financial reporting
because of material weaknesses relating to the @oynpot maintaining an effective period end finahstatement closing process
and effective controls over translations of the @any’s foreign entity account balances that weeatified and included in
managemer's assessmer

The Company provided KPMG LLP and KPMG Canada wittopy of the above disclosures. Neither KPMG LbPKPMG Canada
expressed any disagreement with the above diselssur
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are designedduore that information required to be disclosestports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarizeldregoorted within the time periods specified in 8€C'’s rules and forms. Disclosure
controls and procedures include, without limitatioantrols and procedures designed to ensurertfaiation required to be disclosed in our
reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Aetdcumulated and communicated to managementdinglour chief executive officer and
our chief financial officer, as appropriate to allimely decisions regarding required disclosure.

As of December 31, 2012, management carried oataluation, under the supervision and with theigggtion of our chief executive
officer and chief financial officer, of the effeetiness of our disclosure controls and procedurase@upon the evaluation, and as a result (
material weaknesses in internal control over fim@nmeporting described below, our chief executifiicer and chief financial officer conclud
that, as of December 31, 2012, our disclosure otsnénd procedures were not effective.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting. Internal control over
financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-1&¢f)l 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, is a prodesgned by, or under the supervision of,
the chief executive officer and chief financialioffr, or persons performing similar functions, afig¢cted by the board of directors,
management and other personnel, to provide realasturance regarding the reliability of financ@dorting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancelvih GAAP and includes those policies and prooesithrat (i) pertain to the maintenance o
records that in reasonable detail accurately ainly faflect the transactions and dispositions sgeds, (ii) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to perpéamtion of financial statements in accordanch WiS. GAAP, (iii) provide reasonable
assurance that receipts and expenditures are beidg only in accordance with appropriate authddmatof management and the board of
directors, and (iv) provide reasonable assurargardéng prevention or timely detection of unauthed acquisition, use or disposition of asset
that could have a material effect on the finansiatements.

Because of inherent limitations, internal contreéiofinancial reporting may not prevent or dete@statements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agect to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions or the
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

Our management, under the supervision and witlpanécipation of our chief executive officer andeftfinancial officer, conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our internaltoorover financial reporting based on the framewand criteria established internal Contro
— Integrated Frameworlkssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission. Based on its evalonatar
management concluded that our internal control éimancial reporting was not effective as of Decem®l, 2012 because of the identification
of the material weaknesses identified below.

A material weakness (as defined in Rule 12b-2 utfteExchange Act) is a deficiency, or combinatbdeficiencies, in internal control
over financial reporting such that there is a reabte possibility that a material misstatementunannual or interim financial statements will
not be prevented or detected on a timely basish&ve identified the material weaknesses describémib

1) We have not maintained a sufficient complemémnjualified personnel with U.S. GAAP knowledge iardAddison, Texas and
Istanbul, Turkey offices, the effect of which raedlin the ineffective design or operation of aueinal controls over significant
account balances and estimates. Specific

. Significant agreements were not subject to reviguadequately trained technical resources resuiltirgcounting for such
agreements to not be in accordance with U.S. G/
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. Our income tax provision and significant non-roattransactions were not subjected to review bygmeral with adequate
experience and the requisite level of technicakbetige.

. Controls over the completeness and accuracy obghemd accruals and contingencies were not opebgtpérsonnel with
the requisite skills and did not capture accountiagsactions in a timely mann

2) Our management review and approval controls wereamplete and comprehensive and, in many instame® not operating a
sufficient level of precision, to prevent or detewterial misstatements in our financial statemedpecifically:

. Reconciliations of key account balances includiihguod natural gas properties (including depletaddases, impairment, and
abandonment), income taxes, revenue, accrualsanohgencies were not performed on a timely basat a level of
precision sufficient to detect a misstatement enrlated account

. Management approval controls over routine and martie transactions such as invoice review andagbr payment
processing and journal entry reviews were ineffecto ensure that these transactions had beenrpyrepproved, reviewed
and reported in the consolidated financial statém

. Management did not maintain effective controls quavisioning and removal of access to programsdatd, including
segregation of duties, within critical accountirygtems.

As a result of these two material weaknesses, wdnietpervasive in nature, we recorded materialsaaients to revenue, oil and natural
gas properties, accumulated depletion, depletipeese, impairment expense, current and long-teferréel income tax assets and liabilities,
deferred income tax expense, foreign exchange floesgn currency translation, and gain (loss) frdiscontinued operations in our prelimin
consolidated financial statements for the year éridlecember 31, 2012. In addition, adjustments weade to other account balances in our
preliminary consolidated financial statements far year ended December 31, 2012 and there is @naale possibility that a material
misstatement of our financial statements will netdoevented or detected on a timely basis.

3) We have not designed and implemented effeatitexrial controls around the accounting for oil aatural gas properties.
Specifically:

. Controls over capitalization of expenditures toasill natural gas properties (i.e., designatiorosfscas development,
exploratory, or maintenance) were not designedimpiemented effectively

. Controls over the completeness and accuracy ofemanciliations of proved and unproved propertefesdules to our
general ledger and depletable bases, includingfisignt inputs used in calculating depletion, waot designed and
implemented effectively

. Management’s controls over the evaluation of lamgd assets for impairment were not effectivelyigiesd and
documented

As a result of this material weakness, managensmorded material adjustments to oil and naturalpgagerties, accumulated depletion,
depletion expense, and impairment expense (indyitia related tax effects) in our preliminary cditaded financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2012.

4)  We have not designed and implemented effeatitexrial controls over income tax provisions. Spealily, we outsource the
preparation of the income tax provision, but lagkanciliation and management review controls tipatrate at a sufficient level of
precision to ensure the completeness and accufdbg data used in the computation of deferredgz

As a result of this material weakness, managensmorded material adjustments to current and long-tkeferred income tax assets and
liabilities and deferred income tax expense accoimour preliminary consolidated financial statamsegor the year ended December 31, 2012
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5)  We have not designed and implemented effeatiterial controls over significant non-routine tractions. Specifically, internal
controls over the proper identification of assetsl &nd liabilities transferred in connection wilte divestiture of our oilfield
services business were not sufficient to ensuredhgpleteness and accuracy of the accounting &asisets disposed of through
sale.

As a result of this material weakness, managenszorded material adjustments to loss from discoetinoperations and gain on dispi
of discontinued operations, including the relatetbime tax effects, in our preliminary consoliddiedncial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

6) We have not designed and implemented effeatiternal controls over remeasurement and translafiour foreign subsidiaries’
account balances. Specifically, controls over requsament and translation of U.S. Dollar-denominadmodity derivative
contracts held by a Turkish subsidiary with NewKish Lira as its functional currency, were ineffeet

As a result of this material weakness, managenssorded material adjustments to foreign exchange(fmss) and foreign currency
translation adjustment balances in our prelimir@mysolidated financial statements for the year émglecember 31, 2012.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioil reporting as of December 31, 2012 has beditealby KPMG LLP, the
independent registered public accounting firm thatited our consolidated financial statementstated in their report on pages F-3 and Bf
our consolidated financial statements.

Management'’s Plan for Remediation of Our Material Weaknesses

Many of the underlying causes of these materiakwesses existed prior to 2012. The current manageteam has worked diligently to
improve the design and operating effectivenesstefmal control over financial reporting. While inopements occurred throughout 2012,
many of the improvements were implemented in tter fpart of 2012, and thus were not in place duttiegentire year. The evaluation of the
control improvements needed to remediate mategalkwesses did not take place with sufficient timeemediate identified weaknesses.
Management expects remediation efforts in 2013tdicue to improve our internal control over fineeeporting.

During March and April 2013, management conductd#tbeough review and analysis of its accountingdiband natural gas properties.
The financial impacts of this review and analysis @escribed in Note 2 of our consolidated finalngtiatements. In addition, we hired a
consulting firm to assist management in its revigwaur accounts and financial statements. Spedifidhe consulting firm reviewed the areas
of income tax accounting, share based compensatioounting and oil and natural gas properties adaug The financial impact of this
review and analysis is described in Note 2 of aumsolidated financial statements. The consulting fivill continue to assist management in
reviews of these areas and will also assist manageim developing and implementing adequate reyipxedures and checklists across all
accounting areas.

In April 2013, we hired a vice president of accangtand corporate controller with twelve years Big' 4” public accounting experience,
including several years of public company oil aatlunal gas accounting experience, to manage tfmuating function beginning in May 201

Management's plan to strengthen our internal cowtrer financial reporting by December 31, 2013ufees on addressing and
remediating the identified deficiencies in our prsses which contributed to the material weaknessasldition, we plan to perform control
testing earlier in the year to permit time to remtglsome or all identified deficiencies prior ted@mber 31, 2013.

Specifically during 2013, we plan to hire additibparsonnel sufficiently knowledgeable of, and eigreced in, U.S. accounting
procedures and practices and with sufficient tezdini.S. GAAP accounting expertise (including swstel efforts accounting for oil and
natural gas and deferred taxes), continue training
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our Turkish accounting and finance personnel on BlcSounting practices and procedures and on UABLRGWe plan to shift management of
certain accounting functions performed in Turkengdily to U.S.based personnel sufficiently knowledgeable of, @aied in, U.S. accountil
practices and procedures and in U.S. GAAP. Wealslh evaluate the feasibility of moving certain@atting processes from our Istanbul,
Turkey office to our Addison, Texas office. We wilbrk to develop and implement more robust and celmmnsive review procedures and
checklists. We will continue to reduce our charhofounts, automate and streamline accounting sesevhere possible, improve
documentation and training and continue to morttierperformance of control activities in both ostahbul, Turkey and Addison, Texas
offices. Finally, we expect to complete the degipase of new accounting software that will autonnaéey of the manual calculations and
tasks we currently perform in our financial closprgcess and that will include additional contretsich will be built into the software. We
anticipate completing the implementation of the rm@eounting software by the end of 2014.

In addition, our chief executive officer and chiiefancial officer will regularly meet with our sewiaccounting staff to monitor progress,
identify continuing deficiencies and make any neaegadjustments to personnel or our plan to erthereffective implementation of remedial
measures.

While we believe that the above remediation plahnesult in the remediation of our material weakses in 2013, there is no assurance
that these efforts will be sufficient and that digaial remedial efforts will not be necessary.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The following change in our internal control ovirancial reporting occurred during the fourth gaadf 2012 and has affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our interantrol over financial reporting.

* We hired a property accountant with public compamgrnational oil and natural gas exploration agcting experience who began
in January 201z

Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART IlI

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance
Directors
Set forth below is a brief biography of each of thierent members of our board of directors.

N. Malone Mitchell, 3¢ (Age 51) has served as our chief executive offstece May 2011, as a director since April 2008 asdhe
Company’s chairman since May 2008. Since 2005 ,Mtchell has served as the president of Riata CaigoGroup, LLC, a Dallas-based
private oil and natural gas exploration and produactompany. From June to December 2006, Mr. Mitderved as president and chief
operating officer of SandRidge Energy, Inc. (forlp&tiata Energy, Inc.), an independent oil and redtgas company concentrating in
exploration, development and production activitlgstil he sold his controlling interest in Riatadtgy, Inc. in June 2006, Mr. Mitchell also
served as president, chief executive officer arairotan of Riata Energy, Inc., which Mr. Mitchelluieded in 1985 and built into one of the
largest privately held energy companies in the éthBtates.

Through his senior executive officer positions &t& Corporate Group, LLC and Riata Energy, Ina., Mitchell brings extensive
executive leadership experience, organizationaéeapce and over 27 years of experience in tharalnatural gas industry to the board of
directors. Mr. Mitchell is familiar with the Compgs day-to-day operations and performance and iflend natural gas industry in general.
Mr. Mitchell’s insight into the Company’s operat®and performance is critical to board discussions.

Bob G. AlexandefAge 79) has served as a director since 2010. Nxaiader, a founder of Alexander Energy Corporatsanved as
chairman of the board, president and chief exeeudfficer of Alexander Energy Corporation from 1380L996. Alexander Energy
Corporation merged with National Energy Group, incl996, and Mr. Alexander served as presidentchief executive officer of National
Energy Group, Inc., an oil and natural gas properaynagement company, from 1998 to 2011. From 187680, Mr. Alexander served as v
president and general manager of the northernidivigf Reserve Oil, Inc. and president of Basinlbig Corporation, both subsidiaries of
Reserve Oil and Gas Company of Denver, ColoradoAléxander also served on the board of Quest ResdTorporation from June to
August 2008.

Mr. Alexander has extensive experience as an eixeoofficer in the oil and natural gas servicesusitly and has extensive financial,
executive leadership and organizational experielkiceAlexander also has experience serving asexttir of other public companies, which
brings important insights into board oversight andporate governance matters.

Brian E. Bayley(Age 60) has served as a director since 2001. Brore 2003 to present, Mr. Bayley has served aseatdi, and from
September 2010 to present has served as a resendieg advisor, of Sprott Resource Lending Cdigrnferly, Quest Capital Corp.), a
publicly traded natural resource lending corporatisted on the Toronto Stock Exchange and NYSE MRBm May 2009 until September
2010, Mr. Bayley has also served as president hied executive officer of Sprott Resource Lending© From January 2008 until May 2009,
Mr. Bayley served as co-chairman of Sprott Resousraling Corp., and from June 2003 until Januai§82&nd during March 2008,

Mr. Bayley served as president and chief execudffieer, respectively. Since December 1996, hediss served as the president and a dire
of lonic Management Corp., a private managemenipeum.

Mr. Bayley is a former chief executive officer thets extensive executive leadership and organimdtexperience in the financial
industry. Mr. Bayley’s experience makes him anaffe member of the Comparsytorporate governance committee and an effectimgroar
of the Company’s compensation committee. Mr. Bagksp has significant experience serving as airexf other public companies, which
brings important insights into board oversight, p@msation and corporate governance matters.
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Charles J. CampisgAge 62) has served as a director since June 24 Petired from Toreador Resources Corporatiorgibexploration
and production company, in March 2010, where hedasided as senior vice president and chief finaoéfizer since May 2006. Mr. Campise
served as corporate controller for Transmeridiapl&ation Incorporated from December 2003 until N2&05. Prior to that, Mr. Campise
served in a variety of financial and accountingifiass at Sovereign Oil & Gas Company, Apache Caxfion and Ocean Energy, Inc.

Mr. Campise is a former chief financial officer whongs more than 40 years of international oil aatlral gas financial and accounting
expertise to our board. Mr. Campise is an auditroditee financial expert and chairman of the Comfmaudit committee as a result of his 28
years of experience as a certified public accodrgad more than 40 years of experience in varicasunting and financial roles at oil a
natural gas exploration and production companigsdmpise also has experience serving as a direttgher public companies, which
brings important insights into board oversight,inadd corporate governance matters.

Mel G. RigggAge 58) has served as a director since 2009. iggfhas served as executive vice president amd cperating officer
since December 2010, and as a director since I®layton Williams Energy, Inc., a public explaoat and production company that
develops and produces oil and natural gas. Frort i®®ecember 2010, Mr. Riggs served as seniorpiesident—finance, secretary,
treasurer, and chief financial officer of Claytorilli®@ms Energy, Inc.

Mr. Riggs has a strong operational background asxanutive officer and has extensive financial ceiee leadership and organizational
experience. Mr. Riggs is an audit committee finahekpert and chairman of the Company’s audit catemias a result of his 34 years of
experience as a certified public accountant ange2s of experience as a chief financial officer. Riggs also has significant experience
serving as a director of another public companyictwbrings important insights into board oversightl corporate governance matters.

Michael D. Winn(Age 51) has served as a director since 2004. Ninn\é the president of Seabord Capital Corp.,ieape consulting
company that provides investment analysis and éigduservices to companies operating in the oil mafiral gas, mining and energy sectors,
since he formed that company in 2013. From 1993uidin 2012, Mr. Winn was the president of Terradeérc., a private consulting company
that provides analysis on mining and energy congzaritrior to that, Mr. Winn spent four years asmalyst for a Southern California-based
brokerage firm where he was responsible for théuatian of emerging oil, natural gas and mining pamies. Mr. Winn has worked in the oil
and natural gas industry since 1983 and the miinidgstry since 1992.

Mr. Winn has a strong operational background asnswltant and executive officer and has extensimsualting experience, focusing on
the oil and natural gas industry, as well as exeeuwtadership and organizational experience. Mnilso has significant experience serving
as a director of other public companies, whichdsiimportant insights into board oversight, compéine and corporate governance matters.

Executive Officers

Name Age Positions

N. Malone Mitchell, Zd 51  Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief ExaeuOfficer
lan J. Delahunt 33  Presiden

Wil F. Saquetor 43  Vice President and Chief Financial Offic

Jeffrey S. Mecon 47  Vice President, Legal and Corporate Secre

Set forth below is a brief biography of each of ourrent executive officers. Information relatigMr. Mitchell is set forth above under
“Directors.”
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lan J. Delahunty has served as our president Sameary 2013. Mr. Delahunty served as our viceigees business development from
February 2012 until his promotion to president.jbleed us in October 2008 and has worked with qarations in Turkey, Romania and
Morocco, serving as our vice president, engineesigyseeing completions and workovers from Nover2060 to January 2012. Prior to
joining us, he worked as a senior engineer witHiBoherger N.V. in Vietnam and the United States asidompletions engineer w
Occidental Petroleum Corp. in the United States.

Wil F. Saqueton has served as our vice presidehthief financial officer since August 2011. Mr.gb@ton previously served as our
corporate controller from May 2011 until August 2Cdnd as our consultant from February 2011 untiy 2@11. Prior to joining us,
Mr. Sagueton served as the vice president and fihaicial officer of BCSW, LLC, the owner of JWtakes in Dallas, Texas, from July 2006
to December 2010. From July 1995 until July 20@6héld a variety of positions at Intel Corporatimt/uding strategic controller at the
Chipset Group, operations controller at the Ameri8ales and Marketing Organization Division, firmnganager at the Intel Online Services,
Inc. Division and senior financial analyst at thieigset Group. Prior to 1995, Mr. Saqueton was #&os@ssociate at Price Waterhouse, LP.

Jeffrey S. Mecom has served as our corporate segrgince May 2006 and as a vice president sinoge2087. Before joining us in April
2006, Mr. Mecom was an attorney in private praciicBallas. Mr. Mecom served as vice presidental@gmd corporate secretary with Aleris
International, Inc., a former NYSE-listed intermatal metals recycling and processing company, 886 until April 2005.

To the best of our knowledge, there are no arraegésror understandings between any officer ancoémgr person, pursuant to which
any person referred to above was selected as meroff

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires ourctiims, executive officers, and any persons who mere than 10% of a registered cl
of our equity securities, to file reports of owrlgpsand changes in ownership with the SEC. SEClatiguns require executive officers,
directors and greater than 10% shareholders tastuus with copies of all Section 16(a) forms tfiy Based solely on its review of the cog
of such forms furnished or available to us, weéyadithat our directors, executive officers and Hbfareholders complied with all Section 1t
filing requirements for the year ended Decembe2B12 except as follows: one late Form 4 was filgdMr. Mecom on June 14, 2012 to
report the grant of restricted stock units on Mdy2012; one late Form 4 was filed by Mr. Saquetiougust 8, 2012 to report the vesting of
restricted stock units on August 4, 2012; one fraiem 4 was filed by Mr. Saqueton on June 14, 20X2port the grant of restricted stock units
on May 14, 2012; one late Form 4 was filed by Mig&eton on February 15, 2012 to report the grargsificted stock units on January 5,
2012; one late Form 4 was filed by Mr. Yavuz one)aB, 2012 to report the purchase of our commoreshgar value $0.01 (the “Common
Shares”) on June 13, 2012; and one late Form 4iledsby Mr. Yavuz on June 14, 2012 to report thang of restricted stock units on May 14,
2012.

Item 11. Executive Compensation
Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This section contains a discussion of the mateteahents of the Company’s executive compensatiogram for 2012 for: (i) its chief
executive officer as of December 31, 2012, N. Malbfitchell, 3rd, (ii) its chief financial officersaof December 31, 2012, Wil F. Saqueton,
and (iii) its three other most highly compensateelcaitive officers as of December 31, 2012, lanelaBunty, Mustafa Yavuz and Chad W.
Potter (collectively, the “named executive officgrs

68



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

Executive Summal

The Company’s pay for performance philosophy emigeadong-term, non-cash incentive compensatiom skert-term, cash incentive
compensation for its named executive officers. Mitchell serves as chairman of the board and has s#rved as the Company'’s chief
executive officer since May 2011. Mr. Mitchell réeed non-employee director compensation for his22€drvice as chairman and has elected
not to receive additional compensation for his mewas chief executive officer. As a result, thiéofving references to named executive
officers in this Compensation Discussion and Anialge not include Mr. Mitchell.

In 2012, Messrs. Saqueton, Delahunty and Potteived 2012 year-end cash bonuses, consistentigt@ompany’s practice of paying
cash bonuses to all U.S. resident employees df@mepany in an amount equal to two weeks of annasé Isalary multiplied by 10% for each
year of employment with the Company. In additionr, Baqueton was awarded a cash bonus of $15,000sfoole in the preparation of tl
Company’s quarterly financial reports and the sélidhe Company'’s oilfield services business, and Riitter was awarded a cash bonus of
$85,000 pursuant to his offer letter of employment.

On May 1, May 14 and December 14, 2012, the namedutive officers also received grants of restdatock units relating to
performance in the first half of 2011, the secoalf bf 2011 and the first half of 2012, respectwédlhe grants, which were awarded to all
eligible employees under the Company’s long-teraeittive policy, were in an amount equal to 25%auffenamed executive officer's base
salary for each semi-annual performance periocgEor the May 14 and December 14 grants to (i) Bérqueton, which, in the aggregate,
were equal to approximately 100% of his base sa(@jyr. Yavuz, which, in the aggregate, were abto approximately 100% of his base
salary and (iii) Mr. Potter, which, in the aggregatere equal to 35% of his base salary pursudristoffer letter for employment with the
Company. For 2012, the compensation committee alismake any discretionary equity grants to the mamecutive officers.

Pursuant to Mr. Saqueton’s appointment as vicegeasand chief financial officer, Mr. Potter’s effletter for employment with the
Company and Mr. Yavuz's appointment as chief ofiegatfficer, Messrs. Saqueton, Potter and Yavuzvgeanted 136,691, 175,439 and
149,125 restricted stock units, respectively, aruday 5, 2012. Mr. Saqueton’s restricted stockawitsted one-third on August 4, 2012 and
will vest one-third on each of August 4, 2013 afd£2 Mr. Potter’s restricted stock units vested-thial on September 1, 2012, and the
remainder vested upon his resignation on May 1032Mr. Yavuz's restricted stock units vested omedton January 5, 2013, and the
remainder were forfeited upon his resignation asfaperating officer in January 2013.

Executive Compensation Philosog

The Company’s executive compensation program igjded to attract, motivate and retain talented ettees. The Company’s pay for
performance philosophy focuses executives’ effortsichieving strategic corporate goals without eneging excessive risk taking. At this
stage of the Company’s development, executive cosgi®n is not tied to specific financial perforrametrics, but the compensation
committee focuses on the contributions of the etreesi to the Company’s strategy and may take inttsideration the Company’s overall
financial performance. The compensation committdech consists entirely of independent board memsbmntrols the executive
compensation program for the named executive offjaes well as for the Company’s other officers amployees. The Company’s executive
compensation objectives are to:

e pay for performance without excessive ri

e attract, retain and motivate superior executi

* pay competitive levels of salary and total comp&osaand

» align the interests of management with the intsrethe Compar’s shareholder:
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Process of Determining Compensat

The Company’s compensation committee determinesugixe compensation. The Company’s chairman andrattembers of its board
may also participate in compensation committee imgeto provide their evaluation of the performantéhe Company’s executive officers
and their contributions to the Company’s businésgegy, and the Company’s chief executive offjpevides compensation recommendation:
as to executive officers other than himself. Mamagiet plays a significant role in this process, tigto evaluating employee performance,
recommending salary levels, discretionary cash sesand restricted stock unit awards and prepargrging information for use in
compensation committee meetings. Although the corsgogon committee has not retained a compensatiosudtant, it may do so in the futt

Shareholder Say-on-Pay Votes

Following the Company’s 2012 Annual Meeting of Sdtaiders, the compensation committee also consldbesadvisory vote of the
Company’s shareholders on executive compensati@mwdviewing its compensation decisions and paidif those shareholders voting, on
an advisory basis, for or against the proposalk@pmately 95% voted to approve the Company’s etieelcompensation. The compensation
committee believes this affirms shareholders’ suppbits approach to executive compensation adchdi change its approach in 2012. The
compensation committee will continue to considerdlitcome of the Company’s say-on-pay votes whedngduture compensation decisions
for the named executive officers.

Elements of Executive Compensal

The 2012 executive compensation program considtbdse salary, a cash incentive bonus award, atdated stock units. Executives
also received standard employee benefits. There fermal policy regarding the allocation betwebprsterm or long-term incentive
compensation or between cash and non-cash incatimpensation for the Company’s executive officéle compensation committee relies
on each committee member’s knowledge and experi@neeell as information provided by management wdetermining the appropriate
level and mix of compensation. In general, the censation committee believes that long-term, nof@asentive compensation should be
emphasized over short-term, cash incentive compiensar the Company’s executive officers. The Camyp has not adopted formal share
ownership guidelines for its named executive ofScbut the Company believes that named execuffiees owning shares helps align their
interests with those of long-term shareholderso®&pril 30, 2013, Mr. Mitchell beneficially owneapproximately 40% of the Company’s
Common Shares.

Base Salaries The Company’s compensation committee reviewssatglbase salaries annually. When determiningdzdagy levels for
the named executive officers, the compensation dtiemreviews their performance and contributiothi achievement of corporate
objectives. The compensation committee does nainreatcompensation consultant nor prepare a ber&imgaeport in connection with base
salary determinations. Rather, the compensationrdtige relies on its experience to set base salarine with what it believes is competiti
for similarly situated executives in the industér.. Mitchell has elected to not receive compensetar his services as chief executive officer
of the Company.

Effective February 1, 2012, Mr. Delahunty was apped as vice president, business development d¢imepany at an annual base sé
of $225,000.

Mr. Yavuz was president of Thrace Basin Natural @askiye) Corporation, which the Company acquiedune 2011. Effective
January 5, 2012, Mr. Yavuz was appointed as chiefating officer of the Company, and the compensatbommittee set his annual net base
salary at 400,000 New Turkish Lira (approximate®®,000), which was grossed up for Turkish tax pses to a total of 636,000 New Turk
Lira (approximately $355,000).

The compensation committee did not change the salages for Messrs. Saqueton or Potter in 2012.
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Short-Term Incentive Compensatiolm addition to base salaries, the Company aweaidb bonuses on a discretionary basis to its
employees, including the named executive officees.the named executive officers other than the omy’'s chief executive officer, the
compensation committee, in consultation with thenpany’s chief executive officer, recommends caghules for the board’s approval. The
compensation committee normally reviews the perforoe of the Company’s chief executive officer aaebmmends the bonus for the
Company'’s chief executive officer to the board iméctors. In 2012, the compensation committee didraeview Mr. Mitchells performance, ¢
he elected not to receive compensation for hisiges\as chief executive officer.

While the Company does not have a formal cash tihabonus plan, it has historically paid yeard cash bonuses to all of its employ
resident in the United States, as well as its nagxedutive officers who are resident in the Unigdtes, in December of each year in an
amount equal to approximately two weeks of annaaklsalary multiplied by 10% for each year of emplent with the Company. In 2012,
consistent with this practice, Messrs. Delahunggugton and Potter were awarded 2012 year-encbcaslses of $16,115, $14,769 and
$8,462, respectively.

The compensation committee may also award diso@tyocash bonuses based on the officer's perforeydhe officer’s general
contributions to achieving corporate goals and@bepany’s achievement of goals set by the boadirettors. The compensation committee
does not assign any specific weights to these mesisu use a formula to determine bonus amountsSktjueton was awarded a discretionar
cash bonus of $15,000 for his role in the prepamatif the Company’s quarterly financial reports #melsale of the Comparsybilfield service:
business in 2012. Mr. Potter was awarded a cashshofi$85,000 in 2012 pursuant to his offer lefideremployment. Each of these bonuses
was paid in 2012. The compensation committee dicamard any other discretionary cash bonuses fb2 20 any of the named executive
officers because the Company was not profitabROi2.

Long-Term Incentive Compensatioihe Company’s board of directors designed itgdtarm incentive plan to ensure that incentive
compensation rewards the Company’s employees’ iboitvns to the long-term positive performancetef Company and is intended to align
the Company'’s executives’ interests with its shalaédrs’ interests. The long-term incentive polisyaiso designed to attract and retain
qualified professionals throughout the Company taraktract and retain skilled, dedicated employeles are willing to commit to a long term
of foreign service, while being able to pay modesaries and create a meaningful ownership stalteeiCompany. The long-term incentive
policy awards the Company’s executives restrictedksunits that provide them with an opportunityeirn the Company’s Common Shares.
The compensation committee believes this strugitoeides greater balance and stability to the Campigdongterm incentives for executive
It also provides a form of long-term compensativet taids retention, encourages long-term valudioreand aligns financial interests with
shareholders without encouraging excessive riskgak

Long-term incentive awards are granted by the bo&directors, in the case of non-employee dires;tand by the compensation
committee on the recommendation of the chief exeeuwifficer, in the case of named executive officéncluding the president and chief
financial officer. The Company’s current long-teimentive policy provides for a semi-annual graitestricted stock units to all eligible
employees, including the named executive officegsial to 25% of base salary for each of the finstlast six months of service during the
year. The ser-annual grants vest in three equal annual instaitsnen January 15, in the case of grants relatinbe last six months of the
year, and on July 15, in the case of grants rejdbrthe first six months of the year. The comp&asacommittee also has the authority
approve discretionary grants to the named execoffieers to award performance and ensure thahtimber of awards granted to any
particular individual is commensurate with the indual’s level of ongoing responsibility within tli@ompany. Long-term incentive awards are
also generally awarded to key employees by the emsgtion committee upon the commencement of em@oywmith the Company based on
the level of responsibility of the employee.
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On May 1, 2012, May 14, 2012 and December 14, 28l ®f the named executive officers received gganftrestricted stock units, whi
were made to all eligible employees of the Compdimg May 1 and May 14, 2012 semi-annual restristedk unit grants relate to
performance in the first and second halves of 28dspectively, and the December 14, 2012 semi-amasticted stock unit grants relate to
performance in the first half of 2012. The compéinsacommittee kept the percentage equal to 25&aoh named executive officer’s base
salary for each senginnual performance period, except for (i) the Mayahd December 14 grants to Messrs. Saqueton andg Yehich, in the
aggregate, were equal to approximately 100% of theese salaries pursuant to their appointment esutixe officers, and (ii) the May 14 and
December 14 grants to Mr. Potter, which, in theraggte, were equal to approximately 35% of his lsat#ry pursuant to his offer letter for
employment with the Company. Mr. Yavuz's semi-arimaatricted stock unit grants were calculated gi$iis net annual salary, before gross-
up for taxes, and converted from TRY to U.S. Dallarhe compensation committee reviews this polieyually, and may also grant additional
discretionary awards for exceptional service asigaing bonuses. The compensation committee redehis policy in 2012, did not make any
changes to this policy and did not grant additiatistretionary awards for exceptional service it20The restricted stock units awarded to th
Company’s named executive officers generally veshiee annual installments and are subject tedhnénued employment of the named
executive officer through each such restrictedqukri

Pursuant to Mr. Saqueton’s appointment as vicageasand chief financial officer, Mr. Potter’s effletter for employment with the
Company, and Mr. Yavuz's appointment as chief ajpegaofficer, Messrs. Saqueton, Potter and Yavuevgeanted 136,691, 175,439 and
149,125 restricted stock units, respectively, aruday 5, 2012. Mr. Saqueton’s restricted stockawststed one-third on August 4, 2012 and
will vest one-third on each of August 4, 2013 afd£2 Mr. Potter’s restricted stock units vested-titiel on September 1, 2012, and the
remainder vested upon his resignation on May 1032Mr. Yavuz's restricted stock units vested omedton January 5, 2013, and the
remainder were forfeited upon his resignation asfaperating officer in January 2013.

Employee Benefi

The Company offers core employee benefits coverageder to provide its global workforce with a seaable level of financial support
in the event of illness or injury and to enhanoadpictivity and job satisfaction through programatttocus on work/life balance. The benefits
available are substantially the same for all UrSpleyees and include medical and dental coveragaddition, the Company offers a 401(k)
plan, which provides a reasonable level of retineinecome reflecting employees’ careers with thenpany. U.S. employees are eligible to
participate in these plans.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Partipation

The compensation committee is comprised of Megdexander, Bayley and Riggs. During the year endedember 31, 2012, no
member of the compensation committee was or han &eefficer or employee of the Company or anytobubsidiaries or had any
relationship requiring disclosure pursuant to I#0d of Regulation S-K. None of the Company’s exieeufficers served as a director or
member of the compensation committee (or otherdboammittee performing similar functions or, in gigsence of any such committee, the
entire board of directors) of another entity, oh&bose executive officers served on the Compacgiapensation committee or as one of its
directors.
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Compensation Committee Report on Executive Compensan

The compensation committee has reviewed and disdubse Compensation Discussion and Analysis regjliyeltem 402(b) of
Regulation S-K with management and, based on sawdbw and discussions, the compensation commigig@mmended to the board of
directors that the Compensation Discussion andysigbe included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

The foregoing report is provided by the followinigetttors, who constitute the compensation committee
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Bob G. Alexander
Brian E. Bayley, Chairman
Mel Riggs
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Executive Compensation
Fiscal Year 2012, 2011 and 2010 Summary Compensatidable

The following Fiscal Year 2012, 2011 and 2010 Sumyn@ompensation Table contains information regaydiompensation for 2012,
2011 and 2010 that the Company paid to its nameduwive officers. Riata Management, LLC (“Riatadygs a portion of the salary, cash
bonus and benefits earned by the named execufieergpursuant to that certain service agreemengnaended (the “Service Agreement”),
effective May 1, 2009, with Longfellow, Viking Dlihg LLC (“Viking Drilling”), MedOQil Supply, LLC ard Riata. See “Iltem 13. Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions, and Dirdéatiependence—Certain Relationships and Relatadshctions—Service Agreement”
below for additional information. Mr. Mitchell artds wife own 100% of Riata.

All Other
Stock Compensatior

Salary Bonus Awards Total
Name and Principal Position Year %) %) (€3]] ($)(2)(3) $
N. Malone Mitchell, Zrd@) 201z 31,25( 0 0 2,358,001 2,389,25I
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi 2011 25,00( 0 23,50¢ 13,196,000 13,244,50
lan J. Delahunty) 201z 225,00 16,11t 42,66¢ 43,76¢ 327,54°
President
Wil F. Saquetort) 201z 240,00 29,76¢ 392,38: 13,25¢ 675,40¢
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic 2011 129,69: 29,23( 22,86« 4,35¢ 186,14«
Mustafa Yavuz? 2012z 355,00( 0 397,66¢ 0 752,66t
Former Chief Operating Office
Chad W. Pottef®) 201z 200,00 93,46: 319,86 8,42¢ 621,75:

Former Vice President, Financial and Investor Rielas

(1) Amounts shown do not reflect compensation digtueceived by the named executive officers. Ragtttee amounts represent the
aggregate grant date fair value of restricted stotts computed in accordance with Accounting Saadsl Codification (“ASC”) 718,
Compensation—Stock Compensaf(fthSC 718"). A discussion of the calculation of thggregate grant date fair value of restrictedkstoc
units is set forth under Note 12, Shareholdersitggunder the heading “Restricted stock unitsttia notes to the consolidated financial
statements

(2) For the named executive officers other thanMitchell, these amounts consist of Company-paidipas of insurance premiums,
Company contributions to a 401(k) savings plan@othpany-paid international travel incentives. Far Blelahunty, this amount also
includes $35,160 that was reimbursed to Mr. Delahtor the payment of his 2011 Turkish income ta:

(3) For Mr. Mitchell, the amounts shown consisapproximately $2.4 million in 2012 and $13.2 mifli;m 2011 reimbursed to Riata
pursuant to the Service Agreement, which includgsments to Riata for salaries and benefits for eggas of Riata who provided
technical and administrative services to the Comparder the Service Agreement, other than the Cogipaamed executive officers,
and an allocation of Riata’s overhead to the Comp8nch amounts do not reflect actual payments rteatir. Mitchell for his services
as an employee or a director. See “ltem 13. CeRaiationships and Related Transactions, and Diréstlependence—Certain
Relationships and Related Transact—Service Agreeme” below for a description of the material terms & 8ervice Agreemer

(4) The amounts shown under the heading “Salafi€¢aenon-employee director compensation paid to Mitchell for his service as
chairman of the board. Mr. Mitchell was appoint&ib€ executive officer in May 2011 and has eleatetlto receive additional
compensation for his service as chief executivieerf

(5) Mr. Delahunty became an executive officer in Jubg2

(6) Mr. Saqueton became our vice president and chiaffiial officer in August 201

(7) Mr. Yavuz became our chief operating officer inukmy 2012 and resigned from the Company in Jan2@t3.

(8) Mr. Potter became an executive officer in June 2@ resigned from the Company in May 2C
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Fiscal Year 2012 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table
The table below lists each grant of a plan-basettdto the Company’s named executive officers @uzd12.

All Other
Stock
Awards:
Number of Grant Date
Fair
Shares of Value of Stock
Stock or
Grant Units Awards
Name Date #HQ) (6]
N. Malone Mitchell, Zrd@)
lan Delahunty
5/1/1z 7,21¢ 8,51¢
5/14/1: 16,70: 15,53¢
12/14/1. 22,42¢ 18,61°¢
Wil F. Saqueton 136,69:
1/5/1z 200,93t
5/1/1z2 2,417 2,857
5/14/1 98,88: 91,96:
12/14/1: 116,42¢ 96,63:
Mustafa Yavuz 149,12!
1/5/1z 219,21
5/14/1 93,63¢ 87,08¢
12/14/1: 110,08: 91,36¢
Chad W. Potter 175,43¢
1/5/1z 257,89!
5/14/1: 36,32¢ 33,78t
12/14/1: 33,95¢ 28,18¢

(1) These are restricted stock units awarded pursoahetincentive Plar
(2) Mr. Mitchell did not receive any restricted stoakittawards in 2012

Discussion Regarding Fiscal Year 2012, 2011 and Z0$ummary Compensation Table and Fiscal Year 2012rénts of Plan-Based
Awards Table

Indemnification Agreemen

The Company has indemnification agreements with eddés directors and executive officers. Theseeaments, among other things,
require the Company to indemnify each director executive officer to the fullest extent permittgdtbe Bermud&ompanies Act 198dr
other applicable law, against any and all expenagproceeding, in the event that such person iwas,becomes a party to or witness or othe
participant in such proceeding by reason of suchques service as a member of the Company’s bofadie@ctors or as an executive officer.
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Fiscal Year 2012 Outstanding Equity Awards At FischYear-End Table

The following table lists all of the outstandingak options and stock awards held on December@Il2 By each of the Company’s
named executive officers. The table also inclutiesvalue of the stock awards based on the closiog pf the Company’s Common Shares or
the NYSE MKT on December 31, 2012, which was $@&B3share.

Number of Market
Value of
Shares or Shares or
Units of Units of
Stock That Stock That
Have Not Have Not
Grant Vested Vested
Name Date (#) (6]
N. Malone Mitchell, zrd —
Wil F. Saquetor 8/4/11v) 14,24¢ 11,82:
1/5/122 91,127 75,63t
5/1/123 1,611 1,33i
5/14/124 98,88 82,07:
12/14/115 116,42t 96,63¢
lan J. Delahunt 2/24/1(® 1,652 1,371
9/7/1(™ 1,84¢ 1,532
5/1/123 7,21¢€ 5,98¢
5/14/124 16,70: 13,86:
12/14/115 22,42¢ 18,61t
Chad W. Potte 1/5/12® 116,95¢ 97,07¢
5/14/149 36,32¢ 30,15:
12/14/1410 33,95¢ 28,18
Mustafa Yavuz 1/5/1211) 149,12! 123,77:
5/14/1212) 93,63¢ 77,72(
12/14/1423 110,08: 91,36¢

(1) Vests on-half on each of May 13, 2013 and 20

(2) Vests on-half on each of August 4, 2013 and 20

(3) Vests on-half on each of July 15, 2013 and 20

(4) Vested on-third on January 15, 2013, and vests-third on each of January 15, 2014 and 2(
(5) Vests on-third on each of July 15, 2013, 2014 and 2(

(6) Vested on January 15, 20:

(7) Vestson July 15, 201

(8) Vested in full on May 10, 201.

(9) Vested on-third on January 15, 2013, and the remainder wafeifed on May 10, 201:
(10) Vested on-third on May 10, 2013, and the remainder were ftafeon May 10, 2012

(11) Vested on-third on January 5, 2013, and the remainder wefeifed on January 31, 201
(12) Vested on-third on January 15, 2013, and the remainder wafeifed on January 31, 201
(13) Forfeited on January 31, 201

76



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

Fiscal Year 2012 Option Exercises and Stock Vest@able

(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)
(5)

(6)

The following table summarizes stock option exe&siand vesting of stock awards for each named &xeafficer during 2012.

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Shares Value Realizec Number of Shares Value Realizec
Acquired on Exercise Acquired on Vesting
on Exercise on Vesting

Name (#) $)(@) (#) $)(2)
N. Malone Mitchell, &d 0 0 7,643 10,07¢
lan Delahunty 0 0 33,12® 41,75¢
Wil F. Saquetor 0 0 53,4915 49,63¢
Mustafa Yavu: 0 0 0 0
Chad Potte 0 0 58,48(®) 60,81¢

Amounts shown reflect the difference betweendlosing price of the Company’s Common Sharesieri\tY SE MKT on the date of
exercise and the exercise price of the stock ogptiomltiplied by the number of shares shown indblemn entitled “Number of Shares
Acquired on Exercis”

Amounts shown reflect the value of vested restiist®ck units calculated by multiplying the grossnier of vested restricted stock ul
shown in the column “Number of Shares Acquired @stihg” by the closing price of the Compasifommon Shares on the NYSE M
on the date of vestin

Represents the vesting of 7,643 restricted stoik on January 15, 201

Represents the vesting of the following resdcstock units: (i) 24,659 restricted stock unitsJanuary 15, 2012, and (ii) 8,464 restrictec
stock units on July 15, 201

Represents the vesting of the following restrictitk units: (i) 7,123 restricted stock units onyM&, 2012, (ii) 806 restricted stock ui
on July 15, 2012, and (iii) 45,564 restricted staoks on August 4, 201,

Represents the vesting of 58,480 restricted staik on September 1, 201

Director Compensation

Fiscal Year 2012 Director Compensation Table

The following table provides information regardidigector compensation during 2012. Mr. Mitchellhsesr as chairman of the board and

was also appointed the Company’s chief executifieesfin May 2011. Mr. Mitchell received namployee director compensation for his 2
service as chairman and has elected not to reedig#ional compensation for his services as chietative officer. This compensation is
reported in the Fiscal Year 2012, 2011 and 2010r8aim Compensation Table.

(1)

(2)

Fees Earned o

Stock Awards

Paid in Cash Total
Name (€] [E]E]A]E)] $
Bob G. Alexander $ 46,25( 31,95¢ 78,20¢
Brian E. Bayley $  47,25( 31,95¢ 79,20¢
Charles J. Campis® $ 31,25( 0 31,25(
Mel G. Riggs $ 50,00( 31,95¢ 81,95¢
Michael D. Winn $ 42,25( 31,95¢ 74,20¢

Amounts shown do not reflect compensation digtueceived by the directors. Rather, the amouepsesent the aggregate grant date fai
value of restricted stock units computed in accocdavith ASC 718. A discussion of the calculatiéthe aggregate grant date fair value
of restricted stock units is set forth under Nd2e Shareholders’ equity, under the heading “Restlistock units” in the notes to the
consolidated financial statemer

The amounts in this column reflect a grant of ie&d stock units on January 5, 2012, which vestddIl on January 5, 201:
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(3) The chart below shows the aggregate numbenwédsied outstanding stock awards held by each ngrlegee director as of
December 31, 201!

Number of Common Share

Director Subject to Stock Awards

Alexander 21,73¢
Bayley 21,73¢
Campise 0
Riggs 21,73¢
Winn 21,73¢

(4) Mr. Campise joined the board in June 2C

Elements of Director Compensation

Effective July 1, 2012, all non-employee directamsjuding the chairman, receive a fee of $75,08¢heyear, consisting of $18,750 in
cash paid in each of June and December, and $3@f300ich is paid in the form of restricted stocakits issued under the TransAtlantic
Petroleum Corp. 2009 Long-Term Incentive Plan {theentive Plan”). The chairman of the Company’slidigommittee receives an additional
annual fee of $25,000 in cash. In May 2011, thedoédirectors formed a special committee compriseindependent directors to evaluate
strategic alternatives related to the Companyfeetdl services business. Messrs. Alexander, BagteyWinn, members of the special
committee, each received fees of $1,000 in cashdoh meeting of the special committee that thiended in 2012. Non-employee directors
do not receive extra compensation for serving eratldit, compensation or corporate governance ctiegniof the board or for serving as
chairman of the compensation committee or corpaaternance committee. Non-employee directorsemshursed for travel and other
expenses directly associated with Company business.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter
Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth the number of ComnSirares to be issued upon the vesting of restrgtteak units and the exercise of
outstanding options issued pursuant to the Incerian and the Amended and Restated Stock Opteon(P006) (the “Option Plan,” and
together with the Incentive Plan, the “Plans”), Wieighted average exercise price of such outstgrmjitions and the number of Common
Shares remaining available for future issuance uthdePlans, at December 31, 2012.

Number of Securities
Weighted- Remaining Available for
Average Exercist
Future Issuance Under

Number of Securities to b Price of Equity
Outstanding Compensation Plans
Issued Upon Exercise of Options, (Excluding Securities
Outstanding Options, Warrants and Reflected in Column(a);
Warrants, and Rights Rights(1)
Plan Category (@) N () B ©

Equity compensation

plans approved by

security holder: 3,302,84i $ 1.2¢ 33,572,01@
Equity compensation

plans not approved

by security holder — — —
Total 3,302,84: $ 1.2t 33,572,01

(1) The weighted average exercise price does Retitdo account the shares issuable upon vestiogtstanding awards of restricted stock
units, which have no exercise pri

(2) Pursuant to the Incentive Plan, the maximum agdeegamber of Common Shares reserved for issuarter lnoth Plans may not exce
10% of Common Shares outstanding from time to tifeeof
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December 31, 2012, there were 368,748,592 CommareSioutstanding. The number of Common Shareshisparsuant to the
Incentive Plan automatically increases as the nambissued and outstanding Common Shares increAsesf April 30, 2013, there
were 368,906,996 Common Shares outstanding, 15%066tmon Shares (approximately 0.04% of the outdtgndommon Shares) to
issued upon exercise of outstanding options urigeOfption Plan and 2,426,845 Common Shares (appately 0.7% of the outstanding
Common Shares) underlying restricted stock unitsrded pursuant to the Incentive Plan. As of Apbil 3013, there were 34,308,854
Common Shares remaining available for future issegminder the Incentive Ple

Securities Owned by Directors and Executive Offices of TransAtlantic

The Company’s only outstanding class of equity s8es is its Common Shares. The following tables $erth information known to the

Company about the beneficial ownership of its Comr8bares on April 30, 2013 by (i) each currentadoe (ii) each named executive offic
and (iii) all of the Company’s executive officensdadirectors as of April 30, 2013 as a group.

Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes, earkgn or entity listed in the following table hadesvoting power and investment power

over the Common Shares listed as beneficially ovinethat person or entity. Percentages of benéfisimership are based on 368,906,996
Common Shares outstanding on April 30, 2013. Und¢issrwise indicated in the footnotes, the addi@seach listed person is TransAtlantic
Petroleum Ltd., c/o TransAtlantic Petroleum (USA)rg, 16803 Dallas Parkway, Addison, TX 75001.

1)

(2)

Shares Beneficially Owned(1

Name of Beneficial Ownel Number Percent
N. Malone Mitchell, &d 153,579,15@ 40.8%
lan J. Delahunt 202,67: *
Wil F. Saquetor 85,90°® *
Mustafa Yavu:z 150,92: *
Chad W. Potte 55,07¢ *
Bob G. Alexande 40,204 *
Brian E. Bayley 344,62! *
Charles J. Campis 5,00( *
Mel G. Riggs 96,82 *
Michael D. Winn 634,625 *
All executive officers and directors as a group g&tsons 155,514,386®) 41.2%

Less than 1% of the outstanding Common Shi

Beneficial ownership as reported in the tatsle been determined in accordance with Rule 13dd@ruthe Exchange Act and is not
necessarily indicative of beneficial ownershipdory other purpose, including under Canadian seéesitaws. The number of Common
Shares shown as beneficially owned includes Com&tmres which for Canadian securities law purposssnot be beneficially owned
but over which a person would be deemed to exeotisrol or direction. The number of Common Shatesvn as beneficially owned
includes Common Shares subject to options, comrarepurchase warrants, and restricted stock (fR8Us”) that are currently
exercisable (in the case of options or common sharehase warrants) or that will become exercisablested within 60 days of

April 30, 2013. RSUs that will vest within 60 daysid Common Shares subject to options or commame ghachase warrants exercis:
within 60 days, after April 30, 2013 are deemedstariding for computing the percentage of the peosa@mtity holding such securities
but are not deemed outstanding for computing thegogage of any other person or ent

Based on Amendment No. 9 to Schedule 13D filed/arch 23, 2012 and on Form 4 filed on Decemiie2812. According to the
Amendment No. 9 to Schedule 13D, Dalea Partnerg;D&ea”) shares voting and dispositive power ov&t,040,349 Common Shares,
Dalea Management, LL(“Dalea Manageme”)
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shares voting and dispositive power over 111,04D@dmmon Shares, Longfellow Energy, LP (“Longfelfpwhares voting and
dispositive power over 39,583,333 Common Sharest BeLLC (“Deut 8”) shares voting and dispositpewer over 39,583,333
Common Shares, ANBE Holdings, LP (“ANBE Holdingshares voting and dispositive power over 39,583@83imon Shares, ANBE
LLC (“ANBE Holdings GP") shares voting and dispogit power over 39,583,333 Common Shares and Michdit has sole voting and
dispositive power over 86,220 Common Shares ancdhating and dispositive power over 152,486,189in@on Shares. Also includes
7,300,000 common share purchase warrants thae#idh Dalea. Mr. Mitchell and his wife indirectbyvn 100% of Dalea. Dalea
Management is the general partner of Dalea andiged 100% by Mr. Mitchell and his wife. Mr. Mitchés a partner of Dalea and a
manager of Dalea Management. Deut 8 is the gepartier of Longfellow and is owned 100% by Mr. Nigdl and his wife.
Mr. Mitchell is a manager of Deut 8. Mr. Mitchetlis wife and children indirectly own 100% of Lontiéev and ANBE Holdings.
Mr. Mitchell and his wife own 100% of ANBE HoldingsP. Mr. Mitchell is the Company’s current chairnaard chief executive officer.
Dalea, Mr. Mitchell and his wife pledged 29,000,@@@mmon Shares as security under a master craéi¢imgnt with Amarillo National
Bank.

(3) Includes 7,122 Common Shares subject to restrittmek units that vest on May 13, 20.

(4) Includes 11,000 Common Shares owned by Mr. Alex¢' s wife.

(5) Includes 180,000 Common Shares held by MDW & AssesiLLC. Mr. Winn is the manager of MDW & AssoesilLC.

(6) Reflects the information in footnotes (1) through #bove

Securities Owned by Certain Beneficial Owners

The following table sets forth information knowntl® Company about the beneficial ownership o€issnmon Shares as of April 30,
2013, by each person and entity known to the Compmown beneficially more than 5% of its outstargdiCommon Shares based on reports
they file with the SEC. Unless otherwise indicaitethe footnotes, each person or entity listechnfollowing table has sole voting power and
investment power over the Common Shares listecasflzially owned by that person or entity. Peragat of beneficial ownership are based
on 368,906,996 Common Shares outstanding on APri2G13.

Dalea Partners, L 111,040,34M 29.5%
16803 Dallas Parkwe
Suite 30C
Addison, TX 7500!

Longfellow Energy, LF 39,583,33@ 10.7%
16803 Dallas Parkwe
Suite 30C
Addison, TX 7500!

Schroder Investment Management North America 32,950,57®) 8.2%
31 Gresham Street, 1st Flc
London EC2V 7QA
United Kingdom

(1) Based on Amendment No. 9 to Schedule 13D bledlarch 23, 2012. According to the Amendment Nto Schedule 13D, Dalea shares
voting and dispositive power over 111,040,349 Comi@bares. Includes 7,300,000 common share pureglesants. Mr. Mitchell and
his wife indirectly own 100% of Dalea. Dalea Managt is the general partner of Dalea. Mr. Mitclieel partner of Dalea and a
manager of Dalea Management. Mr. Mitchell is thenPany' s current chairman and chief executive offit

(2) Based on Amendment No. 9 to Schedule 13D biedlarch 23, 2012. According to the Amendment Nm Schedule 13D, Longfellow
shares voting and dispositive power over 39,583@83mon Shares. Deut 8 is the general partner nfilatlow and is owned 100% by
Mr. Mitchell and his wife. Mr. Mitchell is a managef Deut 8. Mr. Mitchell, his wife and childrendirectly own 100% of Longfellow.
Mr. Mitchell is the Compar’s current chairman and chief executive offic
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(3) Based on Amendment No. 1 to Schedule 13G &le&ebruary 13, 2013. According to the AmendmentN&chroder Investment
Management North America Ltd. has sole voting poswar 32,950,575 Common Shares and shared disgopitwer over 32,950,575
Common Share:

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence
Director Independence

The standards relied upon by the board of diredtoedfirmatively determining whether a director‘isdependent” are those set forth in
the rules of the NYSE MKT Company Guide and Natidnatrument 52-110 of the Canadian Securities Regrs (“NI 52-110"), which
generally provide that independent directors arsgres other than the Company’s executive officeisnaployees. In addition, the following
persons are not considered independent:

» adirector who is, or during the past three yeas,wemployed by the Company, other than prior eympémt as an interim executi
officer (provided the interim employment did no$tidonger than one yea

» adirector who accepted or has an immediate faméynber who accepted any compensation from the Cayripaexcess of
$120,000 (Cdn $75,000 under NI-52-110) during agryqal of twelve consecutive months within the thyears preceding the
determination of independence, other than compiemstdr board or board committee service, compéosataid to an immediate
family member who is an employee (other than arcatkee officer) of the Company, compensation reedifor former service as
an interim executive officer (provided the interamployment did not last longer than one year),amelfits under a tax-qualified
retirement plan, or nc-discretionary compensatio

« adirector who is an immediate family member ofratividual who is, or at any time during the pdsee years was, employed by
the Company as an executive offic

« adirector who is, or has an immediate family menvleo is, a partner in, or a controlling sharehololean executive officer of, a
organization to which the Company made, or fromollthe Company received, payments (other than thgsieig solely from
investments in the Company’s securities or paymender non-discretionary charitable contributiortchang programs) that
exceed 5% of the organization’s consolidated gregsnues for that year, or $200,000, whicheverasemin any of the most recent
three fiscal years

» adirector who is, or has an immediate family menviieo is, employed as an executive officer of aapimtity where at any time
during the most recent three fiscal years any @fidhuer’s executive officers served on the comgté@rscommittee of such other
entity; or

» adirector who is, or has an immediate family menviieo is, a current partner of the Company’s ogtsidiependent registered
public accounting firm, or was a partner or emptpéthe Company’s outside independent registendtiqpaccounting firm who
worked on the Compar's audit at any time during any of the past thress:

The NYSE MKT rules provide that members of the aadmmittee must also comply with the independestaadards under Rule 10A-3
of the Exchange Act, which provide that a membearoudit committee of a company, other than aastment company, may not, other than
in his or her capacity as a member of the auditrodtae, the board of directors, or any other baanthmittee: (i) accept directly or indirectly
any consulting, advisory, or other compensatoryffeen the Company or any subsidiary thereof, presithat, unless the rules of the national
securities exchange or national securities assogiptovide otherwise, compensatory fees do ndudethe receipt of fixed amounts of
compensation under a retirement plan (includingtetl compensation) for prior service with the Camp(provided that such compensation
is not contingent in any way on continued service)ii) be an affiliated person of the Companyaay subsidiary thereof. NI 52-110 provides
substantially similar independence standards fditmommittee members.
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In accordance with the NYSE MKT and NI 52-110 ineleggence definitions, the board of directors alskesan affirmative
determination that each potential independent thretoes not have any relationship that, in thedieapinion, would interfere with the
exercise of independent judgment in carrying oatréssponsibilities of a director.

The board of directors, in applying the above-mrieed standards, has affirmatively determinedahktast 50% of its members are
“independent” within the meaning of the NYSE MKTas and NI 52-110. Specifically, the board of dices has determined that each of
Messrs. Alexander, Bayley, Campise, Riggs and Venetindependent” under these rules. In additiba,ltoard has affirmatively determined
that each of Messrs. Campise, Riggs and Winn, winagpcise the Company’s audit committee, meet thétiadd| independence requirements
applicable to audit committee members under the RIWEKT rules and Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Astpart of the board’s process in
making these determinations, each of these direpimvided written assurances that (i) all of thewee-cited objective criteria for
independence were satisfied and (ii) he had na 6thaterial relationship” with the Company that tbinterfere with his ability to exercise
independent judgment.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

During 2012, the Company had various related-paatysactions with its chairman and chief execubffeer, Mr. Mitchell, and various
companies formed and owned or controlled by Mrckidl that are primarily focused on investing ireagy opportunities. The various
companies that Mr. Mitchell owns or controls ansl talationship with the companies, as well as arifgson of the material terms of the
transactions are included below.

*  Mr. Mitchell and his wife own 100% of Riat
* Riata owns 100% of MedOil Supply, LL!
e Mr. Mitchell and his wife indirectly own 100% of .
e Dalea owns 85% of Viking Drilling
e Mr. Mitchell, his wife and children indirectly owt00% of Longfellow.
*  Mr. Mitchell and his children own 97.5% of Gundemrizm Yatirim ve Isletme A.S"Gunden”).
*  Mr. Mitchell and trusts established for the benefihis children own 100% of MAANBE LLC
*  Mr. Mitchell indirectly owns 50% of Maritas A.S*Maritas”).
*  Mr. Mitchell owns 50% of Viking Services Managemgdnt. (‘Viking Managemer”).
»  Mr. Mitchell indirectly owns 50% of Viking Petrolghasi Hizmetleri A.S*VOS”).
*  Mr. Mitchell indirectly owns 50% of Viking Internimnal Limited Viking Internationg”).
e Mr. Mitchell indirectly owns 50% of Viking Geophysil Services, Ltd."Viking Geophysice”).

Service Agreement

The Company is a party to the Service Agreemerit iaingfellow, Viking Drilling, MedOil Supply, LLC ad Riata (collectively, the
“Service Entities”)under which the Company and the Service Entitiesexyto provide technical and administrative sewim each other frc
time to time on an as-needed basis. Under the teftie Service Agreement, the Service Entitiegedro provide the Company upon its
request certain computer services, payroll andfiierservices, insurance administration servicesamtertainment services, and the Compan
and the Service Entities agreed to provide to edlchr certain management consulting services nailreatural gas services and general
accounting services (collectively, the “Service§lipnder the terms of the Service Agreement, the Compays, or is paid, for the actual cos
the Services rendered plus the actual cost of nede expenses on a monthly basis. The Comparhed@drvice Entities may terminate the
Service Agreement at any time by providing advamatéece of termination to the other party.
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Pursuant to the Service Agreement, a portion oftliary, cash bonus and benefits earned by eatle @ompany’s named executive
officers is paid by Riata, and the Company reimbsiRiata for the actual cost thereof. In 2012 Gbmpany reimbursed Riata $35,000 for a
portion of the salary, cash bonus and benefitsidealvto the named executive officers. In additBarbara Pope, sister-in-law of Mr. Mitchell,
is an employee of Riata and provides servicesadmpany under the Service Agreement. In 2012Ctrapany reimbursed Riata $76,000
for services provided by Ms. Pope pursuant to twiSe Agreement.

For 2012, the Company recorded expenditures of ®#libn for goods and Services provided by thev&er Entities pursuant to the
Service Agreement or other arrangements describkeavbincluding salary, bonus and benefits reiméomsnts identified in the prior
paragraph, of which $0.2 million was payable até&eber 31, 2012. Payables in the amount of $0.2amilue under the Service Agreemer
December 31, 2012 were settled in cash duringitsieqfuarter of 2013. There were no amounts dukgécCompany from the Service Entitie:
December 31, 2012.

The following table provides a breakdown of reingmments of actual costs and expenses made by thpa@g during 2012 to the
Service Entities under the Service Agreement:

For the Year Endec

Service Agreement Categon December 31, 201
(in thousands)
Salaries and benefits for named executive offi $ 35
Salaries and benefits for employees, other tharedam
executive officer: 1,57¢
Qilfield services 107
Office and field expenses and supp 65
Allocated overhea 40t
Rent 0
Other 171
Total $ 2,35¢

Aircraft Reimbursemen

In addition, the Company and Riata have an arraegémhereby the Company’s executive officers, eygds, or consultants, or other
persons providing Services to the Company undeS#reice Agreement, are permitted to use aircrafienl by Riata for Company-related
business travel. For the use of this aircraft,Gbenpany reimburses Riata an amount per passengalteche cost of a business class ticket o
a commercial airline for comparable travel. Riagafs 100% of the cost of fuel, landing fees andthkr expenses incurred in connection with
such flights in excess of the amount reimbursethbyCompany. In each case, the actual cost ofitiié €xceeded the amount of the
reimbursement by the Company. For 2012, the Compaimbursed Riata $27,000 for the use of this aftcBecause this reimbursement is
only for Company-related business travel of pergoosiding Services to the Company and is integratld directly related to the performance
of such persons’ duties, the Company’s reimburséimsert compensation nor a perquisite to anysoflitectors or executive officers.

Other Transactions with Mr. Mitchell

On June 1, 2010, Viking International entered lease agreement under which it leased spacéofaige, maintenance, and staging of
material and equipment for oilfield services ant/ises related to oil and natural gas drilling, kexation, development, geological or
geophysical activities or oilfield infrastructurepgemises owned by Gundem. Under the lease agreeliking International paid Gundem t
New Turkish
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Lira equivalent of $25,000 per month from July 2@iugh December 2011, and $26,000 per month famuary 2012 through June 2012
2012, Viking International paid approximately $@nilion to Gundem under this lease agreement.

On June 28, 2010, the Company’s wholly-owned sudsidTransAtlantic Worldwide, Ltd. (“TransAtlantM/orldwide™) entered into a
credit agreement with Dalea for the purpose of fugdhe acquisition of all the shares of Amity d@etrogas and for general corporate
purposes. The amounts due under the credit agréewlgioch was amended on May 13, 2011, Novembef¥12and March 15, 2012, accrued
interest at a rate of three-month LIBOR plus 5.586annum. In addition, interest on the credit agne® ceased to accrue from April 1, 2012
until the closing of the sale of the Company’sieltf services business. TransAtlantic Worldwiderbaed an aggregate of $73.0 million under
the credit agreement and used the proceeds tacBreportion of the purchase price of the shargswify and Petrogas. On September 1,
2010, the Company issued 7,300,000 common shachgse warrants to Dalea pursuant to the credieaggat. The common share purchase
warrants are exercisable until September 1, 20tithawme an exercise price of $6.00 per share. Tridarstfc Worldwide repaid the loan in full
on June 13, 2012 with proceeds from the sale o€drapanys oilfield services business. The aggregate amaiysrincipal and interest paid
2012 was $73.0 million and $1.1 million, respediive

On August 5, 2010, Viking International enterediah Agreement for Management Services (“MaritaviSes Agreement”) with
Maritas. Pursuant to the Maritas Services Agreeméhking International agreed to provide managemerarketing and personnel services
(collectively, the “Maritas Rig Services”) from tarto time as requested by Maritas for the operaifandrilling rig owned by MAANBE LLC
and located in Iraq. Under the terms of the Mar8asvices Agreement, Maritas will pay Viking Intational for all actual costs and expenses
associated with the provision of the Maritas Rigvi#es. In addition, Maritas will pay Viking Inteational a monthly management fee equal tc
8% of the total amount invoiced for direct labostsofor employees of Viking International providiktaritas Rig Services under the Maritas
Services Agreement. In 2012, Viking Internationidl Wiot provide any goods and Maritas Rig Servieelslaritas under the Maritas Services
Agreement, and the Maritas Services Agreement grasitated in June 2012.

On September 28, 2010, Viking International enténéalan Agreement for Management Services (the S\&2rvices Agreement”) with
VOS. Pursuant to the VOS Services Agreement, Vikntgrnational agreed to provide management, miadkestorage and personnel services
(collectively, the “VOS Services”) from time to teras requested by VOS for the operation of cegqiipment owned by VOS that is located
in Turkey. Under the terms of the VOS Services g&grent, VOS will pay Viking International for all@el costs and expenses associated wit
the provision of the VOS Services. In addition, V@i pay Viking International a monthly managemées equal to 8% of the total amount
invoiced for direct labor costs of employees of i&International providing VOS Services pursuanOS Services Agreement. In 2012, the
Company did not provide any goods and VOS Sentiw&&S under the VOS Services Agreement, and th8 Bérvices Agreement was
terminated in June 2012.

Effective January 1, 2011, the Company’s wholly-edisubsidiary, TransAtlantic Exploration Mediteran International Pty Ltd
(“TEMI"), entered into an accommodation agreemeardar which it leases six rooms at a resort hotelemhby Gundem. Under the
accommodation agreement, TEMI pays the New Turkishequivalent of $6,000 per month. In 2012, TEdAid approximately $72,000 to
Gundem pursuant to the accommodation agreement.

On August 23, 2011, the Company’s wholly-owned glibgy, TransAtlantic Petroleum (USA) Corp. (“Traktkantic USA”), entered intc
an office lease (the “Lease”) with Longfellow t@ate approximately 5,300 square feet of corpordieecgpace in Addison, Texas. The initial
lease term under the lease will commence on theettat TransAtlantic USA subleases or assignsrallortion of its lease for previous office
space in Dallas, Texas (as amended, the “Curreagd’¢ and reaches an agreement to reduce the awfowmt under its Current Lease (the
“Commencement Date”), and expires five years dfterCommencement Date, unless earlier
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terminated in accordance with the Lease. Duringrttial lease term, TransAtlantic USA will pay mbily rent of $6,625 to Longfellow plus,
utilities, real property taxes and liability insnca; provided, however, until TransAtlantic US/Aalsle to sublease or assign all or a portion of
its Current Lease or enter into an agreement radubie rent under the Current Lease, no renttiasilireal property taxes and/or liability
insurance is required to be paid to Longfellow urttie Lease. TransAtlantic USA paid no rent to Lfefigw in 2012.

On March 15, 2012, the Company and its wholly-owseldsidiaries, TransAtlantic Worldwide and TBNGtezad into a $15.0 million
credit facility with Dalea to provide additionajliidity for general corporate purposes until thenpany completed the sale of its oilfield
services business. The Company borrowed $11.0omillnder the loan in 2012. Loans under the creditify accrued interest at a rate of
three-month LIBOR plus 5.5% per annum. The Compapwgid the loan in full on June 15, 2012 with pextefrom the sale of its oilfield
services business. The aggregate amount of prirmighinterest paid in 2012 was $11.0 million afd2illion, respectively.

On April 20, 2012, the Company entered into a Mamnagnt Services Agreement (the “VOS Agreementth VOS. Pursuant to the VC
Agreement, the Company agreed to provide genenairastrative and technical services including, bat limited to, information technology,
accounting, cost accounting, inventory control,darpliance and reporting system, payroll and bgresfsh management and treasury sen
(collectively, the “Administrative Services”) frotime to time. Under the terms of the VOS Agreem&@sS will pay the Company for all
actual costs and expenses associated with thespyowf the Administrative Services. In additiorQ$S will pay the Company a monthly
management fee equal to 8% of the actual costegmehses invoiced pursuant to the VOS Agreementpliposes of the VOS Agreement,
actual costs and expenses means the direct salatysive of benefits, of the Company’s employéded are allocated to the Administrative
Services. In 2012, VOS did not pay the CompanyA@dministrative Services pursuant to the VOS Agresime

On June 13, 2012, the Company entered into a tiamsiervices agreement with Viking Services Mamagpet, Ltd. (“Viking
Management”) in connection with the sale of itdielitl services business. Pursuant to the transg@wices agreement, the Company agreed t
provide certain administrative services, includibgt not limited to, continued use of certain sféimployees and independent contractors, a
guarantee of a lease for flats in Turkey, Turkeshdr legal advice and services, office spacetantsul, Turkey, information technology
support and certain software or licenses to Viki#lenagement. In addition, Viking Management agr@eckiuse its subsidiaries to provide the
Company with the continued use of certain officacgpin Tekirdag, Turkey. In the third quarter ofl2pthe Company entered into an
addendum to the transition services agreement biariking Management agreed to cause its subs@hdn provide the Company with the
continued use of certain equipment yards in thad&Basin and in southwestern Turkey. The trams@@vices agreement has a two-year
term. Viking Management agreed to use commerciatysonable efforts to eliminate its need for suehises as soon as practicable following
the entry into the agreement. In 2012, Viking Masragnt did not pay the Company, and the Companpdalighay Viking Management,
pursuant to the transition services agreement.

On June 13, 2012, the Company also entered intiraepmaster services agreements with each of /lkiternational, VOS and Viking
Geophysical in connection with the sale of itsieitf services business. Pursuant to the masteicesragreements with Viking International
and VOS, the Company is entitled to receive cerdfreld services and materials, including, but hmited to, drilling rigs and fracture
stimulation, that are needed for its operationBuigaria and Turkey. Pursuant to the master ses\ageeement with Viking Geophysical, the
Company is also entitled to receive geophysicalises and materials that are needed for our op&imth those countries. Each master ser
agreement is for a five-year term. Currently, tlenPany can contract for services and materials filmabasis and, to the extent that it does
not contract for all of their services or materidlking International, VOS and Viking Geophysi@ak allowed to contract with third parties
any remaining capacity. In 2012, the Company pakdng International, VOS and Viking Geophysical amgmately $55.5 million under the
master service agreements.
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On June 13, 2012, the Company closed the sale oflfield services business, which was substdpt@@mprised of the Company’s
wholly owned subsidiaries, Viking International avitting Geophysical, to a joint venture owned byl&aand funds advised by Abraaj
Investment Management Limited for an aggregatehase price of $168.5 million, consisting of appmately $157.0 million in cash and a
$11.5 million promissory note from Dalea. The tiaet®n was approved by a special committee of tiagiany’s board of directors after the
receipt of a fairness opinion solely for the benefithe special committee, which was subject tbaie assumptions and limitations as providec
in such opinion. The promissory note is payable frears from the date of issuance or earlier uperotcurrence of certain specified events,
including an initial public offering by the jointewture. Upon the consummation of an initial pubfiering by the joint venture and the prior
approval of Dalea, the Company can elect to cortherbutstanding balance of the promissory notduiting accrued interest, into the number
of shares offered in the initial public offeringuad to such outstanding balance divided by theshare purchase price paid by the public in the
initial public offering. The promissory note bearterest at a rate of 3.0% per annum and is gueedrity Mr. Mitchell. The Company used a
portion of the net proceeds from the sale to p&yt®f$73.0 million credit agreement with Dalea, ®11.0 million credit facility with Dalea, its
$0.9 million promissory note with Viking Drillind,LC and its $1.8 million credit agreement with arish bank. In 2012, Dalea paid the
Company $0.2 million in interest.

Policies and Procedures for Approving Related Partyfransactions

The Company'’s board of directors adopted a wriRetated Party Transactions Policy in December 2008ccordance with the
Company’s Related Party Transactions Policy, alaied Party Transactions and any material amendnterstuch Related Party Transactions
must be reviewed and approved by the Company’d aadimittee and, if necessary, recommended to tmepany’s board of directors for its
approval. Alternatively, the board may determirgt g particular Related Party Transaction or a risdtemendment thereto shall instead be
reviewed and approved by a majority of directossrderested in the Related Party Transaction.‘aade audit committee approval of a
Related Party Transaction is not feasible, therRiblated Party Transaction may be considered &tite audit committee determines to be
appropriate, ratified at the audit committee’s nmexgularly scheduled meeting. In determining whetbepprove, recommend or ratify a
Related Party Transaction, the audit committeetake into account, among other factors it deenpsagpiate, (i) whether the transaction is
fair to the Company, (ii) whether the audit comegthas all of the material facts regarding thestation or parties involved, (iii) whether the
transaction is generally available to an unaffdchthird-party under the same or similar circumstsrand cost, and (iv) the extent of the
Related Party’s interest in the transaction.

A “Related Party Transaction” means a transactioci{ding any financial transaction, arrangementetationship (including any
indebtedness or guarantee of indebtedness)), enies of transactions, or any material amendmeanyosuch transaction, between the
Company and any Related Party (as defined beldwgrdhan (i) transactions available to all emptsygenerally; (ii) transactions involving
compensation of a director or executive officemeolving an employment agreement, severance agregrmhange in control provision or
agreement or special supplemental benefit of airer executive officer; (iii) transactions in iwh the interest of the Related Party arises
solely from the ownership of a class of the Compapguity securities and all holders of that clasive the same benefit on a pro rata basis
or (iv) transactions in which the rates or chaiigeslved therein are determined by competitive bids

A “Related Party” means the following persons, meatity owned by any such person: (i) an “exeautfficer” of the Company (as
defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act antéRBb-7 under the Exchange Act); (ii) a directotled Company or a nominee for director of
the Company; (iii) a person (including any entitygooup) known to the Company to be the benefimiaher of more than 5% of any class of
the Company'’s voting securities (a “5% shareholder’ (iv) a person who is an “immediate family meaen’ of an executive officer, director,
nominee for director or 5% shareholder of the Camypa
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Fees paid to KPMG LLP and KPMG Canada

The following table shows the aggregate fees fofgwsional services provided to the Company by KAM8 and KPMG Canada for
2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
Audit Fees $2,791,00! $2,304,00!
Audit-Related Fee 30,00( 181,00(
Tax Fees — 70,00(
All Other Fees 1,00( 50C
Total $2,822,00! $2,555,50I

Audit Fees.This category includes the audit of the Companyisual consolidated financial statements, reviewthefCompany’s
financial statements included in the Company’s @uhrReports on Form 10-Q and services that armally provided by its independent
registered public accounting firm in connectionhwits engagements for those years. This categeoyiatiudes advice on audit and accounting
matters that arose during, or as a result of, titét ar the review of the Company’s interim finaalcstatements.

Audit-Related FeesThis category consists of assurance and relateitesry its independent registered public accogrfirm that are
reasonably related to the performance of the aurditview of the Company’s financial statements arenot reported above under “Audit
Fees.” The services for the fees disclosed undectiegory include audit-related work regardinguasitions, divestitures and debt covenant
compliance.

Tax Fees.This category consists of professional servicedessd by the Comparg/independent registered public accounting firmtda
compliance and tax advice. The services for the fisclosed under this category include tax refueparation and technical tax advice.

All Other Fees.This category consists of fees for other miscelthaisatems.

The Company’s board of directors has adopted aepiure for pre-approval of all fees charged bynitleependent registered public
accounting firm. Under the procedure, the audit mittee of the Company’s board of directors appraiiesengagement letter with respect to
audit, tax and review services. Other fees areestitp pre-approval by the audit committee. Thdataadditrelated fees, tax fees and other
paid to KPMG Canada with respect to 2011 and to KPIMP with respect to 2012 were pre-approved byatidit committee.
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PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Documents filed as part of the Rep«

1. Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfing
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&01201
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive IncomssjLfor the years ended December 31, 2012, 201 2@t
Consolidated Statements of Equity for the yearedrdecember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemt
2. Exhibits required to be filed by Item 601 of Redigda S-K

The exhibits required to be filed by this Item 1B aet forth in the Exhibit Index accompanying tteigort.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduty authorized.

May 15, 2013
TRANSATLANTIC PETROLEUM LTD.
IS/ N. MALONE M ITCHELL , 3™

N. Malone Mitchell, 3
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ies indicated.

Signature Capacity Date

/ s/ N. M ALONE M ITCHELL , 3 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer May 15, 201
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/ s/ BRIAN E. BAYLEY Director May 15, 201

Brian E. Bayley

/ s/ CHARLESJ. CAMPISE Director May 15, 201

Charles J. Campise

/ s/ M ELG. RIGGS Director May 15, 201
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 15, 2018ntdyamong TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd., TransAtaworldwide, Ltd.,
Longe Energy Limited, TransAtlantic Petroleum (US29rp., TransAtlantic Pertroleum Cyprus LimitedkMig International
Limited, Viking Geophysical Services, Ltd., Vikir@ilfield Services SRL and Dalea Partners, LP. (ipooated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to the Compar's Quarterly Report on Form -Q, filed with the SEC on May 10, 201.

Certificate of Continuance of TransAtlantic PetrotelLtd., dated October 1, 2009 (incorporated bgrexice to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Compan’s Current Report on Forn-K dated October 1, 2009, filed with the SEC on ®etor, 2009)

Memorandum of Continuance of TransAtlantic Petroidiid., dated August 20, 2009 (incorporated byrexiee to Exhibit 3.2 to
the Compan’'s Current Report on Forn-K dated October 1, 2009, filed with the SEC on ®eto7, 2009)

Bye-Laws of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd., datedyJld, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhil#tt8.the Company’s Current
Report on Form-K dated October 1, 2009, filed with the SEC on ®eta7, 2009)

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated December 30, 2008, by and between TrangitiBatroleum Corp.
and Riata Management, LLC (incorporated by refezdndExhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Reporfonm 8-K dated
December 30, 2008, filed with the SEC on JanuaB069).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated February 0&12by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. Birect Petroleum
Exploration, Inc. (incorporated by reference to k0.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Fork 8ated February 18, 2011,
filed with the SEC on February 24, 201

Common Share Purchase Warrant, dated Septemb@tQ, 2y and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. Balea Partners, LP
(uncorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to thenPany s Annual Report on Form -K, filed with the SEC on April 21, 2011

Form of Common Share Certificate (incorporateddfgnence to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Registraitatement on Form S-3,
filed with the SEC on June 9, 201

Service Agreement, effective as of May 1, 2008abg among TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp., Longfelemergy, LP, Viking
Drilling, LLC, Longe Energy Limited and Riata Marexgent, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibitl1® the Company’s
Current Report on Form-K dated August 6, 2008, filed with the SEC on Felpyul2, 2009)

Amendment to Service Agreement, effective as obBet 1, 2008, by and among TransAtlantic Petrol@arp., Longfellow
Energy, LP, Viking Drilling, LLC, Longe Energy Lirreéd, MedOil Supply LLC and Riata Management, LL@c@rporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Curfeaport on Form 8-K dated August 6, 2008, filed with SEC on February 12,
2009).

Agreement for Management Services, dated Septed#h@010, by and between Viking International Lieditand Viking Petrol
Sahasi Hizmetleri A.S. (incorporated by referemcExhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report annfr 8-K dated
September 28, 2010, filed with the SEC on Septerd8e2010)

Domestic Crude Oil Purchase/Sale Agreement, dated danuary 26, 2009, by and between Tirkiye PB&éinerileri AS. and
TransAtlantic Exploration Mediterranean InternatibRty. Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhiliit13 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form -K, filed with the SEC on April 21, 2011
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10.10

10.11
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10.13

10.14t

10.15

Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan (2006) porated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the ComfmRegistration
Statement on Form -F (File No. 00+-31643), filed with the SEC on October 9, 20(

Executive Employment Agreement, effective Januar30D8, by and between TransAtlantic Petroleum Camg Jeffrey S.
Mecom (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8% Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F (File Bi@0-31643), filed with
the SEC on May 14, 200¢

TransAtlantic Petroleum Corp. 2009 Long-Term InoenPlan (incorporated by reference to Appendix Bhe Definitive Proxy
Statement filed by TransAtlantic Petroleum Corphvihe SEC on April 30, 200¢

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (irmrated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Comyfm@urrent Report on
Form &K dated June 16, 2009, filed with the SEC on Juhe2209).

Form of Share Option Agreement (incorporated bgnaxice to Exhibit 99.3 to the Company’s Registratatement on Form S-
8, filed with the SEC on November 2, 20C

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated Blapfl8, 2011, by and between DMLP, Ltd., PetrogetsdP Gaz ve
Petrokimya Uriinleri Isaat Sanayi ve Ticaret 8., Talon Exploration, Ltd., TransAtlantic Explorai Mediterranean
International Pty. Ltd., TransAtlantic Turkey, Ltds borrowers, TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd., Thsttentic Petroleum (USA)
Corp., TransAtlantic Worldwide, Ltd., as guarantdhe lenders party thereto from time to time, &tahdard Bank Plc and BNP
Paribas (Suisse) SA, as joint mandated lead arraragel joint bookrunners, and Standard Bank Plettes of credit issuer,
administrative agent, collateral agent and tectigigant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 110.the Company’s Current
Report on Form-K dated May 17, 2011, filed with the SEC on May 2011).

Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Chggldement, dated as of August 4, 2011, by and lmtwenity Oil
International Pty. Ltd., DMLP, Ltd., Petrogas Pet@z ve Petrokimya Uriinleri §aat Sanayi ve Ticaret ., Talon Exploratior
Ltd., TransAtlantic Exploration Mediterranean Imational Pty. Ltd. and TransAtlantic Turkey, Ltds borrowers, TransAtlant
Petroleum Ltd., TransAtlantic Petroleum (USA) CoifransAtlantic Worldwide, Ltd., as guarantors, &tdndard Bank Plc as
administrative agent and as collateral agent (jmm@ted by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Compa@uarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q, filed with the SEC on November 9, 201

Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and Restated Chegldement, dated as of September 14, 2011, by efweekn Amity Oil
International Pty. Ltd., DMLP, Ltd., Petrogas Pe&Gaz ve Petrokimya Uriinleri §aat Sanayi ve Ticaret ®., Talon Exploratior
Ltd., TransAtlantic Exploration Mediterranean Imtational Pty. Ltd. and TransAtlantic Turkey, Ltds borrowers, TransAtlant
Petroleum Ltd., TransAtlantic Petroleum (USA) CoifransAtlantic Worldwide, Ltd., as guarantors &tdndard Bank Plc as
administrative agent and collateral agent (incaapeat by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Compa@usirterly Report on Form
1C-Q, filed with the SEC on November 9, 201

Office Lease, dated August 23, 2011, by and betWw&ansAtlantic Petroleum (USA) Corp. and Longfell&wrergy, LP
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tlmrPany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, dated Aug@st2®11, filed with the
SEC on August 25, 2011

Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporatedrbference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s CurfR@port on Form 8-K,
dated July 13, 2011, filed with the SEC on July2@®11).

Management Services Agreement, effective as ofueeiprl, 2012, by and between TransAtlantic Petrolétd. and Viking
Petrol Sahasi Hizmetleri A.S. (incorporated by refice to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Repo Form 8-K, dated
April 20, 2012, filed with the SEC on April 26, 221
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Management Services Agreement, dated March 15,, 2312nd between Viking Geophysical Services, Attt Viking
Petrol Sahasi Hizmetleri A.S. (incorporated by refice to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterlp&¢€on Form 10-Q,
filed with the SEC on May 10, 201:

Master Services Agreement, dated June 13, 2012ndypetween TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and ViKimgrnational
Limited (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@lhe Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, ddiaue 13, 2012,
filed with the SEC on June 19, 201

Master Services Agreement, dated June 13, 2012ntpetween TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and Vikiegrol Sahasi
Hizmetleri A.S. (incorporated by reference to Exhild.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form,&#ted June 13,
2012, filed with the SEC on June 19, 20!

Master Services Agreement, dated June 13, 2012ntyetween TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and Vikepphysical
Services, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to ExtHibBi3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form &&#ted June 13,
2012, filed with the SEC on June 19, 20!

Transition Services Agreement, dated June 13, 201 and between TransAtlantic Petroleum, Ltd. afldnig Services
Management, Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Eikii0.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Forif, 8lated June 1.
2012, filed with the SEC on June 19, 20!

Convertible Promissory Note made by Dalea Partriié?sp the order of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltchtetl June 13, 2012
in the principal sum of $11,500,000 (incorporatgddference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s CurfReport on Form 8-
K, dated June 13, 2012, filed with the SEC on J1$e2012)

Amendment No. 3 to the Amended and Restated Chegldement, dated as of November 21, 2012, by atwides Amity
Oil International Pty. Ltd., DMLP, Ltd., Petrogast®l Gaz ve Petrokimya Uriinleri Insaat Sanayiveafiét A.S., Talon
Exploration, Ltd., TransAtlantic Exploration Meditanean International Pty. Ltd. and TransAtlantickey, Ltd., as
borrowers, TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd., TransAtlafPetroleum (USA) Corp., TransAtlantic Worldwidgd., as
guarantors and Standard Bank Plc as administrageat and collateral age

Subsidiaries of the Compar

Consent of KPMG LLP

Consent of KPMG Canad

Consent of DeGolyer and MacNaught

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of ti@mpany, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of tli&mpany, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of ti@mpany, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of tli&mpany, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002
Report of DeGolyer and MacNaughton, dated Febra&@n2013.

XBRL Instance Documen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntn
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101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe
101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docume
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doentr

T Management contract or compensatory plan arrange

* Filed herewith
**  Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, theshactive Data Files on Exhibit 101 hereto are deknu filed or part of a registration

statement or prospectus for purposes of Sectiarr 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amendezidaemed not filed for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1@34amended, and otherwise are not subject toitiabitder those section
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and suas&s (the Company) as of
December 31, 2012, and the related consolidatéenseats of comprehensive income (loss), equitycasth flows for the year then ended.
These consolidated financial statements are tiponsgility of the Company’s management. Our resfigility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements based oaumlit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our auditiges a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2012, and the resutteafoperations and their cash flows for the ythan ended, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bio@nited States), TransAtlantic
Petroleum Ltd.’s internal control over financiapogting as of December 31, 2012, based on crigstablished ifnternal Control—Integrated
Frameworkissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission (COSO), and our regaied May 15, 2013
expressed an adverse opinion on the effectiverfabe @ompany’s internal control over financial oejing.

/sl KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
May 15, 2013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.:

We have audited TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. arsk&liaries’ (the Company) internal control overafiitial reporting as of December 31,
2012, based on criteria establishedhniternal Control—Integrated Frameworgsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrike
Treadway Commission (COSO). TransAtlantic Petroléiidy’'s management is responsible for maintainifigotive internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifiecéiveness of internal control over financial oejing, included in the accompanying
Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Oi@iancial Reporting. Our responsibility is to ees an opinion on the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting basedoam audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordx@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, and testing aald&ing the design and operating effectivenesstefnal control based on the assessed risk.
Our audit also included performing such other pdoces as we considered necessary in the circunestave believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statet:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (&ajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combimatif deficiencies, in internal control over fingaaeporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the pany’s annual or interim financial statements wit be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. Management has identified and includeddhewing material weaknesses in management’s assgggincluded in Item 9A(b)):

» The Company has not maintained a sufficient compldrof qualified personnel with U.S. GAAP knowledgel expertise, which
resulted in the ineffective design or operatiothef Compan’s internal controls over significant account bateand estimate

* The Company’s management review and approval dsntrere not complete and comprehensive, and nottipg at a sufficient
level of precision, to prevent or detect materiédstatements in the Compé's financial statement

» The Company has not designed and implemented iefdoternal controls around the accounting foréijas properties
» The Company has not designed and implemented #doternal controls over income tax provisio
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» The Company has not designed and implemented wfdoternal controls over significant rn-routine transaction:

« The Company has not designed and implemented ieffezbntrols over remeasurement and translatiats déreign entity account
balances

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheet of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. arsbgliaries as of December 31, 2012, and the cetaiasolidated statements of
comprehensive income (loss), equity and cash flowthe year then ended. These material weaknegsesconsidered in determining the
nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applredur audit of the 2012 consolidated financialestagnts, and this report does not affect our
report dated May 15, 2013, which expressed an uifigdaopinion on those consolidated financial staents.

In our opinion, because of the effect of the afarationed material weaknesses on the achievemehneé abjectives of the control criteria, the
Company has not maintained effective internal adrver financial reporting as of December 31, 203#5ed on criteria establishedrernal
Control—Integrated Framewoliksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission.

We do not express an opinion or any other formssfieance on management's statements referringective actions taken after
December 31, 2012, relative to the aforementionaterial weaknesses in internal control over finaheporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Dallas, Texas

May 15, 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineet of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and suas&bs (“the Company”) as of
December 31, 2011, and the related consolidatéenséats of comprehensive income (loss), equitycasth flows for each of the years in the
two-year period ended December 31, 2011. Theseotidated financial statements are the responsitolithe Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thegesobidated financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBiqUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the financial position of
TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and subsidiaries aBefember 31, 2011, and the results of their ojpersind their cash flows for each of the
years in the tw-year period ended December 31, 2011, in conformitly U.S. generally accepted accounting principles

/sl KPMG LLP

Calgary, Canada
March 23, 2012 (except Note 2 dated May 15, 2013)
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T RANSA TLANTIC PETROLEUM L TD.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of December 31, 2012 and 2011
(in thousands of U.S. Dollars, except share data)

2012 2011
(See Note -
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 14,76¢ $  15,11¢
Accounts receivabl
Oil and natural gas sales, | 34,15¢ 28,49¢
Related part 41¢ —
Joint interest and other, r 18,19: 23,14:
Prepaid and other current ass 2,33¢ 4,14:
Deferred income taxe 1,89 2,12¢
Assets held for sal 1,61¢ 127,16¢
Total current asse 73,39( 200,18t

Property and equipment:
Oil and natural gas properties (successful effotthod)

Proved 231,49¢ 174,60t
Unproved 68,93¢ 70,39:
Equipment and other propel 35,747 39,91«
336,18: 284,91!
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion and anadidin (80,03) (49,480
Property and equipment, r 256,15: 235,42¢
Other long-term assets:

Other asset 8,19¢ 4,67¢

Note receivabl« related party 11,50( —
Goodwill 9,021 8,51«
Total other asse 28,71¢ 13,18°
Total assets $ 358,25¢ $ 448,80.

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 12,86« $ 25,85¢
Accounts payabl- related part) 15,91 32t
Accrued liabilities 29,69: 25,10¢
Loans payabl — 7,732
Loan payable related party — 73,00(
Derivative liabilities 3,90¢ 3,71¢
Asset retirement obligatior 81¢ 3,031
Liabilities held for sal¢« related party — 3,671
Liabilities held for sale 8,41¢ 22,18°
Total current liabilities 71,61 164,62!

Long-term liabilities:
Asset retirement obligatior 11,14C 10,501
Accrued liabilities 7,54¢ 5,53¢
Deferred income taxe 16,48 15,50¢
Loan payable 32,76¢ 78,00(
Derivative liabilities 4,88 3,35¢
Total lon¢-term liabilities 72,81¢ 112,90
Total liabilities 144,43: 277,52¢

Commitments and contingencie:
Shareholders equity:
Common shares, $0.01 par value, 1,000,000,000sshathorized, 368,748,592 issued and outstandin§Bscember 31, 2012 and

365,790,492 as of December 31, 2! 3,687 3,65¢

Additional paic-in capital 537,96: 533,90
Accumulated other comprehensive | (28,019 (50,23¢)
Accumulated defici (299,810 (316,050

Total shareholde’ equity 213,82 171,27:

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 358,25¢ $  448,80:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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T RANSA TLANTIC PETROLEUM L TD.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomss{Lo
For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@dl 201
(U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands, exceptha@esamounts)

2012 2011 2010
(See Note 2
Revenues:

Oil and natural gas sal $134,11: $ 124,16: $ 69,83¢

Sales of purchased natural ¢ 7,88 2,66¢ —

Other 1,91 2,07t 1,01

Total revenues 143,90¢ 128,90 70,85¢
Costs and expenses:

Production 17,80 18,47t 20,28¢

Exploration, abandonment and impairm 39,99: 60,95: 12,69:

Costs of purchased natural ¢ 7,69/ 2,64t —

Seismic and other exploratic 5,04( 11,54: 16,88

Revaluation of contingent considerati — 6,00( —

General and administrati 33,94% 36,30¢ 26,04¢

Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 28,21t 39,00¢ 13,99¢

Accretion of asset retirement obligatic 71C 1,142 47C

Total costs and expense 133,40: 176,06! 90,37:

Operating income (loss) 10,50¢ (47,169 (19,529
Other (expense) income

Interest and other expen (8,340 (13,665 (7,055

Interest and other incon 2,41¢ 1,08¢ 267

Loss on commodity derivative contra (5,54¢) (8,426 (1,629

Foreign exchange gain (los 1,08: (11,977 (1,8772)

Total other expense (10,387) (32,97Y) (10,289
Income (loss) from continuing operations before ineme taxes 11¢€ (80,139 (29,807

Current income tax expen (4,679 (2,38¢) (2,076

Deferred income tax (expense) ben (1,81%) 4,951 2,33¢
Net loss from continuing operations $ (6,379 $ (77,579 $(29,54%)
Loss from discontinued operations before income taes (5,087) (39,119 (39,47()

Gain on disposal of discontinued operati 35,99¢ — —

Income tax provisiol (8,29%) (4,255 (731
Net income (loss) from discontinued operation 22,61¢ (43,369 (40,207
Net income (loss 16,24¢ (120,949 (69,746
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustm: 22,224 (52,069 (7,76%)
Comprehensive income (loss $ 38,47( $(173,01) $(77,519
Net loss per common share

Basic net income (loss) per common sh

From continuing operatior $ (0.02) $ (0.29 $ (0.09
From discontinued operatiol $ 0.0¢ $ (0.12 $ (0.19
Basic weighted average shares outstan 367,41! 355,97: 312,48t

Diluted net income (loss) per common shi

From continuing operatior $ (0.02) $ (0.29 $ (0.09
From discontinued operatio $ 0.0¢ $ (0.19 $ (0.19)
Diluted weighted average shares outstan 367,41! 355,97 312,48t

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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Balance at December 31, 20C
Issuance of common shai

Issuance cos!

Issuance of warran

Exercise of warrant

Exercise of stock optior

Issuance of restricted stock ur
Sharebased compensatic

Foreign currency translation adjustme
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 201
Issuance of common shai

Exercise of warrant

Exercise of stock optior

Issuance of restricted stock ur

Tax withholding on restricted stock un
Share-based compensatic

Foreign currency translation adjustme
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 201(See Note 2

Issuance of common shal

Exercise of stock optior

Issuance of restricted stock ur

Tax withholding on restricted stock un
Shar+-based compensatic

Foreign currency translation adjustm
Net income

Balance at December 31, 2012

T RANSA TLANTIC PETROLEUM L TD.

Consolidated Statements of Equity
For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@dl 201
(U.S. Dollars and shares in thousands)

Accumulated
Other

Total

Additional Comprehensive Accumulated Shareholders’
Common Common Paid-in
Shares Shares ($ Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Equity
303,26¢ $ 3,03 $377,34( $ 9,601 $(125,36) $ 264,60
30,357 304 84,69¢ — — 85,00(
— — (4,350) — — (4,350
— — 4,33( — — 4,33(
731 7 871 — — 87¢
1,21 12 1,07¢ — — 1,09(
877 8 (8) — — —
— — 2,01¢ — — 2,01¢
— — — (7,76¢) — (7,769
— — — — (69,746 (69,746
336,44 $3,36¢ $46597. $ 1,83t $(19511) $ 276,05
27,42« 274 65,76: — — 66,03"
80 1 95 — — 96
84t 8 62C — — 62¢
99¢ 11 (12) - - -
— — (210 — — (210
— — 1,67 — — 1,67
— — — (52,069 — (52,06¢)
— — — — (120,94  (120,94)
365,79 $ 3,65¢ $533,900 $ (50,236 $(316,05) $ 171,27
80¢ 8 65€ — — 664
2,15¢ 21 (22) — — —
— — (147) — — (147)
— — 3,561 — — 3,56
— — — 22,22¢ — 22,22¢
— — — — 16,24¢ 16,24¢
368,74¢ $ 3,687 $537,96. $ (28,01) $(299,81) $ 213,82

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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T RANSA TLANTIC PETROLEUM L TD.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ar@dl 201
(in thousands of U.S. Dollars)

2012 2011 2010
(See Note 2

Operating activities:

Net income (loss $ 16,24t $(120,947) $ (69,74¢)

Adjustment for net (income) loss from discontinwgerations (22,619 43,36¢ 40,20:
Net loss from continuing operatio (6,379 (77,579 (29,54%)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby (used in) operating activities from contiguoperations
Shar-based compensatic 2,55¢ 1,212 1,77:¢
Foreign currency (gain) lo 3,84 14,69( 597
Unrealized loss on commodity derivative contr: 1,71¢ 3,57 1,59t
Amortization of loan financing cos 1,991 1,63( 1,33¢
Deferred income tax expense (bene 1,817 (4,95)) (2,339%)
Inventory write dowr 1,39( — —
Amortization of warrant- related part) — 1,972 2,35¢
Exploration, abandonment and impairm 22,617 52,63¢ 5,34:
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 28,21¢ 39,00¢ 13,99¢
Accretion of asset retirement obligatic 71C 1,142 47C
Loss on revaluation of contingent considera — 6,00( —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett of acquisitions
Accounts receivabl (6,872) (4,98 (19,13Y)
Prepaid expenses and other as (1,149 (4,492 5,95¢
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 1,50 21,14t (1,967
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities continuing operatior 51,97( 51,007 (19,557)
Net cash used in operating activities from discorgd operation (25,769 (10,60:7) (23,949
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 26,20: 40,40t (43,49¢)
Investing activities:
Deposit on acquisitior — — (10,000
Acquisitions, net of cas — (747) (96,249
Additions to oil and natural gas propert (52,81)) (68,719 (52,66¢)
Additions to equipment and other proper (66¢) (2,649 (11,40
Restricted cas 94¢ 5,132 (A73)
Net cash used in investing activities from contirguoperation: (52,53)) (66,976 (170,490
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activifiesn discontinued operatiol 156,14¢ (4,767) (48,51))
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 103,61 (71,73) (219,00)

Financing activities:

Exercise of stock options and warra 664 72z 1,96¢
Issuance of common shai — — 80,00(
5,00(

Issuance of common shat- related party — _
Tax withholding on restricted stock un (247) (210) —

Issuance cos! — (4,350
Loan proceed 25,96 35,96 55,88¢
Loan proceed- related party 11,00( — 91,50(
Loan repaymer (78,93) (18,029 (2,44%)
Loan repaymer- related party (84,000 — (18,500
Loan financing cost (250) — (1,02¢)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activifieen continuing operatior (125,69) 18,45 208,03:
Net cash used in financing activities from disconéid operation (5,049 (5,06¢) (1,139
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (130,749 13,38 206,89
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 58( (1,615 (202)
Net decrease in cash and cash equiva (34¢) (19,560 (55,809
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 15,11¢ 34,67¢ 90,48
Cash and cash equivalents, end of \ $ 14,76¢ $ 15,11¢ $ 34,67¢

Supplemental disclosures

Cash paid for intere: $  6,94¢ $ 10,10¢ $ 3,06:
Cash paid for income tax $ 5,59¢ $ 7,72¢ $ 5,64¢
Supplemental nor-cash investing and financing activities
Note receivabl+ related party from sale of oilfield services busi $ 11,50( $ — $ —
Issuance of common shares for acquisiti $ — $ 66,037 $ —
$ — $ 30,00( $ —

Repayment of shc-term credit facility from refinancin
The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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T RANSA TLANTIC PETROLEUM L TD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. General
Nature of operations

TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. (together with its sigharies, “we,” “us,” “our,” the “Company” or “TrasAtlantic”) is an international oil and
natural gas company engaged in acquisition, exiioradevelopment and production. As of December2®12, we held interests in developec
and undeveloped oil and natural gas propertiesinkély, Bulgaria and Romania. As of May 1, 2013ragimately 40% of our outstanding
common shares were beneficially owned by N. Malditehell, 3rd, our chief executive officer and ciméan of our board of directors.

Basis of presentatiol

Our consolidated financial statements are expreissgdS. Dollars and have been prepared by manageimeccordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United StétgsS. GAAP”). All amounts in these notes to the consolidatednitia statements are in U.
Dollars unless otherwise indicated. In preparimgiicial statements, management makes informed jeidlignand estimates that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities asefitite of the financial statements and affectepented amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. On an ongoing basesnagement reviews estimates, including those retatéair value measurements associated
with acquisitions and financial derivatives, theaeerability and impairment of long-lived assetd gwodwill, contingencies and income taxes
Changes in facts and circumstances may resulvise® estimates and actual results may differ filoase estimates.

Reclassificatior

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we refitabsertain balance sheet amounts previouslyntepaon our consolidated balance sheet
at December 31, 2011 to conform to current yeasgar@tion. Specifically, we reclassified $12.2 ioillof joint interest receivables out of
accounts receivable, oil and natural gas salegpratcounts receivable, joint interest and othet, and a liability held for sale which should
have been netted with assets held for sale of appately $0.9 million. We reclassified the reverarel cost related to natural gas purchased
from third parties. For the year ended DecembeRB1], these reclassifications increased totalmaee and expenses by approximately $2.7
million and $2.6 million, respectively. We also lesified depreciation expense from continuing afiens to discontinued operations for the
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 of $2.ibméhd $2.4 million, respectivel

Change to going concern assumption

As a result of recurring losses from continuingragiens and a working capital deficiency at Decenfide 2011 and March 31, 2012, we st¢

in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year eh@&cember 31, 2011 and our Quarterly Report omFd-Q for the three months ended
March 31, 2012 that there was substantial doulardiigg our ability to continue as a going concétthat time, we stated that should we be
unable to consummate the sale of our oilfield sewibusiness, raise additional financing or extbadnaturity date of our credit agreement
with Dalea Partners, LP (“Dalea”), an affiliateMf. Mitchell, we would not have sufficient funds ¢ontinue operations beyond June 30, 201

On June 13, 2012, we closed the sale of our d@lelrvices business, which was substantially caagrof our wholly owned subsidiaries
Viking International Limited (“Viking Internation&) and Viking Geophysical Services, Ltd. (“Vikinge@Bphysical”), to a joint venture owned
by Dalea and funds advised by Abraaj Investmentddament Limited for an aggregate purchase pri&i168.5 million, consisting of
approximately
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$157.0 million in cash and a $11.5 million promigsoote from Dalea. We used a portion of the neteeds from the sale to pay off our $73.(
million credit agreement with Dalea, our $11.0 mill credit facility with Dalea, our $0.9 million @missory note with Viking Drilling, LLC
(“Viking Drilling”), and our $1.8 million credit aggement with a Turkish bank. In addition, we usgubdion of the net proceeds from the sale
to pay down approximately $45.2 million in outstangdindebtedness under our amended and restatest senured credit facility with
Standard Bank Plc (“Standard Bank”) and BNP Par{Bassse) SA (as amended, the “Amended and Restatstit Facility”).

As of December 31, 2012, we had no short-term dettavailability of $26.9 million under our Amendaad Restated Credit Facility. In
addition, at December 31, 2012, we had net workaptal of $8.6 million, excluding assets and ligieis held for sale. As a result,
management believes that the conditions that ledgsubstantial doubt about our ability to contims a going concern at December 31, 2011
and March 31, 2012 no longer existed at Decembg2@112.

2. Revision of prior period financial statements ad out-of-period adjustments

During the three months ended June 30, 2012 anéi®bpr 30, 2012, we identified and corrected ertteais originated in prior periods. We
assessed the materiality of the errors in accomaiith the Securities and Exchange Commission (“$E0idance on considering the effects
of prior period misstatements based on an anatygisantitative and qualitative factors. Basedlua &nalysis, we determined that the errors
were immaterial to each of the prior reporting pési affected and, therefore, amendments of repagtsously filed with the SEC were not
required. However, we also concluded that corrgatie errors in our 2012 financial statements wondderially understate results for the year
ended December 31, 2012. Accordingly, we refletiiedcorrection of these prior period errors in pleeiods in which they originated and
revised our consolidated balance sheet and coasetidstatement of equity for the year ended DeceBbe2011, our consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 20itllour consolidated statement of comprehensiaieqloss) for the year ended
December 31, 2011 in this Annual Report on FornK10a addition, a reduction to retained earnings baen reflected as an adjustment to the
beginning balance for the year ended December(Bi2.2

These errors consisted mainly of accrued liabditteat should have been recorded in prior periedsys in foreign currency gain/loss
remeasurement, inappropriate recognition of ret@évbalances, and other minor corrections with inemal impact to other miscellaneous
accounts. We also reclassified a receivable balamgeh had been netted with a payable balance mfosgmately $10.5 million, a prepaid
balance which should have been netted with a payzddance of approximately $2.4 million, and saliegurchased natural gas of $2.7 million
and costs of purchased natural gas of $2.6 millibith had previously been netted with other revenue

Additionally, we increased our gain on the salewf oilfield services business during the three therended September 30, 2012 by $5.1
million. This revision was primarily due to an intempany balance that was not contemplated a®ptre gain at June 30, 2012.
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The reclassification discussed under the sub-hgdtieclassification” in Note 1 was reflected in thecember 31, 2011 consolidated balance
sheet. The condensed version of that consolidatkthbe sheet is presented below under the coldhad tAs Reported”, prior to any
immaterial corrections discussed above. The effefctise immaterial corrections on the consoliddiathnce sheet as of December 31, 2011
were as follows (in thousands):

As Reporte Correctiot As Revisec
As of December 31, 20:
Accounts receivabl $ 42,69¢ $ 8,94: $ 51,63¢
Other asset 401,29¢ 4,13:¢ 397,16t
Total asset $443,99: $ 4,80¢ $448,80:
Accrued liabilities, currer $ 16,45( $ 8,65¢ $ 25,104
Other liabilities 251,33¢ 1,08¢ 252,42!
Total liabilities 267,78¢ 9,74( 277,52
Accumulated other comprehensive | (50,61%) 37¢ (50,236
Other shareholde’ equity 226,81¢ (5,310 221,50¢
Total shareholde’ equity 176,20« 4,931 171,27:
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $443,99: $ 4,80¢ $448,80:

The effect of the corrections on the consolidatateesnent of comprehensive loss for the year endssidber 31, 2011 was as follows (in
thousands):

As Reportec Correctiot As Revisec

For the year ended December 31, 2(

Total revenue $ 126,33t $ 2,561 $ 128,90!
Total costs and expens (171,98() (4,08¢) (176,069
Total other (expense) incon (32,689 (292) (32,979
Loss from continuing operations before income t: (78,32%) (1,819 (80,139
Net loss from continuing operatio (75,220) (2,359 (77,579
Net loss from discontinued operatic (40,629 (2,746 (43,369
Net loss (115,84 (5,100 (120,949
Foreign currency translation adjustm: (52,449 37¢ (52,069
Comprehensive los $(168,29)) $(4,72) $(173,01)

Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2012 vaentified and corrected errors that originategiior periods that were not material to our
consolidated financial statements for the yeargdrmdkecember 31, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009.

These errors consisted mainly of an overstatenfattemreciation, depletion and amortization expesfspproximately $4.7 million, which w.
offset by a related understatement of explorattrndonment and impairment expense of $4.5 milAaiditionally, there was an
overstatement of deferred income tax expense &fi®lllion, an understatement of foreign exchangs lof $2.0 million and an understatem

of other miscellaneous accounts of $1.0 millione Tinpact of these errors resulted in a decreasartaet loss for the fourth quarter of 2012 of
approximately $1.3 million.
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3. Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparatior

Our reporting standard for the presentation ofamnsolidated financial statements is U.S. GAAP. @tesolidated financial statements incli
the accounts of the Company and all majority owredtrolled subsidiaries. All significant intercoamy balances and transactions have beer
eliminated on consolidation.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include term depositinardtments with original maturities of three nmtwnbr less at the date of acquisition. We
consider all highly liquid debt instruments purofgsvith an original maturity of three months orslés be cash equivalents. We determine the
appropriate classification of our investments islcand cash equivalents and marketable securititbe éime of purchase and reevaluate such
designation at each balance sheet date.

Commodity derivative instruments

Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Acating Standards Codification (“ASC”) 81Bgrivatives and Hedgin(fASC 815"),
requires derivative instruments to be recognizeélitagr assets or liabilities in the balance sheéir value. We do not designate our derive
financial instruments as hedging instruments asd, esult, we recognize the change in a derivatiwdract’s fair value currently in earnings
as a component of other (expense) income.

Fair value measurements

We follow ASC 820Fair Value Measurements and Disclosu(&sSC 820"). This standard defines fair value, bithes a framework for
measuring fair value and expands disclosures dhoutalue measurements. ASC 820 does not reqaiyenaw fair value measurements, but
applies to assets and liabilities that are requiodae recorded at fair value under other accogrgtandards.

ASC 820 characterizes inputs used in determiniing/édue according to a hierarchy that prioritizeese inputs based upon the degree to w
they are observable. The three levels of the falmesr measurement hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markeds are accessible at the measurement dateefotiédl, unrestricted assets or
liabilities.
Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are nowvactr inputs which are observable, either direotlyndirectly, for substantially the

full term of the asset or liability

Level 3: Measured based on prices or valuation tsdtiat required inputs that are both significanthte fair value measurement and
less observable for objective sources (i.e., supddy little or no market activity

As required by ASC 820, financial assets and litébd are classified based on the lowest levehpfit that is significant to the fair value
measurement. Our assessment of the significanagafticular input to the fair value measuremequires judgment, which may affect the
valuation of the fair value of assets and liakahtand their placement within the fair value highgirlevels. The determination of the fair values
takes into account the market for our financiak&sand liabilities, the associated credit risk atiar factors as required ASC 820. We con:
active markets as those in which transactionshferassets or liabilities occur in sufficient freqoag and volume to provide pricing information
on an ongoing basis.
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Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of our corporate entitied/dorocco, Turkey and Romania is the Moroccan DithBlew Turkish Lira and the
Romanian New Leu, respectively. We follow ASC 8B0reign Currency Matter§'ASC 830"). ASC 830 requires the assets, liakg$tiand
results of operations of a foreign operation tevtEasured using the functional currency of thatifpreperation. Exchange gains or losses 1
re-measuring transactions and monetary accourtginrency other than the functional currency actuided in earnings. For certain of our
controlled entities, translation adjustments reBuolin the process of translating the functionarency of subsidiary financial statements into
the U.S. Dollar reporting currency. These transtatidjustments are reported separately and acctedufrathe consolidated balance sheets
component of accumulated other comprehensive Tdssaccounting basis of the assets and liabiliféected by the change are adjusted to
reflect the difference between the exchange ratnvthe asset or liability arose and the exchangeorathe date of the change.

Oil and natural gas properties

In accordance with the successful efforts methoalcobunting for oil and natural gas propertiesto$ productive wells, developmental dry
holes and productive leases are capitalized inpoogiate groups of properties based on geograpainzhgeological similarities. Acquisition
costs of proved properties are amortized usingittieof-production method based on total prove@mess, and exploration well costs and
additional development costs are amortized usiagittit-of-production method based on proved deeslapserves. Proceeds from the sale of
properties are credited to property costs, andraaydoss is recognized when a significant portoéan amortization base is sold or abando

Exploration costs, such as exploratory geologiadl geophysical costs, delay rentals and explorati@ithead, are charged to expense as
incurred. Exploratory drilling costs, including thest of stratigraphic test wells, are initiallypialized but charged to exploration expense if
and when the well is determined to be non-prodectihe determination of an exploratory well’s ahito produce must be made within one
year from the completion of drilling activities. &lacquisition costs of unproved acreage are ilyittalpitalized and are carried at cost, ne
accumulated impairment provisions, until such Isame transferred to proved properties or chargedploration expense as impairments of
unproved properties.

Equipment and other propert

Equipment and other property are stated at costrasethtory is stated at weighted average cost wads not exceed replacement cost.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-timethod over the estimated useful lives (rangingnfoto 7 years) of the respective assets. The
costs of normal maintenance and repairs are chaogexbense as incurred. Material expendituresititatase the life of an asset are
capitalized and depreciated over the estimatediréngauseful life of the asset. The cost of equiptrsold, or otherwise disposed of, and the
related accumulated depreciation are removed fr@matcounts and any gain or loss is reflected firentioperations.

Impairment of lon¢-lived assets

We follow the provisions of ASC 36@roperty, Plant, and EquipmeitASC 360”). ASC 360 requires that our lofiged assets be assessec
potential impairment of their carrying values whegreevents or changes in circumstances indicatie isygairment may have occurred. Oil ¢
natural gas properties are evaluated by field &emtial impairment. Other properties are evalufedmpairment on a specific asset basis or
in groups of similar assets as applicable. An impant on proved properties is recognized when stienated undiscounted future net cash
flows of an asset are less than its carrying vadfuen impairment occurs, the carrying value of ifn@aired asset is reduced to its estimated fai
value, which is generally estimated using a distedicash flow approach.
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Unproved oil and natural gas properties do not lmeducing properties and are valued on acquishioan independent expert. As reserves
are proved through the successful completion ofceapry wells, the cost is transferred to proveoperties. The cost of the remaining
unproved basis is periodically evaluated by managéno assess whether the value of a propertyin@sighed. To do this assessment
management considers (i) estimated potential reseamd future net revenues from an independentteXijethe Company’s history in
exploring the area, (iii) the Company’s future lihigy plans per its capital drilling program prepi®y the Company’s reservoir engineers and
operations management and (iv) other factors assativith the area. Impairment is taken on the awgt property cost if it is determined that
the costs are not likely to be recoverable. Theat#n is subjective and requires management teeraaimates and assumptions which, with
the passage of time, may prove to be materialfgiht from actual results.

Goodwill

In accordance with ASC 350tangibles-Goodwill and OthgtASC 3507), goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impaént on an annu
basis at December 31, or more frequently as impaitrimdicators arise. ASC 350 permits an entitfirgh assess qualitative factors to
determine whether it is more likely than not the fair value of a reporting unit is less tharcasrying amount as a basis for determining
whether it is necessary to perform the two-stepdgaibimpairment test. We assessed the qualitdtietors at December 31, 2012 and, based
upon the results of the qualitative assessmentjetermined that it was not necessary to performwioestep goodwill impairment test and that
our goodwill was not impaired. All of our goodwidl attributable to our Turkey operating segment.

Joint interest activities

Certain of our exploration, development and produncactivities are conducted jointly with otherigias and accordingly the consolidated
financial statements reflect only our proportionaterest in such activities.

Asset retirement obligation

We recognize a liability for the fair value of dbal obligations associated with the retiremertaafjible, long-lived assets and capitalize an
equal amount as a cost of the asset. The costiagsbwith the abandonment obligation is includethie computation of depreciation,
depletion and amortization. The liability accretedil we settle the obligation. We use a creditsathd risk-free interest rate in our calculation
of asset retirement obligations.

Revenue recognitiol
Revenue from the sale of crude oil and naturaiigascognized upon delivery to the purchaser whtngasses.

Share-based compensation

We follow ASC 718 Compensation—Stock Compensa(i#xSC 718"), which requires the measurement andgedion of compensation
expense for all share-based payment awards, imgudstricted stock units, based on estimated glatet fair values. Restricted stock units are
valued using the market price of our common sharethe date of grant. We record compensation experes of estimated forfeitures, over
requisite service period.

Income taxes

We follow the asset and liability method prescrilbgdASC 740Jncome Taxe§'ASC 740"). Under this method of accounting focame
taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities aregmized for the future tax consequences attributatbtéfferences between the financial statemer
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabiliied

F-15



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assettiabilities are measured using enacted tax ratpe@ed to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are eegleto be recovered or settled. Under ASC 740etteet on deferred tax assets ¢
liabilities of a change in enacted tax rates i®gaized in income in the period that includes thactment date.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, we recogaizethcertain tax position liability of approximigt&6.3 million related to our August
2010 acquisition of Amity and Petrogas (See Nofe WM& do not believe there will be any materialras in our unrecognized tax positions
over the next twelve months. Our policy is thatr@eognize interest and penalties accrued on argcognized tax benefits as a component of
income tax expense.

We are a Bermuda exempted company, and under t@eemuda law, we are not subject to tax on proiitsome or dividends, nor is there
any capital gains tax applicable to us in Bermuda.

Comprehensive income

ASC 220,Comprehensive Incomestablishes standards for reporting and dispiagamprehensive income and its components (revenue,
expenses, gains and losses) in a full set of gkparpose financial statements.

Business combination

We follow ASC 805Business Combinatiorf$ASC 805"), and ASC 810-10-6%;onsolidation(*ASC 810-10-65"). ASC 805 requires most
identifiable assets, liabilities, non-controllingerests, and goodwill acquired in a business coatiain to be recorded at “fair value.” The
statement applies to all business combinationfydittg combinations among mutual entities and coratidons by contract alone. Under ASC
805, all business combinations are accounted fapmying the acquisition method. Accordingly, saation costs related to acquisitions ar
be recorded as a reduction of earnings in the géhiey are incurred and costs related to issuilbg oleequity securities that are related to the
transaction will continue to be recognized in ademice with other applicable rules under U.S. GAABC 810-10-65 requires non-controlling
interests to be treated as a separate componequdy, not as a liability or other item outsidepgrmanent equity. The statement applies to th
accounting for non-controlling interests and tratisas with non-controlling interest holders in sotidated financial statements.

Per share informatior

Basic per share amounts are calculated using tighteel average common shares outstanding duringetfie We use the treasury stock
method to determine the dilutive effect of stockiaps and other dilutive instruments. Under thastey stock method, only “in the money”
dilutive instruments impact the diluted calculaan computing diluted earnings per share. Dilwaldulations reflect the weighted average
incremental common shares that would be issued apertise of dilutive options assuming the proceealsld be used to repurchase shares &
average market prices for the period.

4. New accounting pronouncements

In May 2011, FASB issued ASU 2011-0¥mendments to Achieve Common Fair Value MeasureanenDisclosure Requirements in U.S.
GAAP and IFRS €ASU 2011-04"). ASU 2011-04 amends ASC 820, pravida consistent definition and measurement ofVfalue, as well
as similar disclosure requirements between U.S. BAAd International Financial Reporting Standa#®&) 2011-04 changes certain fair
value measurement principles, clarifies the appboaof existing fair value measurement and expahdsASC 820 disclosure requirements,
particularly for Level 3 fair value measurementS&WA2011-04 became effective for interim and anpealods beginning after December 15,
2011. We adopted ASU 2011-04 on January 1, 201 atleption did not have a material effect on auaufcial statements.
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In June 2011, FASB issued ASU 2011-Btesentation of Comprehensive IncoffeSU 2011-05"). ASU 2011-05 requires the presdotabf
comprehensive income in either (1) a continuoutestant of comprehensive income or (2) two sepdmateonsecutive statements. In
December 2011, FASB issued ASU 2011-@amprehensive Income (Topic 220): Deferral of tffedfive Date for Amendments to the
Presentation oReclassifications of Iltems Out of Accumulated O@emprehensive Income in ASU 2011€¢085U 2011-12"). ASU 2011-12
defers the specific requirement to present iterasdre reclassified from accumulated other comprglie income to net income separately
with their respective components of net income @theér comprehensive income. The amendments bedéeaéve for fiscal years, and inter
periods within those years, beginning after DecamMbe 2011. We adopted ASU 2011-05 on January 12 20Dhe adoption did not have a
material effect on our financial statements.

In September 2011, FASB issued ASU 201190ting Goodwill for ImpairmerftASU 2011-08"). ASU 2011-08 allows both public and
nonpublic entities an option to first assess gatlie factors to determine whether it is necesgsaperform the two-step quantitative goodwill
impairment test. An entity would no longer be regdito calculate the fair value of a reporting wmitess the entity determines, based on that
gualitative assessment, that it is more likely thahthat its fair value is less than its carryamgount. We adopted ASU 2011-08 on January 1,
2012. The adoption did not have a material effecbuor financial statements.

In December 2011, FASB issued ASU 2011Dikclosures about Offsetting Assets and LiabiliffidsSU 2011-11"). ASU 2011-11 requires
entities to disclose both gross information andimirmation about both instruments and transasteligible for offset in the statement of
financial position and instruments and transactsuigect to an agreement similar to a master me#irangement. ASU 2011-11 will be
effective for annual reporting periods beginningoorafter January 1, 2013 and interim periods withbse annual periods. The adoption of
ASU 2011-11 is not expected to have a materiaceffa our financial statements.

In July 2012, FASB issued ASU 2012-02&sting Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for linpeent (“ASU 2012-02"). The update provides an
entity with the option first to assess qualitati@etors in determining whether it is more likehathnot that the indefinite-lived intangible asset
is impaired. After assessing the qualitative fegtidran entity determines that it is not more ljkihan not that the indefinite-lived intangible
asset is impaired, then the entity is not requicetiike further action. If an entity concludes ottise, then it is required to determine the fair
value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset a@aform the quantitative impairment test. ASU 2@2is effective for annual and interim
impairment tests performed for fiscal years begigrifter September 15, 2012. Early adoption wasipexd. We did not early adopt the
provisions of ASU 2012-02. We do not expect theptidn of ASU 2012-02 to have a material effect om financial statements.

In February 2013, FASB issued ASU 2013-B@w Disclosures for Items Reclassified Out of Aedatad Other Comprehensive Income
(“ASU 2013-09"). ASU 2013-09 requires reclassifioatadjustments for items that are reclassifiedad@ccumulated other comprehensive
income to net income to be presented in the staitnwehere the components of net income and the eoems of other comprehensive incc
are presented or in the footnotes to the finarst&kments. Additionally, the amendment requiressreferencing to other disclosures
currently required for other reclassification iteffife amendments are effective for interim and ahreporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2012. The adoption of ASU 2013-0Dtsempected to have a material impact on our firrstatements.

We have reviewed other recently issued, but noaglepted, accounting standards in order to deterihigir effects, if any, on our consolidatec
results of operations, financial position and ceivs. Based on that review, we believe that ndnta@se pronouncements will have a
significant effect on current or future earningoperations.
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5. Acquisitions
TBNG

On June 7, 2011, TransAtlantic Worldwide, Ltd. @mnsAtlantic Worldwide”) acquired Thrace Basin Natugas (Turkiye) Corporation
(“TBNG”") in exchange for cash consideration of $10.5 milaow the issuance of 18,500,000 of our common shate deemed price of $2
per common share). Of the $10.5 million cash caarsidbon, $10.0 million was paid in November 201@Gaoption fee and applied to the
purchase price. We engaged independent valuatipereto assist in the determination of the falugaf the assets and liabilities acquired in
the acquisition. The following tables summarize ¢basideration paid in the acquisition and thelfieaognized amounts of assets acquirec
liabilities assumed that have been recognizedeaatiguisition date:

Consideration:

(in thousands
Cash consideration, net of purchase price adjugsnen $ 10,50¢
Issuance of 18,500,000 common sh: 37,92t
Fair value of total consideration transfer $ 48,42¢
Acquisitior-Related Costs
Included in general and administrative expensesurriconsolidated statements
comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended mbee 31, 201: $1,01:%

Recognized Amounts of Identifiable Assets AcqainedLiabilities Assumed at Acquisitic

Assets:

Cash $ 1,84¢
Accounts receivabl 19,997
Restricted cas 4,931
Total financial asset 26,77:
Other current assets, consisting primarily of pigeapense 3,272
Deferred tax ass: 722
Oil and natural gas propertie

Proved propertie 14,52¢
Unproved propertie 16,13:
Land and building: 2,601
Drilling services equipment and vehicl 19,51:
Total oil and natural gas properties and othermgaint 52,77(
Liabilities:

Accounts payable, consisting of normal trade oliligyes 5,96(
Other current liabilitie 5,59¢
Asset retirement obligatic 6,48(
Deferred tax liability 2,52:
Bank loans 14,54¢
Total liabilities 35,10¢
Total identifiable net asse $48,42¢
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As of the date of acquisition, the fair value of #iccounts receivable that were acquired was $8li6n, consisting of a gross amount of
$23.5 million, of which $3.5 million is not expedtéo be collected.

We finalized our purchase accounting in Decembéi 26esulting in additional accrued liabilitiesgcirases in unproved properties and
adjustments to deferred tax liabilities.

The results of operations of TBNG are includedun eonsolidated results of operations beginningJur2011. The revenues and loss of
TBNG included in our consolidated statements of paghensive income (loss) for the year ended DeceBhe2011 were:

Revenue Loss
(in thousands)
Actual from June 7, 2011 through December 31, - $13,46¢ $(4,657)

Direct

On February 18, 2011, TransAtlantic Worldwide acggiDirect Petroleum Morocco, Inc. (“Direct Moro€gand Anschutz Morocco
Corporation (“Anschutz”), and our wholly owned sigtigry TransAtlantic Petroleum Cyprus Limited aagui Direct Petroleum Bulgaria
EOOD (“Direct Bulgaria”) for cash consideration®#.4 million and the issuance of 8,924,478 of mmmon shares (at a deemed price of
$3.15 per common share) to the seller, Direct Ratro Exploration, Inc. (“Direct”), in a private mament, for total consideration of $34.5
million. At the time of the acquisition, Direct M@zco and Anschutz owned a 50% working intereshén@Quezzane-Tissa and Asilah
exploration permits in Morocco, and Direct Bulgasianed 100% of the working interests in the A-Ldvend Aglen exploration permits in
Bulgaria.

The following tables summarize the consideratioi rathe acquisition of Direct Morocco, AnschutadaDirect Bulgaria and the final
recognized amounts of assets acquired and ligsilassumed which have been recognized at the dimquiate:

Consideration:

(in thousands
Cash consideration, net of purchase price adjugsnen $ 2,40¢
Issuance of 8,924,478 common shz 28,11
Contingent consideration liabilitie 4,00(
Fair value of total consideration transfer $ 34,52
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If certain post-closing milestones are achievedyiliessue additional consideration to Direct ebja (i) $10.0 million worth of our common
shares if the Devent&2 well in Bulgaria is a commercial success andb{io.0 million worth of our common shares if Dir@ulgaria receive
a production concession for a specified area im&ugh. The fair value of these contingent consitifendiabilities represents our best estimate
of the amounts to be paid as additional considmmraubsequent changes in the fair value of thérggent consideration liabilities are reflec
in our consolidated statements of comprehensivenigc(loss). The fair value of these contingent w@ration liabilities was $10.0 million at
December 31, 2012 and 2011 and the increase itotitengent consideration liabilities since the asijion date was included under the cap
“Revaluation of contingent consideration” on ounsolidated statements of comprehensive income)(fosthe year ended December 31,
2011.

Acquisitior-Related Costs

(in thousands’
Included in general and administrative expensesusrconsolidated
statements of comprehensive income (loss) for &z gnded
December 31, 201 $ 117

Recognized Amounts of Identifiable Assets AcqainedLiabilities Assumed at Acquisitic

(in thousands
Assets:
Cash $ 32C
Accounts receivabl 57
Total financial assel 377
Other current assets, consisting primarily of pigexpense 14€
Oil and natural gas propertie
Proved propertie 1,20(
Unproved propertie 32,84(
Other equipmer 79
Total oil and natural gas properties and other@gant 34,11¢
Liabilities:
Accounts payable, consisting of normal trade oliliges 122
Total identifiable net asse $ 34,52

The results of operations of Direct Morocco, Angetand Direct Bulgaria are included in our consatiéd results of operations beginning
February 18, 2011, the closing date of the acdoisit
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The amounts of revenue and loss of Direct Moroéemschutz and Direct Bulgaria included in our cordatied statements of comprehensive
income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 204 shown below:

Revenu¢ Loss
(in thousands)
Continuing operation $ 482 $(30,749 ®
Discontinued operatior — (7,027
Total from February 18, 2011 through December 81 $ 48¢ $(37,770

(1) See Note 7. Property and Equipment for a discussitime impairment of our properties in Bulga

Pro forma results of operation

The following table presents the unaudited pro foresults of operations for the year ended Dece®be2011 as though the acquisitions of
Direct Morocco, Anschutz, Direct Bulgaria and TBM&d occurred as of January 1, 2011 (in thousaxdepéper share amounts):

2011
Total revenues $ 139,99¢
Loss from continuing operations before income t¢ (82,85¢)
Loss from continuing operatiol (80,839
Loss from discontinued operatio (45,077
Net loss (125,909
Net loss per common share from continuing operat

Basic $ (0.2

Diluted $ (0.2
Net loss per common share from discontinued opeTs

Basic $ (0.12

Diluted $ (0.12

6. Goodwill

Gooduwill represents the excess of the purchase pfia business over the estimated fair value @Bfsets acquired and liabilities assumec
have goodwill on acquisitions where we anticipaedess to potential exploration and producing dppdies. All of our goodwill is
attributable to our Turkey operating segment. Gabhdvas as follows at December 31, 2012 and 2011

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Goodwill at January 1 $8,51¢ $10,34:
Foreign exchange change eff 507 (1,829
Gooduwill at December 3: $9,021 $ 8,51«
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7. Property and equipment
Oil and natural gas properties
The following table sets forth the capitalized sasthder the successful efforts method for oil aamiral gas properties:

December 31
2012 2011
(as adjusted
(in thousands)

Oil and natural gas properties, prov

Turkey $229,46. $172,91°
Bulgaria 2,03¢ 1,691
Total oil and natural gas properties, pro' 231,49¢ 174,60¢

Oil and natural gas properties, unprov
Turkey 68,93¢ 70,39:
Gross oil and natural gas propert 300,43¢ 245,00:
Accumulated depletio (74,099 (45,32)
Net oil and natural gas properti $226,33° $ 199,67:

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, we excluded $1.8omiand $7.1 million of costs, respectively, frahe depletion calculation for
development wells in progress and for costs oddieurrently not in production.

At December 31, 2012, the capitalized costs ofadluaind natural gas properties included $49.5 oiillielating to acquisition costs of proved
properties before the fourth quarter impairmentolkdare being amortized by the unit-of-productiorthod using total proved reserves and
$105.3 million relating to well costs and additibdavelopment costs which are being amortized byuthit-ofproduction method using prov
developed reserves.

At December 31, 2011, the capitalized costs ofadluaind natural gas properties included $61.8 onillielating to acquisition costs of proved
properties which are being amortized by the uniprmfduction method using total proved reserves&td0 million relating to well costs and
additional development costs which are being amedltby the unit-of-production method using provedeadoped reserves.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we indwpproximately $38.6 million in exploratory dnilj costs, of which $19.6 million was
included in exploration, abandonment and impairneapense, $11.6 million was reclassified from unptbto proved properties and $7.4
million remained capitalized at December 31, 204@proximately $4.3 million of exploratory drillingosts incurred in prior periods was
expensed to exploration, abandonment, and impairme&912. We transferred $5.0 million of our exjalmry well costs to proved properties
in 2011. Uncertainties affect the recoverabilitycosts of our oil and natural gas properties, age¢lovery of the costs are dependent upon us
maintaining licenses in good standing and achieeomgmercial production or sale.

Unproved oil and natural gas properties that adevidually significant are periodically assessedifopairment, and a loss is recognized at the
time of impairment. During the year ended Decen#ier2012, we recorded $2.7 million in impairmenarges on our proved properties
primarily due to downward revisions in natural geserves in our Alpullu field. We recorded a $8iftiam impairment on our unproved oil a
natural gas properties during the year ended Deeef3th 2012. Of this amount, $5.2 million was htitable to exploration license acquisition
costs for the Banarli License 3864. During the yaaded December 31, 2011, we recorded a $30.2millpairment on our unproved oil and
natural gas properties. Of this amount, $25.9 arillivas attributable to our Bulgarian properties. ifpaired our Bulgarian properties
following the enactment by the Bulgarian Parliamefiegislation which banned fracture stimulatiorttie Republic of Bulgaria.

Capitalized costs related to proved oil and natgaal properties, including wells and related egeipnand facilities, are evaluated for
impairment based on our analysis of undiscountagdunet cash flows. If undiscounted future nehdémsws are insufficient to recover the net
capitalized costs related to proved
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properties, then we recognize an impairment charggcome equal to the difference between the @agryalue and the estimated fair value of
the properties. We categorize the measurementrofdlue of these assets as Level 3 inputs. Estichtir values are determined using
discounted cash flow models. The discounted casth ihodels include management’s estimates of fudilrend natural gas production,
operating and development costs, and discount. fateghe year ended December 31, 2011, we recétéd million in impairment charges
on two of our proved properties in Turkey primadlye to downward revisions in natural gas reseirvése Alpullu and Edirne fields.

As of December 31, 2012, we had $4.3 million oflesgtory well costs capitalized for the Pancarkowell, which we began drilling in the
fourth quarter of 2010. After the second fractunmslation of the Pancarkoy-1 well, commercial matigas production could not be sustained
due to high water production. A third fracture stlation of the Pancarkoy-1 well was performed irriAp012, but commercial production
could not be sustained due to high water productiothe fourth quarter of 2012, we tested the afelinterval of the well. Based on the test
results, further fracture stimulation of this wiglplanned in the third quarter of 2013. In Jun&2®ased on the test results, we wrote off a
portion of the exploratory well costs related tis thvell, with only the sidetrack wellbore costs gning capitalized.

The Meneske-1 well was spud in November 2011, amtiave capitalized $2.0 million of exploratory weists as of December 31, 2012. Due
to expected high tie-in costs of the Meneske-1,wed are waiting on the test results of other ngarélls to decide whether to invest capital to
tie-in to a pipeline.

The Suleymaniye-2 well was spud in December 20Hlisibeing evaluated for artificial lift. As of Dember 31, 2012, we had capitalized
$0.8 million of drilling and completion costs fdri$ well.

The following table summarizes the costs relatetthése wells:

Total at

Year Ended December 31 Partial Decgrgbgr 31
Write- Off
2010 2011 2012 and Other 2012
(in thousands)
Pancarkoy-1 well initial re-entry and fracture sfiation (Ceylan and

Mezardere formations $ 79¢ $4,931 $1,322 $(2,747) $ 4,31
Menesk-1 well — 2,23( 144 (347) 2,027
Suleymaniy-2 well — — 797 — 797
Total capitalized cost $ 79¢ 7,161 $2,26: $ (3,089 $ 7,13

Equipment and other propert
The historical cost of equipment and other propetgsented on a gross basis with accumulated clafiom is summarized as follows:

December 31

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Other equipmer $ 2,01: $ 6,351
Inventory 20,517 19,87¢
Gas gathering system and facilit 5,36¢ 6,822
Vehicles 131 1,001
Office equipment and furnitui 7,710 5,861
Gross equipment and other prope 35,74% 39,91
Accumulated depreciatic 5,932 (4,159
Net equipment and other prope $29,81¢ $35,75¢
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We classify our materials and supply inventory|uding steel tubing and casing, as a long-termtdmsgause such materials will ultimately be
classified as a long-term asset when the mateariadéed in the drilling of a well.

At December 31, 2012, we excluded $20.5 milliommeEntory from depreciation as the inventory hatibeen placed into service.

At December 31, 2011, we excluded $0.5 million thfeo equipment, $19.9 million of inventory and $iBlion of gas gathering system and
facilities from depreciation as the equipment, meey and system and facilities had not been plaatedservice.

8. Commaodity derivative instruments

We use collar derivative contracts to economichaéigge against the variability in cash flows asgediavith the forecasted sale of a portion of
our future oil production. We have not designatezlderivative contracts as hedges for accountinggses, and accordingly, we record the
derivative contracts at fair value and recognizangfes in fair value in earnings as they occur.

To the extent that a legal right of offset exists, net the value of our derivative contracts with $ame counterparty in our consolidated
balance sheets. All of our oil derivative contraats settled based upon Arab Medium crude oil pgiciWe recognize unrealized and realized
gains and losses related to these contracts dn\afae basis in our consolidated statements offpehensive income (loss) under the caption
“Loss on commodity derivative contract&ettlements of derivative contracts are includedgerating activities on our consolidated states

of cash flows. We are required under our AmendetiRestated Credit Facility to hedge between 30%7&84 of our anticipated production
volumes in the Selmo and Arpatepe oil fields inKiyr.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, we redaxdet loss on commodity derivative contractsob$nillion, consisting of a $1.7
million unrealized loss for changes in fair valuela $3.8 million realized loss for settled contsac

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we redadeet loss on commodity derivative contracts&#$nillion, consisting of a $3.6
million unrealized loss for changes in fair valuela $4.8 million realized loss for settled contsac

At December 31, 2012, we had outstanding commafiitivative contracts with respect to our futurederwil production as set forth in the
tables below:

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments as of DecembeB1, 2012

Weighted
Weighted Average Estimated Fair
Quantity Average Maximum Price

Minimum Value of

Type Period (Bbl/day) Price (per Bbl (per Bbl) Liability
(in thousands)
Collar January 1, 20—December 31, 20: 77t $  82.2¢ $  121.3¢ $ (25%)
Collar January 1, 20—December 31, 20: 622 $  80.8: $ 118.0% (292)
$ (549
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Type

Three-way collar contrac
Three-way collar contrac
Three-way collar contrac

Collars Additional Call
Weighted
Weighted
Average Average Weighted
Minimum Maximum Average Estimated Fair
Quantity Maximum
Price Price Price Value of
Period (Bbl/day) (per Bbl) (per Bbl) (per Bbl) Liability
(in thousands)
January 1, 207—December 31, 20: 831 $8500 $97.1: $ 162.1¢ $ (3,65
January 1, 20—December 31, 20: 72¢  $8500 $97.1: $ 162.1: (2,150
January 1, 20—December 31, 20: 1,01¢ $8500C $91.8 $ 151.8¢ (2,440
$ 8,24¢)

At December 31, 2011, we had outstanding commafiitivative contracts with respect to our futurederwil production as set forth in the

tables below:

Type

Collar
Collar
Collar

Type

Three-way collar contrac
Three-way collar contrac
Three-way collar contrac
Three-way collar contrac
Three-way collar contrac
Three-way collar contrac
Three-way collar contrac

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments as of DecembeBl, 2011

Weighted
Weighted Average Estimated Fair
Quantity Average Maximum Price
Minimum Value of Asse’
Period (Bbl/day) Price (per Bbl) (per Bbl) (Liability)
(in thousands)
January 1, 20—December 31, 20: 96( $ 64.6¢ 106.9¢ $ (2,529
January 1, 20+—December 31, 20: 40C $ 75.0C 125.5( (11€)
January 1, 20+—December 31, 20: 38C $ 75.0C 124.2¢ 12
$ (2,639
Collars Additional Call
Weighted
Weighted
Average Average Weighted
Minimum Maximum Average Estimated Fair
Quantity Maximum
Price Price Price Value of
Period (Bbl/day) (per Bbl) (per Bbl) (per Bbl) Liability
(in thousands)
January 1, 20—December 31, 20: 24C $ 70.0¢ $100.0( $ 129.5( $ (764)
January 1, 20— March 31, 201 35C $ 85.0( $118.8¢ $ 138.1 (7
April 1, 201:— June 30, 201 35 $85.00 $116.28f $  137.3¢ (35)
July 1, 201—December 31, 20: 20¢ $ 85.0( $ 97.1: $ 162.1 (387)
January 1, 20—December 31, 20: 831 $8500C $97.1: $ 162.1 (1,985
January 1, 20—December 31, 20: 72¢ $8500C $97.1: $ 162.1: (626
January 1, 20—December 31, 20: 1,01¢ $8500 $ 918 $ 151.8t¢ (640
$ (4439
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9. Asset retirement obligations

As part of our development of oil and natural gaspprties, we incur asset retirement obligatiod®dR0"). Our ARO results from our
responsibility to abandon and reclaim our net sl working interest properties and facilitidsd. December 31, 2012, the net present value
of our total ARO was estimated to be $12.0 milliasith the undiscounted value being $20.2 milliootal ARO at December 31, 2012 shown
in the table below consists of amounts for fututgging and abandonment liabilities on our welllsoaad facilities based on third-party
estimates of such costs, adjusted for inflatioa &tte of approximately 5% per annum, and discaltagresent value using our credit-adjuste:
risk-free rate of 5.8% per annum for the years dridlecember 31, 2012 and 2011. The following tablarsarizes the changes in our ARO for
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011:

2012 2011
(in thousands)

Asset retirement obligation January $13,53¢ $ 6,94
Acquisitions — 6,48(
Change in estimate® (3,86¢) 51z
Liabilities settlec (110 (19%)
Foreign exchange change eff 793 (2,529
Additions 89¢ 1,17¢
Accretion expens 71C 1,142
Asset retirement obligation at December 11,95¢ 13,53¢
Less: current portio 81¢ 3,031
Long-term portion $11,14( $10,50¢

(1) For 2012, we used cost estimates provided ing-frarty engineers. For 2011 and prior years, sedwcost estimates provided by internal
engineers

10. Third-party loans payable
As of the dates indicated, our third-party debtsisted of the following:

December 31 December 31

2012 2011
(in thousands)

Third -Party Floating Rate Debt

Amended and Restated Credit Faci $ 32,76¢ $ 78,00(
Third -Party Fixed Rate Debt

TBNG credit agreemen — 7,73
Viking International equipment log — — @
Total thirc-party debt 32,76¢ 85,73:
Less: sho-term thirc-party debi — 7,732
Long-term thirc-party deb: $ 32,76¢ $ 78,00(

(1) $2.1 million outstanding at December 31, 2011,sifeex] a<”Liabilities held for sal”.

Amended and restated credit facili

On May 18, 2011, DMLP, Ltd. (“DMLP”), TransAtlantiExploration Mediterranean International Pty LtdEEMI"), Talon Exploration, Ltd.
(“Talon Exploration”), TransAtlantic Turkey, Ltd"{ransAtlantic Turkey”) and Petrogas (collectivend together with Amity, the
“Borrowers”) entered into the Amended and Rest&satlit Facility. Each of the Borrowers is our wiyaliwned subsidiary. In July 2011,
Amity executed a joinder
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agreement and became a borrower under the AmemdeBestated Credit Facility. The Amended and Regdt@redit Facility is guaranteed by
us and each of TransAtlantic Petroleum (USA) Carma TransAtlantic Worldwide.

The Amended and Restated Credit Facility maturetherearlier of (i) May 18, 2016 or (ii) the lasitd of the borrowing base calculation
period that immediately precedes the date thasén@-annual report of Standard Bank and the Borrewtetermines that the aggregate amour
of hydrocarbons to be produced from the borrowiagebassets in Turkey are less than 25% of the ambtgdrocarbons to be produced from
the borrowing base assets shown in the initial tigp@pared by Standard Bank and the Borrowers. Athended and Restated Credit Facility
bears various letter of credit sub-limits, incluglimmong other things, sub-limits of up to (i) $1Milion, (ii) the aggregate available unused
and uncancelled portion of the lenders’ commitment§ii) any amount borrowed from an individuahter to the extent it exceeds the
aggregate amount of such lender’s individual comaitt.

Loans under the Amended and Restated Credit Baaditrue interest at a rate of three-month LIBOW [1.50% per annum. The Borrowers
are also required to pay (i) a commitment fee pkeygbarterly in arrears at a per annum rate equ@)t2.20% per annum of the unused and
uncancelled portion of the aggregate commitmerasighiess than or equal to the maximum availabiewnt under the Amended and Restatec
Credit Facility, and (b) 1.10% per annum of thesediand uncancelled portion of the aggregate camenits that exceed the maximum
available amount under the Amended and RestatetitGi&cility and is not available to be borrowed,dn the date of issuance of any lette
credit, a fronting fee in an amount equal to 0.25%he original maximum amount to be drawn undehdetter of credit and (iii) a per annum
letter of credit fee for each letter of credit isdiequal to the face amount of such letter of traditiplied by (a) 1.0% for any letter of credit
that is cash collateralized or backed by a stamelibgr of credit issued by a financial institutiacceptable to Standard Bank or (b) 5.50% for a
other letters of credit.

In November 2012, we entered into an amendmemmedmended and Restated Credit Facility. The amemtiramong other things, reduced
the commitment fee rates and extended the firshaiomment reduction date from September 30, 2012d¢odinber 31, 2013. In addition, the
amendment provided for a scheduled quarterly réoluctf the commitment amount beginning on Decen®3ier2013, when the commitment
amount will be reduced to $67.5 million, and endimgMarch 31, 2016, when the commitment amountngdich zero.

Availability under the Amended and Restated CrEditility is subject to a borrowing base. The boirmibase was re-determined semi-
annually on April 1st and October 1st of each ywar to September 30, 2012, and is now re-detezthjuarterly on

January 1st, April 1st, July 1st and October 1sauth year. Following our semi-annual borrowingeb@sletermination on October 1, 2012, the
borrowing base at December 31, 2012 was $59.7amillollowing our semi-annual borrowing base redeigation on April 1, 2013, the
borrowing base is currently $56.9 million. In J&@42, we used a portion of the net proceeds frans#e of our oilfield services business to
pay down approximately $45.2 million in outstandindebtedness under the Amended and Restated Ceediity.

At December 31, 2012, we had borrowed $32.8 millinder the Amended and Restated Credit Facility.

TBNG credit agreement

TBNG was a party to an unsecured credit agreemintanturkish bank. In April 2012, we repaid thigh and terminated the TBNG credit
agreement.

Viking International equipment loan

In June 2010, Viking International entered intceawged credit agreement with a Turkish bank. Ire@il2, we repaid this loan with proceeds
from the sale of our oilfield services business.
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11. Related party loans payable
We use negotiated interest rates in determinindaineralue of our debt. As of the indicated datas; related-party debt consisted of the
following:

December 31 December 31

2012 2011
(in thousands)

Related Party Floating Rate Debi

Dalea credit agreeme $ — $ 73,00(
Dalea credit facility — —
Viking Drilling note — — @
Total related party del — 73,00(
Less: sho-term related party del — 73,00(
Long-term related party del $ — $ =

(1) $2.9 million outstanding at December 31, 2011,sifees] as“Liabilities held for sale related part”.

Dalea credit agreemer

On June 28, 2010, we entered into a credit agreewidnDalea. The purpose of the Dalea credit ages® was (i) to fund the acquisition of
of the shares of Amity and Petrogas, and (ii) feneyal corporate purposes. We had borrowed an gatgref $73.0 million pursuant to the
Dalea credit agreement as of December 31, 2011une 2012, we repaid the Dalea credit agreemehtpaitceeds from the sale of our oilfield
services business.

Dalea credit facility

On March 15, 2012, TransAtlantic Worldwide, TBNG&aFransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. entered into a $1&illion credit facility with Dalea t
provide us with additional liquidity for generalrporate purposes until we completed the sale obdfield services business. During March
2012, we borrowed a total of $11.0 million pursuanthe Dalea credit facility. In June 2012, weaielthe Dalea credit facility with proceeds
from the sale of our oilfield services business.

Viking Drilling note

On July 27, 2009, Viking International purchaseel 13 drilling rig and associated equipment froiking Drilling. Viking International paid
$1.5 million in cash for the drilling rig and en¢erinto a note payable to Viking Drilling in the aomt of $5.9 million. On February 19, 2010,
Viking International purchased the I-14 drillingand associated equipment from Viking DrillingkMig International paid $1.5 million in
cash for the t4 drilling rig and entered into an amended anthted note payable to Viking Drilling in the amowfit$11.8 million, which wa
comprised of $5.9 million payable related to tHedldrilling rig and $5.9 million payable relatedtte purchase of the I-13 drilling rig in July
2009. At December 31, 2011, the outstanding balander this note was $2.9 million. In June 2012 regid this note with proceeds from
sale of our oilfield services business.

12. Shareholders’ equity

June 2011 share issuance

On June 7, 2011, we issued 18,500,000 common shaeedeemed price of $2.05 per common share fivatg placement to an accredited
investor in connection with the acquisition of TBNG

F-28



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

February 2011 share issuance

On February 18, 2011, we issued 8,924,478 commarestat a deemed price of $3.15 per common sharerivate placement to an accred
investor in connection with the acquisition of @itr&orocco, Anschutz and Direct Bulgaria.

Restricted stock unit

Under our 2009 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “IrtoenPlan”), we award restricted stock units (“R3Umd other sharbased compensatis
to certain of our directors, officers, employeed aonsultants. Each RSU is equal in value to ormiptommon shares on the grant date. L
vesting, an award recipient is entitled to a numdderommon shares equal to the number of vestedsRBlie RSU awards can only be settled
in common shares. As a result, RSUs are classifiegfjuity. At the grant date, we make an estimfatigedforfeitures expected to occur during
the vesting period and record compensation costfrtbe estimated forfeitures, over the requis#éevice period. The current forfeiture rate is
estimated to be 10%.

Under the Incentive Plan, RSUs vest over speciiribds of time ranging from immediately to fouayg RSUs are deemed full value awards
and their value is equal to the market price ofemmmon shares on the grant date. ASC 718 reqthia¢she Incentive Plan be approved in
order to establish a grant date. Under ASC 718agipeoval date for the Incentive Plan was Febr@aB009, the date our board of directors
approved the Incentive Plan.

In connection with the sale of our oilfield senddsusiness, we accelerated the vesting of RSUanfiptoyees of this business, and we
recognized $1.0 million in share-based compensatipense during the three months ended June 3Q, Z01al share-based compensation of
approximately $3.6 million and $1.7 million withsggect to awards of RSUs was recorded for the yerated December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively. As of December 31, 2012, we had apprately $2.4 million of unrecognized compensatxpense related to unvested RSUSs,
which is expected to be recognized over a weightenlage period of 1.6 years.

The following table sets forth RSU activity for tixear ended December 31, 2012:

Weighted
Average Grant
Number of Date Fair Value

RSUs

(in thousands per RSU
Unvested RSUs outstanding at December 31, 2011 1,42¢ $ 2.61
Grantec 4,371 1.0z
Forfeited (322 2.0C
Vested (2,330 1.57
Unvested RSUs outstanding at December 31, : 3,14¢ $ 1.2¢

Stock option plar

Our Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan (2G06)“Option Plan”) terminated on June 16, 2009.qAltstanding awards issued under the
Option Plan remained in full force and effect. dfitions presently outstanding under the Option Bkare a five-year term.

The fair value of stock options is determined ughmg Black-Scholes Model and is recognized ovesstirgice period of the stock option. For
the year ended December 31, 2010, we recognized-blaged compensation expense of approximateld8@@yith respect to stock options.
All stock options were fully vested in 2010, andrifore, no share-based compensation expensebir gption awards was recorded after
2010. We did not grant any stock options duringytears ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.
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Details of the stock options under the Option RiaBecember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 are preseated.b

2012 2011 2010

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise

Number of Price Number of Price Number of Price

Options Per Options Per Options Per

(in thousands Share (in thousands Share (in thousands Share

Outstanding at January 1, 1,13¢ $ 0.91 2,111 $ 0.8¢€ 3,32¢ $ 0.8¢
Grantec — — — — — —
Expired (175) 1.0C (131) 1.3¢ — —
Exercisec (805) 0.8 (84£) 0.74 (1,217) 0.9C
Outstanding at December & 15E $ 1.2¢ 1,13¢ $ 0.91 2,111 $ 0.8€
Exercisable at December : 15E $ 1.2t 1,13¢ $ 0.91 2,111 $ 0.8¢€

The following table summarizes information aboutstending stock options at December 31, 2012:

Options Outstanding and Exercisable Weighted-Average
Options Exercisable
Weighted- Intrinsic Remaining Contractual
. Shares Average ) Value , )
(in thousands Exercise Price (in thousands’ Life (years)
155 $1.23 $— 0.44

Earnings per share

We account for earnings per share in accordandeA®SC Subtopic 260-1&arnings Per Shar€'ASC 260-10"). ASC 260-10 requires
companies to present two calculations of earnimgspare: basic and diluted. Basic earnings penaamshare for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 equals net indorited by the weighted average shares outstaralingg the periods. Weighted averz
shares outstanding are equal to the weighted agefagjl shares outstanding for the period, execlgdRSUs. Diluted earnings per common
share for the years ended December 31, 2012, 201 2G10 are computed in the same manner as basiogaper common share after
assuming the issuance of common shares for alhpally dilutive common share equivalents, whichludes stock options, RSUs and
warrants, whether exercisable or not. The comprtaif diluted earnings per common share exclude@49377, 20,752,128 and 17,799,834
antidilutive common share equivalents from the gearded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, resplgctiv
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The following table presents the basic and dilwarthings per common share computations:

2012 2011 2010

(in thousands, except per share amount: (See Note 2
Net loss from continuing operatio $ (6,379 $ (77,579 $(29,54Y
Net income (loss) from discontinued operati $ 22,61¢ $ (43,369 $(40,20))
Basic net income (loss) per common sh
Shares

Weighted average common shares outstan 367,41! 355,97: 312,48
Basic net income (loss) per common sh

Continuing operation $ (0.09) $ (0.29) $ (0.09

Discontinued operatior $ 0.0¢ $ (0.19 $ (0.19
Diluted net income (loss) per common shi
Shares

Weighted average common shares outstan 367,41! 355,97: 312,48t
Diluted net income (loss) per common shi

Continuing operation $ (0.09) $ (0.29 $ (0.09

Discontinued operatior $ 0.0¢ $ (0.1 $ (0.19

Additionally, we had a contingent liability at Denber 31, 2012 of approximately $10.0 million trepayable in our common shares. At the
December 31, 2012 closing price of our common shaés liability represented 12,048,193 commoneh¢hat could be potentially dilutive

future earnings per share calculations.

13. Income taxes

The income tax provision differs from the amourdttivould be obtained by applying the Bermuda stayuihcome tax rate of 0% (for 2012,

2011 and 2010) to loss for the year as follows:

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Statutory tax rat 0.00% 0.0(% 0.0(%
Income (loss) from continuing operations beforeme taxe: $ 11¢ $(80,13¢) $(29,80)
Increase (decrease) resulting frc
Foreign tax rate differentia 8,601 (11,179 (1,227%)
Change in valuation allowan: (2,026 6,871 58¢€
Expiration of tax no-capital loss carryovel 1,601 1,19¢ —
Other (1,699 53¢ 37¢
Total $ 6,491 $ (2,56%) $ (262

At December 31, 2012, we performed an analysisiofieferred income tax balances which resultechimaterial adjustments. The category

“Other” is primarily comprised of the true up toraleferred tax liability balance at December 31120see Note 2).
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The components of the net deferred income taxlifiglait December 31, 2012 and 2011 were as follows:

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Current deferred tax asst

Unrealized derivative los $ 78z $ 59t
Receivable! 70 601
Prepaid asse 38 —
Other 91t —
Other liabilities — 1,292
Property and equipme 58€ —
Total current deferred tax ass 2,392 2,48¢

Current deferred tax liabilitie

Foreign exchange lo: — (22
Receivable! (46) —
Prepaid asse (8 —
Other liabilities (20 (567)
Inventories — 22E
Property and equipme (429 —
Total current deferred tax liabilitie (49¢) (369
Net current deferred tax ass $ 1,89¢ $ 2,12/
Non-current deferred tax asst
Accrued liabilities and payablt $ 15C $ 53
Unrealized derivative los 97¢ 57¢€
Inventories 152 15C
Property and equipme 4,01¢ 12,19t
Non-capital loss 28,45¢ 32,28¢
Total nor-current deferred tax asst 33,75: 45,26
Valuation allowanct (29,059 (30,58)
Net nor-current deferred tax asst 4,69:¢ 14,67¢
Non-current deferred tax liabilitie
Property and equipme (21,179 (30,189
Total nor-current deferred tax liabilitie (21,17¢ (30,189
Net nor-current deferred tax liabilit $(16,489) $(15,509)

We have accumulated losses or resource-relatectti@ds available for income tax purposes in Turk®gmania, Bulgaria and the United
States. No recognition has been given in theseotioased financial statements to the future besefit may result from the utilization of
losses for income tax purposes. As of Decembe2@12, we had non-capital tax losses in Turkey pfaximately 135.0 million New Turkish
Lira (approximately $75.7 million), which began é&xpg in 2011; non-capital tax losses in Romaniapproximately 25.9 million Romanian
New Leu (approximately $7.7 million), which begatpiing in 2011; no-capital losses in Bulgaria of approximately 4.9liil Bulgarian Le\
(approximately $3.3 million), which expire commemgiin 2017; and non-capital tax losses in the Wn8tates of approximately $29.2 million,
which began expiring in 2010. At December 31, 2042 assessed the valuation allowance and deterrthiagd is properly classified against
non-current deferred tax assets.

Effective October 1, 2009, we continued to thesdiétion of Bermuda. We have determined that nesaxere payable upon the continuance.
However, our tax filing positions are still subjéotreview by taxation authorities who may sucagigsthallenge our interpretation of the
applicable tax legislation and regulations, with thsult that additional taxes could be payablasy
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We file income tax returns in the United Stategkéy, Romania, Bulgaria, Morocco and Cyprus, withkey being the only jurisdiction with
significant amounts of taxes due. Income tax regditad in Turkey for years before 2007 are no lemgubject to examination. The Turkish
Ministry of Finance has substantially completeéhdted examination of the 2010 corporate incomereaurn for our Turkish branch of TEMI,
for which we expect an unqualified opinion to bsuisd and the case to be closed without adjustmeimtgd2013.

In connection with our acquisition of Amity and Retas in August 2010, at December 31, 2012 we razed a liability of $6.3 million due to
an uncertain tax position related to the transfé?airogas shares to Amity prior to the acquisitcmprised of taxes of $3.9 million and
interest and penalties of $2.4 million. Howeverguant to the Amity share purchase agreement, asdemnified from any tax liability
arising in Turkey or Australia as a result of trensfer of the Petrogas shares for a period obixtyears from the sale date at an amount
50% of the purchase price of $96.3 million. Therefave have recorded a corresponding receivablg&@ million in other long-term assets.

As of December 31, 2012, there were no materiabdam tax positions for which the total amountsiofecognized tax benefits will
significantly increase or decrease within the riexmonths.
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14. Segment information
In accordance with ASC 288egment ReportinASC 280"), we have three reportable geographgnsents: Romania, Turkey and Bulgaria.
Summarized financial information from continuingeogtions concerning our geographic segments isslimwhe following tables:

Corporate Romania Turkey Bulgaria Total
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31, 2(

Total revenue: $ — $ — $143,65( $ 25€ $143,90¢
Production 71 98 17,32¢ 307 17,80¢
Exploration, abandonment and impairm — 28t 39,70¢ — 39,99:
Cost of purchased natural ¢ — — 7,694 — 7,69/
Seismic and other exploratic 231 73 4,72¢ 10 5,04(
General and administrati 10,74¢ 234 20,60: 2,362 33,941
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 30 — 28,09: 93 28,21:
Accretion of asset retirement obligatic — — 67¢ 31 71C
Total costs and expens 11,08( 69C 118,83( 2,80: 133,40:
Operating (loss) incom (112,080 (690) 24,82( (2,545 10,50¢
Interest and other expen (1,890 — (6,450 — (8,340
Interest and other incon 301 7 2,11( — 2,41¢
Loss on commodity derivative contra — — (5,549 — (5,54%)
Foreign exchange gain (los 182 (104) 1,05¢ (50) 1,08:
Income (loss) before income tax (12,48¢) (787) 15,98¢ (2,595 11¢
Income tax provisiol — — (6,49)) — (6,49])
Net income (loss $(12,48¢) $ (787 $ 9,49t $ (2,59 $ (6,379
Total assets as of December 31, 2 $ 14,82¢ $ 10t $339,75: $ 1,95i $356,63(W
Goodwill as of December 31, 20 $ — $ — $ 9,021 $ — $ 9,021
Capital expenditure $ — $ — $ 80,957 $ 867 $ 81,82«
For the year ended December 31, 2((see Note 2

Total revenue: $ 66 $ — $128,35¢ $ 488 $128,90!
Production 322 37 17,48¢ 632 18,47:
Exploration, abandonment and impairm — 2 37,00¢ 23,94 60,95:
Cost of purchased natural ¢ — — 2,64t — 2,64t
Seismic and other exploratic 1,022 77¢ 9,651 84 11,54:
Revaluation of contingent considerati — — — 6,00( 6,00(
General and administrati 14,30¢ 40t 21,58t 6 36,30¢
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 96 31 38,38¢ 492 39,00¢
Accretion of asset retirement obligatic — — 1,131 11 1,14
Total costs and expens 15,74¢ 1,25¢ 127,89¢ 31,16% 176,06!
Operating (loss) incom (15,687 (1,259 457 (30,689 (47,169
Interest and other (expense) inca (7,250 46€ (6,87¢) (©)] (13,665
Interest and other incon 15 12 914 14¢ 1,08¢
Loss on commodity derivative contra — — (8,426 — (8,426
Foreign exchange gain (los 16 (39 (11,740 (210 (11,977
Loss before income tax (22,907 (81%) (25,677) (30,749 (80,139
Income tax benefi — — 2,56¢ — 2,56¢
Net loss $(22,90) $ (81F)  $(23,10¢  $(30,749)  $(77,579)
Total assets as of December 31, 2 $ 2,83 $ 881 $313,75: $ 4,16¢ $321,634V
Goodwill as of December 31, 20 $ — $ — $ 8,51¢ $ — $ 8,51«
Capital expenditure $ — $ — $117,07: $ 35,36¢ $152,44(
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Corporate Romania Turkey Bulgaria Total
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31, 2(

Total revenue $ 18z $ — $ 70,67 $ — $ 70,85¢
Production 85 58 20,14: — 20,28¢
Exploration, abandonment and impairm 84 5,18 7,42¢ — 12,69:
Seismic and other exploratic 2,70( 873 13,31( — 16,88
General and administrati 11,99¢ 36E 13,68t — 26,04¢
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat 124 27 13,841 — 13,99¢
Accretion of asset retirement obligatic — — 47C — 47C
Total costs and expens 14,99: 6,50¢ 68,88( — 90,37:
Operating (loss) incom (14,810 (6,505 1,792 — (19,529
Interest and other expen (4,596 — (2,459) — (7,05%)
Interest and other incon 10¢ 2 162 — 267
Loss on commodity derivative contra — — (1,629 — (1,629
Foreign exchange lot (299 (6) (1,567 — (1,872)
Loss before income taxi (19,607) (6,509) (3,69¢) — (29,80
Provision for income taxe — — 262 — 262
Net loss $(19,607)  $(6,509 $ (343H) $ — $(29,54)
Total assets as of December 31, 2 $ 44,03¢ $ 3,46¢ $299,08t $ — $346,581W
Goodwill as of December 31, 20 $ — $ — $ 10,34: $ — $ 10,34:
Capital expenditure $ — $ — $170,31° $ — $170,31°

(1) Excludes assets from our discontinued Moroagerations and oilfield services business of $lilbom, $127.2 million, and $127.4
million at December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, retbpyg.

15. Financial instruments
Interest rate risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk as a reswltiofariable rate short-term cash holdings anddwgngs under the Amended and Restated
Credit Facility.

Foreign currency risk

We have underlying foreign currency exchange raposure. Our currency exposures relate to trarmactienominated in the Canadian
Dollar, Bulgarian Lev, European Union Euro, Romaridew Leu, Moroccan Dirham and New Turkish Lira. @e also subject to foreign
currency exposures resulting from translating tireefional currency of our subsidiary financial staents into the U.S. Dollar reporting
currency. We have not used foreign currency forveamatracts to manage exchange rate fluctuation®etember 31, 2012, we had

20.4 million New Turkish Lira (approximately $11nllion) in cash and cash equivalents, which expageto exchange rate risk based on
fluctuations in the value of the New Turkish Lira.

Commodity price risk

We are exposed to fluctuations in commodity priceil and natural gas. Commodity prices are dffddy many factors, including but not
limited to, supply and demand. At December 31, 282 2011, we were a party to commodity derivativetracts.
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Concentration of credit risk

The majority of our receivables are within thearld natural gas industry, primarily from our indygiartners and from government agencies.
Included in receivables are amounts due from TerKgtrolleri Anonim Ortakligi (“TPAQ”), the natiohail company of Turkey, Zorlu Dogal
Gaz Ithalat Ihracat ve Toptan Ticaret A.S. (“Zojld privately owned natural gas distributor in Keyr, and Turkiye Petrol Refinerileri 8.
(“TUPRAS"), a privately owned oil refinery in Turiewhich purchase the majority of our oil and nat@gas production. The receivables are
not collateralized. To date, we have experiencedmal bad debts and have no allowance for doubffubunts. The majority of our cash and
cash equivalents are held by three financial mistihs in the United States and Turkey.

Fair value measurements

Cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accouydbleaand accrued liabilities were each estimatdthte a fair value approximating the
carrying amount at December 31, 2012 and 2011altleetshort maturity of those instruments. Indetsd under the Amended and Restated
Credit Facility was estimated to have a fair vaperoximating the carrying amount at December B122and 2011 since the interest rate is
generally market sensitive.

The financial assets and liabilities measured oecarring basis at December 31, 2012 and 2011 stealsof our commodity derivative
contracts. Fair values for options are based onteoparty market prices. The counterparties us&etatandard valuation methodologies
incorporating market inputs for volatility and rifilee interest rates in arriving at a fair valuedach option contract. Prices are verified by us
using analytical tools. There are no performandmgations related to the call options purchaseldeidge our oil production.

We utilize independent third-party pricing servitesletermine the fair values of derivative consaghe independent third-party determines
fair values using models based on a range of ohbkmarket inputs, including pricing models, qdatearket prices of publicly traded
securities with similar duration and yield, timdue yield curve, prepayment speeds, default mtesdiscounted cash flow and the values for
these contracts are disclosed in Level 2 of theviue hierarchy. Generally, we obtain a singiegor quote per instrument from independent
third parties to assist in establishing the falueaof these contracts. We review prices receivenhfservice providers for unusual fluctuations
to ensure that the prices represent a reasonabieaés of fair value, but generally accept the gsitdentified from the independent third-party.

The following table summarizes the valuation of fimancial assets and liabilities as of December2812:

Fair Value Measurement Classification

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets ot Significant Other Significant
Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs
Liabilities
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(in thousands)
Liabilities:
Commaodity derivative
contracts $ — $ (8,790 $ — $(8,790)

Total $ = $ (8,790 $ = $(8,790)
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The following table summarizes the valuation of fimancial assets and liabilities as of December281.1:

Fair Value Measurement Classification

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets ot Significant Other Significant
Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs
Liabilities
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(in thousands)
Liabilities:
Commaodity derivative
contracts $ — $ (7,079 $ — $(7,07))
Total $ — $ (7,079 $ — $(7,07))
16. Commitments
Our aggregate annual commitments, other than dshidf December 31, 2012 were as follows:
Payments Due by Yeal
Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter
(in thousands)
Leases and oth $9,16( $3,267 $1,41t $1,41f $43€ $— $ 2,627

Normal operations purchase arrangements are extfooi® the table as they are discretionary or beedormed under contracts which
cancelable immediately or with a 30-day notice queri

We lease office space in Dallas, Texas, Bulgarthurkey. We also lease apartments in Turkey arith®as well as operations yards in
Turkey.

17. Contingency

We are involved in litigation with persons who atedwnership of a portion of the surface at the ®ehihfield in Turkey. These cases are
being vigorously defended by TEMI and Turkish gawaental authorities. We do not have enough infoionab estimate the potential
additional operating costs we would incur in thergwthe purported surface owners’ claims are utiétgasuccessful. Any adjustment arising
out of the claims will be recorded when it becompesbable and measurable.

In the second quarter of 2012, we were notified tiha Moroccan government may seek to recover appedely $5.5 million in contractual
obligations under our Tselfat exploration permitrkvprogram. At December 31, 2012, we had a $1.0anibank guarantee in place to ensure
our performance of the Tselfat exploration pernotkvprogram. The Moroccan government drew dowrbtingk guarantee in full on

February 28, 2013. Although we plan to pursue tesaent with the Moroccan government for a lesseoant, we recorded $5.0 million in
accrued liabilities relating to our Tselfat explitwa permit during the second quarter of 2012 fas tontractual obligation.

In the second quarter of 2012, we were notified the Bulgarian government may seek to recoveramately $2.0 million in contractual
obligations under our Aglen exploration permit wprogram. Due to the Bulgarian government’s Jan@aty? ban on fracture stimulation and
related activities, a force majeure event undetehms of the exploration permit was recognizedhgygovernment. Although we invoked fo
majeure, we have recorded $2.0 million in genemdl @ministrative expense relating to our Aglenlesggion permit during the second quai
of 2012 for this contractual obligation.

Pursuant to the purchase agreement with Direct0%h@lion worth of our common shares would be duee have not completed certain
obligations regarding the drilling the Deventci-R2ll and the coring of the Etropole
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shale formation. A $10.0 million provision for thisntingency was accrued at December 31, 2011wantthve included the expense in our
consolidated statements of comprehensive inconss)(for the year ended December 31, 2011.

18. Related party transactions
Equity transactions

On September 1, 2010, we issued 7,300,000 comnae glirchase warrants to Dalea pursuant to thealzdedit Agreement. The common
share purchase warrants are exercisable until ®éetel, 2013 and have an exercise price of $6.08hze.

Sale of oilfield services busine:

On June 13, 2012, we closed the sale of our d@lelrvices business, which was substantially caagrof our wholly owned subsidiaries
Viking International and Viking Geophysical, todirjt venture owned by Dalea and funds advised bypéjdnvestment Management Limited
for an aggregate purchase price of $168.5 milldmmsisting of approximately $157.0 million in casid a $11.5 million promissory note from
Dalea. The promissory note is payable five yeamnfthe date of issuance or earlier upon the ocooeref certain specified events, including
an initial public offering by the joint venture. Op the consummation of an initial public offering the joint venture and the prior approval of
Dalea, we can elect to convert the outstandingnisalaf the promissory note, including accrued gggrinto the number of shares offered ir
initial public offering equal to such outstandingldnce divided by the per share purchase pricelpaitie public in the initial public offering.
The promissory note bears interest at a rate 86368r annum and is guaranteed by Mr. Mitchell.

Service transaction

Effective May 1, 2008, we entered into a serviceeament, as amended (the “Service Agreement”), kotigfellow Energy, LP
(“Longfellow™), Viking Drilling, MedOil Supply, LLCand Riata Management, LLC (“Riata Management”). Mitchell and his wife own
100% of Riata Management. In addition, Mr. Mitchglk wife and his children indirectly own 100%Llafngfellow. Riata Management owns
100% of MedOil Supply, LLC. Dalea owns 85% of Vigilrilling. Under the terms of the Service Agreemeve pay, or are paid, for the
actual cost of the services rendered plus the botsa of reasonable expenses on a monthly basis.

On December 15, 2009, Viking International enténtéd an Agreement for Management Services (“ManagerServices Agreement”) with
Viking Drilling. Pursuant to the Management Sergidgreement, which was amended on August 5, 20ikng/International agreed to
provide management, marketing, storage and perksangdces (collectively, the “Rig Services”) fraime to time as requested by Viking
Drilling for the operation of certain rigs owned Wiking Drilling that are located in Turkey. Thigi@ement was terminated on June 13, 2012
due to the sale of our oilfield services business.

On June 1, 2010, Viking International entered miease agreement under which it leased spacéofage, maintenance, and staging of
material and equipment for oilfield services and/ises related to oil and natural gas drilling, lexation, development, geological or
geophysical activities or oilfield infrastructurepgemises owned by Gundem. This agreement wasrtated on June 13, 2012 due to the sale
of our oilfield services business.

On August 5, 2010, Viking International enterediah Agreement for Management Services (“MaritasiSes Agreement”) with Maritas

A.S. (“Maritas”). Pursuant to the Maritas Servidageement, Viking International agreed to providemagement, marketing and personnel
services (collectively, the “Maritas Rig ServicefYm time to time as requested by Maritas fordperation of a drilling rig owned by
MAANBE LLC and located in Irag. MAANBE LLC is indéctly owned by Mr. Mitchell and his children. Mr.itehell indirectly owns 50% of
Maritas. Under the terms of the Maritas Serviceseggent, Maritas paid Viking International for afitual costs and expenses associated wit
the provision of the Maritas Rig Services. Thisesgnent was terminated on June 13, 2012 due tath@tour oilfield services business.
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On September 28, 2010, Viking International enténéalan Agreement for Management Services (the S\&2rvices Agreement”) with

Viking Petrol Sahasi Hizmetleri A.S. (“VOS”). VOS indirectly owned by Mr. Mitchell. Pursuant to ti®S Services Agreement, Viking
International agreed to provide management, mangesitorage and personnel services from time te imrequested by VOS for the operatior
of certain equipment owned by VOS that is locatediurkey. This agreement was terminated on Jun2d1® due to the sale of our oilfield
services business.

Effective January 1, 2011, our wholly-owned sulzsigi TEMI, entered into an accommodation agreeraedéer which it leased rooms, flats
and office space at a resort hotel owned by Guntigrnzm Yatirim ve Isletme A.S. (“Gundem?”), a Turkisompany controlled by

Mr. Mitchell. Under the accommodation agreementiMTieases 6 rooms at the hotel and pays the NewiShutira equivalent of $6,000 per
month.

On June 6, 2011, we granted a 1.0% overriding tpyaderest to Marhat Marmara Borv Hatlari Ins. Mdtaahh.san. Tic. Ltd. sti (“Marhat”).
Mustafa Yavuz, our former chief operating officisra 0.1% owner of Marhat. For the year ended Déee81, 2012, we paid $532,000 in
overriding royalties to Marhat.

On June 13, 2012, we entered into separate mastaces agreements with each of Viking Internatiod®S and Viking Geophysical in
connection with the sale of our oilfield servicesimess to a joint venture owned by Dalea and fumaisaged by Abraaj Investment
Management Limited. Pursuant to the master seragesements with Viking International and VOS, we entitled to receive certain oilfield
services and materials, including, but not limiteddrilling rigs and fracture stimulation that areeded for our operations in Bulgaria and
Turkey. Pursuant to the master services agreemigmiiking Geophysical, we are also entitled toaie geophysical services and materials
that are needed for our operations in those camtEach master services agreement is for a figetgem. Currently, we can contract for
services and materials on a firm basis and, t@xtent that we do not contract for all of theingees or materials, Viking International, VOS
and Viking Geophysical are allowed to contract witind parties for any remaining capacity.

On June 13, 2012, we entered into a transitionasss\agreement with Viking Services Management, (iliking Management”) in

connection with the sale of our oilfield servicesimess to a joint venture owned by Dalea and fumaisaged by Abraaj Investment
Management Limited. Pursuant to the transitionises/agreement, we agreed to provide certain adtrative services, including, but not
limited to, continued use of certain of our empleyand independent contractors, a guarantee aba fer flats in Turkey, Turkish tax or legal
advice and services, office space in Istanbul, @urknformation technology support and certainwaft or licenses to Viking Management. In
addition, Viking Management agreed to cause itsislidiries to provide us with the continued useestain office space in Tekirdag, Turkey.
the third quarter of 2012, we entered into an addento the transition services agreement wherekinyiManagement agreed to cause its
subsidiaries to provide us with the continued Useedain equipment yards in the Thrace Basin argbuthwestern Turkey. The transition
services agreement has a two-year term. Viking dament agreed to use commercially reasonable etimeliminate its need for such
services as soon as practicable following the @ntoythe agreement.

For the years ended December 31, 2012 and 201lihcwmed capital and operating expenditures of $ndllion and $26.2 million,
respectively, related to our various related pagseements.
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The following table summarizes related party act®ueceivable and accounts payable as of Decembh@032 and December 31, 2011:

December 31 December 31

2012 2011
(in thousands)

Related party accounts receivab

Viking International master services agreern $ 31: $ —

Dalea promissory nof 10€ —
Total related party accounts receiva $ 41¢ $ —

Related party accounts payab

Viking International master services agreern $ 15,46° $ —

Marhat 281 —

Riata Management Service Agreem 167 323
Total related party accounts paya $ 15,91¢ $ 32:

The following table summarizes related party acteueceivable held for sale and related party atsopayable held for sale as of
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011:

December 31 December 31

2012 2011
(in thousands)

Related party accounts receivab

Maritas Services Agreeme $ — $ 251

VOS Services Agreeme — 11€
Total related party accounts receivable held fte $ — $ 367

Related party accounts payab

Management Services Agreem: $ — $ 92

VOS Services Agreeme — 617

Gundem lease agreeme — 36
Total related party accounts payable held for $ — $ 74E
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19. Quarterly results of operations (unaudited)

The results of operations by quarter for the yeaded December 31, 2012 and 2011 were as follows:
Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31)
(in thousands, except per share date

For the year ended December 31, 2012 (see N

2):
Revenue: $ 36,67 $ 34,42¢ $ 34,81 $ 37,99:
Net income (loss (3,627 25,10¢ 6,99¢ (12,227
Comprehensive income (los 9,73¢ 26,24’ 10,14( (7,659
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per commo

share® $ 0.0C $ 0.0z $ 0.0C $ (0.09)
For the year ended December 31, 2011 (see N

2):
Revenue: $ 29,07¢ $ 31,52: $ 33,50¢ $ 34,79¢
Net loss (21,49 (21,300 (6,412 (71,739
Comprehensive los (19,289 (33,906 (44,687) (75,135
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl® $ (0.09 $ (0.0]) $ (0.0)) $ (0.1¢)

(1) The sum of the individual quarterly net lossoamts per share may not agree with year-to-datosstper share as each quarterly
computation is based on the net income or losthtrquarter and the weigh-average number of shares outstanding during theten

(2) The fourth quarter of 2011 includes a $44.7iarlimpairment charge related to certain of owved and unproved oil and natural gas
properties

During the second and third quarters of 2012, weatified and corrected errors that originated inmpperiods consisting mainly of accrued
liabilities that should have been recorded in ppieriods, errors in foreign currency gain/loss rasueement, inappropriate recognition of
receivable balances and other minor correctionis imitmaterial impact to other miscellaneous accauis concluded that the errors were not
material to any of the previously reported period$o the periods in which the errors were cormcldhe impact of correcting the errors
resulted in a decrease to our net loss of $1.2amiind an increase to our comprehensive incon$® @ million for the three months ended
March 31, 2012. The impact of correcting the erresulted in an increase to net income of $2.2ionilhnd an increase to our comprehensive
income of $3.0 million for the three months endede]30, 2012.

During the fourth quarter of 2011, we identifiedeanor related to our foreign exchange gain (ldisa) originated in prior periods and
concluded that the error was not material to anhefpreviously reported periods or to the periodhich the error was corrected. The impact
of the error resulted in an increase to our net aist5.1 million and a decrease to our compreherisss of $0.9 million for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2011. This immaternat ®as corrected in our third quarter of 2011 Itssof operations.

During the fourth quarter of 2012, as explainedlate 2, we identified and corrected errors thagiogted in prior periods that were not
material to the year ended December 31, 2012, pret@iously reported interim periods. The impactha errors resulted in a decrease in our
net loss for the fourth quarter of 2012 of appreediety $3.6 million, which includes the impact ofas relating to 2011 discussed in Note 2.
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20. Discontinued operations
Discontinued operations in Morocc

On June 27, 2011, we decided to discontinue ouratipes in Morocco. We have transferred our oitfisérvices equipment from Morocco to
Turkey and have substantially completed the prootssnding down our operations in Morocco. We havesented the Moroccan segment
operating results as discontinued operations fqrealods presented.

Discontinued operations of oilfield services busas

On June 13, 2012, we closed the sale of our dlelrvices business, which was substantially caagrof our wholly owned subsidiaries
Viking International and Viking Geophysical, todirjt venture owned by Dalea and funds advised bypéjdnvestment Management Limited
for an aggregate purchase price of $168.5 milll@msisting of approximately $157.0 million in casid a $11.5 million promissory note from
Dalea. The transaction was approved by a speamhttiee of our board of directors after the receia fairness opinion solely for the benefit
of the special committee, which was subject toater@ssumptions and limitations as provided in saygihion. The promissory note is payable
five years from the date of issuance or earliemugh@ occurrence of certain specified events, @inly an initial public offering by the joint
venture. Upon the consummation of an initial pubfi@ring by the joint venture and the prior apmbef Dalea, we can elect to convert the
outstanding balance of the promissory note, inclgdiccrued interest, into the number of sharegeaxdfen the initial public offering equal to
such outstanding balance divided by the per shamehpse price paid by the public in the initial heibffering. The promissory note bears
interest at a rate of 3.0% per annum and is gueedrtby Mr. Mitchell. We used a portion of the netqeeds from the sale to pay off our
$73.0 million credit agreement with Dalea, our $lrillion credit facility with Dalea, our $0.9 miin promissory note with Viking Drilling
and our $1.8 million credit agreement with a Tunkank. In addition, we used a portion of the metpeds from the sale of our oilfield
services business to pay down approximately $4%5IBmin outstanding indebtedness under our Amehaed Restated Credit Facility. We
have presented the oilfield services segment dpgregsults as discontinued operations for thes/eaded December 31, 2012 and 2011.

The assets and liabilities held for sale at DecerBlhe2012 and 2011 were as follows:

December 31 December 31

2012 2011
(See Note 2

(in thousands)

Cash $ 93 $ 1,18t
Receivables, ne¢ — 8,09¢
Property and equipment, r — 114,52
Other asset 1,52¢ 3,36z
Total assets held for se $ 1,61¢ $ 127,16¢
Liabilities held for sal—related part $ — $ 3,67
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 8,41¢ 22,18:
Total liabilities held for sal $ 8,41¢ $ 25,86«
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Our operating results from discontinued operationshe years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and &@lsummarized as follows:

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Total revenue: $ 19,95¢ $ 28,41¢ $ 14,70¢

Total costs and expens (24,687) (70,265 (55,167)

Total other (expense) incon (357) 2,73 983

Loss from discontinued operations before incomeg (5,089 (39,119 (39,470
Gain on disposal of discontinued operati 35,99¢ — —
Income tax provisiol (8,297 (4,25%) (730

Net income (loss) from discontinued operati $ 22,61¢ $(43,369) $(40,20))

21. Supplemental oil and natural gas reserves andasidardized measure information (unaudited)
Oil and natural gas reserves

Users of this information should be aware thatteeess of estimating quantities of proved and gdadeveloped oil and natural gas reserv
very complex, requiring significant subjective dagans in the evaluation of all available geologieaigineering and economic data for each
reservoir. The data for a given reservoir also gfeange substantially over time as a result of noogfactors, including additional
development activity, evolving production historydacontinual reassessment of the viability of paitun under varying economic conditions.
Consequently, revisions to existing reserve es@satay occur from time to time. Although every oeeble effort is made to ensure reserve
estimates reported represent the most accuratesassets possible, the subjective decisions andn@as in available data for various
reservoirs make these estimates generally lessspréan other estimates included in the finarst@tement disclosures.

Proved reserves are those quantities of oil angralagas that by analysis of geoscience and engiriedata can be estimated with reasonable
certainty to be economically producible—from a givdate forward, from known reservoirs, and undésteyg economic conditions, operating
methods and government regulations—prior to the ttwhich contracts providing the right to opeatpire, unless evidence indicates that
renewal is reasonably certain, regardless of whetbirministic or probabilistic methods are usattiie estimation. The project to extract the
hydrocarbons must have commenced or the operatstrmeureasonably certain that it will commencegtaect within a reasonable time. We
engaged DeGolyer & MacNaughton to prepare our vesegstimates comprising 100% of our estimatedgurogserves (by volume) at
December 31, 2012.

The following unaudited schedules are presented@ordance with required disclosures about oilraatdral gas producing activities to
provide users with a common base for preparingnesés of future cash flows and comparing reserresmg companies.

Substantially all of our proved reserves are lat@teT urkey, and all prices are held constant icoadance with SEC rules.

The 12-month average prices of oil and naturalfga2012, 2011 and 2010 used to estimate resereeshawn in the table below.

12-Month
Average Price
Qil Gas
2012 $108.6¢ $8.74
2011 $108.0( $7.1¢
2010 $ 79.0( $7.77
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The following table sets forth our estimated netved reserves (natural gas converted to Mboe hdidiy Mmcf by six), including changes
therein, and proved developed reserves:

Disclosure of reserve quantitie

Natural Gas
Oll Total
(Mbls) (Mmcf) (Mboe)
Total proved reserves
December 31, 200 10,42¢ 7,33¢ 11,64¢
Acquisitions 1 13,987 2,33
Extensions and discoveri — 1,92: 321
Revisions of previous estimat 3,19¢ 883 3,34¢
Production (690 (1,709 (975)
December 31, 201 12,93¢ 22,42! 16,67
Acquisitions 1 5,62( 93¢
Extensions and discoveri 33 46€ 111
Revisions of previous estimat (869) (10,63 (2,63¢)
Production (891) (4,657) (1,667)
December 31, 201 11,21¢ 13,22 13,41¢
Extensions and discoveri 1,79¢ 3,05¢ 2,30
Revisions of previous estimat (2,559 427 (2,489
Production (949) (4,23%) (1,65%)
December 31, 201 9,501 12,46 11,57¢
Proved developed reserve
December 31, 201
Proved developed producil 4,77¢ 7,82( 6,07¢
Proved developed n-producing 81z 8,741 2,27(
Total 5,58¢ 16,56 8,34¢
December 31, 201
Proved developed produci 4,28¢ 6,56/ 5,37¢
Proved developed n-producing 1,08¢ 3,95¢ 1,74¢
Total 5,37: 10,52( 7,12¢
December 31, 201
Proved developed producil 4,22 5,22¢ 5,09z
Proved developed n-producing 91C 2,881 1,391
Total 5,13 8,11¢ 6,48¢
Proved developed reserve
As of December 31, 201 5,58¢ 16,56: 8,34¢
As of December 31, 201 5,37t 10,52( 7,12¢€
As of December 31, 201 5,132 8,11¢ 6,48¢
Proved undeveloped reserve
As of December 31, 201 7,34¢ 5,86t 8,32¢
As of December 31, 201 5,84: 2,70: 6,29:
As of December 31, 201 4,36¢ 4,34¢ 5,094
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Standardized measure of discounted future net célslwvs

The standardized measure of discounted futureasdt ffows relating to estimated proved reservesf &ecember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 ar
shown in the table below.

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Future cash inflow $1,141,23. $1,306,84. $1,197,74
Future production cos (305,819 (246,56¢) (300,34)
Future development cos (93,267 (63,80%) (80,25%)
Future income tax expen (106,41) (171,59) (143,000
Future net cash flown 635,74. 824,88: 674,13¢
10% annual discount for estimated timing of casivd (199,869 (293,08¢) (235,77)
Standardized measure of discounted future netftash relatec

to proved reserve $ 435,87 $ 531,79 $ 438,36

Changes in the standardized measure of discountgdre net cash flows

The following are the principal sources of chanigethe standardized measure of discounted futureash flows applicable to proved oil and
natural gas reserves for the years ended Decenmb&032, 2011 and 2010.

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Standardized measure, Januar $531,79° $ 438,36° $250,00¢
Net change in sales and transfer prices and inugtah (lifting)

costs related to future producti (52,279 244.98( 53,00:
Changes in future estimated development ¢ (52,029 (34,40) (63,040
Sales and transfers of oil and natural gas duhiegperioc (151,749 (108,91) (50,037
Net change due to extensions and discovi 107,69« 5,68¢ 11,321
Net change due to purchases of minerals in — 48,01° 79,47¢
Net change due to revisions in quantity estim (116,367 (134,99) 121,10:
Previously estimated development costs incurrethduhe perioc 50,81( 54,94: 29,65¢
Accretion of discoun 64,58¢ 52,25 31,24¢
Other 11,16: (15,604 7,471
Net change in income tax 42,24¢ (18,53) (31,85)
Standardized measure, December $ 435,87 $ 531,79 $438,36°
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Capitalized costs related to oil and natural gasgucing activities
Our capitalized costs for oil and natural gas prige consisted of the following:

Turkey Other
(in thousands)

As of December 31, 20:
Oil and natural gas properti
Proved $229,46: $2,03¢
Unproved 68,93¢ —
Total oil and natural gas properti 298,40( 2,03¢
Less accumulated depleti (73,589 (510
Net oil and natural gas properties capitalized<s $224,81: $1,52¢
As of December 31, 20:
Oil and natural gas properti
Proved $172,91 $1,691
Unproved 70,39: —
Total oil and natural gas properti 243,31( 1,691
Less accumulated depleti (44,870) (457)
Net oil and natural gas properties capitalizeds $198,44( $1,23¢
As of December 31, 20:
Oil and natural gas properti
Proved $150,40° $ —
Unproved 73,66 6,50¢
Total oil and natural gas properti 224,06¢ 6,50¢
Less accumulated depleti (14,36() —
Net oil and natural gas properties capitalizeds $209,70¢ $6,50¢
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68,93¢
300,43¢
(74,099
$226,33"

$174,60¢
70,39:
245,00:
(45,32)
$199,67

$150,40°
80,16
230,57¢
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Costs incurred in oil and natural gas property adgition, exploration and development
Costs incurred in oil and natural gas property @&stijon, exploration and development activities floe years ended December 31, 2012, 2011
and 2010 are summarized as follows:

Turkey Other Total
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31, 2(
Acquisitions of propertie

Proved $ — $ — $ —
Unproved — — —
Exploration 36,46¢ — 36,46¢
Developmen 43,824 867 44,69
Total costs incurre $ 80,28¢ $ 867 $ 81,15¢

For the year ended December 31, 2(
Acquisitions of propertie

Proved $ 14,52¢ $ 1,20C $ 15,72¢
Unproved 16,13 25,84( 41,97
Exploration 22,53¢ — 22,53¢
Developmen 52,71. 192 52,90:
Total costs incurre $105,90: $27,23: $133,13:

For the year ended December 31, 2(
Acquisitions of propertie

Proved $ 53,99 $ — $ 53,99
Unproved 49,01% — 49,01%
Exploration 31,45 28,37: 59,82¢
Developmen 37,19¢ — 37,19¢
Total costs incurre $171,66: $28,37" $200,04:

F-47



Table of Contents
Index to Financial Statements

Results of operations for oil and natural gas procing activities (unaudited
Our results of operations from oil and natural gaslucing activities for each of the years endeddbeber 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 are show
in the following table:

Turkey Other Total
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 31, 2(

Revenue! $133,93( $ 18¢ $134,11:
Expenses
Production cost 17,32¢ 47€ 17,80«
Exploration, abandonment and impairm 39,70¢ 28t 39,99:
Seismic and other exploratic 4,72¢ 314 5,04(
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expel 28,09: 12: 28,21t
Total expense 89,85« 1,19¢ 91,052
Income (loss) before income tax 44,07¢ (1,015) 43,06!
Income tax provisiol (6,49)) — (6,49))
Results of operations for oil and natural gas pcotlyactivities

(excluding corporate overhead and interest ci $ 37,58¢ $ (1,019 $ 36,57(
For the year ended December 31, 2(
Revenue! $123,67: $ 49C $124,16:
Expenses
Production cost 17,48¢ 991 18,47¢
Exploration, abandonment and impairm 37,00¢ 23,944 60,95:
Seismic and other exploratic 9,651 1,88t 11,542
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expel 38,38¢ 61¢ 39,00¢
Total expense 102,53¢ 27,43¢ 129,97
Income (loss) before income tax 21,134 (26,949 (5,81%)
Income tax benefi 2,56¢ — 2,56¢
Results of operations for oil and natural gas pcotlyactivities

(excluding corporate overhead and interest c $ 23,69¢ $(26,949) $ (3,250
For the year ended December 31, 2(
Revenue! $ 69,657 $ 182 $ 69,83¢
Expenses
Production cost 20,20 85 20,28¢
Exploration, abandonment and impairm 7,42¢ 5,26¢ 12,69
Seismic and other exploratic 14,29¢ 2,58¢ 16,88:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expel 13,85¢ 13¢ 13,99¢
Total expense 55,78 8,07t 63,85¢
Income (loss) before income tax 13,87« (7,897 5,981
Income tax benefi 1,104 — 1,104
Results of operations for oil and natural gas pcotlyactivities

(excluding corporate overhead and interest ci $ 14,97¢ $ (7,897 $ 7,08t
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Exhibit 10.22
AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

This AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (thiA\mendment”) is entered into as of November 21, 2012, by andrey
(1) AMITY OIL INTERNATIONAL PTY LTD, a company orgaized and existing under the laws of Australiaiity” ); (2) DMLP, LTD., a
Bahamas international business compatiy\LP” ); (3) PETROGAS PETROL GAZ VE PETROKIMYA URUNLERNSAAT SANAYI
VE TICARET AS., a Turkish joint stock companyRetrogas”); (4) TALON EXPLORATION, LTD., a Bahamas internaial business
company (‘Talon” ); (5) TRANSATLANTIC EXPLORATION MEDITERRANEAN INTERNATIONAL PTY. LTD., an Australian
proprietary company‘TEMI” ); (6) TRANSATLANTIC TURKEY, LTD., a Bahamas inteational business companyTT” , and, together
with Amity, DMLP, Petrogas, Talon and TEMI, thgorrowers” ); (7) TRANSATLANTIC PETROLEUM LTD., a Bermuda exéted
company with limited liability (théParent” ); (8) TRANSATLANTIC PETROLEUM (USA) CORP., a Delanre corporation {TP USA” );
(9) TRANSATLANTIC WORLDWIDE, LTD., a Bahamas corgaion (“TW” , and, together with the Parent and TP USA, thitial
Guarantors”); (10) each of the lenders party hereto from timeéme (the'Lenders” ); and (11) STANDARD BANK PLC, as administrative
agent (in such capacity, thadministrative Agent”), as collateral agent (in such capacity,‘@Bellateral Agent” ) and as technical agent (in
such capacity, the Technical Agent’ ).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Initial Guarantors, the Borrowers, ltleeders, the Agents and the LC Issuer are pddidsat certain Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of May 18, 284 Amended, pursuant to Amendment No. 1 to CAgplgement, dated as of August 4,
2011, and as further amended pursuant to AmendN@r to Credit Agreement, dated as of SeptembgpQ41, the'Credit Agreement”).

WHEREAS, the Borrowers desire that certain provisiof the Credit Agreement be amended and comgiwaiitt certain provisions of
the Credit Agreement be waived, and the Administeaf\gent and the Lenders party hereto are wiltimggree to such amendments and
waivers on the terms and subject to the conditsatgorth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises mitual covenants herein and for other good ahdhbate consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledgédut parties hereto agree as follows:

SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION
1.1 Definitions. Unless the context otherwise requires, capitdltzems used but not defined herein shall haventbsanings given to the
in the Credit Agreement.

1.2 Interpretation This Amendment shall be construed and interprietegtcordance with the rules of construction eghfin Section 1 ¢
the Credit Agreement.



SECTION 2. AMENDMENT
Subject to the conditions precedent set forth ictiSe 5, the Credit Agreement shall be amended as follows:

2.1 Amended and Restated Defined Teri@ection 1.1 of the Credit Agreement shall be adedrby amending and restating the defined
terms “Commitment Fee Rate’, “Commitment Reduction Amount” and “Commitment Reduction Date” in their entirety as follows:

“ Commitment Fee Rate’ means, at any time:

(a) 2.20% per annummultiplied by an amount equal to the unused anénoeelled portion of the aggregate Commitments w
is less than or equal to the Maximum Available Amio{and is available to be borrowed at such tiraayi

(b) 1.10% per annunmultiplied by an amount equal to the unused anénecelled portion of the aggregate Commitments (if
any) that exceeds the Maximum Available Amount (snaot available to be borrowed at such tir”

“ Commitment Reduction Amount” means, on each Commitment Reduction Date ocauirireach month set forth below,
the amount set forth opposite such month:

End of Perioc Commitment Amour
December 2013 $ 67,500,00
March 2014 $ 60,000,00
June 201« $ 52,000,00
September 201 $ 45,000,00
December 201 $ 37,500,00
March 2015 $ 30,000,00
June 201! $ 22,500,00
September 201 $  15,000,00
December 201 $ 7,500,001
March 201€ $ 0



“ Commitment Reduction Date” means:
(8) the last day of each Fiscal Quarter, commencing @&cember 31, 2013; a
(b)  the Maturity Date
provided thaif any Commitment Reduction Date would otherwidéda a day that is not a Business Day, such Comanit
Reduction Date shall instead occur on the preceirginess Day.”
2.2 Amended Defined TermsSection 1.1 of the Credit Agreement shall be atedrby deleting clause (i) of the defined term Kisin
Security Documents” in its entirety and replacingith the following:

“(i) in accordance witlSection 7.12(e, a pledge agreement in respect of all of the sigtithe Borrowers under their Hydrocarbon
Licenses in Turkey that are Borrowing Base As”

2.3 Mandatory Commitment ReductioBection 2.6(b) of the Credit Agreement shall meaded and restated in its entirety as follows:

“(b) Mandatory. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein.each Commitment Reduction Date, the aggregate
Commitments of all Lenders then in effect shalpeemanently reduced to an amount equal to the Comeni Reduction Amount
in respect of such Commitment Reduction Date {dha amount of the aggregate Commitments at so@his less than the
Commitment Reduction Amount, an amount equal td SLemmitments). Each such reduction shall be agpptieeach Lender’s
Commitment in accordance with its Pro Rata Shaseielh time, and shall take effect without any fertaction on the part of such
Lender, any Borrower, any Obligor, any SecuredyPartany other Person.”

2.4 Annual Financial StatementSection 7.1(a) of the Credit Agreement shall ineraded and restated in its entirety as follows:

“(@ Annual Financial Statements. The Borrowers shall deliver to the Administrativgent (with sufficient copies for each
Lender) a copy of (i) the audited consolidated hedasheet of the Parent and the related auditezsblidated statements of
income and of cash flows for each Fiscal Year as ss available, but in any event within one huddned five (105) days
after the end of the Fiscal Year ending Decembef310 and within ninety (90) days after the enéaxth other Fiscal Ye:
and (ii) the unaudited Combined balance sheeteoBitrrowers (which shall include their Subsidiaries at the end of each
Fiscal Year and the related unaudited Combineémimtts of income and of cash flows for such Fi¥ear as soon as
available, but in any event within one hundred sinty five (165) days after the end of the FiscahY ending December 31,
2010 and within one hundred and twenty (120) détgs the end of each other Fiscal Year, in the cd4g setting forth in
comparative form the figures for the previous Histear, reported on without a going conc
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or like qualification or exception, or qualificati@rising out of the scope of the audit, by KPMGLbr another “Big Four”
US firm of independent certified public accountastiserwise reasonably acceptable to the Adminiggatgent, and in the
case of (ii) setting forth in comparative form figures for the previous Fiscal Year, certifieddiResponsible Officer of the
Borrowers as fairly stated in all material respeatsl reviewed by KPMG LLP or such other “Big FolS firm of
independent certified public accountants otherwésesonably acceptable to the Administrative A(’

2.5 Additional Collateral Section 7.12(e) of the Credit Agreement shakhimended and restated in its entirety as follows:

“(e)

Turkish Hydrocarbon Licenses. If, due to either a change in market practic&BPA practice or policy or the introducti
of or any change in or in the interpretation of &pplicable Law or guidelines or requests of theR#Dafter the Closing
Date, the GDPA accepts for registration pledgeements in respect of the rights of debtors unddrdoarbon licenses, the
Borrowers shall within sixty (60) days after su¢tange (or such later date as the Collateral Ageyt agree to in writing)
execute a Turkish Security Document in respecheif tHydrocarbon Licenses in Turkey that are BoinpaBase Assets.
The Borrowers shall promptly submit such TurkisleiB&y Document for registration with the GDPA asttall provide the
Collateral Agent with written evidence from the GB#hat such Turkish Security Document has been sitdsairfor
registration with the GDP/”

2.6 Investments Section 8.7(g) of the Credit Agreement shall eaded and restated in its entirety as follows”

“(9)

loans to the Parent or TW made by any Borrower fsoich Borrower’s Residual Excess Casfoyvided that(i) the Majority
Lenders shall be reasonably satisfied, based omtst recent Banking Case delivered umdRTICLE 3, that such
Borrower will have sufficient working capital torfd its operations and meet the development plaeg@h case, as forecast
in such Banking Case) for the twelve (12) monthqukafter the extension of any such loan, (ii)rajhts of such Borrower
respect of any such loan are subject to a Sedutigyest and (i) no Default or Event of Defaulstaccurred and is
continuing, or could reasonably be expected to oasla result of, the making of any such I”

2.7 Indemnified MattersSection 11.10 of the Credit Agreement shall berraied and restated in its entirety as follows:

“ 11.10 Indemnified Matters. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in tAigreement, the Agents may not include as

of any amount payable to it undgection 11.9 Section 12.5and/orSection 12.6 a sum representing the cost to such Agent in
terms of management time and other resources esdclibn the basis of daily or hourly rates.”
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SECTION 3. NO AMENDMENT FEE

Each of the Agents and the Lenders party heretadghesnders constituting the Majority Lenders) a&geand the Administrative Agent
hereby acknowledges such agreement, that the Bersoshall not be required to pay any fee to anyndgeany Lender solely as considera
for entering into this Amendment.

SECTION 4. AFFIRMATION

The Initial Guarantors hereby consent and agremdoacknowledge and affirm the terms of this AmeaaimThe Initial Guarantors
hereby further agree that their respective guaeanidigations under Article 10 of the Credit Agremrhshall remain in full force and effect and
be unaffected hereby.

SECTION 5. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

The amendments referred to in Sectighall become effective if this Amendment shall hbeen executed by the Initial Guarantors, the
Borrowers, the Lenders and the Administrative Agerd counterparts hereof as so executed shallldeare delivered to the Administrative
Agent.

SECTION 6. MISCELLANEOUS

6.1 Representations and Warranti&ch Obligor, by signing below, hereby represantswarrants to the Agents, the LC Issuer, and tf
Lenders as follows:

(a) it is duly organized, validly existing and inag standing (if such concept exists under the laivts jurisdiction of organizatior
under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization;

(b) the execution, delivery, and performance of thinendment and the consummation of the transactiontemplated hereby
(i) are within its corporate powers, (ii) have bakhy authorized by all necessary corporate acfi@hdo not contravene its constitutior
documents or any applicable law or any of its aettral obligations, and (iv) will not result in theeation or imposition of any Lien
prohibited by the Credit Agreement;

(c) no consent, order, authorization, or approvalther action by, and no notice to or filing wilny Governmental Authority or
any other Person is required for its due execudimhdelivery of this Amendment, the performancésbbligations hereunder or the
consummation of the transactions contemplated kereb

(d) it has duly executed and delivered this Amenuend upon satisfaction of the conditions sehfar Section Jbove, this
Amendment constitutes its legal, valid, and bindibjgation, enforceable against it in accordandé its terms, except as such
enforceability may be limited by any applicable kaptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratoriumsonilar law affecting creditors’
rights generally and by general principles of equit



(e) both before and after giving effect to this Adment, no Default or Event of Default has occuard is continuing or would
result from the consummation of the transactiomgaroplated by this Amendment; and

(f) to the extent not already made above, eachebther representations and warranties set forffrticle 6 of the Credit
Agreement is true and correct in all material retpas of the date hereof (unless stated to retdédy to an earlier date, in which case
such representation or warranty shall be true anckct in all material respects as of such eadéate).

6.2 Waiver of Claims Each Obligor hereby waives and releases eadtedfeénders, the LC Issuer and the Agents and tbgjrective
directors, officers, employees, attorneys, af@géaand subsidiaries from any and all claims, dffs#¢fenses and counterclaims of which it is
aware that currently exist and can now be assésteztiuce or eliminate all or any part of the osligns of such Obligor to the Lenders, the LC
Issuer and the Agents as provided in the Loan Deciisn such waiver and release being made wittkfigilvledge and understanding of the
circumstances and effect thereof and after havimgaited legal counsel with respect thereto.

6.3 ExpensedAs provided in Section 11.10 and Section 12.5 ef@nedit Agreement, but without limiting any terorsprovisions
thereof, each Obligor agrees to pay on demandeasdionable costs and expenses incurred by the fAmeobdnnection with the preparation,
negotiation, and execution of this Amendment, idialg without limitation the reasonable costs aresfef the Agentdegal counsel, regardle
of whether this Amendment becomes effective in edanace with the terms hereof.

6.4 Credit Agreement Unaffecte@ach reference to the Credit Agreement herein any other Loan Document shall hereafter be
construed as a reference to the Credit Agreememtinasnded hereby. Except as herein otherwise spabjfprovided, all provisions of the
Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents séiadhin in full force and effect and be unaffedtedeby. This Amendment is a Loan
Document.

6.5 Entire AgreementThis Amendment, together with the Credit Agreetad the other Loan Documents, integrates altehas and
conditions mentioned herein and supersedes alfepatsentations and negotiations and prior wistiwgh respect to the subject matter hereof

6.6 CounterpartsThis Amendment may be executed in any numbeouofiterparts, by different parties hereto in sepacatinterparts
and by facsimile signature, each of which whenxareted and delivered shall be deemed to be amatignd all of which taken together shall
constitute but one and the same agreement.

6.7 Governing Law THIS AMENDMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OFTHE PARTIES HEREUNDER SHALL BE
GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCAMNCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.
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6.8 Submission to JurisdictioiEACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY CONSENTS TO THE EX@SIVE JURISDICTION OF
ANY UNITED STATES FEDERAL OR NEW YORK STATE COURTISTING IN NEW YORK CITY, AND APPELLATE COURTS
FROM ANY THEREOF, IN ANY LITIGATION OR OTHER PROCHEING BASED HEREON, OR ARISING OUT OF, UNDER, OR IN
CONNECTION WITH, ANY LOAN DOCUMENT, OR ANY COURSE © CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING, STATEMENTS
(WHETHER ORAL OR WRITTEN) OR ACTIONS OF AN AGENT, AENDER OR THE LC ISSUER OR AN OBLIGOR IN
CONNECTION HEREWITH OR THEREWITH; PROVIDEDTHAT NOTHING HEREIN SHALL LIMIT THE RIGHT OF AN AGENT, A
LENDER OR THE LC ISSUER TO BRING PROCEEDINGS AGAIR&N OBLIGOR IN THE COURTS OF ANY OTHER
JURISDICTION.

6.9 Jury Trial Waiver THE PARTIES HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY WAIVE TO THE
FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW ANY RIGHTS THEY MAYHAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY
LITIGATION BASED HEREON, OR ARISING OUT OF, UNDERDR IN CONNECTION WITH, THIS AMENDMENT, OR ANY
COURSE OF CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING, STATEMENTS W®THER ORAL OR WRITTEN) OR ACTIONS OF THE PARTIES
IN CONNECTION HEREWITH. EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES ANIAGREES THAT IT HAS RECEIVED FULL AND SUFFICIENT
CONSIDERATION FOR THIS PROVISION AND THAT THIS PRASION IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT FOR THE PARTIES TO
ENTER INTO THIS AMENDMENT.

[Remainder of page left blank intentionally.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendment has been dulscexed and delivered as of the date first writteova.

AMITY OIL INTERNATIONAL PTY LTD. ,asa
Borrower

By:  /s/ Wil F. Saqueto

Name: Wil F. Saquetor
Title: Director

DMLP, LTD. , as a Borrowe

By: /s/ Wil F. Saqueto

Name: Wil F. Saquetor
Title: Vice Presiden

PETROGAS PETROL GAZ VE

PETROKIMYA URUNLERI 1INSAAT SANAYI VE
TICARET A. S., as a Borrowe

By:  /s/ Wil F. Saqueto

Name: Wil F. Saquetor
Title: Director

TALON EXPLORATION, LTD. , as a Borrowe

By:  /s/ Wil F. Saqueto

Name: Wil F. Saquetor
Title: Vice Presiden

TRANSATLANTIC EXPLORATION

MEDITERRANEAN INTERNATIONAL PTY. LTD.
, as a Borrowe

By: /s/ Wil F. Saqueto

Name: Wil F. Saquetor
Title: Director

SIGNATURE P AGE TOA MENDMENT N 0. 370 C REDIT A GREEMENT



TRANSATLANTIC TURKEY, LTD. , as a Borrowe

By: /s/ Wil F. Saqueto
Name: Wil F. Saquetor
Title: Vice Presiden

TRANSATLANTIC PETROLEUM LTD ,asa
Guarantol

By:  /s/ Wil F. Saqueto
Name: Wil F. Saquetor
Title: Vice Presiden

TRANSATLANTIC PETROLEUM (USA) CORP , as
a Guaranto

By:  /s/ Wil F. Saqueto
Name: Wil F. Saquetor
Title: Presiden

TRANSATLANTIC WORLDWIDE, LTD. ,asa
Guarantol

By: /s/ Wil F. Saqueto
Name: Wil F. Saquetor
Title: Presiden

SIGNATURE P AGE TOA MENDMENT N 0. 370 C REDIT A GREEMENT



STANDARD BANK PLC , as Administrative Ager

By: /s/ Ola Busar

Name: Ola Busari
Title: Senior Manage

By: /s/ Zakia Mannal

Name: Zakia Mannar
Title: Senior Manage

STANDARD BANK PLC , as Collateral Ager

By: /s/ Ola Busar

Name: Ola Busatri
Title: Senior Manage

By:  /s/ Zakia Mannal

Name: Zakia Mannar
Title: Senior Manage

STANDARD BANK PLC , as Technical Ager

By:  /s/ Aurelie Tar

Name: Aurelie Tan
Title: Senior Manage

By: /s/ Alistair Reid

Name: Alistair Reid
Title: Senior Vice Presider

SIGNATURE P AGE TOA MENDMENT N 0. 370 C REDIT A GREEMENT



STANDARD BANK PLC , as a Lende

By: /s/ Aurelie Tar

Name: Aurelie Tan
Title: Senior Manage

By: /s/ Alistair Reid

Name: Alistair Reid
Title: Senior Vice Presidel

BNP PARIBAS (SUISSE) SA, as a Lende

By: /s/ F.X. Reignie

Name: F.X. Reignier
Title:

By: /s/ Adrien Bouche

Name: Adrien Bouche
Title:

SIGNATURE P AGE TOA MENDMENT N 0. 370 C REDIT A GREEMENT



Subsidiaries of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.

Subsidiary
Amity Oil International Pty Ltd

Incremental Petroleum Pty L

TransAtlantic Australia Pty Lt

TransAtlantic Exploration Mediterranean InternatibRty Ltd
TransAtlantic (Holdings) Australia Pty L
Anschutz Morocco Corporatic

Direct Petroleum Morocco, In

DMLP, Ltd.

Talon Exploration, Ltd

TransAtlantic Maroc, Ltd

TransAtlantic Turkey, Ltd

TransAtlantic Worldwide, Ltd

TransAtlantic Holdings, Ltd

Longe Energy Limitec

Thrace Basin Natural Gas (Turkiye) Corporat
Direct Petroleum Bulgaria EOO
TransAtlantic Petroleum Cyprus Limit
TransAtlantic Petroleum (USA) Cor

MOS Viking SARL

TransAtlantic Worldwide Romania SF

May 15, 2013

Petrogas Petrol Gaz ve Petrokemya Urunleri Insaaa@ve Ticaret A.S

EXHIBIT 21.1

Jurisdiction of Incorporatio

Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Bahamas
Bahamas
Bahamas
Bahamas
Bahamas
Bahamas
Bahamas
Bahamas
Bermuda
British Virgin Islands
Bulgaria
Cyprus
Delaware
Morocco
Romania
Turkey



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors
TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrélggstration statement (No. 333-162814) on Foreh@-TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. (the
“Company”) of our reports dated May 15, 2013, witspect to the consolidated balance sheets of Atimamsic Petroleum Ltd as of
December 31, 2012, and the related consolidatéenséats of comprehensive income (loss), equity,casth flows for the year ended
December 31, 2012, and all related financial statérachedules, and the effectiveness of internatabover financial reporting as of
December 31, 2012, which reports appear in the ibbee 31, 2012 annual report on Form 10-K of Trafes#ic Petroleum Ltd.

Our report dated May 15, 2013, on the effectiveméssternal control over financial reporting asldxécember 31, 2012, expresses an opinion
that the Company did not maintain effective intéaatrol over financial reporting as of Decembér 3012 because of the effect of material
weaknesses on the achievement of the objectiviieafontrol criteria and contains an explanatomagaph that states that the following
material weaknesses were identified and includedanagement’s assessment in Item 9A of the Compddgtember 31, 2012 Annual Report
on Form 10-K:

. The Company has not maintained a sufficient compterof qualified personnel with U.S. GAAP knowledgel expertise, which
resulted in the ineffective design or operatiothef Compan’s internal controls over significant account baémand estimate

. The Company’s management review and approval dsntrere not complete and comprehensive and noatipgrat a sufficient
level of precision, to prevent or detect materiédstatements in the Compé's financial statement

. The Company has not designed and implemented isfdoternal controls around the accounting for8ijas properties
. The Company has not designed and implemented iefdoternal controls over income tax provisio
. The Company has not designed and implemented ie#doternal controls over significant n-routine transaction:

. The Company has not designed and implemented ieffembntrols over remeasurement and translatiats dbreign entity account
balances

KPMG LLP
/sl KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
May 15, 2013



Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors of TransAtlantic Petrateutd.

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrRbgistration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 3838114) of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.
of our report dated March 23, 2012 (except for Nbtated May 15, 2013) on the consolidated balaheet of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.
at December 31, 2011, and the consolidated statsroénomprehensive income (loss), equity and dlasys for each of the years in the two-
year period ended December 31, 2011, which reppears in the Form -K of TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. for the year eddDecember 31,
2012.

/s! KPMG LLP
Chartered Accountants

Calgary, Canada
May 15, 2013



Exhibit 23.3

DeGolyer and MacNaughton
5001 Spring Valley Road
Suite 800 East

Dallas, Texas 75244

May 14, 2013

TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.
16803 Dallas Parkway, Suite 200
Addison, Texas 75001

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We hereby consent to references to DeGolyer and\ldlaghton as an independent petroleum engineerimgutting firm under the
heading “Glossary of Selected Oil and Natural Gasrig”, “Part |. — Item 1. Business” and “Part ltenh 2. Properties” of the Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 26fl2ZransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. (“TransAtlantic® be filed with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission on or about May 14, 2013 (&mtial Report”), including any amendments therata) to the inclusion of our third-
party letter report dated February 28, 2013, cairigiour opinion on the proved, probable and pdssiserves attributable to certain
properties owned by TransAtlantic as of Decembe2B12.

We hereby further consent to the incorporationdfgnence of the foregoing in the Registration $tatet on Form S-8 (No. 333-162814)
of TransAtlantic.

Very truly yours,
/s DeGOLYER and MaCNAUGHTOI

DeGOLYER and MacNAUGHTOT!
Texas Registered Engineering Fir-716



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, N. Malone Mitchell, 3¢ , certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fKransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dén#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglaring, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeagisclosure controls and procedures and presémthd report our conclusions abi
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intexl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anaave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

May 15, 2013 /s/ N. MALONE M ITCHELL , 3™
N. Malone Mitchell, zrd
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Wil F. Saqueton, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fKransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dén#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoreaused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglaring, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeagisclosure controls and procedures and presémthd report our conclusions abi
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation; an

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig's internal control over financial reportirttat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intexl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anaave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

May 15, 2013 /sl WIL F. SAQUETON
Wil F. Saqueton
Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 104KansAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. (the “Company”) fiie year ended December 31,
2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange C@sion on the date hereof (the “Form 10-K”), I,Malone Mitchell, 3rd, Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant®U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 9f@itecbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to
the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Form 10-K fully complies with the requirente of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitiestzage Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Form 10-K liapresents, in all material respects, the findnmadition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: May 15, 2013 /s| N. MALONE M ITCHELL , 3
N. Malone Mitchell, &d
Chief Executive Office

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to TransAtldPeiroleum Ltd. and will be retained
by TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and furnished te 8ecurities and Exchange Commission or its smohuequest.

The foregoing certification is being furnished aseahibit to the Form 10-K pursuant to Item 60182)(of Regulation S-K and
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (scttiens (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 6Bitté 18, United States Code) and,
accordingly, is not being filed as part of the FdrerK for purposes of Section 18 of the Securiigshange Act of 1934, as amended, and is
not incorporated by reference into any filing of tiompany, whether made before or after the datoheegardless of any general
incorporation language in such filing.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 104KTmansAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. (the “Company”) fine year ended December 31,
2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cision on the date hereof (the “Form 10-K;)Wil F. Saqueton, Chief Financial Officer
the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.8§.C350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Saskarkey Act of 2002, that to the best of
my knowledge:

(1) The Form 10-K fully complies with the requirent& of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitiestzxme Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Form 10-K lfajpresents, in all material respects, the findnmadition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: May 15, 2013 /sl WiL F. SAQUETON

Wil F. Saquetor
Chief Financial Office

A signed original of this written statement reqdil®y Section 906 has been provided to TransAtldPgicoleum Ltd. and will be retained
by TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd. and furnished te 8ecurities and Exchange Commission or its smohuequest.

The foregoing certification is being furnished aseahibit to the Form 10-K pursuant to Item 60188)(of Regulation S-K and
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (sctisns (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 6Bitté 18, United States Code) and,
accordingly, is not being filed as part of the FdrtaK for purposes of Section 18 of the Securiigshange Act of 1934, as amended, and is
not incorporated by reference into any filing of tiompany, whether made before or after the datoheegardless of any general
incorporation language in such filing.



Exhibit 99.1

D EG OLYERAND M AC N AUGHTON
5001 SPRINGV ALLEY R 0AD
SuITte 800 EAsT
D ALLAS , T ExASs 75244

This is a digital representation of a DeGolyer MfatNaughton report.

This file is intended to be a manifestation of artdata in the subject report and as such aresttg the same conditions thereof. The
information and data contained in this file mayshéject to misinterpretation; therefore, the sigaed bound copy of this report should be
considered the only authoritative source of suébrination.

DeGoLYER

MacC N ALGHTOMN

F-716
TEXAS REGISTERED ENGINEERING FIRM



D E G OLYER AND M AC N AUGHTON
5001 SPRINGV ALLEY R 0AD
Suite 800 EAsT
D ALLAS , TEXAS 75244

February 28, 2013

TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltd.
16803 Dallas Parkway, Suite 200
Addison, Texas 75001

Gentlemen:

Pursuant to your request, we have conducted apémaient evaluation, completed on February 28, 2@1$srve as a reserves audit of
the extent and value of the proved, probable, asdiple oil, natural gas, and condensate resessesf, December 31, 2012, of certain
properties owned by TransAtlantic Petroleum Ltda@&Atlantic) in Turkey and Bulgaria. TransAtlartias represented that these properties
account for 100 percent, on a net equivalent baasis, of TransAtlantic’'s net proved, probable] possible reserves, as of December 31,
2012. The net proved, probable, and possible rese¥stimates prepared by us have been preparedardance with the reserves definition
Rules 4-10(a) (1)-(32) of Regulation S-X of the 8eties and Exchange Commission (SEC) of the UrBtdes. This report was prepared in
accordance with guidelines specified in Iltem 128)28) of Regulation S-K and is to be used for isun in certain SEC filings by
TransAtlantic.

Gross reserves are defined as the total estimateolgum to be produced from these properties Bigmember 31, 2012. Net reserves
defined as that portion of the gross reservedattible to the interests owned by TransAtlantieradieducting interests owned by others. Only
net reserves are reported herein.

Gas reserves estimated herein are expressed agjaaléSales gas is defined as that portion dbtaégas produced from the reservoir
after reduction for shrinkage resulting from fiskeparation, processing, fuel use, and flare aveikabbe delivered into a gas pipeline for sale.
Gas reserves are expressed at a temperature BB8elejrees Fahrenheit (°F) and at a pressureolbd<e70 pounds per square inch absolute
(psia). Oil and condensate reserves estimatedrhareithose to be recovered by conventional legzsaration



D EG OLYER ANDM AC N AUGHTON

Values of proved, probable, and possible resefvess herein are expressed in terms of estimatedegross revenue, future net
revenue, and present worth. Future gross reverthatisevenue which will accrue to the appraiseerasts from the production and sale of the
estimated net reserves plus net profits (whereieglge). Future net revenue is defined as the éuguoss revenue less direct operating
expenses, capital costs, abandonment costs, apdafiés, where applicable. Direct operating exgenisiclude field operating expenses,
transportation expenses, compression charges,raaifbaation of overhead that directly relates toduction activities. Future income tax
expenses were not taken into account in the préparaf these estimates. Present worth is defirseftitre net revenue discounted at a
specified arbitrary discount rate compounded mgrlier the expected period of realization.

Estimates of oil, natural gas, and condensatevesand future net revenue should be regardedasndstimates that may change as
further production history and additional infornmatibecome available. Not only are such reserveserghue estimates based on that
information which is currently available, but suedtimates are also subject to the uncertaintiesré@mtt in the application of judgmental factors
in interpreting such information.

Data used in this audit were obtained from reviexith TransAtlantic personnel, from TransAtlantitefi, from records on file with the
appropriate regulatory agencies, and from publicsss. In the preparation of this report we haliedewithout independent verification, upon
such information furnished by TransAtlantic witlspect to property interests, production from sudperties, current costs of operation and
development, current prices for production, agragmeelating to current and future operations aid sf production, and various other
information and data that were accepted as repiexef field examination of the properties was cansidered necessary for the purposes of
this report.

Methodology and Procedures

Estimates of reserves were prepared by the usgpobpriate geologic, petroleum engineering, anduaten principles and techniques
that are in accordance with practices generallggeized by the petroleum industry as presenteldarptiblication of the Society of Petroleum
Engineers entitled “Standards Pertaining to thantading and Auditing of Oil and Gas Reserves

2
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Information (Revision as of February 19, 2007).€Thethod or combination of methods used in theyaisabf each reservoir was tempered by
experience with similar reservoirs, stage of depelent, quality and completeness of basic datapesdiction history.

When applicable, the volumetric method was usesktonate the original oil in place (OOIP) and thigioal gas in place (OGIP).
Structure and isopach maps were constructed tmastireservoir volume. Electrical logs, radioatyiogs, core analyses, and other available
data were used to prepare these maps as wellea$intate representative values for porosity aneémssturation. When adequate data were
available and when circumstances justified, mdtbatnce and other engineering methods were asestimate OOIP or OGIP.

Estimates of ultimate recovery were obtained afpiying recovery factors to OOIP or OGIP. Thesmvery factors were based on
consideration of the type of energy inherent inréservoirs, analyses of the petroleum, the stracpositions of the properties, and the
production histories. When applicable, materiabbak and other engineering methods were useditoagstrecovery factors. In such case, an
analysis of reservoir performance, including prdaurcrate, reservoir pressure, and gas-oil ratlwalbr, was used in the estimation of
reserves.

For depletion-type reservoirs or those whose perémce disclosed a reliable decline in producing-tiends or other diagnostic
characteristics, reserves were estimated by thiécapipn of appropriate decline curves or otherfgenance relationships. In the analyses of
production-decline curves, reserves were estimagdto the limits of economic production or to tivait of the production licenses as
appropriate.

The fields have been grouped into three asset grbaged on economic considerations: the ThracerBadural Gas Company (TBNG
asset group, the TransAtlantic core (TAT) assetigrand the Edirne asset group (composed of Edletty. All fields are subject to a royalty
of 12.5 percent. The TBNGC asset group is subgeantadditional 1.0-percent overriding royalty mnet&, except for Alibey field which has a
0.5-percent overriding royalty interest. Certairllgvare also subject to a net profits interest pebcent. Net reserves quantities reported herei
reflect the appropriate quantity reductions foralby interests and overriding royalty interestsyadl as the quantity reduction yielded from the
calculated revenue associated with the net prpéiyable.
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Definition of Reserves

Petroleum reserves included in this report aresifiad by degree of proof as proved, probable,amsfble. Reserves classifications used
in this report are in accordance with the resededmitions of Rules 4-10(a) (I)-(32) of RegulatiBaX of the SEC. Reserves are judged to be
economically producible in future years from knoreservoirs under existing economic and operatinglitions and assuming continuation of
current regulatory practices using conventionatipotion methods and equipment. In the analysesaafyztion-decline curves, reserves were
estimated only to the limit of economic rates ajgarction under existing economic and operating it using prices and costs consistent
with the effective date of this report, includingnsideration of changes in existing prices providely by contractual arrangements but not
including escalations based upon future conditidhg petroleum reserves are classified as follows:

Proved oil and gas reservesProved oil and gas reserves are those quantitieis and gas, which, by analysis of geoscience and
engineering data, can be estimated with reasomaiainty to be economically producible—from a gidate forward, from known
reservoirs, and under existing economic conditiopgrating methods, and government regulations—+poithe time at which contracts
providing the right to operate expire, unless enaeindicates that renewal is reasonably certagandless of whether deterministic or
probabilistic methods are used for the estimafidre project to extract the hydrocarbons must hawensenced or the operator must be
reasonably certain that it will commence the proyeithin a reasonable time.

(i) The area of the reservoir considered as pravelddes: (A) The area identified by drilling anhited by fluid contacts, if any,
and (B) Adjacent undrilled portions of the resentbat can, with reasonable certainty, be judgduoeteontinuous with it and to
contain economically producible oil or gas on tlsib of available geoscience and engineering data.

(ii) In the absence of data on fluid contacts, paquantities in a reservoir are limited by thedstwknown hydrocarbons (LKH) as
seen in a well penetration unless geoscience, eadiry, or performance data and reliable technotsggblishes a lower contact
with reasonable certainty.
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(iii) Where direct observation from well penetraisohas defined a highest known oil (HKO) elevatod the potential exists for an
associated gas cap, proved oil reserves may bgnaskin the structurally higher portions of thesresir only if geoscience,
engineering, or performance data and reliable t@ldgy establish the higher contact with reasonabtéainty.

(iv) Reserves which can be produced economicailtyuiiph application of improved recovery techniquesl(ding, but not limited

to, fluid injection) are included in the proved sdéication when:

(A) Successful testing by a pilot project in anaaoé the reservoir with properties no more favagahln in the reservoir as a whole,
the operation of an installed program in the resielmr an analogous reservoir, or other evidenaegusliable technology
establishes the reasonable certainty of the engitteanalysis on which the project or program wasdal; and (B) The project has
been approved for development by all necessaryegaahd entities, including governmental entities.

(v) Existing economic conditions include prices aodts at which economic producibility from a reséris to be determined. The
price shall be the average price during thevidhth period prior to the ending date of the pedodered by the report, determinet
an unweighted arithmetic average of the first-d&yhe-month price for each month within such periodless prices are defined by
contractual arrangements, excluding escalationsdbagon future conditions.

Probable reserves Probable reserves are those additional resemaggite less certain to be recovered than prowssives but which,
together with proved reserves, are as likely agmbe recovered.
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(i) When deterministic methods are used, it iSkadyl as not that actual remaining quantities rered will exceed the sum of
estimated proved plus probable reserves. When bilidiec methods are used, there should be at ke&8% probability that the
actual quantities recovered will equal or exceedpioved plus probable reserves estimates.

(ii) Probable reserves may be assigned to areasaxfervoir adjacent to proved reserves whereateti#ol or interpretations of
available data are less certain, even if the imédegl reservoir continuity of structure or produityi does not meet the reasonable
certainty criterion. Probable reserves may be assigo areas that are structurally higher tharptbged area if these areas are in
communication with the proved reservaoir.

(iii) Probable reserves estimates also includeni@ikincremental quantities associated with a grepercentage recovery of the
hydrocarbons in place than assumed for provedveser

(iv) See also guidelines in paragraphs (iv) aniid¢fithe definition of possible reserves.
Possible reserves Possible reserves are those additional resemaésatte less certain to be recovered than prolvebéaves.

(i) When deterministic methods are used, the ahtities ultimately recovered from a project havew probability of exceeding
proved plus probable plus possible reserves. Whetmgpilistic methods are used, there should beaat la 10% probability that the
total quantities ultimately recovered will equalexceed the proved plus probable plus possiblewesestimates.

(ii) Possible reserves may be assigned to areaseaxervoir adjacent to probable reserves wheeeatsitrol and interpretations of
available data are progressively less certain.Uestly, this will be in areas where geoscienceemgineering data are unable to
define clearly the area and vertical limits of coemaial production from the reservoir by a definedjgct.

6
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(i) Possible reserves also include incrementalrgiies associated with a greater percentage eeg@f the hydrocarbons in place
than the recovery quantities assumed for probadserves.

(iv) The proved plus probable and proved plus potdalus possible reserves estimates must be lomsezhsonable alternative
technical and commercial interpretations within tbgervoir or subject project that are clearly doented, including comparisons
results in successful similar projects.

(v) Possible reserves may be assigned where gecscémd engineering data identify directly adjagemtions of a reservoir within
the same accumulation that may be separated fromegrareas by faults with displacement less themdton thickness or other
geological discontinuities and that have not besmeprated by a wellbore, and the registrant bedi¢hrat such adjacent portions are
in communication with the known (proved) reservBiossible reserves may be assigned to areas ¢hstracturally higher or lower
than the proved area if these areas are in commutioricwith the proved reservoir.

(vi) Pursuant to paragraph (iii) of the provedanild gas reserves definition, where direct obsemwdtas defined a highest known
(HKO) elevation and the potential exists for amoagsted gas cap, proved oil reserves should bgraessiin the structurally higher
portions of the reservoir above the HKO only if tiigher contact can be established with reasorcastainty through reliable
technology. Portions of the reservoir that do neetrthis reasonable certainty criterion may begagsi as probable and possible oil
or gas based on reservoir fluid properties andspiresgradient interpretations.

7
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Developed oil and gas reserve®eveloped oil and gas reserves are reservesy/afaagory that can be expected to be recovered:

(i) Through existing wells with existing equipmeartd operating methods or in which the cost of dggiired equipment is relative
minor compared to the cost of a new well; and

(i) Through installed extraction equipment andastructure operational at the time of the reseegtisnate if the extraction is by
means not involving a well.

Undeveloped oil and gas reservesndeveloped oil and gas reserves are resenasyatategory that are expected to be recovered fror
new wells on undrilled acreage, or from existindlsverhere a relatively major expenditure is reqdifer recompletion.

(i) Reserves on undrilled acreage shall be limitethose directly offsetting development spacireparthat are reasonably certait
production when drilled, unless evidence usingal#é technology exists that establishes reasomrablainty of economic
producibility at greater distances.

(if) Undrilled locations can be classified as havimdeveloped reserves only if a development péanbieen adopted indicating that
they are scheduled to be drilled within five yeansgss the specific circumstances justify a lorigee.

(iif) Under no circumstances shall estimates faleweloped reserves be attributable to any acreagetfich an application of fluid
injection or other improved recovery techniqueastemplated, unless such techniques have beendgeffertive by actual projec
in the same reservoir or an analogous reservotefised in [section 210.4-10 (a) Definitions],lgr other evidence using reliable
technology establishing reasonable certainty.
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The extent to which probable and possible resarltgsately may be reclassified as proved reserseiependent upon future drilling,
testing, and well performance. The degree of shd applied in evaluating probable and possilderses is influenced by economic and
technological factors as well as the time elem@rdbable and possible reserves in this report havbeen adjusted in consideration of these
additional risks and therefore are not comparalitle proved reserves.

Primary Economic Assumptions

The following economic assumptions were used fomeding existing and future prices and costs:

Oil, Condensate, and Natural Gas Prices

Prices used in this evaluation were based on ad#hraverage price, calculated as the unweighiéthaetic average of the first-
day-of-the-month price for each month within therd@nth period prior to the end of the reportingipe:r An average reference oil
price during this period is Brent at 111.07 Unigdtes dollars (U.S.$) per barrel. The averagarullcondensate prices used to
estimate reserves herein were as follows: U.S.833eT barrel for TBNGC asset group, U.S.$47.72baerel in Bulgaria,
U.S.$103.93 per barrel in AG field, U.S.$111.27 Ipamel in Arpatepe field, U.S.$102.25 per bameGioksu and Molla fields, and
U.S.$109.96 per barrel in Selmo field. The ovenadighted-average oil price in this report was U18&30. An average reference
gas price during this period is the United KingdNational Balancing Point Index of U.S.$9.50 perlianil British thermal unit. Th
average gas prices used in this report were asfsilU.S.$9.35 per thousand cubic feet for TBNG&:agroup, U.S.$8.56 per
thousand cubic feet for the Edirne asset group,34.32 per thousand cubic feet for Bulgaria, U.R$®er thousand cubic feet for
Bakuk field, U.S.$8.61 per thousand cubic feetGaB field, and U.S.$8.56 per thousand cubic feetlie remaining fields in TAT
asset group. The overall weighted-average gas prites report was U.S.$8.94. These prices wel@ ¢tenstant for the lives of the
properties.
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Net Profits Interest

As represented by TransAtlantic, there is a 5-pgmet profits interest burden for certain wellghe AG, Alpullu, CAB, DAK,
Edirne, Karapurcek, Pancarkoy, and REDY fields. Welapplicable, the net profits reduced TransAtasitbwnership of reserves
and revenue values.

Operating Expenses and Capital Costs

Estimates of operating expenses based on currpehegs were used for the lives of the propertiéis mo increases in the future
based on inflation. In certain cases, future exggnaither higher or lower than current expensay, imve been used because of
anticipated changes in operating conditions. Futapstal expenditures were estimated using cunalies and were not adjusted
for inflation.

Abandonment Costs

Abandonment costs were provided by TransAtlantiesE costs were estimated using current valuewarelnot adjusted for
inflation.

Royalty and Taxes

All fields are subject to a royalty of 12.5 percdfields in the TBNGC asset group are subject tadatitional 1.0percent overridin
royalty interest, except for Alibey field which has 0.5-percent overriding royalty interest. Trathatic has represented that there
are no production taxes to be paid in Turkey olgBrib. No other taxes, including income taxes fark€y, Bulgaria, Canada, or t
United States, were considered in this evaluation.

While the oil and gas industry may be subject tutatory changes from time to time that could affetindustry participant’s ability to
recover its oil and gas reserves, we are not asfaaay such governmental actions which would resthie recovery of the December 31, 2012
oil, condensate, and gas volumes estimated hdreereserves estimated in this report can be pestiunder current regulatory guidelines.
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Summary of Qil and Gas Reserves and Revenue

The estimates of net proved, probable, and possiskerves, as of December 31, 2012, attributatiieetinterests owned by
TransAtlantic, of the properties evaluated heraie,summarized as follows, expressed in barrel} gbithousands of cubic feet (20 3ft ):

Estimated by DeGolyer and MacNaughtor
as of December 31, 2012
Net

Net Condensat Net
Oil Sales Gas
(bbl) (bbl) (103 1t 3)
Proved
Developec 5,131,50: 0 8,115,15:
Undevelopec 4,369,42. 0 4,348,05!
Total Proved 9,500,92. 0 12,463,21
Probable 7,948,48. 0 12,144,93
Possible 15,232,51 0 104,247,12

Note: Probable and possible reserves have notrimeadjusted to make them comparable to proveerves.

The estimated revenue and expenditures attributabfeansAtlantic’s interests in the proved, prdeabnd possible net reserves, as of
December 31, 2012, of the properties appraisedrihdeaforementioned assumptions concerning fyitioes and costs are summarized as
follows, expressed in U.S. dollars (U.S.$):

Estimated by DeGolyer and MacNaughton as of Decemb8l, 2012

Proved

Developed Undeveloped Total Probable Possible

(U.S.$) (U.S.$) (U.S.$) (U.S.$) (U.S.$)
Future Gross Revenue 628,475,88 512,757,09 1,141,232,98 956,572,72 2,601,278,12
Production Taxe 0 0 0 0 0
Operating Expense 177,440,92 115,562,24 293,003,16 122,845,60 371,095,22
Capital Costt 4,499,820  88,767,65 93,267,48 133,440,53 226,396,60
Abandonment Cosi 9,822,28! 1,851,40. 11,673,68 2,936,66 3,596,601
Net Profits 129,95. 1,006,89 1,136,85. 1,014,98 40,078,94
Future Net Revenu 436,582,89 305,568,90 742,151,79 696,334,93 1,960,110,75
Present Worth at 10 Perce 309,012,59 202,065,52 511,078,111 451,102,91 1,080,171,47

Notes:

1. Values for probable and possible reserves haveeaw risk adjusted to make them comparable to sdtreproved reserve
2. Future income tax expenses were not taken intoustéo the preparation of these estima
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In our opinion, the information relating to estimetproved, probable, and possible reserves, estihfiature net revenue from proved,
probable, and possible reserves, and present wbestimated future net revenue from proved, préshand possible reserves of all,
condensate, and gas contained in this report ters firepared in accordance with Paragraphs 932-235-832-235-50-6, 932-235-50-7, 932-
235-50-9, 932-235-50-30, and 932-235-50-31(a),dbdl (e) of the Accounting Standards Update 9325IB%& xtractive Industries — Oil and
Gas (Topic 932): Oil and Gas Reserve Estimation RistlosuregJanuary 2010) of the Financial Accounting Stansi@dard and Rules 4-10
(a) (1)—(32) of Regulation S-X and Rules 302(b)01,21202(a) (1), (2), (3), (4), (5), (8), and 128)3¢f Regulation S-K of the Securities and
Exchange Commission; provided, however, that (Qrielincome tax expenses have not been takendotmat in estimating the future net
revenue and present worth values set forth herar(i§ estimates of the proved developed and mtavedeveloped reserves are not presente
at the beginning of the year.

To the extent the above-enumerated rules, reguitand statements require determinations of asuatiog or legal nature, we, as
engineers, are necessarily unable to express aioopis to whether the above-described information accordance therewith or sufficient
therefor.

DeGolyer and MacNaughton is an independent petmolengineering consulting firm that has been praxgdietroleum consulting
services throughout the world since 1936. DeGadyel MacNaughton does not have any financial inteireduding stock ownership, in
TransAtlantic. Our fees were not contingent onrésilts of our evaluation. This letter report hasrbprepared at the request of TransAtlantic
DeGolyer and MacNaughton has used all data, assomspprocedures, and methods that it considersssacy to prepare this report.

Submitted

K Pl avdd Wec Mo

DeGOLYER and MacNAUGHTOT!
Texas Registered Engineering Firm F-716

Hir ). (uste, PE

Lloyd W. Cade, P.E
Senior Vice Presidel
DeGolyer and MacNaughtc
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CERTIFICATE of QUALIFICATION

I, Lloyd W. Cade, Petroleum Engineer with DeGolgad MacNaughton, 5001 Spring Valley Road, Suite Ba&§, Dallas, Texas, 75244
U.S.A., hereby certify:
1. That | am a Senior Vice President with DeGolred MacNaughton, which company did prepare therlegport addressed to
TransAtlantic dated February 28, 2013, and thas ISenior Vice President, was responsible for thpgration of this repor

2. That| attended Kansas State University, antlltheaduated with a Bachelor of Science degrddéchanical Engineering in the
year 1982; that | am a Registered Professionalriemgiin the State of Texas; that | am a memberefriternational Society «
Petroleum Engineers; and that | have in exces$ gkars of experience in oil and gas reservoiristuand evaluation

3. That DeGolyer and MacNaughton or its officers hawalirect or indirect interest, nor do they expeateceive any direct or indire
interest in any properties or securities of Trafettc Petroleum Ltd. or affiliate therec

SIGNED: February 28, 2013

i

NAL

o, Cart, PE

Lloyd W. Cade, P.E
Senior Vice Presidel
DeGolyer and MacNaughtc




